56t Coneress, | HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES. | Rerort
1st Session. |

C(EUR D’ALENE LABOR TROUBLES.

Juxe 5, 1900.—Ondered to be printed.

Mr. Dick, from the Committee on Military Affairs, submitted the
following

REPORT.

[syrnranus, ]

On the 20th of April, 1809, and for gome time prior thereto, the miners’ unions at
Mullan, Burke, Gem, and Wardner, constituting a large part of the mining com-
munity of the Cceur d' Alenes, held secret and largal{:lttended meetlng; and on
the morning of the 29th of April the several unions held mmti% at their halls
and distributed firearms and masks. The Burke union, about 200 strong, seized
a Northern Pacific train and proceeded to Gem, where from 150 to 200 members
of the Gem union joined them, wdmwﬁoxuolpowder belonging to the
Helena-Frisco Mining Company, then proceeded to Wallace, where they were
gimd the Mullan union, about 200 strong, which had marched over from

ullan to Wallace in time to intercept said train, obtaining numerous firearms
which had been concealed along the roadside, and thence proceeded to Wardner,

where dun:lad $250,000 and murdered two men and
wmdg;.anthi ‘lﬁ was accomplis with military precision under direct
command of leaders, and without delay, from which fact and from the evidence

uced at the Corcoran trial it is found that there existed in the mining dis-

add
trict of the Coeur d'Alenes a widespread, deep-seated, and thoroughly organized

ty, I has been in a state of insurrection since 1892, and during
that time the courts have not been in the free and unobstructed exercise of their
functions and justice has not been administered.
A violent state of insurrection and riot culminated in Shoshone County, Idaho, on
April 29, 1899, resulting in the destruction of life and property, at a time when
re could not have been convened to meet emergency. No riot
there since said date, solely because of the presence of the United
States military forces.
Under the circumstances the governor of Idaho was warranted in making applica-
Efo:h:o 8&&. President for troops to aid the civil authorities in executing the laws
It is conceded on all gides that the President of the United States was justified in
sending troops to Bhoshone County, Idaho, in response to the application of
ber, 1899, the troops, not over 200 in number, have performed no duty in
reing martial law or guarding prisoners, and the prison has been torn down.
troops are now in n in Osborne, 8 miles from the scene of the riot.
at the official request of the governor of Idaho, supported by a
ool'isnd by 1,500 citizens of that community.
itions prevailing in Shoshone County in May, 1899, it was not neces-
he President to proclaim martial law under section 5300, Revised
the United States, and he did not declare martial law.
preferred against the United States Army and its officers in
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Idaho, as set forth in the various paragraphs of the resolution, have been sns-
tained by the testimony.

The military force in Shoshone County, under command of General Merriam, was
used strictly in aid of the civil authorities, The sheriff and other county offi-
cials were in collusion with the rioters, and therefore civil authority could not be
enforced. Some of the county officials were afterwards duly removed from office
by judicial process because of said collusion and malfeasance in office.

The I}.'] mlted States Army and its officers acted strictly within their instructions and
the law.

President McKinley and the War Department exercised every precaution that the
military act solelr within the Constitution and not encroach in the distinct
sphere of the civil authorities. The President exhibited his deep interest and
solicitude in the cause of labor by his instruction *that the military must have
nothing whatever to do with enforcing rules for the government of miners or
miners’ unions.”

The writ of habeas corpus was not suspended in Soshone County by the governor in
1899. The supreme court of Idaho refused to issue the writ on the facts pre-
gented, and the finding of the highest court of the State on this point, not
having been reversed, is binding on this committee. '

The proof is positive that the “right of free speech, free press, and peaceable assem-
blages'’ were not denied to the peaceable citizens of that community by the use
of militar|y power.

The go-called “permit system’’ is an extreme measure, devised and administered hy
the State authorities alone, and which they justify by the necessities of martial
law. It was not directed against organized labor, but against the eriminal mem-
bers of certain organizations masquerading under the cloak of organized labor,
who have for years conducted a reign of terror and lawlessness in the Cour
d’Alene mining distriet of that county.

The prizsoners confined in the temporary prison in Shoshone County were eivil pris-
oners under guard of the military forces. The military commander was author-
ized to enforce Hrison discipline against prisoners violating prison rules. The
punishments inflicted were not excessive, and the treatment of the prisoners by
the goldiers was humane and considerate. .

As to all other charges in the resolution not hereinbefore referred to, reference is
made to the statement hereinaiter set forth.

Martial law and the administration of justice by civil courts can proceed side by side
in a community which is in a state of insurrection and riot when the courts can
not perform their pro'_ﬁer functions without military protection.

Martial law ceases when the necessity for it ceases. Tt ceases when the civil author-
ities resume their unobstructed functions, although the military may be present
to aid them if the need of such aid should arise.

When the United States Army is called upon to protect the State against *‘ domestic
violence,”’ the military forces act in aid of the State authorities to the extent
that the purpose is to reestablish the civil authorities; but the military forces of
the United States are not under the command of the State authorities, but of the
military officers, under the President. To this extent it isan independent force,
nﬂll)emting under the order of the President to perform the guaranty imposed upon

e United States by the Constitution.

The Committee on Military Affairs, to which was referred the reso-
lution (H. Res. No. 31) on the conduct of the United States Army and
its officers in Idaho, submits the following report:

On the 8th day of December, 1899, Mr. Lentz introduced House
resolution No. 31, to provide a committee to investigate the conduct
of the United States Army and its officers in Idaho, which, as amended,
was adopted January 8, 1900. Said resolution reads as follows:

Whereas it is a matter of general information given out by the public press and
char%-d by the industrial organization known as the Western Federation of Miners
that United States troops have been sent into the State of Idaho in defiance of and
contrary to the provisions of Article IV, section 4, of the Constitution of the United
States, in that it was done at the individual request of the governor of Idaho, with-
out the authority of the legislature, and at a time when there was no condition of
insurrection or riot, and when the legislature could have been called together with-
ont danger or delay from any source whatever; and, further, without even co;
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tion by the governor with the sheriff of Shoshone County, where it was desired that
the troops should be, and actually were, sent; and A y
Whereas, in defiance of section 9, Article I, of the Constitution, martial law was

declared and the writ of habeas corpus ded in said county in a time of pro-
found Euoe, when there was no condition of rebellion or invasion or any menace to
the public safety; and

ereas it is charged that Brig. Gen. H. C. Merriam, commanding the troops in
Shoshone County, arbitrarily and without warrant of law, without informing the
accused of the ch.l.rg upon which they were arrested, and in defiance of the sixth
amendment to the Constitution, arrested and imprisoned hundreds of citizens of the
United States and of the State of Idaho, and held them prisoners under the most
brutal and tyrannical conditions, denying to them their constitutional right to speedy
trial by a.nd partial jury of the State, which right the Constitution clearly guar-
antees; an y
Whereas it is charged that the said Brig. Gen. H. C. Merriam did, in defiance of
and contrary to the provisions of the fourth amendment of the Constitution, subject

the 8, houses, papers, and effects of citizens to unreasonable and arbitrary
and geizure; an i
‘Whereas it is that the said military commander arbitrarily and in defiance

of the civil law ordered the arrest of the sheriff of the county and the board of
county commissioners, and subsequently deposed them from office on the unproved
pretext of neglect of duty; and i
Whereas it is charged that the said Brigadier-General Merriam, immediately upon
the arrival of the troops, ordered the arrest of every man who was a member of the
miners' union, and also of all citizens who were supposed to sympathize with the
cause of organized labor; and
Whereas it is charged that those citizens were imprizoned in what was known as
the ““bull pen,” a place unfit for human habitation, and that so brutal and degrad-
ing was the treatment inflicted on these prisoners by Brigadier-General Merriam and
the United States troops under his orders that one unfortunate man became insane,
and apon being taken to the county jail he broke from his guards and jumped into
the river, and a negro soldier, at the cojmmand of the Bunker Hill Mining Com-
pany’s doctor, fired three shots at him and he was dragged from the river dead, and
that another unfortunate prisoner, dying in the *‘ bull pen,” begged for a priest and
his dying reatlleat was denied; an
ereas the imprisoned citizens were denied opportunity to confer with their
counsel or members of their families and were denied the right of speedy and impar-
tial trial; were held in this vile and inhuman imprisonment for several months with-
out or indictment against them, althongh two sessions of the grand jury were
held in the meantime, and during their confinement were treated by the officérs and
soldiers of the United States Army as convicted felons and compelled to work at
nal employment; were subjected to cruel and degrading punishments, such as
compelled to sleep on bare boards, placed on a diet of %reacl and water for ten
days, and compelled to stand erect seven hours each day in the hot sun under pen-
alty of death if they attempted to move or sit down &hese two latter unlawful pun-
ishments were inflicted upon them by the orders of Captain Edwards, United States
Armg, who amused himself by calling the prizoners “‘cowardly curs”); and
‘Whereas it is charged that by the use of the military power the writ of habeas
corpus was suspended for months in Shoshone County, and the right of free speech,
free press, and peaceable assembl were denied to the peaceable citizens of that
community without any excuse or justification whatever; and
when the Industrial Commission sat in Wallace all union men who had
been long residents of the county were in the ““ bull pen” and had no opportunity to
appear before the commission; others were arrested while on their way to Walﬁwe
to appear before the commission, and thrown into the “bull pen’ until after the
L et thudthe olowlog proct !
¢l t the following proclamation, in gross violation of the
Constitution of the United States and of the constitution and statutes of the State of
Idaho, was issued and enforced by Brigadier-General Merriam, to wit:

““PROCLAMATION.

“Whereas the following notice has been served upon the mine owners of Shoshone
County by the duly constituted State authorities, by whom martial law has been
, o wit:
4 To the mine owners of Shoshone County :
“““Certain organizations or combinations existing in Shoshone County have shown
themselves to be eriminal in purpose, inciting and, as organizations, procuring prop-
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erty to be destroyed and murders to be committed, by reason whereof it has heen
twice necessary to declare martial law in Shoshone County.

“‘You are therefore notified that the employment of men belonging to said or
other eriminal organizations during the continuance of martial law must cease. In
cage this direction is not observed your mines will be closed.’

““Therefore, in order to carry into effect the spirit of the foregoing notice and
restore the industries of the district as far as ible, it becomes necessary to estab-
lish a system by which miners who have not |Emrtia:ipaled in the recent acts of vio-
lence, and who are law-abiding people, may obtain work, and, that order and peace
may be established, the following is promulgated for the guidance of all mine owners
and employees in the aifected distriet:

““All parties applying for underground work in any of the following mines will be
required to obtain from Dr. Hugh France, the duly appointed and authorized
agent for the State of Idaho for this purpose, or his deputy, at Wardner or at Wal-
lace, & permit authorizing said person to seek employment in any of the followin
mines: Bunker Hill and Suollivan, Last Chance, Empire State-Idaho, Consolida
Tiger and Poorman, Hecla, Mammoth, Standard, Helena-Frisco, Gem, Morning,
Hunter, and such others as may be hereafter included in the above list. Parties
aplnlyinifor such permits must be prepared: First, to deny all participation in the
riots of April 29, 1809, in S8hoshone County, and, second, to deny or renounce mem-
bership in any society which has incited, encouraged, or approved of said riots or
other violation of public law.

““Mine owners must refuse employment to all applicants for underground work
who do not present a duly signed permit authorizing the same. Such permit will
be deposited in mine owners' office subject to periodical inspection.

“All ]partics now under employment by any of the mines above named will be
required to procure, within ten days from this date, the permits above referred to
as a condition to their remaininﬁ in the service of their respective companies.

““By order of the governor and commander in chief:

“BartLET BiNCLAIR, Slate Auditor,

“H, C. MERRIAM,
“ Brigadier-General United Slates Army.

“ Examined and approved:

*Dated May 8, 1899, .
“The application for permits to seek employment which union men must sign is
as follows:

“fAPPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO SEEE EMPLOYMENT IN THE MINES OF SHOSHONE COUNTY.

“To Dr. Huvaen France, State representative.

‘* ‘Bir: I hereby make application for issuance to me of a permit allowing me to
teck employment in the mines of Shoshone County.

f¢] am a by oceupation.
“*] am a native o and am a citizen of the United States,
‘11 last worked at the mine in i

¢ My shift boss was \

““ “Heretofore I have been a member of Miners' Union.

“‘I did not participate actively or otherwise in the riots which took place at
Wardner on the 29th o}[mA pril, 1808, Believing that the crimes committed at Ward-
ner on said date were actively incited, encouraged, and perpetrated thm%h and b
means of the influence and direction of the miners’ unions of the Ceeur d’Alenes,
hereby express my unqualified disapproval of said acts, and hereb}r renounce
forever abjure all allegiance to the said miners’ union, of which 1 was a former
member, and I golemnly pledge myeelf to obey the law and not to again seek mem-
bership in any society which will encourage or tolerate any violation of law.

—

“ ! Dated this — day of , 1899,

““The application which nonunion men must sign is as follows:
‘“‘APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO BEEK EMPLOYMENT IN THE MINES OF SHOSHONE COUNTY.

“4To Dr. Huen France, State representative. ;

“t8m: I hereby make application for issnance to me of a permit allowing me to
seek employment in the mines of Shoshone County.

“¢] am & by oceupation. .

Y41 am a native o and am a citizen of the United States,
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44T last worked at the mine in :

£ ¢ My shift boss was X )

41 have not been for years & member of any miners’ union.

T ook no part, either actively or passively, in aiding, assisting, or encouraging
the Perpetrstion of the crimes committed at Wardner on the 28th of April, 1899,

#47 golemnly pledge myself to obey the law.

«Dated this — day of . 1899, _

At thie writing no union men are Emnnitted to work in the county; the meetings
of the miners' unions are prohibited;"” and ]

Whereas it is charged that during the months when a great portion of the male
citizens of Shoshone County were thus unlawfully held in imprisonment by the
United States troops the wives and families of the said citizens were subjected to
insult and outrages by the soldiers of the United States stationed in that county; and

Whereas it is charged that the outrageous misuse of the military power of the
United States, hereinbefore mentioned, was brought about at the instigation and in
the interest of the owners of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mines, who, it is also
charged, are the owners and manipulators of other similar trusts; an

Whereas said outrages above described, as perpetrated by the United States Army
and its officers, are an intolerable abuse of the rights of citizens and a dire menace to
the perpetuity of free institutions and the liberty of citizens: Therefore,

Resolved, That the charges herein preferred be referred to the Committee on Mili-

Affairs for a thorough and complete investigation, to determine their truth or
falsity; and said committee ghall have the power to send for persons and papers and
examine witnesses on oath in relation to the subject-matter of this resolution.

The Committee on Military Affairs, to which said resolution was
referred, began the taking of testimony on the 20th day of February,
1900, and the hearings continued until the 8th day of May, 1900, when
the arguments of counsel closed.

Thirty-five witnesses were examined, and the printed testimony,
exclusive of exhibits, amounting to more than 1,500 pages, covered
over 2,000 printed pages.

In submitting its report under said resolution, the committee desires
to make brief reference to the physical characteristics of the Ceceur
d’Alene district, in which all the troubles complained of arose and had
their continuance. The mines of the Cceur d’Alenes are in Shoshone
County, Idaho, and lie near the northern end of the p‘anhandle of the
State. The principal towns of the county are Murray, Wallace, Burke,
Gem, Mullan, Kellogg, and Wardner, which are principally mining
camps and are strung along the base of the Ceeur d’Alene and Bitter
Root Mountains, which bound the region on the north. The Lolo
Fork of Clear Water Creek forms another natural barrier on the south.
In some of the towns there is only room for a single narrow street
between the mountains and the deep canyon of the river. The North-
ern Pacific and Oregon Railway and Navi

avigation Company railroads
furnish the natural and easy ingress and egress from said district.
The only other approach or escape is over rough and almost impassa-
ble mountain trails, which in winter are filled in places with snow to
a depth of 20 or 25 feet. It is one of the richest lead-mining regions
in the world, the ore carrying considerable silver. The annual output
of ore amounts to over $5,000,000.

The south part of the county is devoted to farming. It is completely
shut off from the mining district by a mountain range trending from
east to west across the county.

The chief ulation of Lge county is in the mining region in the
vicinity of \'V‘:l) ace, the county seat.

By reason of the mountainous condition of the country, Shoshone
County is practically shut off from the rest of the State. To reach
Boise, the capital of the State, from this county it is necessary to go

-
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by way of the city of Spokane, or through Tekoa, Wash. The dis-
tance from the capital of the State to the county seat of Shoshone
County is more than 500 miles by rail.

-The population of the county of Shoshone is about 10,000, the
greater portion of which is engaged in mining.

The towns and mining camps involved in the crimes of April 29,
1899, are Burke, Gem, Mullan, Kellogg, and Wardner. Out of 1,500
miners living in these camps, 1,000 were implicated, directly or indi-
rectly, in the riot. The foﬂ?:wing extract from the Idaho State Tri-
bune, published at Wallace, May 3, 1899, was written by James R.
Sovereign, its editor, who was an eyewitness to the affair. It givesa

phic account of t}le. occurrences of April 29, 1899, which were the
immediate cause of the declaration of martial law and the call for
United States troops:

Baturday last witnessed what might Jmpm'ly be considered the close of
years' war. The sun rose bright and clear in the morning, and the people repaired
to their usual vocations in peace and quietude. There was nothing in the order of
nature and the mind of the public tous of the coming tumult. About 10.30 s
man on horseback came galloping down Bank street from yon Creek, and, halt-
ing in front of the Tribune office, said, *They are coming,” and passed on at a rapid
rate. Five minutes later the whistle of the Northern Pacific engine pulling the train
from Burke and Gem resounded with its usual regularity. A moment later it halted
at the m Railroad and Navigation depot, and on its 9 freight and ore cars were
packed 1,000 men, half of whom were masked and armed with Winchester rifles,
After a short halt the train proceeded to the Northern Pacific depot, and after a few
minutes’ delay they switched to the Orewn Railroad and Navigation track, and
without mnnmf orders proceeded toward Wardner,

The streets of Wallace took on an air of excitement, and before the train pro-
ceeded to Wardner with its human freight on its mission of destruction, armed men
walked the streets in quest of an abundant augzly of ammunition. It was evident
to all that some of the scenes of 1892 were to be repeated, and this time the Bunker
Hill and Sullivan Mining Company at Wardner, 12 miles below Wallace, was to be
the vietim of a foreeful demonstration on the part of the organized miners of the Cour
d'Alenes.  On the train were about 200 members of the organization at Mullan, and
the balance was composed of men from the various-mines and outside works on
Canyon Creek. The delegation from Mullan had walked to Wallace, and by a pre-
arranged plan had connected with the incoming train from Burke. The fnflure to
secure running orders compelled the ineer to flag the train to Wardner, and
owing to the many sharp curves in the winding down the North Fork the speed
of the train could not exceed the speed of the on foot.

The train reached Wardner at 1 o’clock, and the work of clearing the country of
all opposition was begun. A detachment of union miners armed with Winchester
rifles was dispatched to the mountain side beyond the mill, and the work of placing
under the nﬁs,ouo pounds of dynamite, taken from the magazine of the Frisco mine
at Gem, was commenced. At no time did the demonstration assume the apﬁnﬂa
or the attitude of a disorganized mob. All the details were managed with the disci-
pline and precision of a perfectly trained military organization. Each minw
ticipating in the affair eitggr wore a strip of white handkerchief in the button of
his coat or a strip of white cloth tied on his right arm. "Sixty armed scabs in the
employ of the Bunker Hill oumpans offered the only resistence, and they only gave
expression to the most pitiable and lamentable cowardice. Only a few de
shots from the miners were necessary to send them fleeing over the mountains. At
the same time Mr. Burbidge, manager of the mine, might have been seen mb:m
down the Oregon Railroad and Navigation track tow Kingston, skulking
every conceivable object and wrl.ngl:ug his hands in the desperation of fear. Prob-
ably a more humiliating spectacle not presented itself to the world since the cap-
ture of King Charles, nor a more striking evidence of supreme cowardice than was
ghown by Mr. Burbidge, who heretofore has displayed the defiant air of a tyrant
equaled only by Sir Henry Morgan, the leader of the buccaneers of the Spanish s

At 2.30 the arrangements were complete, the dynamite was placed under the mill
in three d ents, the fuse attached, and all was in readiness for the destruction
of one of largest concentrators in the world, costing the company the enormous
sum of $250,000. All miners and friends of the miners were warned to take a safe
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distance from the work of destruction about to begin. The fuses were lighted, and
at 2.26 there was an awful crash, and broken machinery and fragments of the build-
ing were hurled high into the air. Fifteen seconds later another followed, and in
about the same time a third. From the force of the third shot débris was hurled in
every direction, and a h canopy was formed in the heavens. Fragments of
machi and broken timbers rained down upon the ruins for several seconds.
The shock of each explosion was terrific and was heard 20 miles awaf. The work
of destruction was complete. The t concentrator was as completely demolished
as it could have been if months had been spent in preparing the giant explogives for
that purpose. The work was planned and executed by men who have received the
training of a lifetime in the handling of dynamite.

Not only was the mill completely demolished, but the office, books, and papers of
the company suffered likewise, and the boarding house of the company, about 300
feet from the mill, was at the time of the explosion a mass of flames, and only the
smoldering ashes now mark the place where it once stood.

The explosion was indeed an awe-inspiring scene, and to the eyewitness, were it
not for the horrors of destruction, presented a pyrotechnical display which would
gatisfy the most expert critic of Fourth of July fireworks. .

After the terrific shock of the last explosion had died away in the distant moun-
tains an ominous stiliness of a few minutes followed. The delegation from Canyon
Creek and Mullan, together with a large portion of the people from Wardner, were
either on or about the train, which consisted of 9 cars and 2 engines. Winchesters
and revolvers were eve here in evidence. The silence was broken by a single
shot from a Wincheawr?rrm some person on top of one of the cars, followed by a
deafening fusillade. For five minutes the rattle of musketry was incessant. It was
evident, however, from the beginning of the firing that no harm was intended; that
the men were simply Nlebmung.nthe victory they had secured in the destruction of
the Bunker Hill concentrator. the midst of the firing the engines gave the start-
in uﬁﬂ and the train moved slowly toward Wallace, but when about one-half
Ea m Wardner was stopped, it being claimed that 75 of the Canyon Creek and
Mullan delegation were left at Wardner. The train slowly backed down to the depot
%f’:il?' and quite a few more boarded the cars, when it proceeded on its way to

ace.

From Wardner to Wallace there was no incident of importance and no demon-
stration on the part of the men. Ranchers and laboring people living in the valley
congregated along the track and cheered the men lustily as they passed along. The
train reached W about 4 o'clock, and about a hundred of the PGOEIG of the city
were congregated at the depot to witness its arrival. Mayor 8mith had taken the
E.Dmremution to temporarily close the ealoons. A few from Canyon Creek and a few

Mullan remained in town, but moss of the miners from Canyon Creek remained
on the train and were taken to their respective homes, and the Mullan miners slowly
wended their way back from whence they came.

the desultory firing at Wardner, shortly after the train from Wallace
arrived, Jack S8mythe, a miner at the Frisco mine, was shot and instantly killed.
How it happened or by whom he was shot is not definitely known. Some say he
was ghot by scabs in the employ of the Bunker Hill company, others that he was
shot by the striking miners through mistake. James Cheyne, a vanner man at the
Bunker Hill mill, was shot thmuﬁl‘l the hip and died at the Sacred Heart Hospital
in Bpokane yesterday morning. R. Rogers, the stenographer of the Bunker Hill
company, was elightly wounded in the upper iip. So far as known, this constitutes
all the casnalties of day’s doings in connection with the Bunker Hill explosion.

Immediately on being advised of the above occurrences the governor
of Idaho sent the President the following message:

Boise, Ipano, April 29, 1899, 11 p. m.
The PresipexT: £

In pursuance of the statute in such cases made and provided, I, Frank Steunen-
berg, governor of Idaho, the legislature not being in session and it not being possible
to convene it, do herelﬁr apply to the President of the United States to call forth the
ml.ll‘l.l'{ forces of the United States to suppress insurrection in Shoshone County,
State of Idaho. This action is sustained in the fact that all of the available Idaho
National Guard volunteered for service in the Philippines, and said county isin a
state of insurrection. I am of the opinion that at least 500 troops in the aggrezate
will be necessary, but emaller detachments should beordered in as rapidly as possible.

+FRANK STEUNENBERG, Governor.
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The President, on receipt of the telegram, directed the War Depart-
ment to aid the governor of Idaho as requested, as is shown by the
following telegrams:

ApjuranT-GENERAL'S OFFICE,
Washington, April 80, 1899,
The Goverxor oF Inawo, Boise, Tdaho:

In cotnrliam-e with your telegram of April 20, concerning insurrection in Shoshone
County of your State, the President has directed that request be complied with, and
following instructions have been sent to General Merriam, at Denver, Colo.: ““The
Governor of Idaho reports an insurrection beyond the power of the State to control
existing in Shoshone County of that State. The Acting Secretary of War directs
that you mt%nir at once to the capital of that State, amF after conference with the
authorities thence you go to the seat of action, calling to your aid such troops as ma
be most convenient regardless of department lines. Deépartment commanders wi
be notified. You will take with you the necessary staff officers. The travel is nec-

essary to the public service.”
H. C. Consin, Adjutant-General,

Apjuraxr-Generar's Orrior,
Washington, April 80, 1899,
CoMMANDING GENERAL, DEPARTMENTS CALIFORNIA AND COLUMBIA,
San Franciseo, Cal.:

General Merriam has been ordered to Idaho in connection with ingurrection in
that State reported by governor to be beyond power of State to control. General
Merriam has been authorized to call to his assistance such troops as may be most
convenient without regard to department lines. Acting Becretary of War directs you
send commanding officers of posts under your mmmanﬁ to hold their troops in readi-
ness to respond promptly to his calls.

By command of Major-General Miles:

H. C. CorniN, Adjutant-General,

In accordance with this order General Merriam proceeded to the
State of Idaho, conferred with the governor, ordered the United States
troops stationed at Boise, Walla Walla, Vancouver, Harrison, Assin-
niboine, Russell, and Douglas to go to Wardner, Shoshone éounby,
Idaho, and went there at once himself.

Upon his arrival at Wardner he stationed his troops to control out-
lets from the mining camps and scrutinized outward travel, with a
view to detaining the rioters.

On the 3d of May, 1899, the governor of Idaho declared the county
of Shoshone in a state of insurrection and rebellion, and asked General
Merriam to have all trains stopped and suspicious persons returned,

as will be seen by the following proclamation and telegram:
Srare oF Ipano, Evecutive Office :

Whereas it a lEmn-iug to my satisfaction that the execution of process is frustrated
and defied in Shoshone County, State of Idaho, by bodies of men and others, and
that combinations of armed men to resist the execution of process and to commit
deeds of violence exist in said county of Shoshone; and

Whereas the civil authorities of said county of Shoshone do not appear to be able
to control such bodies of men or prevent the destruction of property and other acts
of violenee; and

Whereas on Saturday, the 29th day of April, 1899, at or near the town of Wardner
Junction, in said county of Shoshone, State of Idaho, an armed mob did then and
there wantonly destroy property of great value, with attendant loss of life; and

Whereas said destruction of property, with attendant loss of life by mob violence
(as above set forth), is but one and a repetition of a series of similar outrages cover-
ing a period of six years or more just passed, the perpetrators of gaid outrages seem-
ing to enjoy immunity from arrest and punishment through subserviency of peace
oflicers of said county of Shoshone (or through fear on the part of said officers) to
such bodies of lawless and armed men; and

Whereas I have reason to believe that similar ontrages may oceur at any time, and
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believing the eivil anthorities of said county of Shoshone are entirely unable to pre-
gerve order and protect property; ;

Now, therefore, I, Frank Steunenberg, governor of the State of Idaho, by virtue
of authority in me vested, do hereby pi m and declare the said county of Sho-
shone, in the State of Idaho, to be in a state of insurrection and rebellion. ~ In testi-
mony whereof I have hereunto set my hand and caused to be aflixed the great seal of
the State. Done at the city of Boise, the capital of the State of Idaho, this 3d day
of May, in th:egenr of our Lord 1869, and of the Independence of the United States
the one hundred and twenty-third.

FrANE STEUNENBERG.
By the governor; - :
M. Parnig, Seeretary of State.

Borsg, Inano, May 3.
General Merriam, Teloa:
My representative informs me that rioters are fleeing toward Spokane. Have all
trains stopped and suspicious persons returned. Martial law declared.
Frang STEUNENBERG,

Under the above circumstances and direction the United States Army
and its officers were employed in aid of the governor of Idaho in sup-
ressing the insurrection and rebellion in Shoshone County, proclaimed
Rlay 3, 1899, and so many of the ‘““Army and officers™ as were neces-
sary were so employed from the time they went there, as above stated,
to the last of October, 1899, when they were relieved from all active
duty inaiding the civil authorities and went into garrison in said county.
nder the original instructions the troops were employed in aid of
the governor of Idaho in suppressing the insurrection of April 29, in
apprehending the perpetrators of the outrages of that date, and in
restoring peace and order to Shoshone County.

In doing this the troops supP01°wd the governor’s agents and repre-
sentatives in making arrests of suspected persons, and in detaining and
guarding persons so arrested.

At the time these troubles occurred Governor Steunenberg was sick
and in the hospital, but was not incapacitated from exercising his func-
tions as chief executive. Therefore he proceeded to inform himself
of the situation in said county, and dispatched Mr. Bartlett Sinclair,
then and now auditor of the State, to the scene of the troubles.

He finally determined, owing to the distance of Shoshone County
from Boise,and the necessity %or having a trusted man constantly on
the ground, to keep Mr. Sinclair continually there. He also appointed
others at the said place to assist in the wori.

Mr. Sinclair was appointed and styled his *“ personal representative,”
and the other persons, about 25 or 30, were designated as State deputies.

The governor was unable from his other official duties to be present
at all times in said county, and it was a physical impossibility for him
personally to attend to all details. He acted g;nemlly through these
persons appointed by him, and particularly designated Mr. Sinclair
as the person in charge. :

He was guided somewhat in this action by the provisions of sections
T405 and 7406 of the Revised Statutes of ldaho, which are as follows:

Sec. 7405. When an armed force is called ont for the pu of suppressing an
unlawful or riotous assembly, or arresting the offenders, and is pl under the
temporary direction of any eivil officer, it must obey the orders in relation thereto
of such civil officer.

Sgc. 7406. When the governor is satisfied that the execution of civil or eriminal

process has been foreibly resisted in any county by bodies of men, or that combina-
tions to resist the execution of process by force exist In any county, and that the
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ower of the connty has exerted and has not been sufficient to enahle the officer
iaving the process’to execute it, he may, on the application of the officer, or of the
district attorney, or probate judge of the county, by proclamation, to be published
in such papers as he shall direct, declare the connty to be in a state of insurrection,
and may order into service of the Territory such number and description of volun-
teer or uniformed companies, or other militia of the Territory, as he shall deem
neceseary, to serve for such term and under the command of such officer or officers
as he sghall direct.

Through these agents the governor arrested over 700 men, suspected
of being connected with the conspiracy which resulted in the crimes
of April 29, 1899.

In the work of making arrests these appointees of the governor
were supported by the United States troops, and the troops received,
detained, and guarded the prisoners thus arrested.

These ]prisoners were at first confined in a warehouse and in box
cars until an improvised prison could be constructed, which was done
as soon as possible.

Meantime an examination into the prisoners’ connection with the
riots-was made and those found to be innocent were promptly released.

In order to report fully on the testimony offered at the hearings
the committee will discuss the several charges made in the preamble
to the resolution.

The first charge is as follows:

Whereas it is a matter of general information, given out by the public press and
charged by the industrial organization known as the Western Federation of Mine
that United States troops have been sent into the State of Idaho in defiance of an
contrary to the provisions of article 4, section 4, of the Constitution of the United
States, in that it was done at the individual request of the governor of Idaho, with-
out the authority of the legislature, and at a time when there was no condition of
insurrection or riot, and when the icgiﬁlamm could have been called together with-
out danger or delay from any source whatever; and, further, without even consulta-
tion by the governor with the sheriff of Shoshone County, where it was desired that
the troops should be, and actnally were, sent.

There has not been presented to the committee by the Western Fed-
eration of Miners any protest against the employment of United States
troops in suppression of the riots of April 29, 1899, or any charge of
misconduct on the part of officers and troops so employed.

The only criticisms by any labor organization of the use made of
the troops in Shoshone County are those reported by the Secretary of
War in his report dated January 18, 1900, known as Report No. 24,
:n 1'e|.-}ponse to House Resolution No. 31, which report 1s made part

wreof,

The committee finds that the eriticisms referred to are based upon a
misapprehension or deliberate distortion of the facts.

The committee does not find that the United States troops were sent
into the State of Idaho in defiance of and contrary to the provisions
of article 4, section 4, of the Constitution of the United States, but
does find that the troops were sent into the State in accordance with the

wmrantees of the Constitution of the United States to protect the
gltates of the Union against invasion and domestic violence, and as
directed by the act of Congress approved February 28, 1795, and now
embraced in section 5297, Revised Statutes of the United States,
which section reads as follows:

In case of an insurrection in any State against the government thereof, it ghall be
lawtul for the President, on application of the legislature of such State, or of the

executive when the legislature can not be convened, to call forth such number of
the militia of any other State or States, which may be applied for, as he deems suffi-
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cient to suppress such insurrection; or, on like ap}-limtir:n"fn employ for the same
purposes such part of the land or naval forces of the Uniled-States as he deews

Tnccessary.

And by the Revised Statutes, section 5298, wherein it shall be law-
ful for the President “‘to employ such parts of the land and naval
forces of the United States as he may deem necessary to enforce the
faithful execution of the laws of the United States, or to m;p}?]ress such
rebellion, in whatever State or Territory thereof the laws of the United
States may be forcibly opposed or the execution thereof forcibly
obstructed.”

Article 4, section 4, of the United States Constitution, provides that
“The United States shall guarantee to every State in this Union a

_republican form of government, and shall protecteach of them * * *
on application of the legislature, or of the executive (when the legisla-
ture can not be convened), against domestic violence.”

The President did not find it necessary to declare martial law under
section 5300 of the Revised Statutes, as is shown by the following
telegraphic correspondence:

Wasninaron, D. C., May 4.
Brigadier-General Merniam:

For information of President, Acting Secretary of War desires to know if the situa-
tion is such as to require issuance of proclamation as required by section 5300,

Revised Statutes.
H. C. Corsin, Adjutant-General,

WarpNER, Ipano, May 4, 1899.
ADIUTANT-GENERAL ArMY, Washington, D. C.:

Inquest still in progress with closed doors. One hundred and twenty-eight arrests
made by State oflicials under military support. No signs of resistance, but indica-
tions are most leaders of mob have escaped, going east or west into Montana and
Washington, others hidden in the mountains. Sheriff at Thompsons Falls, Mont.,
reports many arriving on foot over mountain trails. Governors ldaho and Montana
corresponding for arrests in Montana, Troops in position to do all that is possible,

resistance.

There is now no sign of organized
Merriam, Brigadier-General.

The governor of Idaho had duly proclaimed martial law and the
Eirc:mstanees did not require any such step on the part of the Presi-

en

The committee also finds that the governor of Idaho is required by
article 4, section 5, of the Idaho constitution, *‘ to see that the laws are
fai v execute&,” and that, in the absence of effective action by the
g&we officers of Shoshone County, as the supreme executive of the

tate, he was bound to use the most expeditious and available means
at his disposal to enforce the laws of his State.

The governor of the State of Idaho was confronted with the insur-
rection and rebellion in Shoshone County at a time when the legislature
of his State was not in session and could not be called together to meet
the emergency.

Under the statutes of the State of Idaho, the legislature could not
be convened in session under twenty days, during which period further
destruction of property and life might have resulted if the mob were
not restrained, and those guilty of the crimes and outrages of April
29 would have undoubtedly escaped. All the available national guard
of the State of Idaho had volunteered for service in the Philippines,
and were then absent from the State.

The committee finds that the United States troops were duly called
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for and lawlully sent to Shoshone County, Idaho, to assist the State
authorities in suppressing the insurrection there existing and in
securing the ringleaders and participants in the erimes and riots of
AIFH 29, 1899.

he committee also finds that the request for United States troops
was not the ““individual request” of Frank Steunenberg, but was an
official request made by the governor of the State of Idaho.

The committee also finds that a condition of riot and insurrection
existed in Shoshone County on the 29th day of April, 1899, and that
the peace officers of the county either could not or would not aid in
suppressing the riot and insurrection.

e committee also finds that James D. Young, sheriff of Shoshone
County, Idaho, falsely assured the governor, on the 26th and 27th of
April, 1899, that no trouble threatened beyond his disposition and
ability to control.

On the day of the destruction of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan
property and the shooting of Rogers. Symthe, and Cheyne the sheriff
went on the train from Wallace to Wardner with the mob, which com-
mitted murder and arson, and made no effort to prevent the rioters
from carrying out their lawless purpose.

William H. Pipes testifies, on page 1275 of the record, that Sheriff
Young was seen walking back and forth in the road at Wardner, with
the ‘“star” of his authority on his breast, **apparently unconcerned.”
Noticing Young with his star, this witness inquired of a masked man
near by who he was, to which the masked man responded: **That is our
sherift; he is all right.”

He asked a newspaper reporter that day to ‘“Give the miners the
best of it.”

He had been three times elected to office in Shoshone County; he was
presumably well acquainted with the voters of said county, a large
proportion of whom were engaged in that murderous enterprise of
April 29, 1899; he rode on the stolen train with the mob that day, was
seen in conversation with them, and yet alleges that he was unable to
identify a single person. e made the statement under oath, though
he must have known at the same time that he was committing the erime
of perjury. He was subpenaed before this committee at the request
of the author of the 1'e30}ut-ion and was present at the hearing, but was
not called to the witness stand. Had he done g0 he must have admitted,
either that he was unable through sympathy or fear to control the riot-
ous situation or that he was ineflicient and helpless to suppress disor-
der and crime. In either event he would have justified the action of
the governor in declaring Shoshone County to be in a state of insur-
rection.

This and other testimony in the record means that Sheriff Young,
either from indifference, sympathy, or fear, became a party to the con-
spiracy which resulted in the destruction of property and the taking
of the lives of Smythe and Cheyne.

He is the sheriff referred to in the following telegraphic corre-
spondence, and whom this ** Whereas ” charges was not consulted by
the governor about the necessity for troops:

Farerienn, Waen., April 26, 1899.
FraNg STEUNENBERG, Governor, Boise, Tdaho:

Armed mob stopped our men this morning and prevented them from working.
We have raised wages and men are satisfied and want to work, but are intimidated
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miners’ union, who seek to force recognition of their organization and to dictate

Erml and conditions here under which we shall work. County authorities unable

to cope with mob, and we appeal to you for protection for ourselves and our men.
Wardner.

Please answer,
FrEperick BunBipGe.

Boise, Inano, April 26, 1899,
James D, Youxe, Sheriff Shoshone County:

Am informed that armed mob stopped men from working in mines at Wardner
and that county authorities are unable to cope with mob, Wire me immediately the

ituation.
= Frang SreuNenNsera, Governor,

Warpxer, Inano, April 26, 1899.
Fraxk SrevNessera, Governor, Boise, Idaho:

Your telegram received. Am on the ground. All is quiet. No armed mob.
Matters are orderly.. Will do all in my power to preserve order. The county
authorities were not applied to until 10 a. m. this morning.

Jaues D. Youxa, Sheriff.

Bose, Inauo, April 29, 15899.
Jaues D). Yousa,
iff: Shoshone Covnty, Wardner, Idaho:

ntations are made that you are not able to cope with those who threaten
disturbance and that railroad property has been forcibly taken possession of. Up to
this time I have relied upon your power and ability to protect property and
order. Wire me the situation and any contemplated or actual violence, as reports
seem to call for prompt and vigorous action by the State,

Fraxg Srevsexserae, Governor.

Warpxer, Ipano, April 29, 1899.
Furasg BrevNessene, Governor, Boise, Idaho:

About 800 armed men took possession of train at Wallace and arrived in Wardner
Junction about noon. They immediately marched to the Bunker Hill and Sullivan
concentrator and destroyed it, ther with the adjoining buildings, after which

returned on the same train to Wallace. A few cars were badly by the

of the mill. One man was shot and killed and two w . No one
further trouble, #o far as I can learn. 1 was on the scene during the troubl

unable to disperse the armed miners. lhmdepunzedmnlmanm‘z

expects
but was
think I can handle the situation,

3

Jaues D. Youna, Sheriff.

Waroxer, May 1, 1899.
Fraxx Srevsessera, Governor:

Have thoroughly investigated advisability of declaring martial law, and fully nine-
tenths, if not more, of citizens favor it. { recommend that course for lhoyentire
country. The present county administration is a perfect farce. There is only one
mwwn in the county. All other settlements are directly under county mal-

tion. Successiul prosecution of the rioters is impossible without presence
of the troops. People are afraid to testify without Federal or State protection.
Masked men are prowling about town to-night, and the people are frightened.

Bartierr SiNcrLAr,

Fraxx Sreuxexsere, Governor, Boize:

Guards and special constable looking after Bunker Hill were compelled
by the sheriff to disarm, and sheriff now has guns. Oldgm I.(:Mnru':enns.
Inform me fully what aid people may expect at once.

BartLerr SiNcLam,
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WarpNER, May 2, 1899.
FrANK BTEUNENBERG, Governor, Boise:
Will not go to Wallace to-day. Young has returned guns. Repeat my recom-
mendation favoring declaration of martial law. daga=
BarTLETT BINCLAIR.

In view of these undisputed facts the committee finds that the sheriff
of Shoshone County, on account of his treachery as a peace official,
while the governor properly applied to him, was absolutely inefficient
and unworthy of confidence. Eurth{}r consultation with him about law
and order would have been fruitless.

The Wardner News of May 6, 1899, says in this connection:

The inaction of Sheriff Young in connection with the last outbreak of Canyon
Creek savages seems to have created a great deal of surprise among outsiders. * It
gurprised no one here. Nothing was expected of him when he was elected except to
draw his salary. He always was a prominent union man and his election didn’t
change his principles. As far asthe law-abiding citizens of this county are concerned,
he is a menace rather than a’protection. Ie will protect dynamiters but persecate
mslilectable citizens, just as his predecessor of the same political faith did. His sym-
pathies are in favor of criminals. His examination in the cases pending will prove
this. There is not the slightest doubt that he knew of the scheme to blow up the
Bunker Hill concentrator as soon as it was concocted. Buf he took care not to give
the people of Wardner any warning. In the name of justice is there no way torid the
people of this conunty of such a miserable subteriuge for a sheriff?

Sheriff Young was subsequently removed from office by due process
of law, after full hearing, in the State district court, and being repre-
sented by able counsel, on account of his neglect and 1nefficiency in this
emergency, under section 7454 of the I1daho statutes. The opinion and
judgment of the court are as follows:

As to the charges made in the information against the defendant sheriff, it could
serve no good purpose for me fo recite again the evidence offered in support thereof.
The defendant in his own testimony has convicted himself of the most flagrant vio-
lation of official duty that could be imagined. The defendant seems to have utterly
disregarded every ob].i%l;i(?n resting upon him bg virtne of his being a peace officer
in Shoshone County. m his own statement he did nothing whatever to prevent
the difficulties which occurred at Kellogg on April 20. He took no steps to appre-
hend or arrest those participating in such unlawful acts. Men coming from commu-
nities where he had been acquainted were met by him at Wallace, and he rode on
the train with them to Kellogg, heard their talk, followed in their steps, witnessed
the destruction of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Com‘fa:ky’s propedrl'té, and
permitted, almost within his view, the murder of two men, and, aiter the difficulty
was over, remained at the place of the difficulty, without either in person or by
deputy following the persons engaged in the unlawful acts to the place from whence
they came with a view of identifying or apprehending them. ghe highest peace
officer of the county, conducting himself as he states in his own evidence, has dis-
graced the office to which he has been elected and has shown himself to be incom-
petent and unfit as a public servant.

Findings and a decree may be prepared sustaining all the allegations in the infor-
mation against the sheriff and removing him from office.

The following is the finding of the coroner’s inquest upon the cause
of the deaths of Smythe and Cheyne, with reference to the conduct of
said sheriff at and before the riots of April 29, 1899 (p. 1506):

The sheriff of Shoshone County, James D. Young, was appealed to in like manner,
but throughout all the period of time up to the final commisson of the crimes he
wholly neglected and failed to perform his duty looking to the preservation of the
peace. On the contrary, he came down on the train from Wallace with the mob of
armed and masked men, associated with them throughout the entire day, held long
and earnest conversations with the individual masked leaders during the carrying
into effect of the conspiracy to destroy the property of the Bunker Hi Gorpgauy,
refused to appoint proper deputies who were not members or sympathizers with the
miners’ unions, but aided and abetted the accomplishment of the conspiracy.
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uumg at Wallace and again at Wardner on the arrival of the train he was within
a few of a public telephone and telegraph, he &u\'e no warning to either the
Bunker Hill mtrgullim y's employees or the citizens of Wardner of the
coming avalanche of rioters. er the explosion took place he ordered the appoint-
ment of ten special deputies to guard the Last Chance mine, a union mine, all of
whose operatives, with few exceptions, were active participants in the crimes of the

he- willfully deceived the governor of the State of Idaho as to the
true condition of affairs at {Vlrdneri.n asserting that there was no trouble and that
he had the situation well in hand.

When the troubles of April 29 were menacing, the county commis-

sioners, Boyle, Stimson, and Simmons, were called upon to take steps

ing to the protection of life and property, and with reference to

the conduct of said county commissioners the coroner’s inquest found
as follows (p. 1506):

During the week preceding the killing of Cheyne and Schmidt (Smythe) and the
blowing up of the mill it became evident to the managers of the Bunker Hill and
Sullivan mine that serious tronble was intended. Thereupon an appeal was made
by its assistant manager to the three county commissioners, Boyle, Stimson, and

ons, calling their attention to the critical condition of affairs at Wardner and
urging upon them the necessity of taking some precautionary measures to prevent
the destruction of property and possible loss of life. Neither one of the said com-
missioners paid the slightest attention to such warning or request. No meeting was
ever to congider the gitnation; no peace officer was ever waited u or
instructed to take measures to prevent the commission of erime, but each and every
one of eaid commissioners stood idly by and passively permitted the complaint of
the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company to go unheeded.

The county commissioners were subsequently removed from office
by the district court of Shoshone County after a full hearing and bein
represented by able counsel, as shown by the following opinion anﬁ
j ent of said court, as follows:

Under the ﬁneﬂl powers of the board of omng commissioners it was the duty of
the board to have su ised the conduet of the sheriff and seen that he oheyed and
executed the law protected the people of the county in life and &mperty. and
the taxpayers generally of the county, to the extent of furnishing all the protection
at his command, so that the county in no way would become liable in damages by
moflnﬁl:‘egloct of official duty. But Lhamueemed to have viewed the notifica-

of the ker Hill and Sallivan Mining pany with very little concern, and
- thom steps to protect them or their property, or their employees, or the taxpayers

county.

The responsibilities, as indicated by the action of the members of the board in this
matter, as well as all other matters referred to in this opinion, seem to have rested
m’pon the shoulders of said board. They do notseem o have realized the fact

were servants of dmmple, or that they owed any duty to the office held
them or to the people who placed them in office. They have prescribed their
own rules of action, disregarded the plain, unequivocal provisions of the statute, and
acted independently and in d rd of the requirements of thelaw. Just what the
t have accomplished by taking hold of the difficulties which were thmau-neg
26th of April, and which finally culminated in the destruction of the Bun-
ker Hill and "Sullivan mill and other buildings and the death of two men on the
20th of April, can not be gathered from the evidence, but that it was their duty to
furnish to those threatened with the destruction of propert{. and the people gen-
erally of the county, the strong support of the law there can be no question, and by
to do so they have disregarded and neglected their official duties and by their
emonstrated their incompetency and unfitness for the public trust imposed in
them by the people of this county.

The second charge is as follows:

et T i Wt of I mi:u:rel' B T suk comeity I oo o oo
w corpus a time of
, when there was no con'c-ritiun rebellion or invasion or any menaol;%
-.lal.y.

-
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:
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The groof shows conclusively that at the time martial law was
declared in Shoshone County it was not in a time of *“profound peace,”
and that there were numerous conditions of *‘rebellion and menace to
the Euhlic safety.”

The acute conditions of the insurrection are noted throughout the
testimony, particularly in the testimony of Governor Steunenberg,
Bartlett Sinclair, Dr. France, and the army officers.

Captain Leavell calls attention to the extraordinary conditions which
Erevailed in June, 1899, as is shown in the following reports made by

im to General Corbin and General Merriam:

WarnnNeR, Inano, June 3, 1599.
ApiuTANT-GENERAL UniTED STATES ARMY, Washington, D. C.:

Men who have been arrested charged with complicity with the riots here are still
being guarded by me. The civil authorities are not prepared to take charge of and
g‘uarﬁ them. Trials have not begun because attempt has been made to get writs of
habeas corpus. These have been denied by the State supreme court, and claim is
made that the matter will be carried into the Federal courts. No acts of violence
have been committed since my arrival here (May 9), but relations of sympathizers
with arrested men with the remainder of the community are so strained that I am
convinced only the presence of Federal troops prevents bloodshed, arson, and other
acts of violence,
LeaveLL, Commanding.

Came Waroner, Kellogg, Idaho, June 13, 1899.
General MerriayM, Denver, Colo.

DeAr GeNeran: Please pardon my sending you a semiofficial letter of this sort,
but the air is getting very thick here.

I fear that trouble is brewing—that the Canyon people are preparing for more
bloodshed. Threats have been made here, at Wallace, and up tﬁe canlyon. both
individual and general. To-day the Roman Catholic priest, who is in daily contact
with many of these people, told me that unless the trials are speedily concluded
(which is hardly within the range of possibility) the union people were goingto ““do
serions trouble.” He also said they would fight any idea of the breaking up of the
union or the forcing out of the country of people befonging to it.

Prisoners have tried to bribe at least one of my sentinels, and people outside are,
I am quite certain, trying to make friends with them for a pur ¢

I am not a calamity howler, but I believe more troops should be in the district
until after the conclusion of the frials which began yesterday. The grand jury
began its work yesterday.

l b‘he trials proper will not, of course, begin till after the grand jury completes its
abors.
l'u!f yon can make it convenient to come here soon, I believe it wounld be a good
thing.
Please pardon me if I appear presumptuous in this matter.
Very respectfully,
Bexy W. LeaveLn,
Captain, Twenty-fourth Infantry.

[First indorsement.] »

HeapquarTtErs DEPARTMENT oF THE COLORADO,
Denver, Colo., June 16, 1899.

Respectfully forwarded to the Adjutant-General of the Army, for information of
the honorable Secretary of War. It is, of course, expected that as trials of the large
number of prisoners begin and the probability of conviction increases every precau-
tion to prevent escape will be necessary; and, generally, the presence of an abundant
force is desirable, in order to discourage any attempt at release or further dynamit-
ing. I have ordered three officers and 200 dismounted cavalry from Fort Riley to
‘Wardner to take the place of three companies Twenty-fourth Infantry, ordered to
foreign service. I dare not further reduce the force in this department, or go myself,
in view of labor disturbances anticipated here on a much larger scale; but Iadvise
that two officers and 100 dismounted men be sent from Fort Meade, if possible, to
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rt to Major Smith, at Wallace, Idaho, and to remain as long as he deems need-
fr:ro Telegrams from Major 8mith and governor of Idaho all indicate necessity for
continued show of strong force pending trials now progressing.
H. C. MerRIAM,
Brigadier-tieneral Commanding.

The situation and the conditions prevailing in Shoshone County are
fully shown in the following correspondence between the War Depart-
ment and Governor Steunenberg:

War DeparTMENT,
Washington, September 28, 1599.

Sir: I beg to call your attehtion to vour application to the President, dated April
20, 1899, for military forces of the United States to suppress insurrection in 8hoshone
County, in the State of Idaho, and to inquire v hether the insurrection in that county
has not now been suppressed, go that the troops may be withdrawn and employed in
other duties. In case that you shonld deem that the time has not arrived for the
entire withdrawal of the troops of the United States from that county, I beg to make
the following suggestion in regard to their further service: I am informed that they
are now being used by the civil authorities of the State and county as a guard for
certain prisoners—upward of a hundred in number—who have been arrested by the
eivil anthorities upon warrants issued by the civil courts, and are held under such
warrants or indictments found by the grand jury of the county; that these prisoners
or most of them, have been held for a number of months, and that during the peri
of their detention the district court of Shoshone County, which is the court havin,
jurisdiction to try indictments found by the grand jury, has twice convened an
adjourned without bringing these prisoners to trial; that the next regular term of
court will not be until January of next year, and that in the meantime, unless some-
thing is done to prevent it, these prisoners would remain in prison under guard of
the troops of the United States. » ’

I do not wish in any way to make any suglgestmn relating to the administration of
justice in your State, or to imply that the failure to bring these prisoners to trial has
not been for perfectly good reasons in accordance with the law and praetice of the
courts of Idaho, but I am much disinclined to have the troope of the United States
continued longer in the attitude of retaining in custody the citizens of a State who
have remained so long without being tried, and I feel bound to urge that, if it is not
convenient to bring the prisoners to speedy trial, you will substitute civil gnards as
U;eil: cu;todimnn relieve the troops of the United States from further performance
of that duty.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, yours,
Eumu Roor, Secrelary of War.

Hon. FRANK STEUNENBERG,

Governor of Idaho, Boise, Idaho.

Brate or Inano, Execvrive Orrice,
) Boise, Idaho, October 10, 1899.
8ir: In reply to your communication of SBeptemnber 28, relative to the withdrawin;

of the troops from Shoshone County, Idaho, and your interrogatory therein contain
a8 to whether the insurrection in that county has not now been suppressed, so that
the troops may be withdrawn, will say that it is my deliberate judgment that the
withdrawal of the lmofa from Shoshone County would be attended with the most
gerious consequences. believe that while uﬁun the surface there is an apparent
quiet, should the troops be withdrawn it would surely result in a great loss of prop-

erty and the loss of life in that vicinity.

vert threats are constantly being made by those who en in the riot of April
29, which resulted in the destruction of some $250,000 worth of property and the
tion of two men, that as soon as the troops are removed they will gratify
their revenge upon those citizens who have been induced to assist the State in its
attempt to ferret out crime; and the history of that region convinces me that these
are not idle threats or the boasting of i nsible parties, but are the expressions of
deliberate and well-arranged purposes and plans. In the beginning of the present
E‘roaecutious upon the part of the State (meaning the trials of those who participated
the murders and riots of April 20, 1849) a great many good citizens were induced
to testify and give evidence upon the representation that they should be protected,

H. Rep. 1999—2
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and I have no donbt but that each and every one of these would be compelled to
leave the country and sacrifice their homes and property should the protection which
was assured them be taken away by the removal of the Federal troops.

These convictions, which are not disturbed by a single doubt, arise by reason of
the history of the county. It is impossible to appreciate the necessity of the troo;
in that vicinity without going somewhat into previous conditions, for it should
understood that this is not a conflict between labor and capital nor a question of
wages, but it is a conflict between the State of Idaho and certain criminal organiza-
tions which seek to cloak themselves under the cover of labor organizations. These
organizations were originally undoubtedly legal and proper, and were organized for
a commendable purpose, but they have been faken possession of by men who utterly
ignore all law, who are anarchists in belief and practice, and by such men trans-
formed into criminal combinations. We do not concede for a moment that these
organizations in Shoshone County to which we are referring have anything in com-
mon with the great labor organizations throughout the country, and they are not in
any way to be considered in that light. We are not in conflict with organized labor,
as guch, in any manner whatever.

To establish the truth of these statements I call attention to the following facts, the
truth of which may be easily ascertained by anyone desiring to make an investigation:

In 1892 a difficulty arose between the mine owners and the miners' union, by rea-
son of the constant interference of certain members of the union with the operation
of the mines, This led to injunction suits upon the part of the mine owners, wherein
the unions were enjoined from interfering with the operation of the mines. Upon
the morning of July 11, 1892, the union men, having previously armed themselves,
commenced firing on the guards and workmen at the Frisco mine and mill. They
next ran giant powder down the penstock of the Frisco mill and blew it to pieces,
utterly destroying the mill. In the general fighting which followed quite a number
of men were killed, Governor Willey proclaimed martial law, the troops were gent
in and quiet restored. The State undertook to prosecute a number of the parties for
murder, but the final result was that they all escaped punishment, except certain minor
punishments for contempt. A cry was shortly raised for the removal of the troops,
it being alleged that quiet had been restored and that there was no longer any neces-
gity for the troops remaining there. Martial law was revoked November 18, 1892
the troops were removed; and it is to the history of the camp gince the removal of
the troops that I invite particular attention:

Even before the removal of the troops, and while the removal was being contem-
plated, the following notice was posted at the mouth of the tunnel of the Gem mine:

‘‘Look out, scabs! One more warning, and the last one. Before this month is over
1,500 pounds of giant powder will be exploded, and all in this mine will be sent to
hell. If we can not work the mines, no one else ghall.”

This was followed, immediately after the removal of the troops, bge:nnnmber of
citizens who had been identified with the State in its prosecution being foreed to
leave the country. They were threatened in the most brutal manner—one man
being tied on a hand car which was turned looge upon a steap incline; others hauled
out of their beds at midnight and forced to leave without even being permitted to
take with them their personal property.

On July 11, 1893, in a public speech, one Peter Breen, of Butte, Mont., who is now
one of the parties putting forth strong effort to have the troops removed, declared in
substance: ‘‘ We have given the mine owners a fight to the finish, and if they are not
satisfied we can give them some more. This,” he said, *“ was the hn%pieet moment
of his life, and that he was at all times willing to be classed as one of the dynamiters
of the Ceeur d’Alenes.”’

On April 24, 1893, the managers of the Gem and Frisco mines were waited upon by
a delegation appointed to act by the Gem Miners' Union and submitted a list of 23
names of men employed in those mines and requested that they be di.whmﬁzd.

On July 3, 1804, one John Kneebone was openly murdered. This man Kneebone
had been one of the principal witnesses for the State in its prosecution in 1802 and
had been many times threatened, being at one time driven out of the county and
almost fatally wounded, and at the time of the wounding was robbed. On this day,
July 3, 1891, along in the afternoon, about 40 masked men came to Gem from the
direction of Burke. Their coats were turned inside out and they were otherwise
disguised in some respects. Each one carried a rifle or a shotgun. They marched
down the railroad track and were in full view of all who were out on the street. 1
then went in the direction of the mill. Kneebone was working in the blacksmil
shop. He was fired upon by the mob and rolled down the hill, dead. The parties
then inquired of the whereabouts of Supt. R. K. Neil, Foreman Crumer, Fran &lﬁ-
ging, and Charles West. These parties were taken captive and marched up the rail-
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road track by the masked men. In the meantime the wires had been cut both above
and below Gem. The above parties were afterwards found and rescued by their
friends. Moet of them, however, left the country at once in order to avoid being
assaulted or killed.

On July 14, 1894, an attempt was made to blow up the electric power house of
Bunker Hill mine at Wardner. The explosive which was made for the destruction
of the property fell short of its mission by striking some obstruction that Pr:evun!ed
it from going under the building. The building was badly shaken and in some

injured.
& bout tgﬁ.a time the Silver SBtar newspaper, then the official organ of the miners’
union, so called, contained the following editorial: .

“About two months ago the miners union requested the ‘ Gem’ Company to dis-
charge those objectionable ‘scabs,” and later on went to the men and advised them to
leave the camp, a8 their presence here was sure to end disastrously sooner or later.
Hence no blame for this outrage can be laid at the doors of the union, as they have
done everything in their power to avert it by adopting other and more peaceable
means, and great hopes of succeeding.”

They are referring here, it will be understood, to the Kneebone murder.

The law-and-order paper of the community, known as the Miner, said editorially
about this time:

“The murder of Kneebone and the expulsion of Messrs. Neil, Crumer, Higgins,
and West from the country was simply the climax to what has been going on in a
- milder form in the Ceeur d’Alenes lor months past. To those who have watched
the trend of events the ‘Gem’ outrage was no surprise. Indeed, it was the natu-
ral result of a epirit of lawlessness, unchecked, which has long existed here. So
strong has the spirit grown that the most sacred rights of American citizemhi_]la have
been%rn.mpled upon, and he who would raise his voice to protest has been silenced
by threats or hushed by platitudes of those who placed financial gain above patri-
otism, who eacrifice honor and manhood for the eake of trade. This, in brief, is
the establighed condition in the Cceur d’Alenes.

““The exigency of the condition demands the continued presence of United States
troops, and wecgelieva the only permanent cure for existing evils will be found in
the establishment of a military post at gome available point in the Ceeur d’Alenes.”

It is needless to gay that this same newspaper was soon driven from the camp and

On Tuly 16, 1904, s special grand lled for th f investigati

n July 1 a special grand jury was ca or the purpose of investigatin
the death of John kneehona! and its report is one of the most pitiful and ghamefu
things that d. or could, disgrace the records of the American courts. We quote
at |ﬂ$e a part of the report of this grand jury:

“We are especially charged by your honor to make an investigation of the ont-
rage of July 3, at the Gem mine, on Canyon Creek, an incident of which was the
brutal murder of John Kneebone. The occurrences of that day are known to every-
one in the country. On the afternoon of July 3, 1894, a band of armed and masked
men, some forty or fifty in number, suddenly appeared at the Gem mine, where the
workmen were quietly pursuing their usual avocations, and instituted-a search for

persons working in the mine whose only crime was that they were obnoxious

to those men and their sympathizers. Some of these men came upon Kneebone
employed at his work at the blacksmith shop of the mine. As Kneebone, terrified
at the sudden appearance of the masked men, turned and fled from the shop, two of
the masked men fired at him, unarmed and helpless as he was. Kneebone was slain
by one of the shots. It would appear that the commission of this foul murder must
ve disarranged the plans of the masked men, for they desisted from any further
effort to find all the men of whom they were in search, and contented themselves
with taking as prisoners the superintendent of the mine, the foreman of the mill,
and two of the workmen, all of whom they conducted up Canyon Creek to the
Montana line, where the prisoners were turned loose with orders not to return to

e country under penalty of death.

“The {)roceasion of masked men with their prisoners marched past and in view of
the people of the town of Gem, whose attention had been directed to the unusual
occurences at the mine. The deputy sheriff at Gem called upon the citizens of Gem
to assist hin;, but could prevail upon none of them to do 0. He himself approached
the mob and remonstrated with them, but was warned back with leveled rifles.

“The masked men with their prisoners proceeded up Canyon Creek, which is
thickly settled above the Gem mine, and in its course the procession passed through
the main street of the town of Burke. The masked men must have been 1esidents
of Canyon Creek, and, though masked in various ways, they were seen by hundreds
of their acquaintances, and it is to be supposed that many of them were known ta
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though the grand jury has been in session for over a week, and though

known throughout the country that we are sitting mainly for the inv

affair, and though liberal rewards have been offered by the State and by the county
for the apprehension of the murderers of Kneebone, not a resident of Canyon Creek has
come forward to testify to the identity of those men; and, though rumor has it that
many of these men were recognized by their prisoners, the exiled men have departed
from the State of Idaho and evidently are afraid to return for the purpose of giving
evidence before the grand jury.

“We have enmmoned before us such persons as we had reason to believe had had
gome opportunities of seeing and identifying these men, but have obtained little or
no testimony that would justify us in finding an indictment against any one.

““We, therefore, with regret, suspend our labors on that subject, deploring the
condition of our country and the spirit of our citizens, which, either through a reign
of terror existing on Canyon Creek or through sympathy with crimes of this charac-
ter, prevents the bringing of these murderers to justice; and we can only hope that
with the lapse of time and the coming of a better day to cur country, evidence may
develop which may justify a new grand jury in finding indictments against the right

men.
“It would be trifling with the subject not to recognize in our report that the out-
at Gem is but one feature, perhaps the ngliest one, of the unfortunate agitation
ﬁiech has been gﬂinﬁ on now for over two years in the ranks of labor in this
country, embittering the hearts of men and yzing the industries of our country.”

On December 22, 1894, a large number of nonunion men were called from their
bﬁda :linc(ii were allowed until daylight to pack their personal effects and leave, which
they did.

0{1 April 5, 1895, J. J. Mills, of Wallace, was driven from his work at the Gem
mine by a band of armed and masked men, and forced to leave the country.

On June 1, 1895, several other men were driven from the camp by armed and
masked men.

On October 27, 1895, John Ecklund was assailed, beaten, and driven out of the
camp, and at the same time $23 was faken from his person.

On May 10, 1896, another grand effort was made to destroy the Bunker Hill con-
centrator. The explosion of dynamite shook all the buildings within a radius of a
mile. The machinery at the mill was stopped and electric lights went out almost
instantly. Fortunately serious damage was not incurred, and the fire which broke
out was extinguished by the employees of the company.

On February 7, 1897, three men broke into the bedroom of one John Kopp, covered
him with guns, and threatened tokill him if he did not leave the camp instantly. He
made complaint against three parties, but was driven from the camp before being
permitted to testify, and the parties were turned loose.

On May 8, 1897, Ed. Boyce, now the president of the Western Federation of Miners,
and the most prominent party putting forth efforts for the removal of the troops from
the Cceeur d’ Alenes, in an addressat Salt Lake City, Utah, used the following language:

“I deem it important to direct your attention to article 2 of the constitutional
amendments of the United States: ‘The right of the people to keep and bear arms
shall not be infringed.” This you ghould comply with immediately. Every union
should have a rifle club. I strongly advise you to provide every member with the
latest improved rifle, which can be obtained from the factory at a nominal price. I
entreat you to take action on this im‘)ortant uestion, so that in two yeai. we can
hear the inspiring music of the martial tread of 25,000 armed men in the ranks of
labor. I would recommend the adoption of a new ritual. The constitution (of the
Western Federation of Miners) should also be amended so as to declare all members
of the National Guard ineligible to membership, and withhold our patronage and
assistance from all companies and individuals or organizations where any member of
the National Guard is employed or admitted to membership.”

We should add here that no man is permitted to join the organization referred to,
in the Ceenr A’ Alenes at least, who has ever been 8 member of the National Guard.

It will be geen that the suggestions of Boyee were soon taken advantage of. During
‘the year 1895 several companies of Idaho National Guard were organized in the Coeur
d’Afenes, and on May 13, 1897, five days after the above suggestions of Boyoe{kaix
masked men entered the hotel at Mullan, in Shoshone County, about 11 o’clock at
night. The parties in the hotel were ordered to turn their faces to the wall, and the
bartender was ordered to lead them to the room where the guns which belonged to
the State were stored. Forty-six Springfield rifles and about 10,000 cartridges were
tuken. No clew to them was ever found, but the evidence disclosed in the late
E:ruwcutluns is to the effect that these same guns were used in part upon April 29,

899,

the residents of Gem and Burke as the procession passed up the creek. And yet,
it is wigel_y
n of this
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Men were driven out of camp from day to day, scarcely a week passing without
some outrage being committed upon law-abiding citizens.

On April 17, 1897, the board of county commissioners, the willing tool of these
organizations, petitioned the present governor of the State in the following language:

“Ty, His Excellency the Hon. FRANK STEUNENBERG,
“ Governor of the State of Idaho, Boise Cily, Idaho:

“Sir: We, the undersigned county commissioners of 8hoshone County, of Idaho,
in regular session assembled, hereby respectfully petition your excellency to use the
authority in you vested and order the dmba.ndi‘rl:g of the two companies of the Idaho
National Guard now organized in the town of Wardner, State of ldaho.

“We find from experience and observation that the said military organization is a
source of discord and uneasiness to all the citizens of the locality referred to who do
not belong to the organization, and is therefore a continual menace to the peace and
good order of the county.” 4

After receiving this petition I visited Shoshone County, investigated affairs, and
came to the conclusion that said companies of militia should not be disbanded.
While there it was repeatedly stated to me that everything was in a peaceful condi-
tion and that there was no necessity for said militia companies being kept in exist-
ence, and hardly had I left the Ceeur d’Alenes when one of the saddest tragedies of
that county was enacted.

On December 23, 1897, Frederick D. Whitney, foreman of the Helena and Frisco
concentrator, was brutally murdered. About 11 o’clock at night, armed and masked
men went to the room W{iere Whitney lodged and took him out of bed. His com-
panion, the assayer of the company, was made to stand with his face to the wall
while Whitne (freaaed. Whitney was then taken ountside by his captors, 16 in num-
ber. When just below the town, Whitney thought he saw a chance to escape and

running. A volley was immediately fired and Whitney fell. He was taken
to the hospital that night and died on Christmas morning.

Althoungh a citizens' reward of some $16,000 has been offered for the arrest and
conyiction of parties guilty of this crime, to which the State of Idaho added an addi-
tional reward of $1,000, no arrest has ever been made. No steps were taken by the
county commissioners to investigate the matter; not one cent of reward was offered
By them, and not a single effort put forth by the then gheriff to apprehend the mur-

erers.

During the month of January, 1898, a number of parties were driven from the camp,
some being badly injured.

On Oct-u%ar 21, 1898, Dan Connor, shift boss at the Standard Mine, was ordered to
getout of the country within twenty-four hours. The order was given by four masked
men armed with revolvers. He pleaded with them that he was a married man, with
a wife and children, and could not get away in so short a time. He was finally
granted three days, being notified that if within that time he had not left the country
they would dispose of him, together with his wife and children.  Mr. Connor immedi-
ately went to Wallace, Idaho, and arranged to leave the country, of which he had
been a resident for several years. The charge against him was that he had discharged
sOme men. 2

8o I might go on recounting a number of other instances in which this high-handed
and criminal method was employed to drive good citizens out of the country. But
enough has been said to disclose the lawlessness which prevails and which has pre-
vailed for years, and I beg tostate that in all these instances the officers of the county
have remained inactive, the county commissioners and the sheriff apparently con-
?l::ng at these crimes; and no one, therefore, has been ptmi.ahedl in all these

netances.

Upon April 13, 1899, the following notice was posted, which marks the beginnin,
of the immediate trouble in question: i ¥

“ XOTICE.

“Waroxser, Inano, April 18, 1899.
‘“Ata lar meeting of the Wardner Miners' Union, No. 18, W. F. M., held on
the above date, it was decided to requestall men employed in and about the Bunker
Hill and Bullivan mines to make application for admission into the Warduner Miners'
Union at once,
“M. A. Frysw, Committeeman,"’
Just about this time Ed. Boyce, president of the W. F, M., visited Wardner and
met with the union. A few days thereafter the nunion made a demand for an increase
in wages, which the manager, at that time, stated he could not concede. Shortly
thereafter the superintendent of the mine informed the wen in the employ of the
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company that he was authorized by the Bunker Hill Company to state that all of
its employees would, in the future, be paid $3 and $3.50 per day. This was the same
wage that was beincf egaid by the adjacent mines, A committee from the Wardner
union next deman that the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company recognize the
union, which involved the dise of the nonunion employees. Tiis the Bunker
Hill and Sullivan Company ref: to do. The union then began a system of attack
upon the employees of the company upon the streets and elsewhere in the town,
which was kept up until about the 27th of April, 1889. Upon the morning of the
29th of Adpri], 1899, about 1,000 masked and armed men, coming from Mullan, Burke,
Gem, and Wardner (having taken ion by force of the train), congregated near
the mill of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company.

After con, ing there, and within a very few minutes, they put several hundred
pounds of dynamite in the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill and literally destroyed it,
the dynamite used having previously been stolen and loaded in a car of the stolen
train at the powder house of the Helena-Frisco mine, some 15 miles distant from the
Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill, They then took ion of gome of the employees
of the company, and after having possession of them for about thirty minutes began
clubbing them with their guns, at which time the captives started to run and were
fired upon by the mob. Two of them were shot and one killed. Just a few moments
before a member of the union had been shot by one of the mob, and it was proven
upon the trials which followed afterwards that he was purposely killed because he
Was sus of being aspy. The members of the mob guilty of these crimes seemed
utterly depraved in every way, as many of them wore masks made of American
and when the dynamite exploded, destroying the mill, the shout, “Down with
Americal”” was everywhere heard. These facts were clearly proved in the trials
which followed.

Martial law was declared, troops were gent into the Cceur d'Alenes ug:m request
of the governor of the State, and a special term of court was called for the purpose
of bringing to light those who were engaged in the riot of April 29.

The first matter that presented itself was that of the county officials, or rather the
county commissioners and sheriff. These officials were impeached and removed
from office by decree of the court for misconduct in office, and particularly in encour-
aging and conniving at the crime of April 29. TN

A grand jury was afterwards called and a number of parties were indicted for mur-
der, among others, Paul Corcoran, one of the prominent officials of the union. A
great many of the prominent officials of the union immediately fled and have not
yet been intercepted. Paul Corcoran was brought to trial, and the trial resulted in
a conviction of murder in the second degree.

The evidence disclosed that these crimes of April 29 were the result of well-arranged
conspiracies, beginning about April 13, 1899, For instance, the evidence showed
that at Mullan, upon the morning of ipril 29, these men, under orders and with
military precision, formed in line in front of the miners' union hall and took up the
march from that point to the railroad; that upon the way down they stopped by the
roadside and took from a place of hiding a large number of rifles and then marched on
down to Wallace; that at Burke the miners collected in and about the miners’ union
hall, some of them carrying guns at the time upon the publie street and unmasked
and about 10 o'clock marched to the depot, covered tge eer with rifles, and
took complete control of the train; that at Gem they met in the miners’ union hall,
where guns and masks were in readiness and were handed out to the parties coming
in, the room being darkened, and the guns were taken from a hiding place under
the desk near where the president of the union sat. These parties then marched to
the depot and met the train coming down from Burke. They all met at Wallace and
still retained possession of the train, compelling the engineer to pull them to Ward-
ner; that just before they arrived at Wardner the Wardner union came out & mile
and met them, and by the time they arrived at the Bunker Hill mill there were
about 1,000 of them in all, and about 300 armed and masked.

In the meantime, on their way down, they had broken into the Helena-Frisco
powder house, near Gem, and taken possession of about 800 pounds of giant powder
which they afterwards used in blowing up the mill. The crowd seemed to be at all
times under the control and acting in obedience to the commands of superior officers,
marching and obeying orders witg military precision.

The eheriff of the county was one of the parties who went down on the train and
was with the crowd during the day.

As has been stated above, the trial of Corcoran resulted in a conviction of murder
of second degree, and he i8 now serving his term in the State penitentiary. There
were seven other men indicted for murder, whom the State had made é)repanﬁon
to try, who escaped prigon abont ten days before trial was called. The State has at
no time lagged in the trial of those who have been held under indictment.



CEUR D'ALENE LABOR TROUBLES. 93

The defense made serious efforts for a continuance in the Corcoran case, which the
Btate opposed and forced trial. The defense was aleo making preparations for con-
tinuance in the other cases when the prigoners escaped. The defense has never asked
for trial in & aing!a instance of ﬁames who were held under indictment but upon
the other hand when the State has been asking for trial opposed trial. Itis true
that after the escape of the seven eJ)riauners who were held under indictment, the
defense appeared in court and asked for trial of the other parties in prison, but these

werenot held underState indictment, nor for the pu of trial in State courts,

t by reason of the fact that they were under indictment by the Federal grand jury,
or retained in prison under authority of the martial law because of their dangerous

¢ r.

The blowing up of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill and the affairs of April 29
were openly indorsed by the then official o of the Western Federation of Miners,
which was edited by J. R. Bovereign. The following are some quotations from his

editorial tgfm:
“For this foolhardy Lgollcy the Bunker Hill has suffered an immense loss, and no
one who l\:ndmtnnd.a e real situation has any sympathy for them.”
e says:
= wmp;’:y will need military protection for forty years after their new mill
is completed.” :

Aﬁn he says:

““The Bunkgr Hill company wants military protection while completing their mill
at Wardner. That is not necessary. Let the company show the disposition to treat
the organized miners with the same respect the other mines apparently give to miners
and pay the union rate and no protection will be needed.”

Thig includes an admission and a threat. This newspaper is still the mouthpiece
of lawlessness and ig, with each issue, practically enco ing those who committed
thoucrimea of April 29 te continue in such work whea the opportunity presents
itself.

The same paper brazenly admitted that the destruction of property and murders
of April 20 were the work of the so-called labor organizations of tﬁ: (,-?('nur d'Alenes,
Lhmmctlienrly proving them to be criminal organizations, as is evidenced by the following
quotations:

““The streets of Wallace took on an air of excitement, and before the train pro-
ceeded to Wardner with its human freight on its mission of destruction, armed men
walked thé streets in quest of an abundant qug! y of ammunition. It was evident to
all that some of the scenes of 1892 were to repeated, and this time the Bunker
Hill and Sullivan Mining Company, at Wardner, 12 miles below Wallace, was to be
the victim of a forceful demonstration on the part of the organized miners of the
Ceeur d’Alenes.  On the train were about 200 members of the organization at Mullan,
and the balance was composed of men from the various mines and outside works on
(}u.n%on Creek.

“The train reached Wardner at 1 o’clock and the work of clearing the country of
all opposition was begun. A detachment of union miners, armed with Winchester
rifles, was tehed to the mountain side beyond the mill, and the work of placing
under the mill 3,000 pounds of dynamite, taken from the magazine of the Frisco mine
at Gem, was commenced.” (Idaho State Tribune, Mnf 3,1899.)

At the present time, in the Ceeur d’Alenes, as we have stated, quiet apparently
prevails, but it is uolefy by reason of the presence of the Federal troops. Threats
are constantly being made against those who are seeking to enforce the law and a
spirit of revenge manifested, which no one upon the ground can doubtis simply
waiting for the removal of the troops to be put into execution.

A large number of these ies who were in the riot of April 29, it is true, have
left the country, but most of them have simply gone across the line to Butte, J‘.‘Iont..,
and to British éolumbia. and will return immediately upon the removal of the troops.
Upon their return there will be an inevitable conflict, which, in my judgment, will
result in much bloodshed.

The above are some of the facts which compel me to ask for the detention of the
troops in the Ceeur d'Alenes. 1 certainly should be glad if conditions were such
that I could consent to their removal, but to do so would, in my judgment, be to
reenact the ecenes which have dis, our State for years, and which we are now
well under way to end, as I believe, for all time. I have but one purpose, and that
is to protect the pmg:lrty and lives of the citizens of S8hoshone County, Much has
been accomplished, but the work is not finished.

Again, taking it for granted that a state of insurrection existed on April 29, 1899—
and this fact is gen y conceded—who is to determine when the insurrection has
ended? Who is to determine when the civil anthorities are in full and complete con-
frol? Is it the official who proclaimed the insurrection, or is it to be determined by
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those, and the sympathizers and instigators of those, who are guilty of bringing about
the insurrection? Fortunately for this qrment crigis the light of experience makes
plain the path. In 1892, under an exactly similar condition of affairs, a seeming calm
apparently justified the revocation of martial law and the withdrawal of troops after
less than three months of operation, and the result was one of untold disaster. A
section of commu.nitg' given over for years to terrorism and crime can not be

in three months or five months, as was well illustrated by the conditions once exist-
ing at Rock Springs, Wyo., where it became necessary to station the troops for a term
of twelve years.

A condition of affairs that it has taken years to create of necessity can not be
superseded within a few months. That idea that the enjoyment for a few months of
what might properly be termed enforced calm is evidence that normal conditions
have been restored has been the mistake of the past in dealing with conditions in the
Ceeur d’Alenes.

Our people look to our institutions for absolute protection in the guaranties of the
Constitation, which are those of enjoying life, acquiring and possessing property, and
g:;rsuing happiness. These things have not been enjoyed by the good people of the

eur d'Alenes for years, and we insist can not be at the present time without the
aid of Federal tfroops.

While it is not necessary to inform you of the relative positions of the State of
Idaho and the General Government in this matter, as this status is clearly defined by
statute, still it may be proper, for purposes of general information, to add that the
State of Idaho is responsible for all that has been done in Shoshone County relative
to the call for troops, the arrest, detention, and care of prisoners, the regulations
under which the mines can and have been operated from the date of the insurrection
up to the present time, and the regulation of all matters concerning the employment
ulI men in these mines, all of the above matters having been under the immediate
supervision, control, and direction of the officers and representatives of the State of
Idaho, and not in any way of the Federal tron}[:s I further state that the State
assumes and acknowl all responsibility for the manner in which affairs are con-
ducted in the Cceur d’ Alenes so long as martial law, as proclaimed, prevails.

In concluding my answer to this portion of ly('.-m' letter will say that, in my jndﬁmeut,
the necessity still exists for the detention of troops in the Cceur d'Alenes, and I ask
that they be permitted to remain to assist us in policing the situation.

As to the guarding of the prisoners, I will state that on November 1 the State will
he able to relieve the troops of all such duties. This has been our desire from the
beginning, and it has been our intention at all times to perform this service as soon
as we conld, and we have done so in =o far as it was possible. We have had some
30 special deputies engaged in the duty of arresting, conveying, and guarding these
prisoners. You will understand that we have had at times gome 600 or 700 parties
under arrest, or detention, but that number has been reduced to 65, and after this sit-
ting of Federal court at Moscow the number will be much less. I state, therefore,
that we will be able to take entire charge of the prisoners aiter November 1.

It should be stated here, however, that these men have not been held under or by
reason of indictments upon the part of the State, but because they were men whom
we could not permit to be at under the present condition of affairs in that sec-
tion. The men who were held under indictments found by the State grand jury,
and whom we desire to try, escaped prison a few days before the regular term of the
court, at which time all preparations had been made to try them.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, yours,
Fraxk StevNexsBErG, Governor of Idaho.

Hon. Eviav Roor,

Secretary of War, Waeshington, D. C.

The Cweur d’Alene district, famous for the richest lead and silver
mines of the world, has for years been the scene of the most flagrant
lawlessness that stains the pages of American history.

The destruction of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill and other
property and the murder of two miners on April 29, 1899, is the cul-
mination of a series of labor troubles that had manifested themselves
in various ways since 1892. A secret organization controlled the civil
authorities in Shoshone County. The mandate of the *‘dark lantern”
order was more powerful than the law of the State.

Whatever was the desire of the secret clan became the law of the
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community. Sheriffs connived at the actions of criminals. News-
papers succumbed to the baleful influence and became willing organs
to justify damnable conspi and inflame prejudice against men who
would not become slaves tme lawless element. Men suddenly dis-
8 leaving no trace behind.

is secret clan wore the cloak of an honored institution to perpet-
uate its infamy. It was secure in its intrenchment and defied law and
order. This state of affairs had existed for seven years.

On July 12, 1892, the governor of Idaho asked President Harrison
for troops to suppress riot and insurrection in that State,

The report of Col. William P. Carlin, U. S. A., to the War Depart-
ment of the desperate methods of the dynamiters on that occasion,
shows “he conditions prevailing in this section and the criminal char-
acter of the men who perpetrated the crimes and assisted in the wanton
and wholesale destruction of property.

Heapquarrers Uxitep States Troors v e Firup,

Wardner, Idaho, July 26, 1892,
The AssisTANT ADJUTANT-GENERAL,
Headquarters Department of the Columbia, Vancowver Barracks, Wash.

Bm: I have the honor to submit the following report on the operations of the
h'oog;&ndar my command while engaged in sup) g the riots or insurrection in
the r d’Alene mining district in this State, viz:

On the mominf of July 12 I was notified by telegrams from Col. J. F. Curtis,
hmpeetnrfeneml daho National Guard, then at Wallace; W. B. Heyburn, attorney
for the mine owners at Wardner, then at Spokane; Governor N. B. Willey, at Boise,
of the outbreak of the rioters or insurgents, and about 2 o'clock p.m. I received a dis-

from Major-General Schofield, commanding the Agny, saying that orders had
sent to headquarters of the department directing me to move troops to the scene
of the d'ﬂm’h.nm, and that on receipt of such orders I would move accordingly .

It was after 3 o'clock p. m. when the orders from the department commander,
Brigadier-General Ruger, were received; but preparations for the movement had
been in nearly all day.

At 4. marched the four companies of the Fourth Infantry at Fort Sherman,
H, D, F, and A, to Cour d’ Alene City and embarked on the steamboat as soon as it
was read , namely, about 5.30 p. m. The boat took us to Harrison, near the head
of the lake, in two hours. There we found a tmain of the Union Pacific Railroad
awaiting to take us toward Wardner, the first point at which the rioters were reported
to be in great force, and where the grinci'nlp:'ninu were located. There be no
: facilities at this point, Harrison, for landing wagons, animals, and supplies,
it was late in the night before this was accomplished. And here I found Col. J. F.

_of the Idaho National Guard, and representative of the
governor of the State, with whom Governor Willey had requested me to advise and
cooperate. He informed me that he had that day passed through the camp of the
rioters near Wardner, under flag of truce, and estimated their number at 500, all
armed with Winchester rifles.

He asked me how many men I had, and being told in reply that I had 168, he
gaid that was not enough; that he had 300 Idaho State troops en route, and advised
me to remain at Harrison till his troops could join me.

Colonel Curtis was confident, after personal observation, that the rioters were fully
prepared to fight the troops and would do so. T therefore decided to remain at Har-
rison till early next morning and move up the railroad toward Wardner to Cataldo,
27 miles from Harrison and 12 from Wardner, which I did, arriving there about 9
g}‘%ﬁﬁk' The Idaho troops arrived at 12 m. at Cataldo, but only 182 strong, instead

At t:hlt time I had received the following communieation from the manager of the
Bunker Hill mill'mmd mill, forwarded by N. J. O/’ Brien, superintendent Union Paeific
, namely: o
Warn Ipano, July 13, 1592.
““N.J. O0'Brigs: 5 i
“Will use every effort to delay any troops coming to Wardner; it is of utmost
importance to give opportunity for all our men to leave trains to-day.

“V. M. Cormest.”
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Also the following from the sheriff of the county:

“CoMMANDER oF TROOPS, Cataldo:
““Hold troops at Cataldo, subject to my ordera.

“'Warowzs, 18,

“R. A. CuoNNINGHAN,
* Sheriff, Shoshone, Idaho."”

Having previously been informed that Sheriff Cunningham was under the abeolute
control of the miners’ union and of the men englﬁl in the riots, I gave no attention
to his communication. But I did place implicit faith in the representations and the
appeal of Mr. Clement, and believed that my advance to Wardner before the non-
union men had left the mill and mine would cause the rioters as an act of i
and vengeance to blow up the Bunker Hill mill and massacre the prisoners had
taken from that mine and mill. I was also assured by Mr. Dryden, deputy United
States marshal, that he was informed by a friend of hisin the miners’ unggn that the
brid.ges between Cataldo and the Bunker Hill mill had been with dynamite
for the purpose of blowing up the bridges and train of ‘or
chiefly the appeal of Mr. Clement, through Superintendent O’Brien, of the Union
Pacific Railroad, I decided to remain at atnldo till the morning of the 14th instan

Early on the 14th I moved forward, having the train su‘?ped at ey
that carefully inspected for dynamite before crossing i
slﬁ?-ﬂdao(thenilrmdatﬂo’clmksm..lndn depot of Ward

was quiet except that several hundred idlers,
in the riots, were lo ngmnndthedeg%hmwh&tthe&oo

The rioters from Wallace, M and Montana
the 13th, after the nonunion miners been sent away, and after th:f had removed
the giant er from the mill. They had placed a ton and
in the before demanding of Mr. Clement that all of his men should
be sent out of the country, and announced that the mill would be blown up if he
refused compliance. He yielded, of course, to save the property of his mﬁnyul
and the lives of his employees.

A few minutes after arriving at Wardner I received frl;il&hu from the mayor of
Wallace that good citizens were being driven or ord out of town by the rioters
and calling for protection.

1 immediately sent forward Capt. John W. Bublb's company, Fourth Infantry, and
two companies of Idaho State troops to Wallace,

Captain Bubb at once took on of the town and restored order and confidence
on tht;}u.rt of the good people.

At 12 m. a battalion of the Fourteenth Infantry, under command of Lieut. Col.
H. A. Theaker, arrived and was at once ordered to Osborn, 6 miles farther east on
the railroad and river. Later it was ordered to Wallace, and Captain Bubb's com-
mand was ordered to Gem mine and Burke, 34 and 7 miles, respectively, from Wal-
lace, up & canyon, where the main body of union miners was employag. and where
the first outbreak occurred which resulted in the ion byd ite of
Frisco mill and the death of many nonunion miners, who were by the explo-
gion on the 11th instant.

In this connection it is proper to state that the nonunion men who surrendered to
the miners’ union at the Frisco mill were sent out of the country by railroad to the
0ld Mission on the Ceeur d’Alene River, where on the 12th instant they were await-
lnﬁ.the arrival of the steamboat to take them to Ceeur d’Alene city.

his boat was delayed byhavmuke my command from Fort Sherman to Har-
rison, and did not arrive at onﬁﬂtbommo’dockuwt,mhtew
remove the unfortunate nonunion miners. The riotersat Wardner been intormed
during the day that these men were still at Mission, and that some of them had
'Illk(ufof mhghm?:wtheirworkwith the troops, whereupon an armed had
ne down to on on & hand car, and had%enjoin by others, at near
on, where about sundown on the 12th these armed rioters fell on the non-
union men and fired on them, wounding some, and, it is believed, killing some, the
number of whom we have been unable to discover, The main y were frightened
and ran across the meadows from Mission and into the woods along the river. The
armed rioters pursued and kept up the firing until all had been driven into Fourth
of July Canyon, or into swamps and slonghs and dense thickets near theriver. Some
eaved their lives by plunging into the river and swimming across and hi in the
bmahundswnmﬁunnlilmormng‘ . and then made their way as best along
the river bank ti m:joouldﬁndahoaﬁedupwthe or till the steamer
mdongm;i;g’dtﬂewp. Mission till 11 o’clock at night. I believe
party of i return to ¢ A
that a considerable number of the nonunion miners were killed and that their bodies

[
™

£
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were thrown into the river or swamps or destroyed by fire. I directed a thorough
examination of the region where the barbarous proceeding occurred by a detach-
ment from Fort Sherman and also by Company B, Fourth Infantry, under command
of Lieutenant McQuiston. Many men accused of participating in this affair have
been arrested, but no dead bodies have yet been found.

To return to the movement of other troops of my command: On the 12th instant, at
Fort Sherman, I received a telegram from Capt. W. L Sanborn, Twenty-fifth Infantry,
informing me that he was ordered to join me with three companies of his regiment
from Fort Missoula. He was instructed to reply, to proceed to Mullan, and take post
there until furtherorders. When I had learned from Colonel Curtis and other sources
that the rioters were in great force, well armed, and resolved to fight the troops, I
became uneasy lest Captain Sanborn’s battalion might be attacked by superior forces
of the rioters and be badly cut up or driven back. lieving it of the utmost impor-
tance that the United States troops should not meet with defeat, or even a check, I
deemed it best to order Captain Eg.nbom to return to Missoula and come around ny
Cceur d’Alene City and join me at Wardner. This is the explanation of what seemed
a e movement, or at best an inexplicable one. As it was, one bridge and
the railroad at another point were blown up by the rioters in advance of Captain
Sanborn; that is, between Mullan and Wallace. Captain SBanborn’s battalion joined
me at Wardner on the 14th, at 7.30 p. m.

A battalion of three companies of the Fourth Infantry from Fort Spokane, under
command of Lieut. Col. H. C. Cook, Fourth Infantry, joined me at the same time

and place.

Agaua.lion of 226 men and officers of the Twenty-second Infantry from Fort Keogh
Mont., under command of Lieut. Col. J. H. Page, Twenty-second Infantry, arrived
at Mullan on the 15th instant, under instructions sent by telegraph, and remained
there, Buhsﬁuently. when arrests were being made in great numbers at Burke,
Gem, and Wallace, the battalion of the Twentv-second was transferred to Wallace.

On the 15th instant 65 of the miners' union rioters were arrested at this place

Wardner) and d:]aoud under guard at my camp. These persons wero arrested by
eputy United States marshals, deputy sheriffs, or upon their information and that
of law-abiding citizens.

Arrests at Wallaco commenced at the same time; also at Burke and Gem. In all,
over 300 arrests of rioters were made. Those arrested at Burke, Gem, and Mullan
were sent to Wallace to be guarded.

On the 19th instant, acting in accordance with information from Col. J, F. Curtis,
Idaho National Guard, I proceeded to Lookont, the summit of the Bitter Root Range,
with about threecompanies to arrest a party of armed rioters, numbering about ninety,
gaid to be encamped or lurking in the mountains near that point in Montana. The
man who had been directed by the superintendent of the Northern Pacific Railroad
at Missoula a8 guide, and who reported the presence of this party at that point, dis-
?ppe;md from the command, and if the men were in that locality they could not be

onnd.

At Lookout Colonel Curtis and I telegraphed to the governor of Montana for per-
mission to pursue the rioters across the line. Without waiting for a reply we went
on to the designated point, but found no one, as stated above. The next day a reply
from Governor Toole, refusing the permission asked, was received. The troops were
returned to Wallace and Wardner.

As the riot or insurrection seemed now completely suppressed, and nearlv all the
active participants had been arrested or escaped from the State, and the civii suthor-
ities appointed bfy the governor after his proclamation of martial law and the United
States marshal of the State were able to make all further arrests they deemed neces-
gary, there remained nothing more for the troops to do except to guard prisoners, 1

refore recommended on the 23d instant that the force be reduced and that all
United States troops except three companies be sent to their proper stations.

Under instructions from Bti?ndic eneral Ruger, commanding the %e’pamnent of
the Columbia, the battalion of -the Twenty-fifth Infantry from Fort Missoula and
that of the Twenty-second Infantry from Fort Keogh were relieved from further duty
with my command and started yesterday afternoon to their respective stations.

It is a fact perhaps worthy of the attention of the authorities at Washington to
state that a majority of the persons arrested for participation in the recent riots in
this region are foreign born, chiefly from Ireland, a, and Germany, and a con-
giderable number are unnaturalized.

I take great pleasure in reporting for the information of superior authority that the
conduct of the troops under my command has been in the highest degree honorable
to them and creditable to the Army. Not an instance of eriminal or improper con-
duct toward citizens ar each other has been committed. It would be impossible to
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find any body of men in any class of society who could have conducted themselyes
with more ]]-g‘-;]-rivt\' than the soldiers of this large command have done in this region
during and since the riots. These remarks apply equally to all officers and men of
the Fourth, Fourteenth, Twenty-second, and \\‘Bnt\’-ﬁﬂjl regiments of infantry, as
ell as to the troops of the Idalio National Guard. While no fighting was required,
the spirit displayed by all these troops showed plainly they were fully equal to any
eémergency, and would have defended the honor of the flag in a contest with insur-
gents and rioters with as much courage as if they had been a foreign foe.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
Winniam P. CArLis,
. Colonel Fourth Infantry, Commanding,

The conditions prevailing in Shoshone County since 1892, as shown
by the testimony of Pipkin and others, is that of anarchy and insur-
rection, frequently breaking out in open violence and at other times
scarcely concealed. The eriminal and law-abiding elements do not
mix. The hatred between the two is intense. One side or the other
must be supreme. They can not exist side by side. In the past seven
years the so-called union element has been on top. In that time two
mills have been blown up, nearly a dozen men murdered, and innumer-
able law-abiding citizens run out of the country.

Once before martial law was declared in this same county, and twice
before United States troops have been sent there to aid the State in
sull)‘ﬁ)ressing imsurrection and riot.

1e courts have been unable for years to punish violators of law
.fvherllevgr and wherever members of these eriminal organizations were
involved.

The evidence discloses that numerous murders have been committed
in that county without trials of the murderers, either from failure of
grand juries to indict, or, if trials were had, no convictions resulted,
owing to the servile weakness of parties possessing guilty knowledge,
or from fear of witnesses to testify and of petit juries to conviet.

The proof shows that anarchy and insurrection have, in fact, existed
in that county since 1892,

The committee finds that insurrection and rebellion against the
legally constituted authorities existed in Shoshone County, Idaho,
May 3, 1899; that the governor was justified in declaring the county
in a state of insurrection and rebellion, and that the insurrection and
rebellion have not been completely suppressed, reference being had to
the evidence given in the Corcoran trial, an abstract of which is
herein incorporated.

This evidence proves conclusively the existence of a widespread,
deep seated, and thoroughly organized conspiracy on the part of cer-
tain eriminal organizations of miners in the Ceeur d’Alenes.

ABSTRACT OF EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT THE TRIAL OF PAUL
CORCORAN.

In the course of the hearings before the committee the complete
record in the trial of an action entitled *“The State of Idaho against
Paul Corcoran” was introduced in evidence with the understanding that
such parts thereof as were deemed pertinent to a coml.;lete investlﬁ?-
tion of the charges set forth in the resolutions might be used by the
committee.

Paul Corcoran was duly tried in the district court of Shoshone
County, Idaho, on the charge of murdering one James Cheyne, on the
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99th of April, 1899, having been previously indicted by u.(f,rrand jury
of said county. The jury to try Corcoran was selected from the
county of Shoshone, where the erime had been committed, and he was
defended by able counsel, and at the conclusion of a trial lasting several
weoks was found guilty and sentenced to 17 years’ imprisonment, which
gentence he is now serving in the Idaho State prison.

Mr. Cheyne, together with one John Smyth, were shot and killed
in the riot of April 20th, 1899, which resulted in the destruction of
the mill and property of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining
Company. : !

In prosecuting Corcoran the State sought to prove, and as we believe
clearlv proved, a conspiracy; that this conspiracy consisted of an
organized body of men who had associated themselves together for
the purpose of committing an offense against the laws of the State of
Idaho, by endeavoring throug’ force, intimidation, and otherwise, to
prevent certain employees of said Bunker Hill and Sullivan Minin
Company from working, and further in attempting to drive sai
employees away from their place of employment.

ljz is only in so far as the evidence given in the Corcoran trial shows
a conspiracy as existing in the Ceeur d’Alenes that the same is mate-
rial, and only such portions as tend to prove such conspiracy will be
here given.

If Ee evidence in this trial clearly shows that a conspiracy existed
on the part of the several miners’ unions located at Burke, Gem, Mul-
lan, and Wardner, comprising practically all the mining camps of the
Ceur d’Alenes and involving from 800 to 1,000 men, then we can more
readily understand the motives underlying the action of the State
authorities, and can readily justify the conduct of the United States
troops.

The Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company being the only
company in the Ceeur d’Alenes employing nonunion miners, had on
this account, and for years past, aroused the hostility of all union
miners employed in the camps and mines in and about the four towns
above mentioned. This hostility eulminated in the riot and bloodshed
of April 29. How deep seated and widespread this hostility on the
part of the union miners was will be shown by the evidence adduced
in the Corcoran trial. The witnesses are taken up in the order in
which they testified at the trial.

Thomas M. Ames, testifying in behalf of the State, stated that he had
resided at Wardner, Idaho, about two years and four months; that his
business was mining; that he had worked for the Bunker Hill and
Sullivan Mining Company, and had been a member of the Wardner
miners’ union; that he had worked up to the 23d of April, 1899, with
the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company. On the 23d of April
the Wardner union had a meeting which lasted all day. This was on
Sunday. In the evening a committee was appointed and it was sent
down to see Mr. Burbidge, who was manager of the Bunker Hill and
Sullivan Mining Company. This committee reported in the afternoon
and framed a resolution to the effect that they were to go in the even-
ing and solicit all nonunion men to join the union. There was
another meeting Monday night, but witness was not present, having
been sent out by the president of the union to watch the Last Chance
mill, a resolution having been passed by the union directing that 12
men watch the premises of this mine and relieve one another, the
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object being to lprotcct the men from danger. Witness was relieved
at half-past 1 o’clock in the morning, but the meeting in the miners’
hall was still in progress.

On the morning of the 29th of April, the day the mill was blown
up, he was notified to attend a miners’ meeting. On this morning
witness noticed that there was quite a rustle among the miners’ union
men, but could not find out what was on the programme. The only
thing witness could find out was that all the union men were to meet
a train at the depot at 11 o’clock. Several members of the union told
him this. They told witness that he need not go down. The reason
was that witness was pretty well acquainted with them. They told
witness that something unusual was to oceur, and they told him to
stay on the street. The reason they gave why witness should not go
down was that part of his hand was lost, and they told him he was too
easy to identify. Chris Eri and A. S. Murray told witness not to go
down, both being union men. Witness saw both union men and non-
union men going down from Wardner toward Kellogg that morning;
there were a good many on both sides and some of them had bundles,
On cross-examination witness testified that prior to April 23 the
Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company discharged union men, but
after the 23d the union men were called out by the union.

John Clark, testifying in behalf of the State, stated that he resided
in the town of Mace, near Burke, and was a miner by occupation; that
he had been a resident of that vicinity for eight or nine years and was
a member of the Burke miners’ union, having been recording secretary
during the month of April; and that the central miners’ union was
composed of delegates from each union; and that the Western Federa-
tion of Miners consists of the subordinate lodges of the miners'
union—of the subordinate unions combined; that in each union two
delegates are elected and sent to the federation, and these delegates
elected by the several unions constitute the convention. Witness
stated that he was acquainted with defendant Corcoran, and had been
for three years while he was residing in Burke; that Corcoran on the
29th of April was financial secretary of the Burke miners’ union. On
the morning of the 29th of April witness got onto the train which left
Burke; that there were about 150 on the train when it left Burke; and
that the train consisted of box and flat cars and a coach. Quite a
number of passengers got on the train at Mace; there were quite a
number whom witness recognized as miners working in the mines at
Burke, and presumed that they were members of the union.

When the train got to Kellogg witness estimates there were six or
seven hundred people on the train, perhaps more. Witness could not
say just at what time he noticed the first man masked on that train; it
must have been down pretty close to Wardner. Witness got into a
box car and stayed there during the time he rode down. There were
none who got into the car with%im. Witness saw masked men get off
the train after he reached Kellogg. Those men with masks also had
arms. When the train went back to Burke witness returned with it,
and thinks that about the same parties went back as went down on the
train, and about the same number. On going back witness thinks he
saw Corcoran sitting on the top of a box car on this train; it was while
he was walking from one car to another, and at some lace between
Wardner and %Va]lncc. Does not think he was masked, for he could
see his face,
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Frederick Burbige testified that he resided at Kellogg and was
manager of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company, and had
been such for four or five months. Prior to that time he had been
assistant manager for three years. On the 23d of April a demand was
made upon the company by a committee, some of whom were mem-
bers of the miners’ union, stating that they came as representatives of
the union and made a demand for higher wages and a recognition by
the company of the miners’ union, John Watson acting as spokesman.
Witness replied that if they reEresent,ed the Bunker Hill and Sullivan
Mining Company’s employees he would be glad to hear anything they
had to say. atson demanded an increase of wages to $3.50 all around
and a recognition of the miners’ union. Witness replied that he would
have to submit that matter to the other officers of the company; that
he would do so by wire and advise the committee of the result; that
as it was Sunday he would %roba-b]y be unable to reach any one that
day, but would reach them the first thing the following day. The
committee replied that if that was all the satisfaction they could get
they better go, and they did go.

n the 26th of April as witness was returning to Wardner from
Spokane he received a telegram in reference to stopg)ing his men while
on their way to work that morning. The company’s tramway was in
the possession of an armed mob of men from 10 o’clock in the morning
until 10 o’clock in the evening. On the morning of the 29th of Aprn
the mill was in operation. itness received information that all the
mines on Canyon Creek had closed down and that the men were going
to Wardner in a body. Upon receipt of this information witness
informed the superintendent of the mine and also the foreman of the
mill and told them to keep the mill running up to the last moment and
not to stop it unless forced to. This was between 8 and 9 o’clock in
the morning. ILater witness got information that the mob that was
coming up were armed and masked and had broken open a powder
magazine and stolen a ll];a.]lj'fe amount of powder. Thereupon witness
told the foreman of the mill to close it down and gave instructions to
him and the superintendent of the mine to abandon the property and
go tell the men to get out and take care of themselves, whiog was

one.

No other organizations or unions were refused employment or
discriminated against except those men belonging to the Cceur d’Alene
miners’ unions. The reason for this was that on a prior occasion
when the company did not discriminate against union men and other
employees that the union men intimidated the nonunion men and
demanded that all nonunion men should be discharged. On the 23d
of April witness increased the wages to the scale which had formerly
been in force at the mine, namely, $3 per day for laborers and §3.50
per day for miners. His mine was a dry mine, as distinguished from
& wet mine, and employment in a dry mine is much pleasanter and much
safer, and employment is not worth so much money as in mines where
conditions are not so favorable. Witness has bad no trouble in keeping
the mine filled with men at the former rates. There was no trouble
El?h;?feﬁ himself and his employees on the 29th, nor was there any on

e 27th.

Albert Burch testified ¢hat he resided at Wardnér and was superin-
tendent of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company, and was
such on April 29, 1899. On the 23d, 24th, and 25th of Aprif about 100
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employees quit of themselves, The first positive information witness
had as to agitation and proselyting among his employees was a notice
frost(‘.d up on the 19th or 20th of April. On the evening of April 22
1e found there were 17 members of the miners’ union working in the
mine and he ordered the shift boss to discharge them, which was done
on the morning of the 23d. On the same morning notices werg posted
up, calling a meeting of the Wardner miners’ union and its sympathiz-
ers, to hul:held at union hall at 7 o’clock in the morning. On this morn-
ing about 40 or 50 of his employees did not go to work, but went down
town. About 10 o’clock that morning Mr, Burbidge telephoned witness
that he had been waited upon by a committee representing the miners’
union #nd that a demand E;ad been made upon him for an increase of
wages and recognition of the Wardner miners’ union. Thereupon
witness went down town and saw a large number of men going and
coming from the union hall, and from what he could see a meeting was
in progress there.

bout_half past 5 o’clock p. m. about 100 men eame up to the mine
and Ed. Boyle acted as spokesman, using this language: *‘ Gentlemen,
we come here to show you the strength of the Warder miners’ union.
There is only about half of us here. Some are working in the other
mines. We have made a demand upon the Bunker Hill and Sullivan
Company for an increase of wages to $3.50 all around and the recog-
nition of the miners’ union, That demand has been refused and we
have declared a strike against the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mine. We
now ask all of you to come to a meeting which will be held in union
hall. Leave the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mine and join us in this
strike.” Thereupon witness addressed the following remarks to the
employees of the company: “I had been authorized by the manage-
ment of this company to increase the wages of all miners from this
day from $3 to $3.50 and all laborers from $2.50 to $3 per day, and
inasmuch as the Warder miners’ union had declared a strike against
the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company any who belong to that union
can get their time at the office.” Thereupon the men withdrew to a
point 200 yards below the mine, lined themselves up, and when the day
shift eame out witness repeated the same proposition to them. That
night or the next day forty or fifty of his men quit. They were not
discharged.

On Tuesday evening, the 25th, about 250 or 300 men with the same
spokesman came up to the mine and made the same demands, giving
notice that this would be the last time the men would be asked to leave
and join the union. If they did not come that night they would have
another proposition to make to them later on. That night 3 more
men left the company’s employ. On the morning of the 26th witness
went down to the dump of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mine and saw
from 10 to 20 armed men moving back and forth near the Last Chance:
mine. Several of his employees were proceeding to the mine and were
forcibly detained and driven back by these men. That same morning
the tramway was stopped. That afternoon witness was visited by
Sheriff James D. Young and the county assessor, Michael J. Dowd.
Sheriff asked witness if there was not some way in which this matter
could be fixed up. Witness replied that if the members of the miners’
union would surrender the tramway, which they then had under
guard, and would stop interfering with his men who were going or
wanted to go to work, he would do all in his power to bring about a
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meeting of a committee of his former employees to try and effect a
settlement. On the morning of the 29th witness was informed that
there was a large number of armed and masked men coming down
from Canyon Creek toward Wardner; that they were bringing with
them a large quantity of powder which they had stolen from a maga-
zine on the way, and he was advised to tell all men to get away, to
leave all the property to their mercy and each man save himself.
Witness started out over the hills, About 2 o'clock he saw smoke
issuing from the place where the Bunker Hill mi]l was located and a
few minutes later he heard three distinct explosions.

Joseph Kendall testified in partand in substance as follows: That he
resided at Wardner and was shift boss in the Bunker Hill mine for
about one year. On April 23 witness saw a crowd of about 125 or 150
outside of the union employeesof the mine. Ed Boyle, who was presi-
dent of the Wardner miners’ union, was spokesman. Heard Boyle
say, **The strike is now on.” On the 25th about 150 of the union
empl(ﬁzees of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company were led by
Mr. Boyle. They stopped some of the men who were working for
witness; told them that they would have to join the union. On the
morning of the 26th witness saw a erowd at the Last Chance concen-
trator between 6.15 and 6.20 in the morning. Boyle had charge of the
crowd. Witness came up and was told that he couldn’t go to work;
wouldn’t be allowed to go to work; that he could work when the sol-
diers were there. When men approached to go to work they were
told by the crowd that they had come for their answer about joining
the union, and that they would not be allowed to work. About 20 or
25 men working for the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company were
turned back at this time. The men in this crowd were armed. One
man pulled a revolver and said he would give the men (those going to
work) two minutes to leave or they Woulg die. John Doyle was the
man who drew the revolver. Witness believed that he was a member
of the Wardner union. Saw a Mr. Murray pull out a watch at about
the same time as Doyle pulled the revolver, and heard Murray say that
if anyone were there in four minutes he would die. Murray was
speaking to the Bunker Hill and Sullivan men. At this time there
was no trouble between the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company and

its em%b{{fs.

Ike E. Rouse testified in part and in substance as follows: That he
lived at Wardner and worked as a miner in the Bunker Hill and Sul-
livan mine. On Sunday, April 23, a large body of men came up to
the mine soliciting the miners to join the union.  Witness on the 25th
saw a erowd of about 150 men who claimed to be union miners and
headed by Ed Boyle, and demanded that they join the union. Wednes-
day morning, April 26, witness started to work but was stopped at
the Last Chance concentrator by these union men. There were about
300 of them., Ed Boyle was spokesman and he told us to wait there a
few minutes, that he wanted to talk to us, and said that we could not
work any more; and during his talk to us he said that it was no use
for us to try to go to work, because it was impossible, and that we
could not work there any more unless we worked under soldiers. He
said then, *“ We are supported by the Western Federation of Miners,
30,000 strong.” Witness saw several men with revolvers in the
crowd, and he and his companions were held there at the point of a
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revolver and told that they had four minutes to leave the ground.
Witness thereupon went home, as he was not allowed to go to work.
Afterwards witness saw the main body of this erowd go to a board-
ing house, when he heard a shot fired. Later, about twenty came to
his boarding house and asked him to join the union. The crowd at
the concentrator were union men; most of these belonged at Wardner,
at the Last Chance and Bunker Hill mines, but none of them were
then working in the Bunker Hill mine. Some of the others helonged
to Canyon (ﬁ'eek.

J. W. Taylor testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Wardner; worked on the tramway for the Bunker Hill Company;
was 80 engaged in April, 1899. On the morning of April 26 Ee
started to go to work and got as far as the Last Chance Mill and there
a body of union men stopped him and said he couldn’t go any farther,
There were about 200 men there. They said that they had come to
give them all a chance to join the union and that would be their last
chance. Mr. Boyle, president of the Wardner union, said that they
(employees of the Bunker Hill mine) could not work any more there
unless 1t was under the protection of soldiers, and they gave them four
minutes to get down the hill in, and said that if any man was standing
there when the four minutes were up he would die; so he pulled out
his watch and a fellow in the crowd pulled a revolver. Witness there-
upon went back to his boarding house. The crowd followed him
there and said they would make examples of some of them. They
came right into the house. Some of them had revolvers and they
ordered them to go down the hill, and some of the boys started down
the street as far as they could go, and during that there was a shot
fired through the cellar door and kitchen. A fellow took witness
down the street two or three blocks and told him it was not too late to
jl?in the union. Witness replied that he did not care to do that.

hereupon he was told that the best thing he (witness) could do was

t out of town and stay out. :

. 8. McCall testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Wardner; was an engineer and was working at the Bunker Hill and
Sullivan mine. Witness was at Mrs. Black’s boarding house about 200
feet away at a point in the road near the Last Chance concentrator,
where a crowd of about 200 men were stopping men from goin to
work. Mr. Boyle, president of the union, was at their head. it-
ness recognized and gave the names of several who were in the crowd.
These men told witness that theﬁlwere members of the miners’ union.
Saw employees of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mine after going to
work coming back shortly after with the crowd following them.
When the crowd got in front of the boarding house one of them said,
*These men (the gBlmker Hill and Sullivan men) having been living
for several days; we ought to make an example of one or two of
them.” Thereupon another said, *““What will we do with them?”
Another said, *‘Let’s rush them down hill,” and upon that they all
made a break for the house, and when they got up near the door one
of them pulled a big gun and said, *“I want every one of you fellows
to.get out of this house right away,” and in no time they were all out
except me (witness), and one of them said, ‘‘The night shift must be
upstairs; let’s get them out.” Some ran on through the house and
some ran right upstairs, and then one of them said, ** There goes two or
three of them back of the house,” and Boyle said, ‘“ Never mind. The
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men with the Winchesters will get them,” and they then came down
stairs with those men, leading them out of the house. Witness saw
four men with Winchesters between the boarding house and the Last
Chance mine.

The testimony of Mr. Taylor and Mr. MeCall is substantiated in
every particular by the testimony of W. B. Sutherland, a resident of
Wardner and an employee of the Bunker Hill Company.

Bertha Bernard testified in part and in substance as follows: She
resided at Wardner for about ten years. On April 26 she was residing
in Mrs. Black’s boarding house. With reference to the firing of a shot
on that occasion witness testified as follows: “‘I went in with the rest
of them and they ordered them (the Bunker Hill men) to come out,
all the scabs. We will shoot them dead. We will kill you. Just then
Mr. Keel, a merchant in Wardner, stegped in and grabbed up an ax
and said, *The first one that enters I will kill him,” and a fellow

abbed a gun, I believe they call him Mr, Doyle, and I grabs him and
ﬂg ed him not to shoot. e said, ‘I have respect for ladies,” and
he drew the gun away and I fainted. Someone said, ‘Come out,’ and
someone fired and they drove the boys down the hill.” Witness
identified several of the mob as from Canyon Creek, about six of them,
that she knew to be union men, because on July 11, the year before,
she saw them at the celebration and they had badges on and heard
them state that they were union men and went to the lodge.

E. F. Orr testified that he had been a resident of Wardner for a
little over two years, and worked in the Bunker Hill mine. Saw the
crowd at the t Chance concentrator on the morning of April 26
stopping men from going to work. Recognized and gave the names
of 30 or 40 members of the crowd and stated that they were union
men. Heard Mr. Boyle state that they were there representing the
union. Heard the order given to get down hill in four minutes and
saw & revolver drawn.

Joe Riddell testified in part and substance as follows: Lived at
Mullan, Idaho, in the latter part of April, 1899, where he was work-
ing as waiter in the boarding house of the Hunter mine. Came down
town at half past 7 on the morning of April 29. Saw a whole lot of
men on the street and wondered what they were going to do. Wit~
ness was in the vicinity of the miners’ union hall in Mullan and saw
all the men going upstairs to the hall. Some of these men were
working in the Morning mine and some of them in the Hunter mine,
These men stayed up in the hall about an hour and then they came down
from the hall and all lined up about four in a line, and witness esti-
mates there were about 300 of them. After they had lined up they
marched down to Wallace. Witness went with them and heard one
man say they were going down to Wardner. He was in the end of the
gocession with some Swedes. There were ahout three men on horse-

ck. They came way behind. Witness identifies them, There were
two men at the head of the procession who had guns. Before the
procession got to Wallace, at Turner’s place, a man gave witness a
gun to go to Wallace to get some cartridges for it, 38 or 32, and wit-
ness took the gun and got the cartridges for it when he reached Wal-
lace. He was running around town to cateh the train, and the men
on the train were nearly all armed with guns. When he got to the
train he saw all the men get onto it. All the Burke men were there
and Gem and the train was loaded down with them. Saw lots of arms
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and saw masks. The men that came down from Mullan, some of them
had masks on and some of them didn’t.

At Turner’s Place, above Wallace about 2 miles, witness saw guns
dug out of a manure pile by men from Mullan; thinks that there
were about three boxes of them. The manure pile was about 50 feet
or more from the road. It was at this time t.]la)at witness was given
the gun for which he got cartridges. These guns which were dug out
of the manure pile hag gunny sacks over them. The men from Mul-
lan took these guns. Witness, continuing, testified as follows: *“ When
I got down here (Wallace) I got on the train and was looking around
for the man who gave me the gun and I could not find him. I put the
gun in my pocket and when I was going down on the train I had it in
my pocket, and a fellow seen it sticking out and said, ‘Joe, you had
better give that to me,” and I handed it to one of the men. I do not
know what his name was, and I will swear to it.” Witness went to
Wardner and stayed there until all the men went back to Mullan,

ing back on the same train that he rode down on. Witness names’
and identifies ten men who were in the crowd from Mullan, and names
several whom he knew carrying guns on that day. When witness
went up to the Hunter mine, where he worked, on the morning of the
29th, the men were all dressed up, and witness asked Fred Marks and
Marcus Daly where they were going and was told that it was none of
his business. Saw no men aroun({: the mine that morning in their
digging clothes. Morris Means came up to the mine that morning
and told the men that they had to go downtown.

John Anderson testified in part and in substance as follows: Has
been a resident of Mullan for two years, en%aged as miner in the Morn-
ing mine; has been & member of the Mullan union, and was such a
member on the 29th of April, 1899; was working on the day shift,
The men did not work in the Morning mine on the 29th of April, the
day the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill was blown up; they said they
were going down to Wardner. On that morning the miners’ union
had a meeting, which was held about 8 o’clock; it was called by the

resident, Charles Olsen. Witness was present about two minutes.

he only decision was that they were going down to Wardner; did
not know why; did not hear very much that was going on there. The
hall was full, and witness just went inside the door and walked on;
heard them say they woufd not mask, because they were all gooci
citizens; heard a couple of fellows stand up and say they would not
put on any masks, and they said ‘“All right.” After the meeting was
over the men present walked down as far as Wallace; quite a gang
came down, can not say how many; there were about 100 anyhow;
the men were members of the union. Witness came down, because he
wanted to go with the rest of the crowd; another reason was that they
were all told to go down by the president of the union, Mr. Olsen.

Before getting to Wallace witness saw some guns; tl]inks- that they
had some guns up here (Wallace); he was walking on the railroad and
thinks they had some guns on the other side. Saw no masks on the way
down to Wallace from Mullan. When they arrived at Wallace they
went over to the depot when the train came down from Gem. There
were men on the train and some of them had guns. After getting
onto the train they proceeded to Wardner, arriving there about 12
o'clock. Recognized no one who came down on the train outside of
those who came from Mullan, Most of the men who came down from
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Mullan were union men. Witness on cross-examination testified that
he had been imprisoned in the bull pen for about seven weeks.

Swan Holt testified in part and in substance as follows: Resides at
Mullan and is a miner. On the 29th of April, 1899, he was working
in the Morning mine and was a member of the Mullan Miners’ Union.
There was & meeting of the miners upon that morning. Witness was
notified by some boys when he was going to work that morning. A
big erowd of boys came down that morning when witness went out
there; that they were all going down to Wardner that day. Witness
then went home and later went up town and found that they were
holding a meeting in the hall, but he did not g\o up. Witness saw the
parties attending the meeting come down. Witness’s partner, John
Anderson, told him that they all had to go down to Wardner; he was
at the meeting. The people who had attended the meeting then lined
up outside the hall and started off for Wallace, witness going with
them; there must have been 200 of them. Witness knew quite a
number of them, and those that he knew were union men. Saw no
arms before they got to Wallace, and saw some arms taken from a

lace the other side of the track about a mile or a mile and a half

rom Wallace; after that saw some men coming out, and they had
some guns; saw no masks in the crowd before they got to Wallace on
the train. Went on the train from Wallace to \\’urdner} there were
a couple of box cars, a flat car, and passenger coach in the train;
could not say exactly. Some of the men on the train were masked
and some were not; saw some armed men on the train. Witness was
imprisoned in the bull pen, and was released the day before, being
called as a witness. Witness did not know what they went down to
Wardner for, nor did he understand what the armed and masked men
went down to the Bunker Hill mill for, nor for what they went down
to Wardner.

Emil Anderson testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Mullan in April, 1899. On the morning of April 29 witness went
up to go to work, hut was told that there was no work that day.
Nothing was said in regard to why he would not be at work. It
was said that there would be a meeting up in the union hall. Witness
went home, chat:jged his clothes, and went up to the union hall. This
meeting was held about 8 o’clock in the morning. Charles Olson was
president of the meeting. Witness heard the subject of masking
talked about. The boys would not mask. They were told to mask,
- but they would not do it; that was all. Heard them say that they
were going down to Wardner. Nothing was said as to what they were
going to do at Wardner. Witness been imprisoned in the bull

pen.

Fred Funk testified in part and in substance as follows: Had resided
in Mullan for nearly two years; was engaged as a miner in the Morn-
ing mine as shift and a member of the Mullan Miners’ Union.

e Mullan union was under the Western Federation of Miners,
Edward Boyce was at that time president of the federation. Witness
was not at work on April 29; he went to work in the morning but on
his way up to the mine met some of the men coming down; they were
union men and they told him that there would be no work that day as
they were going down to hold a meeting in the union hall in Mullan.
Witness stayed at the mine until half past 8 and then rode back to town
and had a conversation that morning with Charley Olson, president of
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the Mullan union. He asked witness if he was going along down to
Wardner. Witness told him he guessed he was. Olson said that they
wanted everybody to go and if he knew or should find anyone who did
not go it would be his duty to report the fact to him (Olson). Witness
talked to other union men about what they were going down to Ward-
ner for. The sense of his conversation with the men was that they
were going down there to give moral support to the striking miners
at Wardner,

About two hundred men assembled in front of the union hall that
morning who went to Wardner. Those men that witness knew were
union men. Mullan was a union ca,m[]J!;1 Witness went to Kellogg
that morning with the men that were at Mullan that morning—that is,
the union men. Witness heard Mr. Boyce, president of the Western
Federation of Miners, make a political speech about Noyvember, 1898,
at Mullan. In his speech Mr. Boyee recited a number of incidents
which occurred in the troubles in the Ceeur d’Alenes in 1892 in such
a manner as would cause feelings of bitterness between the union and
Bunker Hill Company. On cross-examination witness stated that he
was arrested and imprisoned in the bull pen. Saw about one hundred
armed or masked men between Wallace and Wardner on the way
going down; these men went as far as Wardner.

Miss E. F. Bent testified in part and in substance as follows: In April,
1899, she resided in Mullan, where she was teaching school. She
resided diagonally across from the miners’ union hall. On the mornin
of the 29th witness was at her boarding house and noticed an unusua
number of men at the miners’ union hall; they were along in front of
the hall, in front of the Windsor Hotel, and across the street. They
remained there not more than a quarter of an hour after she first saw
them; they then formed into line and marched out of Mullan toward
Wallace. They formed three abreast. Asthey marched off she heard
some one in the crowd among the men shout, *Up the hill to Wardner.”
This was given as a command by some one near the head of the line.
Witness recognized George Craddock and Billy Holman in that line.
Saw some of the parties in the crowd have guns; does not think that
she saw more than one-half dozen with guns when they went out.
Thinks there were more than 100 men, but how many more than 100
she couldn’t tell.

" Gus Errinberg testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Gem and was bookkeeper and general office man for the Helena-
Frisco Mining Company. There were three large companies operat-
ing in the vicinity of éem. The Helena-Frisco mine was situated
about a quarter of a mile above the town of Gem, in the canyon. The
Black Bear mine is located a few hundred yards above the Hel®na-
Frisco. In AprilGem wasa union camp; thatis, the minesall employed
men belonging to the miners’ union. The Helena-Frisco mine was not
running on t%e 20th of April, 1899, nor was the Black Bear mine.
The reason why these mines were not running on that day was, as
witness understood it, because the miners were not there to go to work
on that morning. On the morning of the 20th witness noticed as
something out of the usual order that the mill was not running and
the men were walking back and forth past the office, which was some-
thing out of the ordinary, and they were dressed the way they would
be when off duty—that is, on a Sunday or holiday; as a rule they did
not have their digging clothes on. ~Witness saw the train when it



OEUR D'ALENE LABOR TROUBLES. 39

came down that morning from Burke about 10.30; there was some-
thing unusual about that train that morning; it was made up of empty
box ears, quite a number of them, and there were a great many men
on the box cars and also in them; some men were riding on the tender
of the engine; that was something unusual. Witness noticed that
some of these men were armed; the only arms he could see appeared
to be rifles; some of the men were masked.

The train passed the Helena-Frisco mine and went down to Gem,
which was nearly a quarter of a mile below. The company had a
powder house about one-eighth of a mile above the office and between
the Helena-Frisco mine and the town of Black Bear. It was between
12 and 15 feet from the railroad track. On that day there was nearly
a carload of giant powder kept there; the powder house was kept
closed. After that train ran down to Gem it ran back again to this
powder house; what was done there witness did not see. When the
train d by the office there seemed to be a larger crowd on than
when it first came down. The Helena-Frisco mill did not run at all
that day. After that train left witness saw very few men that day;
there were very few in comparison with other days. The train came
back at 5.30 and stopped at the platform near the office.

Alfred Anderson testified in part and in substance as follows: Lived
at the Helena-Frisco boarding house, about a quarter of a mile from
the town of Gem. Ran a drill machine in the Helena-Frisco mine.
Worked on the night shift on the 29th of April, and was around the
mine and boarding house on the morning of the 29th. Was a member
of the Gem miners’ union; there was a meeting of the Gem miners’
union on that morning; there was a meeting called at Gem. When
they came out (of the mine) at 5 o’clock there were two well-dressed
men standing there, and they said, “Got to meet at 9 o’clock at the
union hall.” They said this so that everybody could hear it. Witness
did not know who these two men were; never saw them before. After
that witness went down to the hall between 9 and 10 o’clock; estimates
there were over 100 men in the hall; noticed some of the men in the
hall when he %ot there were masked. They had taken a cloth that was
lying on a table there and put it over the face; they took cloths there
and put it over the face; these cloths were lying on a table there; they
were ly'mg right in a roll there; there was only one big roll there and
they could take it out. Witness could not tell how many of those men

masks on when he got there, but there was a few of them, anyway;
he saw men come in after he came in and they got masks; witness did
not take a mask; no one told anyone to take masks; they took them
themselves if they wanted them.

Witness saw men in the hall with guns; not many had taken guns
when witness got there; he just came in when they started to take
them; the guns were kept in the front hall; could not notice exactly if
the guns were in a box or not; he was up there himself and was right
at the side there and looked at the guns himself; when he looked at
them he saw over twenty guns there; the guns were up on high, they
were in there close to the wall; men took these guns. That morning
the window shades in the hall were down so that the hall was pretty
dark. Witness thinks that the men in the hall were union men, but
does not know their names; knows their faces. No one told witness at
the hall what they were going to do, but after he had been notified by
the two men at the mine that morning that he had got to go to a meet-
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in%v at the hall he said to a Swede, who was a member of the union,
* What are we going to do down to Wardner?” The Swede said, *“ We
was just going to drive out the scabs;” that was all.
itness stayed in the hall abont half an hour and then went out, and
when he got outside men in the box car told him to get into the box
car, and he did so; he did not know any of them. itness saw the
train as it came down that morning; does not know how many were
on the train, but there were lots of men; saw some of them masked in
the box car, but did not know where they were from, whether from
Burke or elsewhere; they had come down from above Gem. Witness
did not see any of them have guns, not in the car there; saw some
men get onto the train with guns; they were not in his part of the
car. The train then went down to Wallace, and from there to Ward-
ner. On his return home on the train the dead body of John Smyth
was placed in the same car in which witness traveled. Saw some men
around the depot at Wardner with white ribbons on. Went to Ward-
ner because he thought he was going to have fun to see how the seabs
would run away.

Joseph Phifer testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
in Burke; was a laborer doing outside work at the Tiger mine; lived
at Burke eight or nine years, and was not a member of the miners’
union, but had been. Knew Paul Corcoran, and had known him for

_a couple of years; had a conversation with him at Burke three or four
weeks before the trouble. Witness was behind in his dues in the
union and Corcoran wanted him to pay up; witness told him that he
did not have the money, but Corcoran would not take this as an excuse,
as it had been running for some length of time; witness gave him an
order on Culbertson, manager of the mine. On the morning of the
29th of April witness was working up in Burke until about 10 o’clock.
Witness saw the men all going down to the depot and thought they
were all going away, and so he thought he would go himself. The
Tiger and Poorman mine and mill were not running that day. This
was supposed to be a union camp.

Witness went down to the depot; there was & train there; he saw a
passenger coach full of men, and he went down and jumped into a box
car; thinks there were six or seven box or flat cars in the train; thinks
there were four or five hundred men started from Burke in these cars.
The train next stogpcd at Gem; the train then backed up above the
Frisco mine; heard some of them say that they were loading on pow-
der. On his way to the train at Burke witness heard some of them
say that they were going to Wardner; this was about 8 or 9 o’clock
that morning while witness was working; was not told why they were
ghoing to Wardner; did not make any inquiry on the train as to why
they were going to Wardner; saw three or four guns in the car in
which he was; the men with the guns were masked; could not seeany-
thing that was happening outside of his own car. The train then
went on to Wallace, stopped there ten or fifteen minutes, then on to
Kellogg. At Kellogg witness saw other men with arms and guns, bat
does not know the number. )

I S. Collins testified in part and in substance as follows: Resides in
Burke, and is a practicing physician and has been ever since April,
1897.  Witness left his home for his office about 9 o’clock on the
morning of the 29th of April. From there he made a professional
call, carrying a medical case with him and going afoot. Coming back,
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he met a train about 300 yards below the Northern depot: there were
about 100 men, more or less, on this train: there were some 6 or 7
cars in it. The men asked him to get on; the men on the train'that
he was speaking to were masked, as well as he remembered; they
were on o flat car; there were about 10 of them; saw some of them
with guns. Witness informed them that he could not get on the train;
that he had patients to look after. They told him to get on and let
the patients look after themselves. He endeavored to explain to them
that he had an emergency case. They threatened him then that if he
did not get on it would go hard with him or something; he could not
just say their words. At the same time they stuck out a gun; they
hrought it up as though they were going to point it at him.  Witness
told them that if that was the way it was he would have to get on, and
he was told to go back into the coach which was at the back end of the
flat car, which he did. Witness asked these men what they wanted
with him; they said, never mind, they might need him; these were
the same ones who told him to get on. Heard conversation to the
effect that they were going to Wardner, but did not know for what.

At Gem the train stopped; quite a number of men got on; quite a
number also had guns and were masked. After waiting for about
twenty minutes they began backing up. A man who was sitting on the
opposite side of witness had onamask. Witnesssaid, ** Where are the;r

ing#” The man said, ¢ They are going to the magazine for powder.”
6?1 hgmt tting in the coach witness had asked where they were going
of some, but they silenced him and told him that the least questions
asked the better off he wounld be. After getting down to Wallace
q‘uite a number of other passengers got on there; at the upper end of

‘allace a great number of men got on; a great many were armed, but
witness does not remember whetﬁer or not t.hei,' were masked. After
leaving Wallace the train was very heavily loaded; in fact, a great
number were on the outside. Two or three stops were made between
Wallace and Wardner. In coming down to Kellogg witness spoke to
a man who was sitting in a seat with him and he informed him that
they were going to Wardner. Witness asked him if he could tele-
phone up home, as his folks would probably be uneasy, and the party
addressed stated that in all probability the wires were not Worﬁng
Witness again asked what their object was in going to Wardner, and
he was again told with an oath to keep still or it would be the last of
him, or would go hard with him, or something to that effect.

Upon reaching Wardner Junction everybody was told to getout, and
he got out with the rest,and they seemed as though they were without
a leader and they stayed around for quite a little while. Witness
went close to the depot. Pretty soon after getting over there they
called out all the men with guns to the front. The men with guns
went forward and marched down about 200 yards below the depot;
there were between 200 and 800 of them. Xll that had guns were
masked, he thinks. They went up the road until they got onto the
flat and then marched down the road toward the mill. In the mean-
time three men, who were armed and masked, came up to witness and
told him that in the event of there being any firing for him to stay
around the train and engine, and if there was any firing, as soon as it

to come where the ﬁrinF was. Witness stayéd there. There
was firing; possibly a thousand shots were fired. As soon as it ceased
witness went down the track until he got nearly opposite the concen-
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trator and then went up and got near the office of the Bunker Hill and
Sullivan Company, when a man in the crowd called out his name and
told him that there was a man hit upon the hill and that he was either
wounded or dead and that he go up there,

Witness went up and found a man who was just alive; stooped over
him and opened his clothing and noticed there was a wound in his left
breast. itness then got up and addressed a crowd of armed and
masked men standing off a few steps, saying that he could do this man
no good, that he was beyond his help. The man was then carried
down and put into the baggage car; he was then dead. 'Witness exam-
ined the wound and just saw the wound on his left breast, and thinks
this wound was the point of exit; heard that his name was Smyth and
that he belonged at Burke. Saw part of the explosion and saw some
of theshooting up on the flat, but did not go up there after this shooting.

George A. Olmsted testified in part and in substance as follows:
Resided at Wallace and was a railroad conductor on the Northern
Pacific between Wallace and Burke. The regular time for the train
leaving Burke was at 10 o’clock in the morning. On April 29th his
train arrived at Burke at 9:30 in the morning. Thinks that the mill
at Burke wag not running on that day. Noticed a few more men on
the streets than were generally noticed. That morning witness had a
conversation with some men—but did not know who they were—in
regard to cars; they asked him how many cars he had; that there was
quite a number of men going down to Wallace and they would want
some extra cars. Witness informed them that he was going to pick up
two or three empty box cars; that was all he had. This was done; got
two empty box cars.

On leaving Burke he had three freight cars and a passenger coach.
There were about 150 or 175 got into the train at Burke that morning;
he did not notice any of them masked or armed; first noticed masks
and arms when he reached Gem, which is about three miles from Burke.
There were some F‘ot on the train at Mace, not over 10 or 15, The train
also stopped at Black Bear just a minute or so; does not know by
whose direction. The train made the regular stop at Gem; quite a
number got on there, from 150 to 200; the bigger part of them were
masked and armed, nearly all of them. At the Frisco mill three ore
cars were picked up. The Frisco mill was not running that day; does
not believe there was any mill between Burke and Wallace running on
that day, not that he noticed.

The train backed up about one half a mile from Gem up to the
Frisco powder house. A masked man told him that they wanted him
to back up to the Frisco powder house. He came to witness right at
the depot in Gem, in front of the post-office, and wanted to know how
long they would be there. Witness replied, ‘““‘Just a few minutes,
long enough to get the mail and ngers on;” so he said, *“ We have
got a lot of men over in the mill that want to go down to Wallace;
can you wait a few minutes?’ Witness told him that he would sto
just a few minutes, long enough to get the passengersand mail; an
then there was a couple more ma.skeﬁeand armed men stepped up and
said, *“We have got a guard on the engine there and you will have to
wait here until we get ready to go,” or words to that effect. Witness
thereupon waited fifteen or twenty minutes. Then this masked man
came around and said he wanted to back up to the Frisco powder
house; witness said he could not, he had too many cars to back up a
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hill; the masked man said, * You can take some and set them out at
the siding; we have got to go back up to the powder house to get
some powder. i
Witness said he would see the engineer and see if he could back them
up; the engineer said he guessed he could or would try it or something
to that effect. There were 15 or 20 armed and masked men on the
engine, Upon getting up to the powder house they loaded a lot ot
powder into one of the box cars; there must have been 60 or 75 boxes
of powder put on: there are 50 pounds to the box. The train then
roceeded down to Wallace. After leaving Gem this masked man or
eader said they were going to Wardner, and wanted to know if they
took his (witness’s) train whether he would go with them, and witness
said no, that he would not go to Wardner; witness said, ** You will
have to %t a smaller engine, our engine ain’t safe to run over the
0. R. & N. track and bridges.” At Wallace, at the junction, thissame
masked man and leader came to witness and said that they were going
to take his train to Wardner, and the following conversation took place:
I told him, * No, I could not Eu unless they got orders, made arrange-
ments for the train,” I told him that it was a foreign road, and there
was other trains running between Wallace and Wardner; would have
to get a smaller engine and make arrangements for the train to run
over the O. R. & N. track. So he says, “ We have got to go to Ward-
ner, and,” he says ¢ we are going to take this train,” and he says, *‘ we
will do—make whatever arrangements that you think best to get the
train,” but he says, ‘“if we can not get it,” he says, ““we have got to
go to Wardner anyhow,” so I told him, T sa s, *“I can not go with
you,” Isays, *“ unless you make arrangements for the train; get orders;”
so we got to Wallace and I told him, I says, ‘“ We will go in and see
the superintendent,” I says, *“ you can see the superintendent and see
if you can get orders for the train ”—customary, running over a for-
eign road, to get orders and permission to run over the line; so the
superintendent was not in; then I started in to the telegraph office,
depot, intended to telegraph to Missoula, report to Missoula, and the
operator was standing outside and he said he had no wire.
. Where was this masked man during all this time?—A. He was
with me, along with me,
Q. Stayed right with you, did he?—A. Yes; he stayed with me.
Q. Go ahead.—A. Then the operator says, *“ We have no wire, the
wire was down.” Then I says to the fellow, I says, ‘“We will go
up to the O. R. and N.; see what we can do up there.” So I went up
to the O. R.and N. and told the operator there or agent, says, *‘There
is a gang of masked men got on our train,” I says, ‘“‘and ti:ey want
orders to go to Wardner.” Well, we talked around there a while,
fifteen or twenty minutes, and they said they would not give us no
orders, could not give us no ordewmething to that effect—so this
masked man, ** We have got to go,” he says; “I am in a hurry, *“he
says; I have got to get out of here,” he says, **Can’t you go with-
out orders?” I says, **No, I won’t go without orders.” *“Well,” he
says, “I am going to take the train,” he says, ‘‘I have got to go to
ardner.” %0 we left the depot, the O. R. and N., and walked down
to the O. R. and N. depot, where we had left the train, and it had
gone; they had pulled out for Wardner.
Q. Was there anyone there that had authority to take that train
anywhere, outside of yourself—A. No, sir. There were quite a
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number got on the train after leaving Wallace and before reaching
Wardner, some at the O. R, and N. depot and some at the Junction
switch, probably one hundred or two; made no attempt to collect
fares from those men getting on at Wallace,

g,. %}hlﬁt did you do, then, after finding that the train had gonef?

. Well—

Q. (Interrupting.) Did gou do anything? Please go on; put it in
narrative shape; go on and state what was done.

A. Well, we got down to the depot, and the train had gone; so I
says, ‘It may have gone down in the yard to get water.”

Said to who?—A. This leader, this masked man; and he looked
down the yard, and there was another engine standing on the track,
one of our engines, and he says, *“ Whose engine is that?” 1 says,
““That is an engine that belongs to the ore train, extra engine that is
working here.” ¢ Well,” he says, ““we will take that.” so he started
down to the engine, and I went and looked in the depot to see if Mr,
Boyd, the superintendent, was in there, and he was not there, and
then I walked down to where this engine was standing, about three
or four blocks below the depot, and I got down there and there was,
O, I guess 8 or 10 masked men there; so I got down there, and the
leader, this—some of the men asked where the engineer and fireman
was that belonged to the engine, said they were going to take it to
Wardner. So I told them, I says, ‘‘I guess they are probably at din-
ner, about the noon hour.” all, he says, %a are going to take
this engine,” he says, *“if you can get them you had better get them,
and have them go.” So Isays, ‘‘If you will Just wait a few minutes,”
I says, ““I will see if I can find them,” and about that time the fire-
man that belonged to that engine—I forget his name—came along and
I asked him where the engineer wag.

Mr. RoBeErrsoN. We object to this conversation on the ground it is
out of the presence of the defendant.

The Courr. Yes; I think that conversation is improper.

Q. Those masked men there?—A. Yes, sir.

1 Ql This leader and the others?—A. fes; about 8 or 10 besides the
eader.

Mr. Hawrey. We submit your honor, it is proper.

The Court. He may now answer. (Excepmou.l))

Q. Proceed with your narrative, Mr. Olmsted. -

A. Well, they says—I asked the fireman if he knew where the engi-
neer lived, and he said *“Yes he did,” so I told him, I says, *“These
fellows are going to take your engine to Wardner;” I says, ““Don’t
you think Cochran will want to go with it#’ “Yes;” he says.

Q. Cochran was the engineer?—A. The engineer that belonged on
that engine. He says, “I guess he would,” he says. Well, I says,
“We will go over and see him,” I says, “‘and see what he wants to
do;” so we went over to Cochran’s house, and I told Cochran that
there was a gang of masked men had his engine, going to take it to
Wardner; as%?c him if he wanted to go with it. He says, ‘‘Yes;” he
says, “I will go,” or something to that effect. So, he walked over to
the engine, and Cochran took his engine, and these masked men got
on, and we went to Wardner.

Q. Well, did you go up to Wardner?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who went witE you besides the engineer and the fireman ?—A.
Oh there were 12 or 15 men; they were masked, had guns; I do not
know who they were.
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% This leader one of them?—A. Yes; he was on.

Witness came back on his own train that night after having stayed
at Wardner about three hours, Thinks there were 700 or 800 came
back, all that could get on; thinks that they were the same men that
went down. Did not attempt to collect fares from them coming up.
They had charge of that train; as a matter of fact it was their train;
they had charge of it.

L. W. Hutton testified in part and in substance as follows: Resides
at Wallace and is a locomotive engineer on the Northern Pacific
between Wallace and Burke. Witness was engineer on the train on
which Mr. Olmsted was conductor on the 29th of April, which left
Burke at 10 o’clock in the morning. At-Burke witness noticed more
than the usual number of men about town. The mills were not run-
ning. Saw more than the usual number of men at Gem. Had a talk
with Charles White who worked in the Tiger-Poorman mine, and White
told witness that they were going to Wardner. Saw two or three
different men with guns at Burke that morning; thinks that there were
about 250 men got onto the train at Burke. hile waiting at Burke
two men with masks on stepped into the cab and said, *“ We want you
to go right away; we have no time to wait.” These men were masked
anﬂad guns. Witness without anything further realized that some-
thing was up and started to pull out without attempting to put them
off or wait for the conductor. After pulling down a little way one
man stepped in the cab on witness’s side and said, ““ Did you get
any orders to stop at the powder house?” “No.” *You are likely
to get one.” This man was masked and had a Winchester and he
stepped outside of the cab; stepped on the tank; there must have been
some 8 or 10 on the tank and in the gangway between the engine and
the tank. Before running a hundred yards another man step in
there witha gun in his hands—he did not point it at me—and said, “We
want you to stop at the Black Bear powder house.” He was masked.
Between 20 and 40 men got on at the Standard mine where the train
stopped. Witness proceeded to testify as follows:

(i. Go ahead with your narrative?—A. We went on; got down
within about 200 yards of the Black Bear powder house; Black Bear
is strung out some four or five hundred yargg I was down amongst—
in the town, whatever you might call it—and running right along as
usual; a man knocked at the front eab window, behind me, this—I am
back of you remember; he knocked at the front cab window, and I
ust turned a little button, where we open this window and let any-

y come in from the front, and the first thing I knew, opened the
window, looked right back and here was a man with a mask on, a
black mask, and a heavy revolver, had 1t cocked, and he said, *“* We
want you to stop at the Black Bear powder house.” I said, **Cer-
tainly; put that gun down, I can not handle an engine with a gun
pointing at me,” and a fellow said, *“ Put that gun down;” that knocked
me clear off my feet. I stopged at the powder house; we stayed there
quite a while. The powder house was on the opposite side, and, of
course, I could not see the dpowder house; did not want to see it, for
I was right on my side, and I stayed strictly in my cab, my point of
dn%. e stayed there until five minutes—pulled out down to Gem.

itness corroborates the testimony of Conductor Olmsted with ref-
erence to the orders given at Gem to back up to the Frisco powder
house. He estimates that there were 200 or more got on the train at
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Gem. Picked up three empty box cars at Gem, then proceeded to
Wallace. Witness further corroborates the testimony of Conductor
Olmsted as to what took place at Wallace in passing from the Northern
Pacific to the O. R. and N. tracks, and further testified that one of the
men stated that they could get no orders to go down there, and that
witness had to {_E) agyhow, and further ordered witness to blow the
whistle and tell the fireman to ring the bell, and pointed a Winchester
at witness and said, ““ You have got to go.” Witness thereupon took
the train over the switch, over the O. R. and N. tracks, and on to
Wardner. Upon reaching the head of the flume at Wardner Junction
there was a lot of men out flagging, and he stopped the train; most of
them were masked and some 0% them were armed. Between the head
of the flume and the Wardner depot the train stopped about five times,
being ordered by these fellows, and men got on the train. All of these
men were masked about the time they got onto the train; saw lots of
them masked even before getting within 200 feet of them; saw some
of them put masks on; saw some of them with their coats turned
inside out. Stopped at these different; places because these men along
the road said, “ t,oE.” After the train arrived at Wardner heard the
order given, ‘‘Burke, fall in line.” They were armed and masked,
witness thinks, to a man; thinks there were about 250 of them that
fell in line. They marched toward the O. R. and N. depot, and then
marched toward the mill. Witness heard firing; thinks there were
from 500 to 1,000 shots fired.

Wallace Haight testified in part and in substance as follows: That
he was 9 years old and resided in Wardner. On the day the Bunker
Hill mill was blown up Harry Mooman and witness were down on the
Wallace road after a load of wood, with a wagon and team. They saw
a whole lot of men coming down there in the road that morning and
the men sbopEad away down there on the big flat place; they all stopped
there; they had some bundles in their hands or arms; under their
coats; there were old clothes in these bundles. After they had the
wood loaded up these men all stopped; while going up the road witness
met other men; these men unwrapped those bundles. At the place
where the roads fork there was a man standing and he would tell them
(the men) which way to go. He would say, **This way is the road to go
on.” Some men he missed and two men went away over there on the
sand and he hollered at them and told them this was the way; saw this
man before; they called him Joe. Witness was up home at the time
of the explosion.

Katie McLoughlin testified in part and in substance as follows:
Resided in Warcﬁ:er for about four years. Wasat home on the morn-
ing of April 29. Witness’s house is situated to the left of the road as
one goes down to Kellogg. Witness saw quite a number of men going
in the direction of Kellogg on that morning; they were carrying paper
bundles; they had them under their arms; saw slx or seven carrying
paper bundles that morning; saw one carrying sﬁzun: he had it rolled
up in his overalls; had it in his hand; this was Mr. Oberg. Witness
names six men whom she saw carrying these bundles; saw these men
about 10 o’clock; saw these same men coming back after the mill was
blowed up. Mr. Anderson (one of the men witness identifies) when
he returned had a mask on, the way his face looked; he was all dirty,

1. L. Magee testified that he was a physician and surgeon practicin
at Mullen; that he had examined the body of John bgmith, who ha
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been shot at Wardner on April 20. As a result of his examination he
testified that the bullet that killed Mr. Smith entered the back and
came out in front, the point of entrance being higher than the point
of exit, making an angle of from 12 to 20 degrees, so that the ball
must have been shot from above.

Jennie Parker testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
in Warduner for about three years, and on the 29th of April was at her
home in Wardner; home is right on the public road leading from
Wardner to Kellogg. Noticed quite a number of men goin down the
road on the morning of the 29th, between 10 and 11 o’clock; noticed
some of these parties carrying packages and some carrying guns.
The packages were small, Wrappedp?u newspapers, and they were carry-
ing them under their arms; witness could not approximate the number;
it seemed to witness that nearly every one of them had bundles; knows
that there were guns carried, but could not tell how many. Witness
identified three of the parties going down that morning carrying guns.
Saw these parties coming back after the explosion; one of them carried
a bundle; saw just two returning that she was acquainted with.

Mrs, J’osephme MecDonald testified in part and in substance as fol-
lows: Resided at Wardner for two years. Was at home on the 29th
of April, on the day of the explosion: home was about 160 feet from
the road; noticed a number of men going down the road that morning;
could not approximate the number; they had bundles; did not know
any of the parties going down; saw a}ite a number of them have
bundles, but could not tell how many; these bundles were done up in
newspapers; they were carrying them under their arms; saw these

ies in the afternoon; spoke to one of them; his name was Andy
Anderson, Witness spoke to him and told him that it was too bad
that they had blown up the mill and he made no reply. She asked
him if I.Key would do any more and he said they did not think so; they
had the mill and that was all they wanted; they could work a couple
of years now anyhow, and witness asked him if there would be an
danger of them hurting any men that was working at the Bunker Hill,
and he wanted to know where McDonald (witness’s husband) was and
she told him that she did not know. He said: “Tell him to keep out
of the way for a few days.” Witness’s hushand wasa miner employed
in the Bunker Hill and Sullivan.

Steve Bellien testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Wardner; regular business has been that of a waiter; was a member
of the Wardner miners’ union; went down to Kellogg on the 20th of
April (it must have been some time between 10 and 11 o’clock); was
not certain whether he went down alone or in company with one
Frank Hart; did not carry a bundle; was not doing anything that da
and thought he would taie a walk down there; had no object at all;
was told to go down there, does not know by whom; was told the
night before; can not tell exactly where he was when this notice was
Eiven him, but was in Wardner some place; was simply told to go

own to the J unction; no particular time set when he should go;
stayed at the Junction about an hour or so; did not go up the railroad
track toward Wallace; does not recollect whether he testified or not
before the coroner’s jury that he went down to Wardner about 10
o’clock in oom}l:;any with Frank Hart and others, and that he had a
package of clothes with him, consisting of jumper and other clothing
which he left at the junction; witness was at the bull pen at the time

.
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of the Corcoran trial; was not compelled to testify at the coroner’s
jury.

Chris. Eri testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided at
Wardner for about three years; was a miner and has worked in .the
Bunker Hill and Last Chance mines; was a member of the Wardner .
miners’ union; was president of this union, and resigned last March.
Ed. Boyle succeeded him as president. 'Was in Wardner on the morn-
ing of the 29th of April; went down to the Junction about 10 or 11
o’clock that morning; did not take a gun with him; had a bundle with
him; it had working clothes in it. There was no work going on in any
of the mines at Wardner that day nor in the Last Chance mine. Does
not know who the party was that requested him to go down; was noti-
fied by someone to go down at night, while coming off shift, between
11 and 12 o'clock; do not know the man that gave the notice nor
whether he lived at Wardner. He told witness to come down to the
railroad track next day about 11 o’clock and take his digging clothes
along, for there might be work for them to do or for him to do; did
not tell witness about notifying others; he told witness to tell the rest
of the men not to go to work at the Last Chance mine on the 29th,
and to tell all the men that came off shift. Witness told some of them,
but does not know whether he told all of them or not; thinks that he
notified 15 or 20 in all. This man was masked and he had a gun,

Next day witness went down to the railroad track and kept on going
on up the track toward Wallace; went up about a mile; no one else
was with him; met no one up there. w a train that day coming
down slowly. They (the men in the frain) hollered for him to jump
in the car, and as he came pretty close to the car a couple of fellows
grabbed him and pulled him in. These men were all masked that he
saw there; witness did not have a mask. Went to Wardner Junction
on that train; it did not stop a"%VEiCk up other men before it reached
the Junection while he saw it. When witness got his order the night
before from the masked and armed man to go down to the railroad
track he was told to keep the road straight on until he got to the rail-
road track. Did not inform the other men to go down there nor to
take bundles. Witness put on the clothing that he took down with
hlim t-halt day. Witness was a prisoner in the bull pen at the time of
the trial.

Chris Lenecke testified in part and in substance as follows: Residad
in Wardner for the last 10 or 11 years; was a miner and last worked
in the Bunker Hill and Sullivan; in early days worked in the Last
Chance. Was in Wardner on the 29th of April and went to Kellog;
that day about noon; went alone; had a bundle containing a pair o
overalls; nothing else. His object in going down to Kellogg was to
meet the train; the regular train always came in from Spokane; did
not expect a train down from the canyon that day; saw the train when
it came in. Saw lots of people there and lots of them with arms; saw
some of them with white ribbons or white cloths on; did not have any
on himself. .

Nicholas Hardy testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Wardner for about 10 years; was a grocer. Knew a man by the
name of Inchman; he was a machine man in the Last Chance mine.
Wi}gness had the following conversation with him in April, after the
20th:

Q. Relate your conversation.—A. Well, said to—he said, I guess
we will win it—out.
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Q. (Interrupting.) What was he speaking of#—A. The strike.

Q. Yes, go ahead.—A. And that he said, he would not say anything
about it, let it lay for a few days, get some help there and do the thing
up as they could, but they did not want the Bunker Hill to know they
was going to do anything, because they would cut off their air.

Q. What do you mean by cutting off their airf—A. Air that run
the machines. v ) :

Q. Do you know whether or not the machines were sugphed with
air4n that mine by air from the Bunker HillZ—A. Yes, I do.

Q. When he made this talk about help, what did he mean or what
did he refer to, if you know?

Mr. Reppy. Object to this, the conversation should be given, and
the jury are the judges.

The Courr. Yes, let him give the conversation.

A. Well, Le said get the hell['} up the canyon.

Q. What else did he say, if anything?—A. Well, said that they
were going to work for a few days, then they would get help from up
above; there would be so nmnl)]r detailed to help the matter out, he
would go on to work, and then he went away and I never saw him any
more.

Q. Did he say how many detailed?—A. Oh, about 25.

Q. From Canyon?—A. Yes, and neighborhood.

Inchman was a miners’ union man. On cross-examination witness
testified to this same conversation as follows:

Q. And it (Inchman’s story) began how?—A. Well, began by, let’s
see, he began by saying that, “well, got up kind of early,” he says,
*and went down town; ain’t working to-day, and things ain’t turn-
ing out just right, but they will come out all right, and he started on
to tell me about this other.

Q. Again go right on, if you please, with the conversation to the
end.—A. Said that ““there was a strike.” He said they had not quite
completed it, but they would; had not completed it, but was not going
as he wanted it to go, but he said they would win it out, and there
would be about twenty-five others to help him, he says, from up the
Canyon, and others from other places around help him do this.

Q. Do what?—A. Help him win the strike; help him throw this
thing down. I do not know exactly what he did want, but the way he
told me——

Q. (Iuterrupting.} Relate the conversation just as he said, not what
he wanted. Go through the entire conversation now.—A. Well, he
said, we will win this thing yet—

Q. gnterruptin .) Is that the way he began?—A. Yes; and he says,
**We have not saiﬁ a word about it;” he said, ‘“we are all going back
to work this morning,” he says; ‘‘but,” he says, ““there will be some
of the boys that wi]F not go back,” he says; ‘I am going back,” he
says, ““I think it will turn out all right yet: there is about 25 detailed
for that; are going to look around and see into the matter. The air—
don’t say anytg-iﬁng to the Bunker Hill about it—the air will be cut off
from the machines.”

Q. That all?—A. That is all I can think of now; yes, sir.

Q. You remember it very distinetly, do you?—A. Y’es, Sir.

. And you have given us word for word now?{—A. Yes; as near
as I can.

H. Rep. 1999—4
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Charles Jameson testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
in Wardner in April, 1899. Was a laborer working in the Last Chance;
was a member of the Wardner Miners’ Union; was in Wardner on the
20th of April; went down to Kellogg that evening, but not before;
was across the street from Page’s Hotel at the time the Bunker Hill
and Sullivan mine was blown up; knew Walt Boomer; believed
Boomer was a member of the Wardner Miners’ Union; met flim-a.t the
meetings; had a conversation with Mr. Boomer the morning of the
20th; were talking about not going to work that morning; he told wit-
ness that they were expecting a train down, or something to that effect;
could not answer from where; said there was nobody going to work
that morning.

Sophia Moflit testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Kellogg for two years ora little over; two, or probably three, blocks
from the railroad track. Was at home the morning of the 20th. Went
up on the hillside after the arrival of the train and saw a large num-
ber of men. There was a number of men came up around Bussey’s
store and they crossed Portland street, the road leading to the mill;
should judge there was about 76 or 100 men in that body, mostly all
masked and armed; they proceeded as far as the powder house. On
the left hand side as one goes down to the mill there they halted and
fired aboutthree volleys of shot into the flume. It appeared as though
they were firing them into the flume, into the side of the hill, and after
they fired those shots there was one shot fired, and then there was a
good many men run up on the hillside, and they came down carrying
something they had with them, laid it down by the fence, and then pro-
ceeded to the office and to the mill. 'When they came back they carried
this article.

Witness was very much alarmed at the time, seeing that there were
a good many men out through the woods there. One of the men had
been shot. When they came back witness went down to the roadside
and asked them what had hup[l)ened down there; whether there was
anyone sick in the office, or whether there was a man hurt. There
was a gentleman whom witness knew among the crowd, who shook
hands with her, and he said, ‘*Mrs. Moffitt, there was a traitor, and
we shot him.” Witness said, ** What was his name?” He said,
*Smith.” Then some of the masked men ordered him to forward,
march. Witness was ordered back at that time, she believes. Wit-
ness knew the party that shook hands with her; knew him in Butte,
Mont.; his right name was Harry Alford, but she knew another name
he went by; it was Charley Lee; this was an assumed name; he was
not masked at this time; I?;e had a mask shoved back over his head;
believes it was a white mask or a white rag of some kind; he was not
masked when he spoke to witness. The crowd then scattered all over
the flat where the military is now; did not see much more of them.
There were a good many shots fired around; heard them whistling all
around. Identifies Fred Shaw as another one of the masked men in
that crowd. On cross-examination witness testified that her husband
is a blacksmith for the Kellogg Tunnel Company, the Bunker Hill
Company; that she could see from the hill back of her house to the
place where this party was shot; did not see whether he was shot
above or below; heard a single shot fired and saw the smoke from
below, and then she saw something drop—a dark figure; did not know
just what it was at the time. *



CEUR D'ALENE LABOR TROUBLES. 51

ucorge A. Smith testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
at Pine Creek, about 8 miles west of Wardner. On the 20th of April
was residing at the Bunker Hill boarding house; his sister was run-
ning it. About 11 o’clock that morning was told that the Burke Irish
were coming: had not heard anything about this train coming previous
to this. Went out and after he got opposite Hyde’s store saw 25 or
30 fellows going down the road perhaps two or three hundred yards
from him with bundles under their arms; they turned a quarter of a
mile above the depot and went out on the railroad grade, and went up
and met this train. Witness went down; the train came on slow and
he stayed at one side waiting for it to pass by;: as it went past one of
the fellows on the train, with a black mask on, hollered, **.Jump on
here.” Witness did so and came on to the depot. Noticed that every-
body had a white ribbon on their arm or in their buttonhole. Went
up to his sister’s boarding house and removed her and her children to
ngmuse at Kellogg. Saw another body of these men, numbering prob-
ably 200 or 250, carrying guns; this body turned and faced the hill
andy fired someti:ing like four or five hundred shots,

Witness then returned to the boarding house and found that every-
thing had been eaten up; thére were masked and armed men in there;
they kicked in a door and witness asked them not to destroy that prop-

, that it was his sister’s private property; one fellow said he knew
better, it was the company’s property. Witness said, ‘I know a damn
sight better; I know it is my sister’s property and I don't want it
destroyed.” Some fellow stepped in between them who had a black
mask on. He said, ““That wiﬁ) never do: you fellows leave up, get out
of here; you know you have no orders like this;” and forced them all
out. They had no sooner quit than another gang came in, and at this
time the house was set afire. Witness saw a man pouring coal oil over
some clothes that belonged to his sister’s children; the house was
destroyed; it must have been set afire. Witness recognized the man
who poured the coal oil; think they called him Joe Villa; understood
since that he lived at Wardner.

Hattie Simmons testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
in Kello&g three years, Was at her home, which is about three blocks
west of the digot, on the morning of the 20th of April; home is about
50 feet from the track. Was at ﬁoma about noon of that day. Saw
the train come down with a good many men on; there were most of
them masked, the majority; could not describe any of them particularly;
they formed in line in front of her house and heard the commands given
for Wardner to come ahead and then Burke. A man in the crowd gave
these commands; she could not tell who it was; they then started down
the track, and after thearlfot down a ways one of the men told them to
%t]) back and get the powder, and they turned and went back and got
the powder; started down again the second time. They proceeded
west after they formed, Wardner men to the front; this was toward
the mill. Next witness saw 150 of these men go down the main road
toward the mill with rifles, and they fired them off before the men with
the powder started down. Witness counted 65 boxes of powder, but
there were more than that; the men that carried the powder were
masked. Witness talked to one of those masked men on that day; he
came to the door (of witness’ house) and ordered them not to come out
of the house; ‘“he just told us not to come out with a kodak that we
had;” that was about all.
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Herman Cook testified that he was a rancher residing near Kellogg,
and that he was at Wardner Junction on April 29.  Saw a line of
armed and masked men form. Heard a man who came up from the
train—up from the mill way—say, “ All hands down the road, here,”
or, “ Wardner to the front.” The men then went down the road—
down toward the mill. Saw shooting there after that. Tt was at the
mill and at the top of the hill above the mill. Saw about fifteen or
twenty men going up the hill. The main body of the men were at the
mill.  The first shooting came from the mill. There were too many
shots went off at once to tell how many were fired. There was shoot-
ing from the hill to the mill and from the mill to the hill. The men
that started the shooting were close to the mill, and those that shot
from the hill might be a quarter or such a matter. Those that went
up the hill were all masked. Saw a dead body there brought down.
It was Smithy, from Burke. Witness ascertained this by hearin
Sheriff Young ask an armed and masked man there who it was, an
the man told him Smithy, from Burke.

The testimony of Willard H. Pipes and R. R. Rogers as to what trans-
Eired at Kellogg on the 29th day of April; as to their being arrested

y armed and masked men; as to seeing Cheyne arrested, and as to the
circumstances under which Cheyne, Rogers, and Huff were fired upon
and Cheyne killed, and as to the demonstrations of the armed and
masked mob when the explosions occurred, shouting, *‘ Down with
America,” ete., was given at the hearings before the committee and is
therefore not repeated here.

William H. Huff testified in partand in substance as follows: Resided
at Kellogg; was an assayer for the Bunker Hill and Sullivan, and was
such in April. On the 29th of April he was at Kellogg around the
works; knew James Cheyne. Witness was captured by a crowd of
armed and masked men about 1 o’clock on that day while on the road
between the Bunker Hill mill and Kellogg. Mr. Rogers was with
him, and Mr. Cheyne was aftersards captured by the same crowd,
and they were all taken up the hill just above Kellogg.

One man clubbed his gun at witness as if he would strike him; another
took off witness’ hat and struck him over the head with it, and ordered
him to run; witness commenced to run and they commenced to shoot
at him. This order to run was given to Cheyne and Rogers as well as
to witness. All three ran. Cheyne was about 10 feet behind witness,
and Rogers 6 or 8 feet to one side of witness and a little in advance.
Could not estimate the number of shots fired; there were six bullets
that struck close to witness that he counted; was not hit; ran around
the corner of a barber shop and plunged into a river and swam down
the river apiece. As witness ran around the corner of barber shop
three bullets struck right by him, two in front and one to his side.
As to the kind of masks worn by these men who captured him, wit-
ness testified that there was one masked with a part of the American
flag containing the stars and some of the stripes; another wore a black
silk handkerchief over his face, and then there were a number of white
handkerchiefs used. Just before they started to run one of them (of
the mob) says, *‘ You no doubt think you will make damn fine wit-
nesses, you fellows;” then when the man clubbed witness over the
head he said, * Run down the hill, you s—— of a b——,” and called
him “scabs,” !

F. R. Culbertson testified in part and in substance as follows: Resided
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at Burke and was manager of the Tiger-Poorman mine and was such on
the 29th of April. Had known the defendant, Mr. Corcoran, for three
or four vears at Burke; has always understood him to be a member of
the miners’ union and was secretary of it. The Tiger-Poorman is a
union mine. On the 20th of April witness was at Burke and saw Cor-
coran: saw him in front of the Miners’ Union Hall about 6 o’clock that
morning. Witness had made arrangements to go East that morning
and had gotten up earlier than usual in order to get to Wallace in time
to eatch the Missoula train. After getting out on the street he saw a
large number of men, quite a number of them his men, and he made
some inquiries as to what the trouble was; he saw that they were not
at work; made inquiries of probably a dozen or so men to find out what
the trouble was and could not find anybody who could tell him anything
about it. 5

He was told by several of his men that there was a meeting goin
on in the miners’ hall, and that nothing could be told or determine
what was to be done until after that meeting;. As he could not wait
until that meeting was over, he sent in word for Corcoran to come out.
Corcoran came out of the hall. Witness stated to him that he was
going East that morning; that he had only a few minutes to catch the
train; that he had noticed that there were none of the men at work;
and if there was going to be any trouble there he would have to change
his arrangements and remain at Burke. Corcoran stated to witness
that there was going to be no trouble at Burke, and that if his arrange-
ments were made to go East he might as well go. Witness then asked
him if this was a sympathetic strike in connection with the Bunker
Hill and Sullivan; if it was, he could not go away right on the eve of
a strike. Corcoran stated that it was not: that they were going to
Wardner that day; that the men would all be back that night ans go
to work on the night shift; that if witness was going East he could
do no good by remaining and might as well go, and on that assurance
witness left immediately and Corcoran stepped back in the hall, Wit-
ness could see into the hall, and saw that there was a large number of
people in it. Corcoran’s exact language to witness was, ““We are
goinkg”to Wardner to try and persuade the men there not to go to
work,

A. M. St. Claire testified in part and in substance as follows: On
April 29 was residing at Burke; drove an express wagon; knew of a
meeting of the Burke Miners’ Union between 7 and 9 o’clock: Mr.
Corcoran, defendant, called that meeting; knew this because he heard
Corcoran tell parties in front of the union hall that there was going to
be a meeting; told that party to go and tell everybody that he was to
come; did not know the object of that meeting from anyone who partici-

ated in if; knew Mike Malvey; he was a miner, working in the Tiger-

oorman in April, 1899; he told witness that he was a member of the
Burke Miners” Union; he conversed with him in regard to what was
to be done on the 29th; this was about 9 o’clock, just a short time
before the train pulled out; Malvey was going down toward the
depot; witness asked him what the trouble was, what they were going
to do, and so on; Malvey said they were going down to Kellogg to
blow up the mill and run all the scabs out of the country; saw Cor-
coran that morning, and saw him after the time he saw him notifying
the members, and probably half or three-quarters of an hour hefore
the train left; he was standing in front of the union hall, talking to
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some of the parties there; saw Corcoran at the time the train started
that carried the crowd; when the train pulled out he was sitting on a
box car right over the door, with his legs hanging down over the door;
saw Corcoran on the train when it returned that evening, and saw him
get off of the car. On cross-examination witness testified that he did
not see Corcoran armed or masked when the train left Burke,

Benjamin Stringham, who had resided at Burke for about twelve
years, testified that he saw Mr. Corcoran between 9 and 10 o’clock on
the morning of April 29, an hour anyhow before the train left that
morning. Corcoran passed along by witness, and witness saw him
have something that looked like a gun—it was a long gun; he was on
his way to the Miners’ Union hall; no one was with Eim.

G. M. Colburn and his wife, Mrs. Lou Colburn, testified that they
resided in Burke, and rented the house they lived in of Mr. Corcoran;
that on the evening of the 29th, when the train returned to Burke,
they saw Mr. Corcoran sitting on the top of a box car. Their house
was about 200 yards below the depot and about 30 or 35 yards from
the track. Corcoran had a gun, looked like a rifle; he was holding it
across his lap.

Ida J. Sinclair testified that she resided at Kellogg: on the 20th of
April saw the train arrive; saw armed and masked men get off the
train; saw them marching and heard the order given, Wardner to the
front and then Burke afterwards, and then saw them marching toward
the mill; witness had been acquainted with James Cheyne for about
seven years; on the 29th of April first saw him going toward the
Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill on the flume after the train had arrived;
next saw him with Messrs. Rogers, Huff, and Pipes, in the company
of masked and armed men; witness after leaving her house crossed
over a road to the opposite side from where the men having Cheyne
and the others in charge were standing; stood there watching them
and watching the blasts go off, and as the last blast went off they all
shouted and cheered, and then there seemed to be a lull and some
parleying between them.

Witness, continuing, testified as follows: “I saw them take off Mr.
Huf’s hat and strike IIqlim over the head with it, and told him t;oshc-utI
and they swore at him, and then I heard them say, ‘ Run,’ and then
heard some of them say, * No, stop;® and then again they gave different
orders to them, and then all at once they ran; I saw them running;
watched the three men run, and Mr. Cheyne—or Mr. Huff and Mr.
Rogers ran together down the hill; got over the fence close together,
or through the fence, and as Rogers was coming through the fence he
seemed—just as he got through the fence he seemed to staﬁlger and he
fell; he was struck then, and at that time, as he was going through the
fence, Mr. Cheyne came down the hi]l,ancl he came down almost straight
across, and he took long strides; he did not run very fast; and just at
that time Rogers was coming through the fence, and T lost track of
Mr. Cheyne. I thought I saw him fall, but I was not sure of it until
I went to the bank, and I heard somebody say that they had gotten
one of the scabs, and that to fill him full of lead, and such things as
that; and 1 stt-p?ed to the bank, and Mr, Cheyne was lﬁing in the road
appealing for help; he was saying, * Don’t, for God’s sake, shoot me any
more; this is not a square deal; somebody will have to me for thisy
and as I started down the bank a masked man tried to detain me, to
push me to one side, and told me not to go down and make a fool of
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myself; and I went down, however, and Itold him; I said, *Mr. Cheyne
you must get out of this, they will kill you if you do not.’ 1 said,
*Let me help you, if nobody else will,’and he says: * Well, you are not
strong enough, Mrs. Sinclair: you can not:’ and I said, * You must try
and get out of here.” And he tried to get up, but could not; he fell

down a.ﬁmn.

“So I turned around to the men who were firing and I said: “If
there is & mun amongst you who has a particle of humanity in you
come and help me with this wounded man.’ and at that time there was
a man came down the hill, right almost from the place that Cheyne
came from, and he had a gun in his hand, and he came up to me and
said that—he came up to me and stood there, and they drove him
away, told him to stand aside, and then I appealed again, and they
told him to stand aside again; and I think three times that I asked,
and at last two men came up and helped me, and I took hold of Mr.
Cheyne’s hand, and I walked back first all the way down to the end—
to the back of McKinnis’s Hotel, and then I ran on to see if I could
find a place for him to lie down, and I did, and found there was a couch
in the saloon—in the back of the saloon—and from there I went on
and met these masked men with Mr. Cheyne, and I took him in there,
and Mr. Sinclair, my husband, and a Mr. Leon Rogers helped him to
the couch, and they laid him down there and I examined his wound
and found that he was badl wounded, and I went for a doctor. 1
went out and found Dr. Machette and had him attend to him.”

Witness identified this masked man that came down the hill from
the direction from which Mr. Cheyne came as defendant, Paul Cor-
coran. Witness testified that as she came up to Cheyne when he was
lying there the masked men said to one another, *Shoot the G— d—
s8— of a b— and fill him full of lead to make an example of him.”
After witness arrived near Mr, Cheyne several shots were fired and
they struck around her.

oseph McDonald testified in part and in substance as follows:
Resided at Gem; was a mine operator; on April 29th was manager of
the Helena-Frisco mine; was at home that day. Only two men were
working in the mine that day—a pump man and one engineer. This
was a union mine. The reason the men did not go to work that day
was because they said they had to have a meeting that day to go down
to Wardner; a man by the name of Fox and one by the name of Sher-
vg(iln told him this; one was a mill man and the other was employed out-
side,

Bert Fox at that time was an employee of the Helena-Frisco. He
told witness that he was a member of the union. Among other things
Fox looked after powder, candles, and general supplies going into the
mine, He came up and gave witness the keys to the powder house
and said they were going to Wardner, giving as a reason that they
were coming up after the powder and he wanted to have his hands
clear of it; this was after the train went down from Burke, before it
had backed up; the train was then in Gem. Eighty boxes of powder
were taken out of the magazine that day: each box weighs 50 pounds.
After the train pulled out from the powder house witness went up and
found the locks broken and the door open. All the fuse was taken
away from the fuse house. Saw the train as it pulled back to Gem
from the powder house that morning; it was loaded with men; they
were masked, and saw arms.
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After leaving the powder house one of the men halloed and shook
a fuse at witness, and said: “We helped ourselves.” Another fellow,
who was masked, held up his gun and patted it on the breech. Two
evenings after the trouble down at Wardner, Tom Heeney introduced
the defendant, Corcoran, to witness, saying that he (Corcoran) was
financial secretary of his own union, and was a member of the central
union. Corcoran did not dissent. Witness had business with the
members of the central union at that time, and was trying to reach
some kind of a settlement between them and the Bunker Hill. Cor-
coran met witness as one of those members.

W. E. Borah testified that he was associate counsel for the State in
this prosecution; that he heard a conversation between Magnus Cheyne,
brother of James Cheyne, who was killed, and Judge Forney, counsel
for the State in this prosecution. Mr. Magnus Cheyne had testified
that he had not gone to Wardner; in the conversation alluded to he
explained his reasons for denying that he had gone to Wardner, stat-
ing that he had made a false statement, and he had made it under fear
that if he had testified to the facts as he knew them he would be killed,
or at least driven out of the community, stating that threats had been
made in that immediate vicinity that anyone who testified would be
injured or driven out of the community, and he also referred to the
past history of the camp. Witness further testified in connection with
offering protection to Dr. Collins, who had testified in the Corcoran
trial, and whose life had been threatened by those masked men, they
(counsel for the State) had to s)t'omise rotection of life to a great
many witnesses they had called. Dr, Collins admitted that he had
made a statement under oath that he had not been down to Wardner on
the 20th of April. Afterwards he testified as already given above, and
explained as the reason for the first statement that i1t was made under
fear of his life,

The following petition to the Secretary of War, signed by 1,465
citizens of the Ceeur d’Alene mining district, shows the intensity of
the belief of the law-abiding people there that a necessity exists for
military support at this time (p. 1451): :

The Secrerany or War, Washington, D. C.

Dear Bir: We, the undersigned, citizens of Ceeur d’Alene mining district, of Sho-
ghone County, Btate of Idaho, do hereby most respectfully petition you, as the Sec-
retary of War, to allow the small force of Federal troops to remain in the quarters

repared for and occupied by them at the town of Osburn, in this county, for as
ong a term as Governor Steunenberg, of our State, may think their presence neces-
sary for the preservation of peace and order; and we, as citizens of this district and
of the State of Idaho, desire to take this opportunity to express our approval of all
the acts that have been done by the governor and other officials of our State to pre-
serve peace and order and to bring eriminals to justice.

Some of the acts of the State authorities in this connection may appear to the peo-
ple at a distance as drastic and severe, but we, who know the desperate conditiohs that
existed for several years prior to the declaration of martial law last May, know that
drastic measures were necessary to stop a band of conspirators, who, shielding
themselves behind the name of labor organizations, had created a reign of terror
and tyranny seldom equaled in the history of any community, and we beg to state
that t%:e effort of the governor and State officials, assisted by the military authoriti
have brought peace and good order fo our district and have given an impetus to al
business interests and a sense of safety to our people, which is highly appreciated
and for which we are very grateful.

(A photolithographic copy of all the signatures to said petition has been made a
part of the record of the hearing.)

The committee finds that martial law was not declared in defiance of
section 9, article 1, of the Constitution, and finds that the President
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of the United States did not declare martial law in Shoshone County
in 1899. -

The committee finds that the governor of Idaho declared Shoshone
County in a state of insurrection and rebellion May 3, 1599, by duthority
vested in him by the State constitution to **see that the laws are faith-
fully executed,” and in accordance with the following statute of the
State of Idaho, to wit:

(Spc. 7406.) When the governor is satisfied that the execution of civil or eriminal
process has been forcibly resisted in any county by bodies of men, or that combina-
tions to resist the execution of }lmcem by force exist in any county, and that the

wer of the county has exerted and has not been sufficient to emable the oflicer
iaving the process to execute it, he may, on the ur]\limt.ion of the officer, or of the
district attorney, & probate judge of the county, by proclamation, to be published
in such papers as he shall direct, declare the county to be in a state of insurrection,
and may order into service of the Territory such number and description of volun-
teer or uniformed companies or other militia of the Territory as he shall deem neces-
sary, to serve for such term and under the command of such officer or officers as he
shall direct.

The above quotation from the Idaho constitution endows the gov-
ernor with supreme executive {)ower and imposes on him the duty
to see that the laws are faithfully executed; and said statute directs
action.

This is the same obligation which the Constitution of the United
States imposes on the President in terms as follows:

“The executive power shall be vested in a President,” and “he
shall take care that the laws be faithfully executed.”

If the President, under his authority from the Constitution, may
employ any and all governmental agencies to enforce the laws of the
United States, so may also the governor of Idaho employ all necessar,
means to enable him to see that the State laws are faithfully execu
His obligations to the State of Idaho are the same as the obligations
of the President under the national Constitution,

(4 Attorney-General Opinions, 515; Williams ». United States, 12
Pet., 524; Wilcox ». Jackson, 13 Pet., 498; Ex parte Siebold, 100
U. g., 371; In re Neagle, 135 U. S., 1; Logan ». United States, 144
U. 8., 144; Berkimer’s Martial Law; ,Wint.hrop’s Martial Law; Davis’s
Military Law.)

In Luther ». Borden (7 Howard, 1) it is held that the government of
a State may, when the public safety demands it, proclaim martial law
within its own limits. "

The court declared in this case:

And, unquestionably, a State may use its military power to put down an armed
insurrection too strong to be controlled by the civil authority. The power is essen-
tial to the existence of every government, essential to the préservation of order and
free institutions, and is as necessary to the States of the Union as to any other
government.

The State itself must determine what degree of force the erisis demands.  And if the
Eo vernment of Rhode Island deemed the armed opposition so formidable and so rami-

ed throughout the State as to require the use of its military foree and the declaration
of martial law, we see no ground upon which this tourt can question its authority, It
was astate of war, and the wtnl:lin(?gd government resorted to the rights and usages of
war to maintain itself and to overcome the unlawful nlplmitinu. And in that state of
things the officers engaged in its military service might lawfully arrest anyone who
from the information before them, they had reasonable grounds to believe was euguge(i
in the insurrection, and might order a house to be [on:iﬁ;;r entered and searched when
there were reasonable grounds for supposing he might be there concealed. Withount
the power to do this martial law and the military array of the government would be
mere parade, and rather encournge attack than repel it.
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Under this requirement of the constitution of Idaho the governor
was authorized to employ whatever men and means he deemed neces-
sary, under the emergency of martial law, to suppress the insurrection
in Shoshone County.

Martial law is the law of supreme necessity. It is the law of self-
defense, the law of last resort, the law of force.

In the Milligan case (4 Wall., 2) the Supreme Court held that—

Martial law can never exist when the courts are open and in the proper and nnob-

structed exercise of their jurisdiction. * * * It is allowed to govern- * * *
until the laws can have their free course.

In the case of Johnson ». Jones (44 Tll., 143) it was held:

Where the conrts in the midst of loyal communities are in théundisturbed exer-
cise of their ordinary jurisdiction martial law can not, under our system of govern-
ment, exist.

The courts in Shoshone County are not in the *‘proper and unob-
structed exercise of their jurisdiction;” the civil laws do not ** have
their free course.”

They are in the disturbed exercise of their jurisdiction, and are in
the midst of a disloyal community.

The Milligan case was one in which the military authority of the
United States undertook to enforce martial law in a ““loyal com-
munity,” and where the local civil courts were open and in the proper,
unobstructed, and undisturbed exercise of their jurisdiction. it-
nesses could come before the court without hindrance or intimidation.
Juries could convyiet.

In Shoshone County, General Merriam says, the mob is, like the
rattlesnake, hidden, but ready at the first ofpportunit.\' to strike again.

Witnesses would not have dared to testify in the Corcoran case but
for the presence of a military force, and they could not now live in
that county, safe from the vengeance of the mob, if the strong mili-
tary arm of the State and of the United States were taken away.

This was demonstrated in the murder of John Kneebone in 1894,
and is shown by the governor to be the situation now existing in that
county. It is proved by his testimony before the committee and by
all the witnesses appearing in answer to the *‘ charges,” whose opinions
were asked.

1t is in evidence: ;

That a large number of men were called from their beds and re-
quired to quit their homes by daylight in 1894; that murders were
committed, newspapers and editors of newspapers driven from the
county, miners and other laborers beaten, and merchants boycotted
and forced out of business for merely denouncing such offenses,
robbed, and driven from the community in 1895; that attempts were
made to blow up with dynamite property of great value in 1896; that
citizens were threatened with death and driven out of the neighbor-
hood in 1897 for refusing to join the eriminal organizations terrorizing
that community, without anyone being brought to trial for the crimes,
for the reasons stated in the report of the grand jury set out in Gov-
ernor Steunenberg’s letter to the Secretary of War; That in May,
1897, the national guard of Shoshone County was disbanded bg the
orders of an individual, and the arms stolen and appropriated by
unauthorized persons in said county, and the county commissioners
made to serve the purposes of lawless men, as stated in said letter;

That in December, 1897, a foreman of a mine in the peaceful duties

3
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of his position was visited at his house in the middle of the night, by
armed and masked men, dragged from his bed and brutally murdered,
without any effort being made by the oflicers of the law to bring the
guj.lty parties to justice, and althongh the law-abiding citizens and the
tate of Idaho offered large rewards for the apprehension of the
criminals, not a witness dare come forth to testify against them;

That in April, 1899, the president of a so-called miners’ union came
into Shoshone County, and advised violation of law to carry out the
edict of his so-called **union,” without any steps being taken by the
local authorities to cireumvent such purposes, although notice of said
illgﬁ:i.l designs was publicly posted on the 13th of that month;

at the official newspaper of this so-called miners’ union indorsed
the lawless acts of April 29, 1899, without restriction.

If all these charges are true, and they seem aml)l_v proved, and if it is
also true that the sheriff of the county of Shoshone and the commis-
sioners thereof had to be removed from their respective offices, for the
reasons set forth in the scathing deeree of the court after martial law
was declared;

That the conditions prevailed as set forth in the reports made by
Captain Leavell to Generals Corbin and Merriam; and that on the
date of the governor’s letter it could be said:

Threats are constantly being made against those who are seeking to enforce the
law, and a spirit of revenge manifested, which no one on the gronnd can doubt is
simply waiting for the removal of the troops to be put into execution,

Which conditions, as shown by the record, prevail at this time, it
can not be said that the courts are in the proper and unobstructed
exercise of their *jurisdiction,” and that the *“laws have their free
course,”

The courts in Shoshone County are exercising their jurisdiction
through the moral support and protection of martial law,

These conclusions are clearly established by the testimony of the
governor. He says (pp. 1064, 1065):

1 would state, further, that the district judge of that county told me that some-
time in May, 1899, when he had called this iial term of court, or was sitting as
judge at the special term, he was visited at night by what he called an armed man,
who wanted to know how he was going to rule, and he repeated the remark that it
has come to a pretty pass when a judge can not be protected in carrying out his duties
in the State of Idaho; when he can %ee intimidated and visited in his own rooms,
when he is alone, by armed men and bullies.”

I have talked with men who saw the blowing up of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan
mine, who saw it and know about these things. 1 talked with a conduector on the
train who runs from there to Burke—Mr. Olmstead—and I said to him, * You have
traveled on this train for nine years; these men were not masked until you got to Gem,
but they were armed?”” He said that was true. I said, **Did not you know them?"’
He would not reply. Finally he said, ** My life would not be worth a thing to make
such a statement, and I will not make it under any circumstances whatever, and at
any time you use my name in this connection you are liable to be told it is all false.”
Bat, fortunately, this statement concerning Mr. Olmstead was made in the presence
of witnesses. 1 could go on and repeat numerous instances of that kind, gentlemen.

Q. Well, we would fﬁmafew'more; I think it is perfectly legitimate.—A. Well,
business men of the town—when I have talked with the business men of the town
of Wallace they have invariably made similar statements to me. When 1 went
there in May I told them that the State of Idaho would endeavor to do its part if
we could get any cooperation on the part of the good citizens of that section; that
we would protect them. *‘Yes,” they said, ““we have the Kneebone incident; that
is the protection we have.”” They referred to a man who served on a jury at Mul-
lan—one man who voted for the conviction of Walter Jones. They said, “That
poor man was run out of the country and could not get employment, and he was
ostracized, and we had to ostracize him ourselves.” *‘They made us do it,”’ a man
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told me; “we could get no trade or anything else.” I talked with another of the
business men there, and asked him why he did not go out and do right and assett
himself. He eaid, ““It would not take long any dark night to put a few sticks of
dynamite under my shop here and blow it all to pleces.” He says, “‘It has been done
and will be done again; you can not protect us." This is what he said. It has
been demonstrated time and time again that a man who wants to do right in Sho-
shone County takes his life in his hands, and his property is not worth anything. 1
think in 1807 I went to investigate the disbanding of the militia, and I talked with
business men and others. T talked with one business man, I well recollect. I got
at him indirectly and got him to recite the condition of affairs there and his opinion
as to general conditions, I said to him, “I am here now investigating whether it
has been the militia, and I would like to know outright how you feel about it, and
have your assistance, and have you say how you feel about it,"" and he seized me b
the arm and said, “If Yyou ever say 1 talked with you about this in any way I will
denounce it as untrue.” He said, “I take back everything I say; I wanf you to
understand that I have not said a word to you; I have nothing to say whatsoever.”

Q. Any instance of boycotting that came under your observation?—A. No particu-
lar instance. The history of the county is one geries of boycotts; not o much boy-
cotts, either—people lay down; they quit. It is a pretty well substantiated fact—I
have never heard it contradicted—that at the time of the Walter Jones trial for the
murder of Dr. Hughes, which was in 1896, the judge was visited at that time by an
armed mob, who wanted to know how he was going to rule on a piece of evidence,
and they said to him, ‘“‘It would be pret.t]y well for you to rule right.”” I don’t
know about that; he did not tell me that; but I have heard it re very often,
and have never heard it contradicted.

It is also true that the military forces of the United States may be
employed in aid of the State authorities in the suppression of insur-
rection. (See sections 5297 and 5299, R. S. U. S.)

The President is authorized to maintain the civil rights of the people
of the States against conspiracies against the laws of a State. (16
Opin. Atty. Gen.,162; 17 Bpin. Atty. Gen., 242.)

n 1 Bishop on Criminal Law, section 52, it is stated that martial law
may operate to the total suppression or overthrow of the civil authority,
or its touch may be light, scarcely felt, or not felt at all by the mass
of the people, while tge courts go on in their ordinary course and the
business of the community in its accustomed channels.

See also Berkimer’s Martial Law; Lieber’s ‘Bam hlet on the *“ Use
of the army in aid of the civil power” (1898, War Department); also
Lieber’s Justification of Martial Law (1898, War Department).

In Davis on Military Law it is laid down as an axiom that such mili-
tary authority as is vested in the President or in the governors of the
States may be exercised—
thFlirst. In support of the proper civil authorities in the execution of

e laws,

Secondly. In the maintenance of order in districts in which, by
réason of nsurrection or rebellion, the civil authority has been whol}y
or partially displaced and it is for the time unable to exercise its
functions.

In the enforcement of the Jaws troops are employed as a rgart of the
military power of the United States, and act under the orders of the
Presidentas Commanderin Chief. (Army Regulations,490.) Thesame
is true when the Army is not employed merely in aid of the civil power,
but is operating, as stated above, *‘in a district in which martial law
has been declared.” Martial law is defined as ‘“ military authority exer-
cised in accordance with the laws and usages of war” (Instructions
forthe government of armies of the United States in the field, G. O.,100,
A. G. O., 1863), and ** martial law at home”—or as a domestic fact—
as “military power exercised in time of war, insurrection, or rebellion
in parts of the country retaining their allegiance and over persons and
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things not ordinarily subject to it.” (Manual for Courts-Martial, }) 5.)
It presupposes a state in which the civil courts are unable to enforce
their processes, and is justified by the necessity for society to protect
itself by suppressing resistance, so that the civil courts may be enabled
to 1 their proper functions. It is the suspension of all law but
the will of the military commanders intrusted with its execution, to
be exercised according to their judgment, the exigencies of the moment,
and the usages of the service, with no fixed or settled rules of law, no
definite practice. (Pomeroy’s Constitutional Law, 477.) When martial
law prevails, the civil power is superseded by the military power, and
the ordinary safeguards to individual rights are for the time being set
aside, but it is incumbent on those who administer it to act in accord-
ance with the principles of justice, honor and humanity, and the laws
and usages of war.

The following extract from Birkhimer’s Military Government and
Martial Law defines the rights, duties, and obligations of the military
commander who is called upon to suppress an insurrection in a State:

It now becomes necessary, the troops having entered the State, to determine under
whose authority they shall act. This question the President decides. He is pro-
i %,1 pursuant to law, to render effective one of the guaranties which the Consti-
tution has given each State from the United States. The law prescribes that this
shall be done by military force, but it does not enter into details as to how this
force shall be nused. This is left to the President. The responsibility is his, and he
is given a discretion as to the manner in which he shall use the means supplied to
him by law to meet the Federal obligation.

A State under these circumstances will seldom be disposed to dictate how the
assistance called for is to be used. Having exhansted her own coercive resources,
she has turned to the stronger power provided by the Constitution to rescue her from
the violence of her own members. e power invoked must direct its own energies.
It can not abdicate its functions and transfer its duties to the inferior power. Conse-
quently, whether the President either commands in person, as President Washing-
ton for a time did in the Pennsylvania rebellion of 1794, or devolve this duty on a
subordinate, he must and will reserve the right to resume the reins of supreme
authority should the occasion require it.

1t follows that the President might Frocecd to protect the State against domestic
violence, either by acting independently of State authorities or in cooperation with
them, or for this occasion the troops might, it is submitted, be placed subordinate to
and at the disposal of the chief executive of the State. They may be used either to
sustain or sugp]unt. the civil authorities, depending npon the President’s view of the
exigency. But whatever plan be adopted, the President would necessarily have the
right to modify or abandon it if the &ub]ic interests and the object to be attained
would thereby better be subserved. When the time for the interposition of Federal
authority ariees, the President, not the State officers, is charged with the duty of
seeing that it is wisely and efficaciously exercised.

Yet there is a limit to the authority which may be exerted to protect a State against
domestic violence. This must be done in such a manner as not to defeat the object
of that other guarantee in the same clause, and which engages the United States to
insure each State a republican form of government. The military power invoked
must not erect a permanent government nonrepublican in form. Permanently to
gecure one republican in form, however, it may be neceasaxa: temporarily to erect a
complete government of the sword, or such modification of this as the emergency, in
the judgment of the officer intrusted with the management of affairs, calls for. That
martial law may be a proper measure under these circunmstances the Supreme Court
of the United States, in Luther v. Borden, explicitly declared. The domestic violence
may vary in its pro?ortions from a local riot or insurrection to rebellion which strikes
at the supremacy of State government itself.

The assistance rendered by the President will correspond to the occasion, from a
few handred to perhaps many thousand troops. The district occupied may vary
from one or two points to extensive portions of State territory. The measures of
administration smf control necessary to adopt in every instance will depend upon its
own circumstances, The President or the officer to whom he confides the direction
of affairs will decide upon this, and if matial law be a necessary and proper measure
he will institute it. His is both the duty and the responsibility.
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The duty and authority of the President, when either the execution of Federal
laws is obstructed, Federal territory invaded, or the States call for assistance, to
enforce martial law, if in his judgment the exigency requires it, seems to be com-
plete. 1In this regard the Executive is invested with all power necessary to vindicate
the laws and preserve unimpaired both the integrity of eivil institutions and the
national domain.

There is no reason why the governor of a State, who is the commander in chief of
its armed forces, should not haye the power equally with the President locally to
enforece martial law should occasion justify it. %f the legislature be in session or can
be convened in time to meet the emergency, he might with propriety await its coop-
eration. On the other hand, the state of facts which are held to justify this law gen-
erally are of such a nature as to demand prompt action. Delay may be fatal to the
maintenance of good order. Buch, in fact, generally will be the case. And even if
it be practicable to convene the legislature, there may be sufficient reasons why the
ﬁovernor, in the exercise of a wise discretion, may not deem it necessary. There

ave, however, been few instances of the exercise of martial law by State authority.
That of Rhode Island has already been mentioned. The exercige of martial law in
the mining district of Idaho in July, 1892, was an occurrence of recent date.

The use of the United States troops for the suppression of insurrec-
tion, where called upon by the governor of a State, is always in aid of
the civil authorities, and the precedents of this use are numerous: At
Boston, by the governor, in 1775; in Virginia, by the governor, in
1775; at New Orleans, by the governor, Burr conspiracy, 1806.

The United States troops were employed at Boston to enforce the
master’s right to his slave in 1854,

The United States troops were employed to assist the State authori-
ties of Virginia to apprehend and suppress John Brown and his party,
who made the raid on Harpers Ferry in 1859.

The United States troops were likewise employed in Arkansas and
New Mexico, in 1878; in Arizona, in 1882; in the Indian Territory, in
1889; in Wyoming and Idaho, in 1892.

The United States troops have also been employed to protect prop-
erty of the United States and of its citizens, and to suppress riotous dis-
turbances in Pennsylvania, Illinois, Dakota, Montana, and elsewhere.

The most notable use of the United States troops in the suppression
of insurrection was that by President Cleveland in the case of the
Chicago strikes of 1894, and which was duly advised by the Attorney-
General of the United States.

A recent case was the use of troops in the Ceeur d’Alene district in
1892. On July 13 the governor declared Shoshone County, the seat
of disturbance, to be in a state of insurrection and rebellion. On the
15th the President issued his proclamation commanding all persons
engaged therein peaceably to return to their homes. Meanwhile both
Federal and State troops had been moved to the scene of action. The
commander of the latter represented the governor in the field. He
exercised martial-law powers fully, removing the sheriff and appointing
another in his stead. The appointee was instructed to take possession
of all books and property appertaining to the office and perform the
duties thereof strictly according to law, except that he was ‘“not to
interfere in any way with the administration of martial law as con-
ducted by the military authorities.” Mills in the mining region were
shut down and other martial-law measures taken by the gtabe military
commander. No use of words could relieve the situation from one of
the rule of martial law to the fullest extent. No formal prdclamation
instituting it was issued, but the status became that from its incidents
as here narrated. This was eminently proper. The lawful declaration
that the district was in insurrection and rebellion authorized the usual
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measures of war against the rebels and the adoption of whatever means
contributed to the speedy restoration of order. The exercise of mar-
tial-law authority was by State, not Federal, authorities. The latter
acted simply to uphold the former by their presence. The influence
they exerted was moral rather than physical.

In Shoshone County, in July, 1892, an armed mob had taken posses-
sion of the mines with the avowed purpose of preventing their
being worked by persons obnoxious to the rioters. The latter were
well armed and provided with dynamite and other high explosives for
their measures of threatened and actual destruction, The disaffected
district was a mountainous, isolated region. A reign of terror soon
was inaugurated which swept away orrendered powerless thelocal civil

istracy. Circumstances at once reduced the situation to one
wherein the military alone could preserve order and reestablish lawful
authority. But the State militia were few in numbers and, without
support, utterly inadggimte for this purpose. The case was, there-
fore, that contemplated by the Constitution, and the governor, as the
legislature was neither in session nor could be convened, applied to
the President for the Federal protection to the State guaranteed by
that instrument.

Meantime, and as if to leave no means at his command for sustaining
civil authority untried, the governor issued a proclamation declaring
the county which was thescene of disturbance to be in a state of insur-
rection and rebellion. It was preliminary to proceeding by summary

rocesses so soon as the military should be upon the scene of action.
Ft authorized the adoption of martial law or other measures which the
exigency of the case rendered necessary. The President promptly
reslg)onded to the governor’s call for regular troops. Tt is particularly
to be noticed that the object for which they were sent, as indicated by
the President himself, was, in the terms of the governor’s request, to
cooperate with the civil authorities in the preservation of the peace
and protecting life and property. Fortunately for all concerned, a

rudent and able regular commander was near at hand. To him was
intrusted the management of military matters, with orders to report
to the governor. The appearance of the military upon the scene was
the signal for the rioting miners to disperse to their various camps;
but here, as has been so often the case elsewhere, it was found thatthe
local aunthorities, either from sympathy with the rioters or through
fear of their vengeance, were incapable properly of performing their
functions. They could not be trusted to proceed promptly against the
lawbreakers to bring them to justice and restore confidence to the
community.

The civil magistracy being powerless either to protect society or to
maintain government, martial law, without formal proclamation other
than that of the governor’s mentioned, now found its fitting field of
action. Local civil officers who had been duly elected or appointed
under the laws of the State were in some instances removed, and others
appointed by the governor’s representative on the spot, who was given

rection of martial-law measures. United States as well as State mar-
shals were there to make arrests, with the assistance of the troops, with-
out which they could have done nothing. Some hundreds of the
malcontents, charged with murder, robbery, plunder, and criminal
destruction of 1'0Ecl'ty, were thus taken into the custody of the civil
authorities, and the military became in part superior to the ecivil
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power. There were no antagonisms, no strife for precedence hetween
these agents of the law. 1 worked together harmoniously for the
common end—the restoration of law and order in the community,
giving security to property, the bringing of criminals to justice.

Fhe committee found no evidence of any proclamation of the governor
suspending the writ of habeas corpus, and certainly no such action was
taken by the President,

Shortly after their arrest and imprisonment by the State authorities
under martial law, some of the prisoners made application for the writ
of habeas corpus in order to secure their discharge. These applica-
tions were made to Judge Mayhew, the judge of the district court of
Shoshone County, and were by him denied. Subsequent to this action
apl)licatiun was made to the supreme court of the State for a writ of
habeas corpus on behalf of William Boyle, one of the county eommis-
sioners. This court also denied the writ, as appears from the following
decision:

In re Boyle, Idaho supreme court.

1. Incase of insurrection or rebellion the governor or military officer in command,
for the purpose of suppressing the same, may suspend the writ of habeas corpus or
disregard such writ, i! 1zsued.

2. The truth of recital of alleged facts in proclamation issued by the governor, pro-
claiming a certain county of the State to be in a state of insurrection and rebeihan,
will not be inquired into or reviewed on application for writ of habeas corpus.

3. The proclamation of the governor declaring Shoshone County to be in a state
of rebellion, and his action in calling to his aid the military forces of the United
States, for the purpose of restoring good order and the supremacy of the law, had the
effect to put into foree, toa li,m.iteg extent, martial law in said county, and such action
is not in violation of the Constitution, but in harmony with it, being necessary for
the preservation of the Government and in its necessary self-defense.

(June 16, 1899.) Petition for a writ of habeas corpus to obtain the release of
petitioner from custody to which he had been committed in proceedings in accord-
ance with a proclamation by the governor declaring martial law in a certain county
in the State, denied.

The facts are stated in the opinion.

Husroxn, Ch. J., delivered the opinion of the court:

This is an application for a writ of habeas corpus. To the petition a general
demurrer is ﬂlef.{l. The only question presented for our determination is, does the

etition state facts entitling the petitioner to the writ? The petition alleges the
llegal retention of the petitioner, and sets forth the alleged cause of and authority
for such detention; nmE it is upon the alleged illegality or want of authority there-
for that Fatitioner bases his right to the writ. As to the facts set up in the peti-
tions, so far as not contradictory or conflicting for the p!:goses of this decigion, in 5o
far as they are assumed to be true, do they constitute sufficient ground for the issu-
ance of the writ? It a Fears from the petition that on the 3d day of May, 1809, the
governor of the State of Idaho issued the following proclamation:

StaTE oF IpAno, Exgcurive OFFICE.

Whereas it srmaring to my satisfaction that the execution df process is frustrated
and defied in Shoshone County, State of Idaho, by bodies of men and others, and
that combinations of armed men to resist the execution of processes and to commit
deeds of violence exigt in said county of 8hoshone; and whereas the civil authorities
of said county of Shoshone do not appear to be able to control such bodies of men or
revent the destruction of property and other acts of violence; and whereas on Satur-
y, the 20th day of April, 1883, at or near the town of Wardner Junction, in said
county of Shoshone, State of Idaho, an armed mob did then and there wantonly
destroy property of great value, with attendant loss of life; antl whereas said destruc-
tion of property, with attendant loss of life, by mob violence, as above set forth, is
but one and a repetition of a series of similar outrages covering a period of six years
or more just passed, the perpetrators of outrages seeming to enjoy immunity from
arrest and punishment, through subserviency of peace officers of said connty of Sho-
shone or throngh fear on the part of said officers to such bodies of lawless and armed



OEUR D'ALENE LABOR TROUBLES. 65

« men; and whereas I have reason to believe that similar outrages may occur at any
time, and believing the civil authorities of said county of Shoshone are entirely
unable to preserve order and protect property:

Now, therefore, I, Frank Steunenberg, governor of the State of Idaho, by virtue of
authority in me vested, do hereby proclaim and declare the said county of Shoshone,
in the State of Idaho, to be in a state of insurrection and rebellion. In testimony
whereof I have hereunto set my hand and caused to be affixed the great seal of the
State. '

Done at the city of Boise, the eapital of the State of Idaho, this 3d day of May,

A. D. 1899, and of the independence of the United States of America the one hun-

dred and twenty-third.

FRANE STEUNENBERG.
By the governor:
M. Parrie, Seevetary of State.

That thereafter, upon the call of the governor, a mi]itariv] force was sent into said -
Shoshone County by the President of the United States, which proceeded at once to
secure the arrest of the parties engaged in and who committed the outrages of the
2911; of April, for the purpose of bringing such parties before the proper tribunal for
tria

Among the parties who were arrested as being implicated in the murders and other
erimes resulting from the insurrection, riot, or rebellion of the 20th of April was the
petitioner, and he bases his claim to be discharged from such arrest upon various

unds:* ‘(1) No insurrection, riot, or rebellion now exists in Shoshone County.
7;0 The governor has no authoritir to proclaim martial law or suspend the writ of
ha corpug. (3) That martial law does not exist in Shoshone County, and has
not been s)roclnimed in gaid SBhoshone Co1u1t% by anyone having authority to make
such proclamation. (4) That the little disturbance of the 29th of April is over; that
the parties implicated in it, after having destroyed about a quarter of a million dol-
lars of property and committed several murders, haye retired to their homes; and
that, in recognition of the inalienable rights of the citizen, they ought not to be dis-
turbed. (5) That the govcmnr had no right or authority to send an agent or repre-
gentative to 8hoshone County to consult and advise with the military officers sent
there by the Federal Government to assist in putting down the insurrection and
restoring order in said county.”

Counsel have argued ably and ingeniously upon the question as to whether the
authority to suspend the writ of habeas corpus rests with the legislative or executive

wer of the government; but from our view of this case, that question cuts no

gure. Weare of the opinion that whenever, for th® purpose of putting down insur-
rection or rebellion, the exigencies of the case demand it, for the successful accom-
plishment of this end in view it is entirely competent for the executive or for the
military officer in command, if there be such, either to suspend the writ, or disre-
gard it if issued. The statutes of this State make it the duty of the governor, when-
ever such a state or condition exists as the proclamation of the governor shows does
and has existed in 8hoshone County for the past six or seven years, to proclaim such
locality in a state of insurrection, and to call in the aid of the military of the State,
or of the Federal Government, to suppress such insurrection, and reestablish perma-
nently the ascendency of the law.

It would be an absurdity to say that the action of the executive, under such cir-
cumstances, may be negatived and set at naught by the judiciary, or that the action
of the executive may be interfered with or imgeded by the judiciary. If the courts
are to be made a sanctuary, a city of refuge, whereunto malefactors may flee for pro-
tection from punishment justly due for the commission of crime, they will soon cease
to be that palladium of the rights of the citizen so ably described by counsel.

Section 7405 of the Revised Statutes provides: *‘ When an armed force is called out
for the purpose of suppressing an unlawful or riotous assembly, or arresting the
offenders, and is pl under the temporary direction of any civil officer, it must
ob_(l-:{. the orders in relation thereto of such civil officer.”

e facts set forth in the governor’s proclamation warranted his action. It is true
that some of the facts recited therein are negatived by averment in the petition,
which would seem to put in issue the truth or falsity of these recitals. Onapplication
for writ of habeas corpus the truth of recitals o¥ all facts in a pmcﬁmstion
issued by the governor proclaiming a certain county to be in a state of insurrection
and rebellion will not be inquired into or reviewed. The action of the governor in
d ing Shoshone County to be in a state of insurrection and rebellion, and his
action calling to his aid the military forces of the United States for the purpose of
restoring order and the supremacy of the law, has the effect to put into force,
to & limited extent, martial law in said county. Such action is not in violation of

H. Rep. 1999—5
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the Constitution, but in harmony with it, being necessary for the preservation of o
government.

In such case the Government may, like an individual acting in gelf-defense, take
those steps necessary to preserve its existence, If hundreds of men can arm them-
selves and destroy vast properties, and kill and injure eitizens, thus defeating the
ende of government, and the government be unable to take all needful and necessary
steps to restore law and maintain order, the State will then be impotent, if not entirely
destroyed, and anarchy placed in its stead. It is no argument to say that the exec-
utive was not applied to by any county officer of Shoghone County to proclaim said
county Ito be in astate of insurrection, and for this reason the proclamation was with-
out authority.

The recitals in the proclamation show the existence of one of two conditions, viz:
That the county oflicers of said county, whose duty it was to make said application,
were either in feague with the insurrectionists, or else, through fear of the Eﬁtter, said
officers refrained from doing their duty  Under the circumstances it was the duty
of the executive to act without any application from any county officer of Shoshone
County. This conclusion is based upon what we deem a correct construction of the
provisions of our Constitution and statutes in foree, in pari materia.

It having been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the governor, after some six or
geven years' experience, that the execution of the laws in Shoshone County through
the ordinary and established means and methods was rendered practically impossi-
ble, it became his duty to adopt the means preseribed by the statute for establishing
in said county the supremacy of the law and insuring the punishment of those by
whose unlawful and eriminal acts such a condition of things has been brought about;
and it is not the provinee of the courts to hinder, delay, or place obstructions in the
path of duty prescribed by law for the exeentive, hut rather to render to him all the
aid and assistance in their power in his efforts to bring about the consummation most
devoutly prayed for by every good and law-abiding citizen in the State.

The varions questions raised by connsel have been considered by the court, and it is
our conclusion that the petition does not state facts which show that the writ demanded
ought to issne; wherefore the said demurrer has been sustained and the writ denied.

uarles and Sullivan, J. J., concur.

This decision stands to-day unreversed and must be considered as the
law of the land in the State of Idaho and binding on this committee.

It appears that on January 31, 1900, application for a writ of habeas
coTpus \;'as made by one Charles Tilford. The petition is as follows
(p. 1565): :

[1n the distriet court of the first judicial district of the State of Idaho, in and for county of Shoshone,
In the matter of the application of Charles Tilford for a writ of habeas corpus.

PETITION,
Hon. Arexaxper E. MAYHEW,
Judge of the District Court of the First Judicial
District of the State of Idaho, in and for the County of Shoshone:

The petition of Charles Tilford respectfully shows:

That he, the said Charles Tilford, is unlawfully detained, confined, and restrained
of hisliberty by Hugh France, George E. Edmonston, John Doe Pipkins, Sheriff
Sutherland, and Jailer Frank Rose, in the county jail in Wallace, county of Sho-
shone, in the State of Idaho. That said restraint is for the purpose of unlawfully
restraining and detaining your petitioner, wholly without authority of law, and in
violation thereof, y \

That the said imprisonment, detention, confinement, and restraint are illegal, and
the illegality thereof consists in this, to wit:

. That your petitioner was, on the 23d day of January, A. D. 1900, arrested by one
John Doe Pipkins on & pretended complaint of one George E. Edmonston, on &
pretended charge of interfering with the rights of the said George E. Edmonston.

Said interference consisted of seeking and procuring employment and earnin% 3
livelihood without asking or obtaining the consent of the said Edmonston to 8o do.

That the said John Doe Pipking placed the said petitioner in the said Wallace jail.

That the said persons are, by and with force of arms, holding your petitioner in the
aforesaid jail without any lawful anthority and without charging your petitioner
with the commission of any offense against the laws of the State or of the United
Btates.
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Wherefore your petitioner prays that a writ of habeas corpus may be ranted,
directed to Hugh France, George E. Edmonston, John Doe Pipkins, Angus Sutherland,
and Frank Rose, commanding them to have the body of Charles Tilford before your
honor at a time and place therein to be specified, to do and receive what shall then
and there be considered by your honor concerning him, together with the time and
cauge of his detention, and said writ, and that he may be restored to his liberty.

Dated on the 31st day of January, A. D. 1900,
Cuas. Tinrorn.

Subseribed and sworn to before me this 31st day of January, A. D. 1900.

[SOTARIAL SEAL.] H. M. Davexrorr,
Notary Public.

(Indorsed as follows:) Copy. In the distriet court of the first judicial district of
the State of Idaho in and for Shoshone County. Petition of Charles Tiliord for a
writ of habeas corpus. Peter Breen, attorney for petitioner.

This application was also denied. Tt does not appear that Governor
Steunenlger ever attempted to suspend the writ of habeas corpus or
thought he had the right so to do. ~ He testifies positively (p. 956) that
he did not attempt to suspend the writ of habeas corpus. He simply
declared the county of Shoshone to be in a state of insurrection and
rebellion and did not attempt to suspend the writ of habeas corpus
because he did not believe that he had any authority to do it (p. 1048),
J. H. Forney, esq., who represented the State as counsel in these cases,
says (p. 671):

The governor did not suspend the writ of habeas corpus.  He had no right under

those facts to do so, and he never assumed to do so. The writ never was suspended
there.

It was claimed by the attorney-general of the State, in his pleadings
filed to resist the issuance of the writ, that the writ of habeas corpus
was suspended, but the evidence shows beyond question that neither
the governor or any other authority there had any right to suspend
the writ and that no attempt whatever was made so to do. The
supreme court of the State found that the facts set forth in the appli-
cation made on behalf of Boyle were insufficient to justify the issuance
of the writ and sustained a demurrer to the application.

The third charge is as follows:

Whereas it is charged that Brig. Gen. H. C. Merriam, commanding the troops in
Shoshone County, arbitrarily, and without warrant of law, without informing the
accused of the charge upon which they were arrested, and in defiance of the sixth
amendment to the Constitution, arrested and imprisoned hundreds of citizens of the
United States and of the State of Idaho, and held them prisoners under the most
brutal and tyrannical conditions, denying to them their constitutional right to speedy
trial by an impartial jury of the State, which right the Constitution clearly guarantees.

In considering this paragraph it appears that General Merriam and
his troops are charged as follows:

First, with having arrested and imprisoned hundreds of citizens arbi-
trarily, without warrant of law and without informing them of the
charge on which they were arrested.

Secondly, with having held them prisoners under the most brutal
and tyrannical conditions.

Thirdly, with having denied them speedy trial.

After investigating these charges the committee finds—

First, that no arrests were made by General Merriam and his troops,
but that all arrests were made by the representatives of the governor
of Idaho, under the orders of the governor.

That all persons arrested were imprisoned or detained by the State
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authorities of Idaho and that the Federal troops were used as a guard
for the safe-keeping of the prisoners.

Secondly, that the prisoners were held by the State authorities of
Idaho and not by General Merriam and his troops, except in guarding
them from escape.

General Merriam was at all times solicitous as to the welfare of
the prisoners, giving careful oversight to all matters over which he
had control. '%he brutal and tyrannical conditions charged did not
exist.

Thirdly, that it was not within the power of General Merriam or
his troops to deny or afford to the prisoners a trial of any kind, that
being the province of the State.

General Merriam did urge upon the governor of Idaho that the
prisoners be given a speedy ** Rreliminary examination and release of
those not prima facie guilty.” This is shown by General Merriam’s

telegram to the governor.
g Waroner, May 11, 1899,
Governor STEUNENBERG, Boise, Idaho:

I am still holding nearly 500 prisoners in & barn and box cars. All are very
uncomfortable, and with unsanitary conditions which will soon become intolerable.
Something must be done to hurry preliminary examination and release of those not
prima facie guilty. It is impracficable to make this large number of prisoners rea-
sonably comfortable here without considerable time and expense. Can you not
personally inspect the situation at once and bring h-?l]i:x'l

ERRIAM, Brigadier-General.

The official correspondence between the War Department and Gen-
eral Merriam and Governor Steunenberg shows clearly that it was
intended thut the troops were to be used to aid the State authorities
of Idaho in suppressing the insurrection, restoring peace and quiet,
and maintaining order in Shoshone County, and to act in the capacity
of guards over civil prisoners. .

That General Merriam clearly understood the purposes for which
the troops were to be used is shown by his telegraphic orders to the
commanding officers at the different department headquarters at Spo-
kane, Walla Walla, Vancouver, and Boise, of which the following isa
model, directing the movement of troops, ete., for his aid:

May 1, 1809,
Commanoixg Ovricer, Walla Walla, Wash.:

Send one officer with 75 good men to Wardner, Idaho; there to encamp and to
maintain order. Fifteen days’ rations, 200 rounds per man; no horses required.
Move by first train leaving Walla Walla.

Mgzrrias, Brigadier-General.

Early on Ma‘y 2, 1899, similar telegrams were sent to ‘‘ Harrison,”
“‘ Assinniboine,” ** Russell.” and *‘ Douglas.”

General Merriam reached Wardner on May 4 (Record, p. 1801), and
before the committee he testified as follows (p. 1801 of Record):

My instructions to Major Morton were what they always were from that time for-
ward: That arrests would only be made by State deputies or sherifis under protection
of the troops, who would also guard and safe-keep the prisoners as they were H
that any search or seizare should also be carried out by the deputies under the pro-
tection of the troops.

Under date of May 5, 1899, General Merriam telegraphed to the
Adjutant-General of the Army as follows:

Three hundred and fifty arrests have been made. Prisoners guarded by troops.
State officers investigating. Understand governor of Montana will surrender fugi-
tives amixﬁping over mountain trails. I will furnish escort to Idaho sheriff to
receive them,
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On page 1806 of the record General Merriam testified as follows:

Q. Will you state to the committee if you made any arrests of persons either in
Idaho or Montana?—A. I did not, either personally or by order, direct the arrest of
anybody at any time. I will qualify that answer by explanation to the telegram
sent out by me from Spokane, in which I say “‘Arrest all persons.” It is found on

31 of War Department Report, as follows: ‘“Arrest all persons attempting to
m mining region of Ceeur d’Alenes unless fully eatisfied that they are not impli-
cated in the riots. Martial law has been declared in Shoshone County, Idaho.”

That tel was gent in compliance with the request of the governor. It did
not mean that the troops should make arrests; it was expected that the officers
would only support the arrests, protect the arrests, as Captain Batchelor had wired
me he was already doing with reference to the seizure of arms. The details were
not all included in the telegram, because it was unnecessary, and by being thus
particular in answering this question, I do not mean to say or admit that arrests
could not have been made by my order or by an officer’s order and my troops, had
occasion called for it or rendered it neceeuuri' under martial law. The method
adopted and pursued was adopted and pursned because it is generally understood
among army officers that in the extreme situation of martial law it is better to utilize
all of the civil facilities and officials that the situation will admit of, and to interpose
as little of the bayonet as possible.

General Merriam’s orders to his subordinate officers all show con-
clusively that the troops were not to make any arvests. The follow-
ing telegrams are cited on that point:

Waroxer, Inano, May 7, 15899,
Lieutenant Lyoxn, Thompsons Falls:

Governor of Montana has ordered sheriff of Missoula County to make arrests of
fugitives, Return with the prisoners you have to-morrow morning, delaying in
Missoula long enough to permit your deputies and Missonla sheriff to make arrests
there, then come to Mullan,

Merrias, Brigadier-General.

Wanoxer, loano, May 7.
Lientenant Lyoxn, Thompsons Falls, Mont.:

Send injured man to Harrison with attendant. It is not expected that troops make
arrests in Montana; only receive the prisoners for safe-keeping. Governor of Mon-
tana has promised to cause the arrest of ascnlfnin rioters.  Await his action till
Monday noon, then return to Mullan and await further orders, if no action by Mon-
tana authorities.

Merwiam, Brigadier-General.

y Waroxser, Ivano, May 9, 1899.
Lieutenant Lyox:

Conditions named in your telegram have been anticipated. Be guided by Judge
Knowles. We must yield to civil authority in Montana, but will try to find Bratton
who left here with United States warrants for service in Montana. If not heard
from, wire postmaster at Butte and Helena, asking if he is there.

Merriay, Brigadier-General.

With regard to the alleged unlawful sending of troops to Montana
no charge of this character is contained in the resolution, and it has
never been a matter of controversy between the governor of Montana
and the governor of Idaho, or between the governor of Montana and the
Federal Government. That General Merriam and Captain Lyon fully
understood their rights and limitations in the matter 1s made clear by
the following extracts from the correspondence bearing on the subject:

Merriam to Adjutant-General, United States Army, May 5, 1899:

Understand governor Montana will surrender fugitives escaping over the Montana
trails. I will ish escort to Idaho sheriff to receive them.
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Merriam to Lyon, May 7, 1899:

It is not expected that troops make arrests in Montana; only receive the prisoners
for safe-keeping.

Merriam to Liyon, May 7, 1899:

g Governor of Montana has ordered sheriff of Missoula County to make arrests of
ugitives,

Lyon to Merriam, May 9, 1899:

I earnestly advise temporarily abandon Federal charges, substituting State offense,
to expedite extradition, which should be hastened.

Merriam to Lyon, May 9, 1899:

Conditions named in your telegram have been anticipated. We must yield to eivil
authority in Montana,

Governor of Montana to Lyon, May 9, 1899:

The State of Montana will not interpoge any objections to removing prisoners to
Idaho withont requisition papers. This is your authority.

Merriam to governor of Montana, May 15, 1899:
Lieutenant Lyon reports exact compliance with his orders and instructions.
Governor of Montana to Merriam, May 17, 1899;

I am pleased to see you were entirely misrepresented in the statements made in
the press. Your letter with copies of telegrams discloses that at all times you recog-
nized the proper civil authorities.

That due regard was given to the rights of the innocent, and that
General Merriam thoroughly understood the instructions from the War
Department and his powers under the law, and that he exercised wise
diseretion in executing orders received from Washington and in issuing
orders and instructions to his subordinates is best illustrated by quoting
his letter of May 24, 1899, to Maj. Allen Smith, who was left in com-
mand of the troops in Shoshone County when the General returned to
his headquarters at Denver, Colo., in connection with telegrams between
t.hef cl(immamdiu ¢ officers in Shoshone County and the Adjutant-General,
as follows:

Warpner, Inano, May 24, 1899,

Maj. Avrex Syrea, First Cavalry.

8ir: In my abgence you will become the senior officer on duty with troops in this
county, now under martial law by proclamation of the governor of Idaho, dated
May 3, 1809. The troops are here iorder of the President, to aid the State executive
in maintaining order and restoring the State government to its legitimate functions.
To this end we are exercising the extraordinary powers which obtain under martial
law, but we must not forget the necessity of using this power with great care and
moderation, to the end that while exacting prompt submission of all persons to all
measures needful to the object we have in hand, we ma.g' not overdo it to the annoy-
ance of the innocent, or even to the needless distress of those who may have offended.

It is quite impossible to give specific instructions to meet contingencies that may
arise for the reason that conditions can not be fully anticipated. Constant vigilance
and prompt action may sometimes prevent or nip in the bud tendencies which might
otherwize lead to serious conditions. To this nemdp the ines containing explosives
among the minin? properties have been put under . Saloons may be closed for
similar reasons whenever they appear to be a source of danger, and many other acts
along the same line, such as forExdding gatherings of excited people, the issuing of
inflammatory publications, ete. .

With these hints I do not doubt that your experience and good judgment will
enable you to deal snccessfully with any questions likely to arise. The acute stage
has passed, and the game i now merely one of waiting till the civil officers and
courts can be set up and resume their functions, and the local industries, lately
paralyzed by mob violence, shall have time to reorganize and resume operations,
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All requigitions for fo and subsistence will be forwarded to headquarters,
Department of the Columbia, at least ten days before supplies are required.

Very respectiull
e b e H. C. MerriaM, Brigadier-General.

Wasamvaron, D. C., May 81.
Brigadier-General MERRIAM,
Commanding Department of Colorado, Denver, Colo.:

You will instruct M:i'or Smith, commanding at Wallace, that he is to use the
United States troops to aid the State authorities simply to suppress rioting and to
maintain peace and order. These were your original instructions. The Army must
have nothing whatever to do with enforcing rules for the government of miners or
miners' unions. That is a matter for the local authorities to deal with.

R. A. Avaen, Secrelary of War.

Dexver, Covo., June 1, 1899,
ApsurANT-GENERAL Aryy, Washington, D. C.:

Telegram dated yesterday and signed by Secretary of War relating to duties of
troops in Shoshone County, Idaho, received and forwarded to Major Smith, with
instructions to keep well within its limitations. In this connection, is it expected
that troops be used to guard prigoners arrested by State authorities or magazines con-
taining explosives within the region declared by the liO\'ﬁmﬂl‘ as in a state of insur-
rection and therefore understood to be under martial law? These and perhaps other
precautions are needful, in my opinion, to prevent further violence and erime.

Meinriam, Brigadier-General.

Wasninarox, D. C., June 2, 1899.
Major-General Merriam, Denver, Colo.:

In reFly to your telegram of yesterday, Becretary of War directs me to say that
while the insurrection continnes and the governor of Idaho requires your aid you
will continue to assist the State authorities to preserve the peace and protect life and
property. You will take whatever precautions are necessary to prevent further

violence and criwme.
H. C. Corsix, Adjutant-General.

Warrace, Inano, May 50, 1599.
The ApsjuTANT-GENERAL UNiTED SrATES ARMY,
Washington, D. C.:
Replying to heleglmm sent General Merriam May 26, miners are required to sign
following permit: ‘I did not participate actively or otherwise in the riots which took
lace at Wardner on 20th April, 1869, Believing that the crimes committed on said
te were actively incited, encouraged, and perpetrated through and by means of
the influence of the miners’ union of the Coeur d’Alene, I hereby express m
unqualified disapproval of said act, and hereby renounce and forever abjure all
allegiance to the said miners’ union, of which I was a former member, and I sol-
emnly pledge myself to obey the law and not to again seek membership in any
society which will encourage or tolerate any violation of the law.”
The governor's proclamation forbids mine owners to employ at underground work
any man who fails to present a permit issued in accordance with above.
troops of my command have been used to guard men arrested and turned over
by the civil authorities at Wardner., Troops have also been present when arrests
were made,

Avien Bwirsa, Commanding.
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‘Warpxser, Inano, June 8, 1899.
ADiuTANT-GENERAL UNITED STATES ARMY,
Washington, D. C.:

Men who have been arrested charged with complicity with the riots here are still
being guarded by me. The civil authorities are not prepared to take charge of and
guard them. Trials have not begun, because attempt has been made to get writs
of habeas corpus. These have been denied by the State supreme court, and claim is
made that the matter will be carried into the Federal courts. No acts of violence
have been committed since my arrival here (May 9), but relations of pathizers
with arrested men with the remainder of the community are so strsinmhat I am
convineced only the presence of Federal troops prevents bloodshed, arson, and other

acts of violence.
Leavery, Commanding.

The orders of General Merriam were faithfully and strictly obeyed
and the troops were only used for the purposes originally intended.
This is affirmatively shown by the testimony of General Merriam
(p- 1805):

I do not recall any instance where my instructions were neglected or disobeyed,
either by my own observation or by any reports that came to me. So far as I know
they were completely carried out.

The second clause of the third ‘“ Whereas” charges that the prisoners
were held by the military under the most brutal and tyrannical condi-
tions. This charge is not supported by the evidence.

Some of these charges were of such a serious character as to
demand specific attention. The committee examined into each of them
with great care and in detail.

From all the testimony in the case the committee finds that these
charges of cruel and inhuman treatment on the part of officers and
enlisted men of the Army are not proven. Many of them are shown
most conclusively to be untrue, and some are so preposterous and
absurd as not to be worthy of credence. The testimony of all these
witnesses is so conclusively contradicted in so many particulars that
the balance of the testimony is believed to be unworthy of credence.
The testimony of L. J. Simpkins in this respect is worthy of some
special consideration. He is under indictment for complicity in the
crimes of April 29, and was the ringleader in the plot to effect an
escape from the prison by tunneling out. Because of his dangerous
character, after the prison was abandoned, he was sent to the coun
jail, where he was under the exclusive charge and control of the civil
authorities. The incident narrated by him with which he connected
the name of Mr. Burch, superintendent of the Bunker Hill and Sulli-
van mine, is flatly contradicted by Mr. Burch in his testimony given
in the trial of Paul Corcoran (pp. 149-151, evidence in Corcoran case).
Simpkins stated that one Donelson told him he was authorized by Mr.
Forney, acting prosecuting attorney, to offer him (Simpkins) $10,000
if he would implicate two men in the blowing up of the mill; that Mr.
Forney came to the prison sometime after that and had another party
ask him if he was ready to inform Douelson on anybody. Forney
flatly denied this, but swore that a man came to him representing that
Simpkins wanted to confess provided he could go unpunished. The
remarkable character of the testimony offered by this witness appears
from the fact that he seems to have observed everythiﬁg and to have
been every place and all places at the same time. He swears posi-
tively to facts which could not possibly have come under his personal
observation. Most of his testimony seems to be based on hearsay and
rumors, and what he swears to positively your committee disbelieves
entirely,
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It is proved that no complaints of this character were ever presented
to General Merriam or any of his officers, although it is clearly shown
that free opportunity was offered at all times for such purpose.

Many of f.lll)gse charges against the officers and men of the Army are
of such a vicious and baseless character as to call for the righteouscon-
demnation of every fair-minded citizen. Some of the charges of cruel
treatment by being prodded by bayonets are made against troops
belonging to the cavalry branch of the service, whoare not armed with
bayonets.

t is also to be noted that many of these and other charges were
made against officers and enlisted men now serving in the Philippines,
and whose testimony could not be obtained for this investigation.
None of these grave charges were made against officers who could be
or were present before this committee.

As to all these charges of cruelty and inhuman treatment, this com-
mittee arrives at the same conclusions as are expressed by General
Merriam in his testimony (p. 1815):

1 know nothing of any such conditions, and I want to add to that answer that in
thirty-eight years of continuous service in the Army I have never known a soldier on
guard to refuse to escort a prisoner, at any hour of the day or night, to obey a call
of natare, and that I have never known a prisoner under F:uard of a soldier to be
struck with a musket or jabbed with a bayonet; and, therefore, all of these stories
are to me utterly incredible. )

There was considerable testimony concerning the prison which is of
a reckless and unreliable character. The State alone had charge or
control over the building and its appointments.

None of these conditions complained of as to food, shelter, and
clothing, had they been sustained, were within the control of the mil-
itary forces. The Army could not issue blankets nor repair buildings.
The responsibility rested solely on the State.

The proof shows that General Merriam was always ready to listen
to complaints.

The preponderance of testimony shows beyond doubt that the hos-
pital was a comfortable place, and that every attention and comfort
Zri]a.s afforded those who were so unfortunate as to be obliged to go

ere,

It is charged (p. 259) that the effect on the health or physical con-
dition of the men by being kept in the prison for three or four months
was that they were all broken down physically; more than half of
them were sick.

It is charged that much of the sickness in the prison was due to the
treatment men received from the soldiers. That it was for want of
grobection, for the want of decent food, for the want of clothing, and

or the want of shelter. That such exposure caused the sickness. Tt

is also charged that the men complained frequently to the army officers
about their treatment but they paid no attention whatever to it; that
they would never listen to them.

These charges were absolutely disproved. The health of the pris-
oners was far above the average, and they suffered very little sickness.
They came out of their confinement generally in better physical con-
dition than when they went in. The Army had nothing to do with
furnishing protection, food, clothing, or shelter, and no complaints
were made to army officers which did not receive attention.

Only three of the prisoners died, Mike Devine, Miles McMillan, and
Nels. Bomlnon
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The proof shows that the death rate in the prison was much lower
than the average; that none of the conditions prevailed in the hospital
as are alleged. There was ample care and attendance in the hospital,
and no one there suffered for lack of medicine or attention.

The best quarters obtainable were used when the prisoners were first
arrested, and at the earliest moment possible a prison was erected by
the State authorities. The prisoners were transferred to it on May
19 and 20, just sixteen days after the first arrests were made,

General Merriam was solicitous as to the welfare of the prisoners,
and wired the governor on May 11, only eight days after the arrests
were first made, urging an improvement of the conditions of the prison
and prisoners.

Some testimony was adduced tending to show grounds for complaint
on account of the quality of the foo furniﬁhegbo the prisoners and
the manner in Whi(f}] it was served and cooked.

That very little credence is to be ;f{ivcn to these stories of poor food
and starvation is apparent by the following circumstance testified to
by Captain Edwards, U. S. A. (p. 1914):

The mother of one of the prisoners came down to the camp from her residence up
the canyon in a very excited condition and told me that she had been told at home
that her son was dying, and perhaps at that time was dead, due to this treatment.
Her name was Mrs. MuLmlgh in. er son was a young man about 20, I imagine, or
21, a strong, healthy lad. I said, “Did they really tell you that?" she faid, "X;es;
they told me I would probably ind him dead when gotthere,” Isaid, “ Mr. Coakley,
I think youn bhad better bring McLaughlinout.” He brought this great big fellow out.
She looked at him and said, *“Why, my son, you look a great deal better than you
did when you came in here.”

From the overwhelming preponderance of the testimony on this point
several things are proven absolutely:

First., That the State had entire charEe and control of feeding the
prisoners. The State employed the cook and prepared the meals, and
the State purchased all the supplies. At first the sum of 63 cents per day
was allowed for the subsistence of each prisoner; subsequently a new
contract was made and this allowance was reduced to 56 cents. This
was more than twice the amount allowed for the per diem subsistence
of the soldiers who were guarding these prisoners.

Secondly. It is shown by the evidence, beyond any question what-
ever, that these men were well fed; that they had a great abundance
of food, and that they were fed much better than the soldiers. If any
of these prisoners did not have enough to eat at any time it was their
own fault or the fault of some of their comrades. The testimony
shows that a great deal of the food was wasted by the prisoners, and
that much oig what was furnished was thrown away by them. The
statement that these prisoners would have starved but for the outside
contributions of friends is contradicted by the most positive proof.
The Regular Army officers on duty there had their separate mess, and
paid out of their own pockets for everything they had. Some of them
availed themselves of the opportunity to purchase some of their sup-
plies from the State, and found that they were of the very best qual-
ity. The story that the prisoners had to wash silverware belonging to
the officers is pure fiction.

It is undoubtedly true that there was some suffering and inconven-
ience at first on account of the large number of men arrested by the
State authorities, Some 300 of them were arrested by the governor
and brought down in the nighttime, when full and complete arrange-
ments for their comfort could not be made. The provisions for their
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accommodation were very inadequate, and for the first few days there
was much inconvenience and undoubtedly a little suffering. For this
state of affairs, however, the troops were not at all responsible, and
not a particle of blame can attach to General Merriam or any of his

subordinates. .
As to the general conditions of the new prison, the testimony of
General Merriam states the facts (p. 1805):

1 did frequently visit the prison. I do not think I ever missed a day that I did
not go through the prison and inspect the sanitary condition; inspect the food and
the provisions being made for the prisoners, for I was extremely solicitous that they
ghould be made as comfortable as possible. * * *

The condition of the box cars, when it became necessary to use them, was not as
good, I do not think, as in the barn, a]thou&h they were furnished with an abund-
ance of hay to sleep on, which was advanced from our supply, to be returned as soon
as the State could procure it.

From page 1802 of the record:

1f I might make comparisons here I would gay that, as a means of shelter from the
weather and from the ground, the prisoners were at all times, while I was in camp,
better situated than the troops, who slept on the ground with nothing but hay to lie
on. The prisoners had both hay and floors under them. They were deficient, how-
ever, in bedding and blankets,

The next morning I went to Burke by a special train, where I sent word through-
out the entire canyon that if any of the Eeop!e desired to send blankets or overcoats
to the prisoners at Wardner they could be sent down on my train and I would be
glad to see that they were supplied to the men.

From page 1807 of the record:

I saw no rude or rough treatment on the part of the soldiers toward any prisoner.
I was present every day and through the prison more or less, among the prisoners,
fre(iuently talking with them, and never heard any complaint of their treatment ]J{
goldiers or otherwise. This leads me to the testimony given by Mr. Cornell. * #
He states that he had two interviews with me on the subject of mistreatment to the
prisoners. I have absolutely no recollection of any interview with Mr. Cornell at
ané'ot.ime.
licitons as I was for the comfort of those prisoners, and careful as I was to listen
to any complaint made by any prisoner, I feel perfectly sure Mr, Cornell is mistaken,
No prisoner, at any time, ever talked with me in any such terms as he gives here.

The fourth charge is as follows:

Whereas it is charged that the said Brig. Gen. H. C. Merriam did, in defiance of
and contrary to the provisions of the fourth amendment of the Constitution, subject
th?‘ persons, houses, papers, and effects of citizens to unreasonable and arbitrary search
and seizure.

The fourth amendment to the Constitution guarantees—

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects
against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrants
ghall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particu-
larly describing tj)e place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized.

This amendment throws a safeguard around the person, papers, and
effects of every citizen. Its violation deserves the severest penalty.
The evidence presented to the committee does not show unreasonable
and arbitrary search of persons, houses, papers, and effects of citizens.
In every case the arrests were made cautiously and with great wisdom.
Every act of the military in the search and seizure of the houses and

rs of the citizens was in support of the State authorities.
ren. H. C. Merriam, in his testimony before the committee (p. 1801),
said:

My instructions to Major Morton were, what they always were, from that time

forward that arrests would be made only by State deputies, or sheriffs under the
of troops, who would also guard and safe-keep the prisoners as they were
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arrested. These instructions also included all questions of search and geizure; that
any search or seizures undertaken are also to be carried out by the deputies under
the protection only of troops. I went so far in that direction as to order that sol-
diers should not even enter bufldings with deputies unless some emergency should
make it necessary to do sgo.

Testimony of Gen. H. C. Merriam is corrobated by Bartlett Sin-
clair, who said in answer to the question:

Q. In reference to the arrests that were made, Mr. Sinclair, please state just what
part the military of the United States performed in relation to them?—A. I saw a
number of arrests made, besides the one I made myself, and at no time did any
officer do anything more than to act as guard. There was no attempt at an arrest—
physical arrest—by the soldiers. I saw that at no time. My instructions to the
depufies were that they were to make the arrests, and that the soldiers would do
nothing but afford us protection against riot, and an attempt at an escape.

Several witnesses for the prosecution testify that the arrests were
made by the deputies, assisted by the soldiers. Edward J. Flanagan,
a witness for the prosecution, testified:

Q. You may state whether or not you were arrested or taken into custody by any-
body.—A. T was arrested twice. I was arrested on the 6th day of May.

(). Where?—A. In the town of Mullan.

Q. By whom?—A. By an agent of the governor of the State of Idaho and three
negro soldiers.

In the case of seizure of the paraphernalia of the Burke Union, the
military were in no way responsible, and the entire affair was under
control of the State authorities. The following is the testimony of
Bartlett Sinclair concerning the seizure of the safe.

Among other things they brought this safe, containing a great deal of matter which
was of use to us in the investigation there and in the prosecutions.

Q. Was the safe locked when you got it?—A. The safe was locked when I got it.

Q. Did you break it open?—A. No; I informed Mr. Corcoran, who is now serving
a term of seventeen vears for the murder of Cheyne, that I would break the safe
open unless he, as secretary of the union, would open it himself. Before consent-
ing to do that he attempted to secure a promise from me that I would send $125 of the
money in the safe to his wife. I told him I could not do that, as the money belonged
to the Burke union, and would be restored to the Burke union if there was any
money there. So after some questions—eome talking about the matter—Mr. Cor-
coran agreed to open the safe, and it was opened that way.

One of the witnesses for the prosecution in his testimony flatly con-
tradicted the reckless charge of unreasonable search. Levi R. Miller,
a witness for the prosecution, says, page 129:

Mr. MivLer. The civil officers and soldiers. There were two civil officers who
came into my house. I left the front door open, so they could walk rifht in. They
looked around and they asked me: ‘‘Have you gotany arms here?”” Itold them, ‘‘No,
sir; I have not. You ean look for yourselves, however.” ‘Oh, no,” he said, *‘ we
will take your word for it.”” He started to go out. I said, “Do yon want me?"’
He said, “No.”

It is clearly proven that the military never subjected houses or per-
sons to unreasonable or arbitrary search and seizure.

Gen. H. C. Merriam and his command are utterly absolved from
this charge, and the evidence shows caution, judgment, and wisdom
in the arrest and search of houses and citizens.

The fifth charge is as follows:

Whereas it is charged that the said military commander, arbitrarily and in defi-
ance of the civil law, ordered the arrest of the sheriff of the county and the board of
county commissioners and subsequently deposed them from office on the unproven
pretext of neglect of duty.
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The evidence presented to the committee and the records of the
district court of the first judicial district of the State of Idaho, in and
for Shoshone County, absolutely contradict this charge. x

James D. Young, sheriff of Shoshone County, and Moses S. Sim-
mons, William Boyle, and William R. Stimson, members of the bourd
of county commissioners of Shoshone County, were charged by
Samuel H. Hays, attorney-general of the State of Idaho, with having
willfully, knowingly, and corruptly failed, neglected, and refused to
perform their official duties.

Sheriff Young in the discharge of his duties was proven to be weak,
inefficient, and utterly incompetent, and upon his shoulders largely
lies the blame of the riot and insurrection in Shoshone County on
April 29, 1899,

he law-abiding citizens demanded the arrest and removal of these
corrupt and inefficient officials from their respective offices. The
depufies made the arrests, while the military aeted solely as a guard,
and General Merriam is in no sense responsible for the arrest or
deposition of Sheriff Young, and Commissioners Simmons, Boyle,
and Stimson.

These officials were given an impartial trial and the court found
them guilty of the charges preferred against them and removed them
from E;]eir respective offices,

The following decision of the court is subjoined in proof of the
statements made above:

In the district eourt of the first judicial district of the State of Idaho, in and for Sho-
shone County, Samuel H. Hays, plaintiff, v. Moses 8. Simmong, William Boyle,
and William R. Stimson, memgera of the board of county commissioners of Sho-
shone County, Idaho, defendants; and Samuel H. Hays, plaintiif, v. James D.
Young, sheriff of Shoshone County, Idaho, defendant.

These two cases are both founded upon Revised Statutes 7459, and will be disposed
of together, inasmuch as the facts alleged against the defendant Young are also alleged
with others against the defendants S8immons, Boyle, and Stimson, and the principles
go\'aminf both cases are alike.

The information filed in this court against said defendants charges each of them,
in their official capacity, with having willfully, knowingly, and corruptly failed,
n%lmd, and refused to perform the official duties pertaining to their respective
offices.

_The specifications of official neglect of duty alleged against the defendant commis-
sioners consista:
(a) In a failure to meet at the county seat of Shoshone County on the second
Mondn];;}of January, 1899, as required by law.
b failing to make a list of jurors as required‘gy law.
¢) In approving an insufficient bond of the sheriff.
) In approving an insufficient bond of the tax collector.
¢) In approving an insufficient bond of the assessor.
) In afproving an insufficient bond of the treasurer.
9, ’II i) In allowing and paying to the sheriff commissions on money by him eol-
lected for State and county licenses.
(7) In a%roving and paying a bill of the sheriff for bringing five prisoners from
Murray to Wallace.
(k) In permitting liquor licenses to be issued without application therefor or bonds
being required.
(n? In failing to take proper steps to prevent and suppress a riot which, it is
alleged, occurred in said county on April 2&,) 1899.
The epecifications of official neglect of duty alleged against the defendant sheriff
consists—
(a) In neglecting to intercept or arrest dpersona alleged to have destroyed certain
property beFonging to the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining aud Concentrating Com-
pany at Kellogg, in this county, on April 29, 1899.
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(b) In neglecting to take proper steps to prevent and suppress a riot which, it is
alleged, occurred in said county on April 20, 1899.

The defendant commissioners, answering specifications a and b, deny the same, and
as justification allege that an election wssﬁleﬁ‘ in gaid county in November, 1898, to
determine the county seat of said county; that at such election Wallace was selected
as the future county seat; that on the second Monday of January, 1899—the time for
holding the first meeting of said board—the records and officers of said county were
at Murray; that a suitable building had not been provided at Wallace, and no vault
or proper receptacle for the preservation of the county records had been provided at
Wallace; that all the county business of said county was being transacted at Murray
the former county seat, and that the outgoing county attorney, C. W. Beale, informed
the board that it was proper to hold said first meeting at such former county seat,
and that in so holding the said meeting, at which time the jury list was by them
made, they acted honestly and in good faith and under legal advice.

In answer to specifications ¢, d, ¢, and f they deny the allegations and allege the
qualifications of the sureties upon the bonds approved, and as justification allege that
such bonds were submitted to the county attorney, who advised them that the same
were good and sufficient and in accordance with law, and that in the approval of
snch bonds they acted judicially.

In answer to specifications g, h, and i the defendants deny that in approving the
account of the sheriff for commissions on the collection of moneys lor State and
county licenses they acted knowingly, willfully, or corruptly, and allege that in
approving such account they acted judicially.

In answer to specification j the defendants deny that they knowingly, willfully, or
corruptly approved the account of the sheriif for bringing five prisoners from Murray
to Wallace, and allege that in “li'l’m"i“g the same they acted judicially.

In answer to specification £ the defendants deny that they knowingly, willfully
or corruptly, or at all, permitted licenses for the sale of liquors to be issued, and
deny that they knowingly, willfully, or corruptly, or at all, permitted said licenses
to be issned without application or bond, as required by law.

In answer to specification n the defendants deny that they had any information
of a contemplated riot, and deny that they knew that the sheriff of said connty had
failed to take proper precaution, or any precaution, to prevent the same, and deny
that they knowingly, willfully, or corruptly failed, neglected, or refused to supervise
the official conduct of said sheriff, and deny that, owing to the neglect of said sheriff
or of these defendants, a riot ocenrred in the town of Kellogg on April 20, 1899, and
allege that said board were not informed that a riot would take place at that place,
or any other ?lace, and deny that they had power or authority to direct the sheriff,
or had control over the sheriff, or that they were in seesion, or could have acted in
the premises, ;

Defendants affirmatively allege, in answer to the information as a whole, that each
and every act, matter, and thing charged in said information, if done by the defend-
ants, was done in the honest belief that they were honestly discharging the duties of
their said offices, and that they have, to the best of their ability, in all their official
acts, acted honestly and without corrupt or improper motive, and, as they believed,
in pursuance of the law and for the best interests of the county of Shoshone and the
peaple thereof, and without benefit to themselves.

The defendant Young, as answer to the information, admits the destruction of the
property of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining and Concentrating Company on
April 29, 1899, and denies that he neglected or refused to interfere, or arrest any of
the parties destroying said property, and denies that he connived or assisted in the
destruction of said property, and denies that during said destruction two persons
were killed and murdered.

The defendant, further answering, denies that armed men proceeded to the town
of Kellogg for the purpose of destroying property and for the purpose of a.mau}tm%,
maltreating, or driving out of said mines the employees of the Bunker Hill and Sul-
livan Mining and Concentrating Company, and denies that he had any knowledge of
the purpose of said armed men, or that any trouble was likely to occur, and denies
that he neglected, knowingly, willfully, or corruptly, to take proper steps to prevent
said dismiimnce or protect property or employees, and denies that such armed per-
sons killed or murdered the alleged John Schmidt or James Cheyne, and denies that
he neglected or refused, knowingly, willfully, or corruptly, to take steps or do any-
thin, %ooking to the arrest or detention of the persons engaged in the violation of law
as alleged in the information.

And alleges that in all matters in relation to the difficulties of April 20 he endeav-
g:d lt].c;hdisn:hm'ge the duties of his office faithfully and honestly and to the best of

is ability.
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These answers of the defendants present two issues for decision: First, did the
defeindants neglect to perform their official duties? Second, if so, were they justified
in their acts? :

The proceeding under section 7450 for the removal of public officers is not a crim-
inal proceeding. It is purely a statutory proceeding, and to the statute we must look
to ascertain what is required to sustain the information brought under this section.

As applicable to the allegations in the two informations in these cases, we find
that section 7459 provides: “That when an information in writing, verified by the
onth of any person, is presented to the district court, alleging that any officer within
the jurisdiction of the court has refused or neglected to perform the official duties
pertaining to his office, the conrt must cite the party charged to appear before the
court and proceed to hear in a summary manner the information and evidence offered
in support of the same and the answer and evidence by the party informed against.”
1% wiﬁpt.ohus be seen that the statute requires the plaintiff to show that the defendant
has refused or neglected to perform the official duties pertaining to his office.

The powers of the board of county commissioners in this State are statutory and
limited, and such board can exercise only those g)owers granted to them by statute,
and when the defendants accepted the office of county commissioner it was their
duty to familiarize themselves with the power conferred upon them by the laws of
this State, and without such effort on their part they themselves would show their
unfitness and incompetency to hold such public office.

The board of county commissioners is the financial and business agent of the
county. They have suhwr\'iﬁiun over all county officers, and have full power to do
and perform all acts and things which may be necessary to the full discharge of the
duties of the chief executive anthority of the county government. They hold their
office under the law and are bound by the law.

Ignorance of the law will not excuse a person from obeying its commands, and
especially is this true of a publie officer whose duties and powers are purely statutory.

[[l would be dangerous doctrine for this court to lend judicial sanction to misconduct
in office because some other officer has established a rule of action of his own with-
out the sanction of law and in utter disregard of its provisions. Section 7459 fixes
the duty of the court, and it is that if the charge be sustained, and in this case if the
evidence prove, that the defendants have refused or neglected to perform the official
duties pertaining to their respective offices, as specified, then a decree should be
entered depriving such persons of their office. It is not a question of intent, but a
failure or neglect to perform the duties imposed by law ugg:] such officers. There
are no words of qualification in the statute, and in the absence of such words the
court has no power to supply them. Tt is alike the duty of the court to obey this
:iegiadstive command as it was the duty of the defendants to perform their official

uties.

Public officers ought to be qualified for the duties of the office which they accept,
:lndi at least ought to show some disposition to familiarize themselves with those

uties,

Neglect in the sense of this statute is a failure to do what is required, and may
result from a corrupt motive or incompetency.

By this act the legislature did not contemplate the removal of an officer for slight
or trivial neglect of official duty, but did intend that when the acts disclose a failure
to perform a duty strictly imposed by law, and that such duty is of such a character
that the officer must know his official obligation, then a neglect to perform forfeits
the right to such office.

In view of these general principles, let us examine the charges and evidence offered
in support thercof.

The pleadings admit and {he evidence proves thatthe commissioners met at Murray,
in this county, in regular session on .Ianuar]\_rl 9, 1899,

Revised Statutes, section 1755, provides that the regular meetings of the board of
commissioners must be held at their respective county seats on the second Mondays
in January, April, J ulrr. and October of each vear.

An election was held in Shoshone County in November, 1898, for removal of the
county geat. On November 18, 1898, the board of canvassers canvassed the vote and
recorded the same and made the certificate required by section 127, Laws of 1891,
page 96, showing 2,471 votes in favor of removing the county seat and 864 votes
mnstbarléhia certificate was filed on November 18, 1898, and was published first on

m 1898. ’
" Bection 128 of this act provides that the county seat is removed when these acts
have been performed by the board of canvassers.

It is evident that the board whose term expired on January 9, 1899, ghould have
made all necessary provisions for the removal of the county records and offices frem
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Murray to Wallace. They did not do =0, and when the defendant commissioners
came into office they found all county records and offices still at Murray and no pro-
visions made for either records or offices at Wallace, the new county seat. To if
it was necessary for the defendant commissioners to go to Murray, organize and hold
a session, and take the necessary steps to carry out the will of the people in trans-
ferring offices and records from Murray to Wallace. At this session a jury list was
made by the board. Under section 3947 of Revised Statutes this jury list could have
been prepared at a subsequent meeting of the board, but the fact that a list was pre-
pared at a session of the board necessary for them to hold and at a time when all
records from which such list was prepared was at Murray, certainly could not be
adéudged such neglect of official duty as is contemplated by section 7459,

ifications ¢, d, and f may be considered together, as all relate to the approval
of the bonds of the sheriff, tax collector, assessor, and treasurer. No evidence has
g_een_gefgired in relation to the bond of the treasurer, and this specification will be

ismissed.

Revized Statutes, sections 392 and 1759, require that all bonds of county officers
shall be approved by the board of county commissioners.  Section 397 of the Revised
Statutes was enacted and approved January 5, 1887, This section requires the justi-
fication of sureties, and provides that a bond shall not be accepted or approved until
such justification be made. In 1887 section 396 of the Revised Statutes was enacted,
which provides that no person shall be accepted as surety on an official bond except
he ghall, during the year immediately prwtin}z. have been assessed and paid taxes,
in hig own right, upon property to the amount for which he becomes surety.

If the county commissioners approve the bonds in question in the light of the law
then this section must have been before them. In fact, it was before them and could
be their only guide. It was made for the protection of the public and in order that
the property of a surety might be free and unencumbered by a prior tax lien.

Let us examine these bonds as the law required the county commissioners to
examine them,

Upon the sheriff's bond there are 22 sureties, qualifying in the aggregate amount
of $21,000, Of these, 6 were delinquent in their taxes at the time they signed
the bond and qualified in the sum of $6,000. Two sureties qualifying in the
sum of $1,000 each do not appear upon the assessment roll, Two sureties, one quali-
fying for $1,000 and the other for $500, were assessed for much less than th
qualified for. This leaves 12 bondsmen presumably qualified in the sum of $12,000.

Revised Statutes, section 1828, subdivision 4, fixes the bond of the sheriff at
$10,000. Revised étatutc'.ﬂ. section 398, provides that when the penal sum of any
hond required to be given amounts to more than $1,000 the sureties may become
severally liable for portions of not less than $500 thereof, making in the aggregate at
least 2 sureties for the whole penal sum.

We find, then, the bond of the sheriff for §10,000 a.Ermvad and accepted by the
board with 12 qualified sureties who justify and obligate themselves in the sum
of $12,000. Instead of making in the aggregate at least 2 sureties for the whole
penal sum as the law required, we find but little more than 1. Instead of a security
of $20,000, as the law requires, we find the sheriff's bond approved by the commis-
gioners with a security of $12,000.

Upon the assessor’s bond there are 20 sureties qualifying in the aggregate amount
of $11,500. Of these 7 were delinquent in their taxes when they signed the bond
and qualified themselves in the sum of $4,000. One surety, qualifying in the sum of
$500, does not appear upon the assessment roll. Two sureties, each qualifying in
the sum of $500, were assessed for less than they qualified for. This leaves 10 bonds-
men, presumably qualified in the sum of $6,000.

Revised Statutes, section 1828, subdivision 4, fixes the bond of the assessor at §5,000.

We find, then, the bond of the assessor for $5,000 approved and accepted by the
board with 7 qualified sureties, who justify in the sum of $6,000. Instead of mak-
ing in the aggregate at least 2 gureties for the whole penal sum as the law required,
we find but little more than 1; and instead of a security of $10,000 we find the
bond of the assessor approved with a security of $6,000. ’

Upon the tax collector's bond there are forlgr-eight sureties, qualified in the

te amount of $32,750. Of these nine were delinquent in their taxes at the time
tu%aigned the bond and qualified in the aggregate amount of $6,500. Two sureties
qualifying, one in the sum of $1,000 and the other in the sum of §500, do notﬁpear
upon the assessment roll. Four sureties, one qualifying in the sum of $1, and
three in the sum of $500 each, were assessed for much less than they qualified for;
this leaves 33 bondsmen presumably qualified in the sum of $22,250.

Revised Statutes, section 1828, subdivision 7, as amended by the session laws of
1889, 18, fixes the bond of the tax collector at not less than $5,000 and notmore
thmﬁfe , to be fixed by the board of county commissioners.
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The bond of the tax collector in this case was given for the sum of $15,000, which
it is presumed was the amount mclllirell by the board of county commissioners. We
then find the bond of the tax collector for $15,000, approved and accepted by the
board, with thirty-three qualified sureties who justify in the sum of $22,250, and,
instead of a security of $30,000, as the law required, we find the board of county
commissioners accepted and approved the tax collector’s bond with a security of

§22,250.

It is alleged in the answer, and some evidence has been offered in support thereof,
that these bonds were submitted to the county attorney for an opinion as to their
sufficiency. It would have been roi)er for the county attorney to advise the board
of county commissioners as to the Igga form of the bonds, and ag to whether or not the
bonds had been properly executed. But as fo whether or not the security was such
as the law reqtil:iml was a matter entirely for the board to determine in the method
directed by the statute. The duty of passing upon the sufliciency of bonds rests
with the board and not with the county attorney.

1 find also from an examination of these bonds thatsome of the sureties appear on all
three of the bonds, and many of the sureties appear upon both the bond of the tax col-
lector and assessor. This court can not lend judicial sanction to such utter disre
of the plain, positive provisions of the statute as has been evinced by the defendants
in the approval of theee bonds, The law provides for security to be given by certain
public officers; this is for the protection of the publie, and it is the duty of those
officers who are clothed with the authority of approval of such bonds to gee that the
public are protected and that such bonds as the law requires are executed.

1t is to be presumed that inasmuch as the legislature has passed laws fixing the

ualification of sureties, it was done with the intention that the officer giving such
gond should comply with the statute.

The approval of' these bonds was a clear violation of the duties of the defendants
a8 gub_llilc h:)ltiﬁoem, and one that could not have been committed except knowingly
and wi §

Speciﬁcau}{;ﬁs ¢, hyand i may also be considered together, as they relate to the pay-
ment of commissions to James D. Young, sheriff, on the collection of money for State
and county licenses issued during the first quarter of 1899.

The defendants have sought to justify their action I:I;IB(YR ing the sheriff this com-
mission under subdivision .‘g, section 2158, of the Rev tatutes of Idaho.

In the case of Cunningham v. Moody, 2 Idaho, page 862, in qussing upon subdi-
vision b of this same section, the supreme court of this State held that the same was
repealed by an act passed and approved March 13, 1891, found in the First Session
Laws, beginning at page 174. This latter act fixes the fees of the sheriff the same
as it does the anditor, and applying the same rule of construction, as is applied in the
above-cited case, subdivision 2 was also repealed by this act and will not justify the
defendants in paying said commission.

Section 7, article 7, of the constitution also requires that all taxes levied and col-
lected for State pur[»onos must be paid into the State treasury.

The defendants claim, however, that in allowing this amount they acted judicially.
This question has been determined otherwise by the supreme court of this State in
many cases, the last of which is Fremont County v. Brandon, 56 Pacific, page 264.

The supreme court in that case says: “‘The powers of the board of eounty com-
missioners are statutory and limited. ~ Such boards can exercise those powers only
granted to them by the statute, In the case at bar the commissioners exceeded their
powers by allowing elaims in favor of the appellant which are not county charges.”

This principle applies directly to the action of the commissioners in allowing the
sheriff a commission for the collection of State and county licenses. They have no
anthority to allow any claim against the county except such as is authorized by stat-
ute, and in this case the allowance of the claim, being without authority of law, was
illegal and void, and as the commissioners are authorized to act only as the law

they would be guilty of willful neglect of official duty in allowing a claim

t;h Oﬁz‘i‘ﬁi o the Session Laws of 1891 74

specification j, we turn to the on Laws o , beginning at page 174,

under section 2, fixing the sheriff’s fees, and we find that under the e\'%dence in this
case the sherifif was entitled to the following fees:

Seven dollars for bringing over the first prisoner from Murray to Wallace and $16
for bringing over the other four prisoners, making in all $23.

The commissioners, in allowing this bill, allowed the sheriff $19 in excess of that
authorized by law. It was their duty to go to the statute and ascertain the legality
of this charge, and with this statute before them they knew its provisions.

8 of this statute and the constitution, the supreme court of this State, in
Eakin v. Nez Perces County, 36 Pacific, 702, say:

H. Rep. 1999—=6
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““In this act the legislature have perfected, in extensive and labarious detail, the
fees chargeable by the sheriff for every service incumbent upon or reguired of him
except for his attendance upon the district court.  There is no provision for the pay-
ment of anything in the pay of compensation by the county except in the event of
the fees of the officer falling below the minimum fixed by the statute.  We are now
asked by the plaintiff to do what neither the makers of the constitution nor the legis-
lature have seen fit to do—that is, provide a per diem compensation to the sheriffs of
the different counties of this State by construction. But there is no predicate upon
which to base a construction; there is nothing to construe. We are not at liberty to
assume that the omission of a provision for the payment of sheriffs for attendance on
the district courts was an oversight on the part of the legislature, and even if it were
the courts have no power orauthority to supply such omission. That duty isimposed
upon another branch of the government.”

This case would seem to settle the legality of the charge made by the sheriff for
bringing prisoners from Murray to Wallace,

The statute above referred to fixes the sheriff’s charges, and the commissioners in
allowing his bill authorized the drawing of money from the county treasury as com-
pensation for services which the léfi.ﬂlau:m have not seen fit to provide for, and in
the absence of legislative authority the commissioners have no right to take money
from the connty treasury to pay anyone, and in doing so they convict themselves of
willful and knowing neglect of official duty in not rejecting said claim.

Specification k relates to the issuance of liquor licenses in gaid county for the first
quarter of the year 1899, without application and without bond.

Under an act of the legislature a;gxroved February 6, 1891, found in the Session
Laws of that year at page 33, we find specifically laid down the method by which
license for the sale of intoxicating liquors may be proenred. Section 2 requires that
application forliquor license be made to the board of county commissioners. Section
3 requires that before any license shall be issued the applicant shall produce before
the board a receipt of the gheriff showing that he has paid into his hands the amonnt
due for such license. Section 8 also requires that before such license shall issue the
a]pplimnt ghall execute and deliver to said board his bond to the Btate of Idaho in
the penal sum of $1,000 with at least two good and suflicient sureties, which bond is
to be approved by the board of county commissioners,

We find from the evidence in this ease that the defendant commissioners approved
the bill of the gheriff for commission upon liquor licenses without any application
being made to the board for the same and without the execution of any bond, as the
statute requires.

This act is for the protection of the lmhliu and by virtue of the office of the
defendant commissioners and the provisions of this statute they must have known
that when they approved the sheriff's account the same was being approved for the
issnance of licenses in contravention of this statute. This is a most flagrant violation
of official duty. It would seem that the commissioners, in respect to this matter,
have utterly disregarded and set at naught the provisions of the statute. They have
approved a rule of action unauthorized by any statute of the State. And if any such
conduct of the commissioners was the result of ignorance and incompetency it is the
most willinl neglect of official dut{ that could be imagined. There seems to have
been no disposition on the part of the defendants, as the chief executive anthority of
the connty, tolook into or inguire as to what their official duties were, or that ﬂ:lgy
wﬁ(:lre under any obligation to the people who did them the honor to place them in
office.

When the commissioners approved the bill of the sheriff for commission upon
these licenses they thereby approved his actions in carrying on a wholesale and
retail license business, Their attention must have been directed to the provisions
of this statute when at their January meeting, 1899, theﬂ approved the two bonds
of 8am Bloyer. It must have occurred to the board when they examined these
honds, for the purpose of ascertaining their sufficiency, that they were given under
the requirements of some statute, and the examination of that statute for t.bm
of ascertaining whether or not these bonds complied with the law would
informed them that bonds in all cases where licenses were to be issued were red
of the applicant. And when they a Eﬂmved the bill of the sheriff in April, 1899, for
commisgion upon licenses, they m ve known that bonds were required and that
it was their duty to see that they were executed and that application for licenst: was
made as required by the statute. They convict themselves of a willful and knowing
neglect of official duty by their own testimony. i s

g‘his brings us to the consideration of the facts alleged in specification n.

It appears from the evidence that on the 26th day of A&ﬂ the representatives of
the Bunker Hill and Sollivan Mining and Concentrating Company notified each of
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the county eommissioners of the then condition of things prevailing at the Bunker
Hill mine. They were advised that an armed mob of miners was using force against
the employees of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company, and threats were made to
to destroy the property of said company, and a demand was made of the commission-
ers for the protection of the law; and they were further advised that the county
would be held responsible for any damage done. The only steps taken by the county
commissioners in response to this notification was a telephone communiecation between
Mr. Simmons and Mr. Burbidge, the representative of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan
Company, and also a conversation between Mr. Simmons and the sheriff, in which
conversation the sheriff informed the commissioners that there had been a little
trouble there-and that some men had been preventing men from going to work, hut
at that time everything was all right, and in which conversation Mr. Simmons
informed the shenff to see that there was no property destroyed, and that if he
thought it necessary he (Simmons) would go over there. No communication was
had between the members of the board after this notification.

Tnder the statute of this State the board of county commissioners is the chief
execentive authority of the connty. They have general supervision over all county
matters and all county officers, and, as the representative of the people, it would
geem 1o have been their duty, when notified of an anticipated difficulty, such as was
embraced in the notice from Mr. Burbidge to each member of the board, and that
the county would be held liable for any damage done, to have taken suflicient interest
in the matter to have personally visited the scene of the difficulty and met in special
segsion for the purpose of taking such action as might have been necessary for an
examination of the facts.

Section 1757 of the revised statutes authorizes special meetings of the board to be
called at any time upon the call of a majority of the board. This section also pro-
vides that five days' notice thereof must be given to each member not joining in the
order, by the clerk. But I apprehend that there can be no question under this
statute and the general powers of the board as fixed by the statute but what a ial
meeting might have been convened at any time were all the members of the board
present. And in this case, if the commissioners had investigated the conditions
prevailing at Wardner and found it advisable to have held a special meeting for the
coneideration of such matters, they could have done so under this statute immedi-
atcgy, all joining in the meeting, all heing present.

nder the general powers of the board of county commissioners it was the duty
of the board to have supervised the conduct of the sheriff and seen that he obeyed
and executed the law and protected the people of the county in life and property,
and the taxpayers generally of the county, to the extent of furnishing ﬂ.ﬁ)the pro-
tection at his command, so that the county in no way wonld become liable in dam-
ages by reason of any neglect of official duty. But they seem to have viewed the
notification of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company with very little con-
cern and took no steps to protect them or their property, or their employees, or the

tﬂ.}l"pa}'ers of the county.
The respousibilities, as indicated by the action of the members of the board in
this matter as well ag all other matters referred to in this opinion, seem to have
rested lightly upon the shoulders of said board. They do not seem to have realized
the fact that they were servants of the people or that they owed any duty to the
office held by them or to the people wl!m {:ad placed them in office. They have
prescribed their own rules of action, disregarded the plain, unequivocal provisions
of the statute, and acted independently and in disregarg of the requirements of the
law, Just what they might have accomplished by taking hold of the difficulties
which were threatened on the 26th day of April, and which finally culminated in
the destruction of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mill and other buildings and the
death of two men on the 29th of April, can not be gathered from the evidence; but
that it was their duty to furnish to those threatened with the destruction of property,
and the people generally of the county, the strong support of the law there can be no
nestion; and by failing to do so they have disregarded and neglected their official
uties and by their acts demonstrated their incompetency and unfitness for the pub-
lic trust imposed in them by the Lgeople of this county.

In conclusion, I find that specifications @ and b have not been sustained by the
evidence; that specifications ¢, d, ¢, f, g, &, 1, j, k, and n have been proven and sus-
tained, and findings and judgment may be prepared accordingly, removing said
defendants from office. 1

As to the charges made in the information against the defendant sheriff, it could
serve no good purﬁnﬁa for me to recite again the evidence offered in support thereof.
The defendant in hisown testimony has convicted himself of the most flagrant viola-
tion of official duty that could be imagined. The defendant seems to have utterly
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disregarded every obligation resting upon him by virtue of his being a peace officer in
Shoshone County., From his own statement he did nothing whatever to prevent
the difficulties which occurred at Kellogg on April 20. He took no steps to appre-
hend or arrest those icipating in such unlawful acts. Men coming from com-
munities where he had been acquainted were met bly him at Wallace, and he rode
on the train with them to Kellogg, heard their talk, followed in their steps, wit-
nessed the destruction of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company’s property,
and permitted, almost within his vlew, the murder of two men, anc aécr the diffi-
cnlty was over remained at the place of the difficnlty, withount either in person or
by deputy following the persons engaged in the unlawful acts to the place from
w{mnce they came with a view of identifying or apprehending them. The highest
wace officer of the county, conducting himself as he states in his own evidence, has
disgraced the office to which he has been elected and has shown himself to be incom-
petent and unfit as a public servant.

Findings and a decree may be prepared snstainin%all the allegations in the infor-
mation against the sheriff and removing him from office.

The sixth charge is as follows:

Whereas it is charged that the said Brigadier-General Merriam, immediately npon
the arrival of the troops, ordered the arrest of every man who was a member of the
miners’ union, and also of all citizens who were supposed to sympathize with the
cauge of organized labor.

The action of the military in making arrests has been clearly set
forth under the fourth charge. The State authorities in every instance
made the arrests, and the military acted simply as guard to prevent
escape and suppress riot.

The arrests of members of the miners’ union, and the citizens who
sympathized with them, were only made where there existed a clearl
defined suspicion that the parties were directly or indirectly impli-
cated in the plot which resulted in the blowing up of the mill and the
murder of two men. The State authorities were Eutting forth every
effort to give the guilty parties the punishment they richly deserved
for the dastardly crimes of the destruction of the mill and foul murder
of two fellow-miners.

The action of the State authorities and the military under command
of Gen. H. C. Merriam was in no sense a crusade against organized
labor, but an effort to punish those guilty of horrible murder and
destruction of the mill.

Governor Steunenberg in his testimony declares that he is a member
of the typographical union and is in hearty sympathy with the pur-
poses and mission of organized labor.

The arrests of members of the so-called miners’ union and the citi-
zens who sympathized with them were instigated and planned by the
State authorities, and Governor Steunenberg emphatically avows his
sole responsibility in the matter.

There was no enmity against organized labor either on the part of
the governor of the State of Idaho or of Gen. H. C. Merriam, but the
deepest sympathy and earnest desire to purge organized labor of cer-
tain criminals who had for years used the miners’ union as a cloak to
conceal their dastardly acts. There was no effort to crush labor, nor
to interfere with the legitimate organization thereof, but mmpiy to
punish those who were criminal and rightly deserved the severest pen-
alties known to the law. 55

The evidence presented to your committee completely vindicates
General Merriam, and shows conclusively that there was no animosity
to organized labor on the part of the military in the performance of
their duty.
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The seventh charge is as follows:

Whereas it is charged that those citizens were imprisoned in what is known as the
“pbull pen,” a place unfit for human habitation, and that so brutal and degrading
was the treatment inflicted on these prisoners by Brigadier-General Merriam and the
United States troops under his orders that one unfortunate man became ingane, and
upon being taken to the connty jail he broke from the guards and jumped into the
river, and a negro soldier, at the command of the Bunker Hill Mining Company’s
doctor, fired three shots at him, and he was dra, from the river dead, and that
another unfortunate prisoner dying in the ‘‘bull pen® begged for a priest and his
dying request was denied.

As to the first charge in this * whereas,” the committee finds that
the prison was not a place ‘“unfit for human habitation.” On the con-
trary, it was a remarkably well conducted and equipped prison, thor-
oughly adapted and adequate to the purposes for which it was used.

'%he construction of the prison and the furnishing of it and all other
matters looking to the comfort and welfare of the prisoners were
entirely under the supervision of the State authorities, who erected
and thoroughly equipped a commodious and, under the circumstances,
comfortable prison within a period of eighteen days after the first
arrests were made. : - >

In reference to the conditions of the prison, General Merriam made
the following report to the Adjutant-General of the Army, showing
the condition of the prison on May 25, 1899, twenty-two days after
the first arrests were made:

Dexver, Covro., June 12, 1899.
ADJUTANT-GENERAL Army, Waskington, D. C.:
Referring to your telegram of this date, when I left Wardner, May 25, I reported

sanitary condition of prison as beyond complaint. The main building was provided
with eomfortable bun'I):s off the ground, with abundance of hay to sleep on, besides
their personal blankets and overcoats, heated by stoves, and a large courtyard for
exercise. They were, as I thought, more comfortably honsed than the troops, and
better fed. The seriously ill (only one at that time) was in a hospital in town. A
hospital was being constructed near the prison, and bathing and laundry facilities
were being introduced into the prison. I gave constant personal attention to these
things, but only from motives of humanity, for the responsibility rested on the State
anthorities, whose prisoners they are, and who always responded to any suggestions
I made as fully and as promptly as circumstances would permit. The surgeon
"““f,‘f,”"—d‘ who is an old practitioner in these mines, told me the percentage of sick
%{: 'I;h.tile was much smaller than usual among these people, being only 4 out of

Merriay, Brigadier-General.

In this connection reference is made to the testimony of General
Merriam, on page 1805 of the record, which is quoted at length in
that part of this report touching upon the thirc{ ““whereas” of the
resolution.

The conditions of the prison are fully covered by the testimony of
Capt. Frank Edwards, pages 1890 and 1891 of the record:

I had visited the prison a few days before assuming command of the camp with
Captain Leavell, who had shown me around; and after taking charge I gave it another
inspection with a view to seeing if it were possible to carry on improvements that
Captain Leavell had instituted.

He further testifies that in order to get an ample supply of water
he built a flume, which carried the water to a point near the prison
and from there into the prison, furnishing water for all purposes in
the prison, including bathing, flushing the sinks, etc. This was done
to keep the prison in as healthful a condition as possible. A crema-
tory was established, wherein was destroyed by fire all garbage and
sweepings.
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The food was prepared by an experienced man.

The food in the kitchen I inspected every day. I went through the prison at least
twice, and sometimes oftener, a day, and found the food to be good nmll1 well cooked
and plenty of it. Large amounts of unused food would be wasted, such asrice, pota-
toes, bread, and meat, ete.

On page 1804 Captain Edwards testifies as follows:

The food was varied and of the usual kind—coffee, tea, fresh meat, bacon, baked
beans, potatoes, cabbage, bread, fruit, dried fruit, ete.

He further testifies to the effect that the rations issued to the pris-
oners were decidedly better than the rations furnished to the soldiers,
both in quantity and in quality; that the friends of the prisoners were
bringing in luxuries to the men, which were allowed by the warden to
go into the prison and were never denied to them except when they
were under discipline. There were two stoves in each bunk room.

The committee reports that the charge that the prison was unfit for
human habitation has not been sustained in a single particular,

The committee further finds that the brutal and degrading treatment
charged as having heen inflicted on the prisoners by General Merriam
and the troops existed in imagination only, and that tpmper discipline
was exercised and enforced by the officer in charge of the guard of the
prison, and that no abuse was practiced by him in his methods of con-

ucting the prison,

The second charge under this seventh ** whereas™ is that on account
of brutal treatment of the prisoners one man became insane, and upon
being taken to the county jail he broke froh his guards, jumped into
the river, and a negro soldier fired three shots at him, and he was
dragged from the river dead.

This charge is very skillfully and adroitly drawn.

The committee finds and reports that one of the prisoners was ad-
judged insane; that his condition was not a result of cruel or inhuman
treatment by the troops; that while the county coroner and ex-officio
sheriff were conducting him from the prison to the insane asylum the
prisoner jumped into the river and was drowned. The details are
given in the testimony of Dr. Hugh France, the coronor who had the
prisoner in charge. His testimony is found on page 1481 of the rec-
ord, and is in eflect as follows:

No such thing as cruel, brutal, or inhuman treatment inflicted by the soldiers on
the prisoners ever came under my observation. Regarding the insane man, Johnson,
he appeared as a witness before the coroner's juri.'. He answered such questions as
were asked him. There was no threatening attitude toward him at all. He gave
his evidence in a voluntary way and was not on the stand to exceed ten minutes.
Some days later I was notified that this man was acting in a strange manner. I noti-
fied the probate judge, whose business it is to inquire into such cases, and he, with
two physicians, examined the man and pronounced him insane. * After that examina-
tion I called at the prison and took Johngon to the railway depot, accompanied li)ﬁr a
guard. I left the lrrisoner on the outside with the guard while I went into the office
to buy a ticket to Wallace, where I was taking the prisoner. While I was in buying
the ticket the prisoner started to run. I noticed a commotion and ran out, saw the
prisoner running toward the riverand the guard in close pursuit. The guard dropped
on one knee, bronght his gun to bear on the prisoner. 1 called to him at first not to
shoot, but there was a general hubbub and uproar of voices, and I did not know
whether he heard my order or not; and so, as he did not appear to pay any attention
and was getting his gun ready to shoot, I shonted to him a second time, ‘“shoot high.”
He then shot, and the prisoner kept on ranning. The prisoner ran on to the bri
which crosses the river and jumped into the river, a swift-running stream. The
guard reached the bridge and again fired. I cautioned the guard to shoot high. I
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had crossed the bridge and was down on the other gide of the bank. When the
1ard shot T saw the bullet strike the water thirty or forty yards ahead of the prisoner.
‘he man was taken out of the water 200 yards below the bridge, dead. I, together
with three other physiciang, examined the body and found no mark of a bullet or a
bullet wound upon him, The form of insanity was pronounced acute mania with
suicidal tendency.

It appeared that this man had been in an insane asylum. The sol-
diers guarding Johnson did not know of his unfortunate condition, and
in firing followed the usual military instructions as to what course to
pursue in case of an attempt at escape.

The last charge made under the seventh ** whereas” of the resolution
is to the effect that the dying request of one of the prisoners for a
priest was denied.

No direct testimony was given before the committee that this pris-
oner, whose name was Mike Devine, ever made any request for a
priest or was denied the services of a priest, except by the universal
witness, Simpkins, who says:

T asked Captain Leavell for permission for Devine to send for a priest before he
died. He says, “Mike Devine or anybody else can't gee the priest or anybody else,
Those are my orders and they must be strictly obeyed.” When I told Mike he
could not see the priest he wanted to see Bill Kennedy, his partner, who was in the
bull pen, to tell him what he wanted to do with his property. Mr, Coakley, the
warden, said he could not let Mr. Kennedy go without permission from the captain.
Captain Leavell refused that request.

Dr. France, the county coroner, testifies on this point, page 1483 of
the record, as follows:

In regard to Mike Devine being denied a priest, I will say that I visited Mike
Devine on the evening prior to his death. T recall an interview in conversation
which I had with him, in which T asked him if there was anything he wanted, or
anything I could do for him, and he gave me no intimation at that time that he was
desirous of having a priest.

In regard to this matter Bartlett Sinclair testified on page 43 as
follows:

I am familiar with the facts. T knew Mike Devine quite well. Learning that he
was in a critical condition I went to the hospital to see him and said to him, “If
there is anything you want it will be accorded you.” He gaid he had no friends he
cared to see; that the union would take care of him, and that was all he wanted. T
asked him if he wanted to see a priest and he said he did not, and used terms of a
disparaging nature concerning the priest.

John J. Coakley, the warden of the prison, testified that no request
was made through im:n, or denied by him, for the services of a priest
for Mike Devine.

Captain Leavell reported, ¢“No request was made to me for a priest
for Devine or any other person,”

The committee finds, therefore, and reports that the charge that a
dying prisoner was denied his request for a priest is absolutely without
foundation.

The eighth charge is as follows:

‘Whereas the imprisoned citizens were denied opportunity to confer with their
counsel or members of their families and were denied the right of speedy and impar-
tial trial; were held in this vile and inhuman imprisonment for several months with-
out charge or indictment against them, although two sessions of the grand jury were
held in the meantime, and during their confinement were treated by the officers and
soldiers of the United States Army as conyicted felons and compelled to work at

eu:uplc)frment; were subjected to cruel and degrading punishments, such as
g compelled to sleep on bare boards, placed on a diet of bread and water for ten
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days, and compelled to stand erect seven hours each day in the hot sun under penalty
of death if they attempted to move or sit down (these two latter unlawful punish-
ments were inflicted upon them by the orders of Captain Edwards, United States
Army, who amused himself by calling the prisoners “ cowardly curs”).

~ This paragraph divides itself into the distinet charges—

That imprisoned citizens were denied the opportunity to confer
with their counsel or members of their families;

That they were denied the right of speedy and impartial trial; that
they were held in vile and inhuman imprisonment for several months
without charge or indictment against them, although two sessions of
the grand jury were held in the meantime; and during their confine-
ment were treated by the officers and soldiers of the United States
Army as convicted felons and compelled to work at penal employment;

And were subjected to crnel and degradinﬁ punishments, such as
being compelled to sleep on bare boards, placed on a diet of bread and
water for ten days, and compelled to stand erect seven hours each day
in the hot sun under penalty of death if they attempted to move or
sit down.

It was not proved that any requests made by any persons in confine-
ment to confer with their counsel were denied. The testimony shows
that several hundred witnesses were examined before the coroner’s
inquest held by Dr. Hugh France. None of the witnesses appearing
before that jury asked the coroner to be represented by counsel.  Coun-
sel preferring such a request were in cases denied. At the time these
witnesses were examined no charges had been preferred against them,
The coroner’s inquest took a broad scope in order to show that the
crimes committed on the 20th day of April were the result of a wide-
spread conspiracy. At the direction or suggestion of the attorney-
general of the State the coroner declined to allow any attorneys at law
to appear before the inquest (p. 1477).

Dr. Hugh France, the coroner, testifies (p. 1598):

I will say that in the first place I was advised to make this investigation simply by
the attorney-general of the State of Idaho, and he also advised me as to admiitin
or excluding attorneys. He informed me those men were not formally charged wit

crime, but were appearing there as witnesses to testify as to the death of these men,
Schmidt and Cheyne, and as such were not entitled to counsel before this inquest.

J. H. Forney, who was appointed by the attorney-general to assist
the State in the prosecution of these cases, testified as follows (pp. 652
and 653):

These coroners’ juries are not courts within the usual acceptation of that term, and
they are generally conducted by the coroner. They are ex parte and secret. He
alone conducts them, and no one ean be present but {nmse If unless by his invitation.
They can not try any person,

I advised the coroner that these men that were in the military prison were not
charged with any offense under the laws of Idaho and were not held by virtue of
any process of the courts of Idaho. There was no accnsation before the corner’s jury
that they had committed any offense, In fact, the corner’s jury had no jurisdiction
to try any offense. Therefore they were not entitled to counsel. Anybody who
deemed himself acensed and that he might be entitled to counsel was not entitled to
counsel in this matter before a coroner’s jury. I advised the coroner, as I stated,
that the attorneys for the parties confined in the prison had no right to appear before
this coroner’s jury whatever.

1 will state in that connection that I have been prosecuting attorney in the State
of Idaho for a long number of years, and also in the United States court there. For
geventeen consecutive years, I guess, I served as district attorney, but in no instance
whatever did I permit the attorneys for any party who might deem himself accused
to appear before a coroner’s jury, as the result of a coroner's inquest is simply advis-
ory. Itisnota court by any means,
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The coroner, however, cautioned the witnesses testifying before
him that they need not give any testimony incriminating themselves,
and it does not appear that any witness who appeared before the
coroner gave any testimony which in the slightest degree implicated
himself, or which was used as a foundation on which to base a
prosecution against him.

Whatever evidence these witnesses gave was rurely voluntary. It
was not shown that there ever was a threat made toward any witness
who appeared before the coroner’s jury, but that on several occasions
witnesses refused to answer questions at all and were excused.

As early as May 21 counsel representing all the men who had been
arrested was given free access to them, with full liberty to confer
with them, and it is not proven that any constitutional guarantees in
this respect have been violated.

On that point Bartlett Sinclair testifies as follows (p. 1638):

A great many lawyers, I think I can safely say 50, from that section of the
Northwest flocked in there the moment they heard of these large arrests, and gome
of them made very scandalous propositions to me in order to secure these men for
clients; all of which, of course, Yﬁnw fit to rebuke, and threatened the men, and in
that way I got rid of a great many of these hangers-on, Some of them properly
representing these men approached me for the purpose of an interview. That was
very shortly after I had made a large number of arrests, and in order to facilitate
that and at the same time protect the State in its interests, and see that these men
did not escape, I required certain conditions to be complie(i with; and the only one
1 nized for a long time, the only man I recognized as an attorney for the men,
wae Colonel Reddy.

I know that they were never denied congultation with their attorneys if they were
willing to comply with those terms, I asked Colonel Reddy whom he represented,
and he gaid all of them.

I had propositions by the dozens made to me by men that they would turn State’s
evidence if they could be assured of immunity. I warned them not to make any
:thatemanf. to me, but to wait until they had seen their attorneys and consulted witfn

em,

Counsel for the three county commissioners who were deposed applied
for permission to see them on the day on which they were summoned
to appear before the coroner. At the particular hour at which he
asked to see them it was not possible on this account, but it is not
denied that he was given ample opportunity to see them that same day.

The testimony og()‘aptaiu Edwards, U. S. A., on this -point is clear
?ndl%qnz \}'inciug, as appears from the following extract from the records

p- 1902): /

A. I know of no case where an attorney was refused a conference with a prisoner,
lg::.LRobermon has testified that I refused him permission, but I have no recollection
of i

Mr. Roperrson. No; you did let me see them. 1 do notthink that is my testi-
mony. My testimony is this: That I went there and you stated it was not visiting
day, and I told youn I had to go off on the train, and after some delay you permitted
me to see them.

The Wrrness. I had always endeavored—

Mr. Ronerrson. My testimony I do not think will bear out the statement you have
made. I do not want to misrepresent anybody, and I think that would be a misrep-
resentation.

The Wrryess. I endeavored to be polite to the attorneys that were there; in fact,
I would give them the use of my tent or shack for the purpose of holding private
conversations with the men in the prison. The sentinel would remain outside the
door probably 20 or 30 away, out of hearing, and Mr. Robertson and the other
attorneys would have their interviews—Colonel dy and Mr, Breen, principally.
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The following telegm[i)hic corresgndence bearing on this point
appears in the record and supports the conclusion of this committee
that this charge was not proven:

Ansvraxt-GeNerar’s Orricr, Washington, June 12, 1599,
Commanpivg GENERAL, DEpARTMENT 0F COLORADO,
Denver, Colo.:

Western Labor Union report that many citizens and miners in the Ceeur d’ Alere
district “‘have been thrown into a corral like so many cattle for the slaughter and
have been denied the right of counsel and the actual necessities of life."

Acting Secretary of War desires statement of facts. Any lack of comfort for these
men should be remedied as soon as possible.

H. C. CormN, Adjutant-General.

Wasminaron, June 13, 1899,
The GoveErNor oF Inano, Buise, Idaho:
It has been re%n'ted to the President that the prisoners at Wardner have been
denied counsel. Please wire the Department if there is any truth in the statement.
G. D. ME(KLEIORN,
Acting Secretary of War.

Boise, Inano, June 13, 1590,
METIRLETOHN,
Acting Secretary of War, Washington, D. C.:

Report that prisoners at Wardner haye heen denied counsel is absolute falsehood.
The statement is on par with many others circulated by the imprisoned murderers
and the equally guilty associates on the outside.

FraNg STEUNENBERG, (overnor.

"

Burre, Moxr., September 27, 1899,
President McKixvey, Washington, D. C.:

Prigoners in the Wardner “‘bull pen’ held under military anthority have been
placed on a bread-and-water diet, and their treatment has of late been so hrutal that
some are contemplating suicide rather than endure such misery., They are oven
refused permission to consult with their counsel. These men have now been impris-
oned for nearly five months, without any charge against them, and demand and
gought speedy trial, but were refused by the State court on the ground that that court
did not have jurisdiction; and until they ean have a trial, we demand for them, in
the name of justice and humanity, humane treatment at least.

Epw. er?
President of Weslern Federation of Miners.

Execurive MaxsioN, Washington, —— —, 1899,
SecreTARY OF WAR:
Important. Inquire of governor and military commander. This condition, if
true, must be stopped. 7. Mok

_—

War Devarrsent, Washington, September 29, 1899.
Hon. FRANK STEUNENBERG

Governor of Idaho, Boise, Idaho:
The following communication just received by the President from Edward Boyce,
president of the Western Federation of Miners: . 3
“Prisoners in the Wardner ‘bull pen’ held under military authority have been
placed on a bread-and-water diet, and their treatment has of late been so brutal that
gome are contemplating suicide rather than longer endure such misery. They are
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even refused permission to consult with their counsel. These men have now been
imprisoned for nearly five months without any charge against them, and demand
and sought speedy trial, but were refused by the State court on the ground that that
court diﬁ not have jurisdiction; and until they can have a trial we demand for them,
in the name of justice and humanity, humane treatment at least.”

I should be glad for any information which you deem proper to answer this
question.
Eumu Roor, Secretary of War.

Boisg, Inawo, Seplember 30, 1899.
Eumav Roor,
Secretary of War, Washington, D. C.:
Ed. Boyce communication to President is base falsehood in every particular. TLet-

ter follows,
STEUNENBERG, Governor.

General Merriam was ealled on for information in response to the
same complaint. He answered as follows:
War Drparrmest,
Washington, September 29, 1899,
Brig. Gen. H. C. Menriay, Denver, Colo.:

The following communication just received by the President from Edward Boyce,
president of the Western Federation of Miners:

“Prisoners in the Wardner ‘bull J)en’ held under military authority have been
placed on a bread-and-water diet, and their treatment has of late been so brutal that
some are contemplating suivide rather than longer endure such misery. They are
‘even refused permission to consult with their counsel. These men have now
im(ll)riwned for nearly five months without any charge against them, and demand
and gought speedy trial, but were refused by the State court on the ground that that
conrt did not have jurisdiction, and until they ecan have a trial we demand for them,
in the name of justice and humanity, humane treatment at least.”

I should be glad for any information which you deem proper to answer this ques-

tion.
H. C. Cormx, Adjwtant-General.

Dexver, Covo., September 30, 1899,
Adjntant-General Cornry, Washington, D. C.:
I have called upon commanding officer Wardner for complete report by wire.
Merriaym, Brigadier-General.

! Dexver, Coro., October 1, 1899.
Adjutant-General Conrsix, Washington, D. C.:

Following telegram just received from Captain Edwards, commanding troops at
Wardner, Idaho:

Gen, H. C. Merriam, Denver, Colo.:

On September 20 it was discovered that the prisoners were digging a tunnel through
which to escape. The next morning five of them were detailed to dig it ont and fill
it in. They positively refused to do as ordered and were sustained by every man in
prison, all mmug to obey my personal orders. I directed that all except the sick
and attendants be put on bread and water for eight days unless coming under prison
discipline sooner. This has been carried out. They were kept outside the prison
on the first day for abont six hours while the building was being inspected, which
has caused the false statement to be made that they were kept out every day.

The hay for bedding was removed for sanitary reasons and was not replaced while
under discipline. They are still insubordinate and refuse to work out the two days'
punishment awarded by me, but are on full rations. They are not allowed visitors
or luxuries sent in- by outsiders. Colonel Reddy telegraphed asking if he could
interview his clients held under Federal anthority and was informed that he could
if he was their attorney. Peter Breen applied to see them and the United States
district attorney was telephoned to and he replied that only Reddy was recognized
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as their attorney. Breen is under susgpicion of having had something to do with the
escape carried out by Crawford. No duly recognized counsel has 'i)een or will he
denied interviews with the prisoners. Those now in eonfinement are, as a rule, the
worst element and will hesitate at nothing to effeet their esca No trials were
had at the last term of State court for the reason, as I understangﬁit., that the prose-
cution was not prepared owing to the escape of the seven indicted for murder, whose
cases had been prepared during the recess. Thirty-six are to be tried in Oetober

before the United States court at Moscow.
Eopwanrns, Caplain, Commanding.

Under direction of the governor two days of each week were set
apart as visiting days, in which the families and friends of imprisoned
men were granted every facility to see and to converse with them.
This was after the new prison was in running order. Before that the
prisoners’ families would call at almost any time. Seats were furnished
on which the women could sit and meet relatives and others they
desired to see, but most of the visitors talked to the men through the
wire fence surrounding the place of confinement within the outside
inclosure.

Bartlett Sinclair testifies on this point as follows (pp. 1648 and 1667):

Q). While the prisoners were confined in these prisons, what is the fact about the
privileges given their friends and relatives to call to see them or inquire about their
condition, ete.?—A. My instructions were to apply the same rules that were applied
in our State prison—to have certain days when these men could receive visitors; and
those rales were carried out. There was a bench and a shelter where conversation
could be earried on; and it is not true that they were compelled at all times to conduet
their conversation through this barbed-wire fence. There were times when that was
done, but there was no occasion for it. They could either carry on their conversa-
tion through this wire fence, or, if they cared to delay and take their turn, they counld
hold their conservation under a shed, a lean-to, which was constructed very near the
pen, for a suitable place for an audience.

Captain Bennett, U. 5. A., testifies on the same point as follows
(p. 1798):

Q. What do you know, if anything, with reference to preventing communication
between prisoners and ontside parties? A, When they were in the old prison, I saw
large numbers of prisoners—that is, at different times—standing by the fence talking
to persons on the outside. There were sentries on the outside of the fence, and then
they also had soldiers in the inclosure, but necessarily up against the fence. In the
new prison, until about the day before 1 left, I think until the 24th of May, })emons
were allowed togo down to sgee the prisoners at any time of the day. The only thing
required of them was to obtain a pass from the commanding officer of the guard, the®
officer of the guard, or sergeant of the guard, to permit these persons to see the pris-
oners. These outsiders were not permitted to go inside of the prison proper; that is,
inside of the building.

(). This qumlrzmg?e, you mean?—A. Yes; inside the building; but I have seen
friends numerous times inside of the wire inclosure talking to prisoners.

Q. Were these guards in the immediate presence of the prisoners and those talking
to them?—A. No soldiers,

Captain Edwards, U. S. A., speaks to the same effect (p. 1892):

Q. It has been testified that the prisoners at times were allowed to see their friends;
that their friends were allowed to come up to the wire fence. In such cases werethe
prizoners allowed to meet the friends who had called to see them; were the prisoners
called out?—A. The prisoners were called out, but the visitors would first apply to
the warden at his office at this building [indicating], and on the east side of the
warden’s office, toward that barbed-wire fence, there was a roofed porch. Sometimes
they sat there; but asa rule they saw their friends at this space between the warden’s
office and the storehouse, the prisoners remaining on one side of the barbed-wire
fence and their friends on the other side.

He further says (p. 1902): :

The prisoners were permitted to see them (their friends) except during the time
when disciplined—when they were under discipline; but that was & matter arranged
by the warden.
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Permission was given for these interviews at other than the stated
periods, and it does not appear that any such reasonable request was
ever refused, and the soldiers did not in any way exercise suryeillance
over or attempt to hear these interviews.

These men were not denied the right of speedy and impartial trial.
The riot occurred on April 29. The coroner’s jury convened on May 3,
1899, and was in session until July 25, 1809, and examined nearly 500
witnesses. The grand jury met June 12, and after being in session
five days reported over 400 indietments. On July 18 the trial of
Paul Corcoran was begun before a special term of court. He was
convicted July 28 of the murder of James Cheyne and was sentenced
to seventeen years’ imprisonment. As illustrating the difficulties
with which the prosecution labored in this case, it may be stated that
though Corcoran was positively identified as one of the masked men
who took part in the murders and arson committed that 29th day of
April, so closely allied and confederated are the members of the organ-
izations who participated in those crimes, there were found numerous
witnesses who were willing to forswear themselves by declaring that
he was at that particular hour miles away from the scene of the
atrocities. At the conclusion of the Corcoran trial the court, on
account of other engagements, was compelled to leave Shoshone
County, and the State began preparation for the trial of seven other
men charged with complicity in the same crimes. On August 28, only
a few days before the time set for the trial to begin, these men,
through the treachery of a noncommissioned officer in the Army, who
was bribed by persons unknown, effected their escape from the prison.
The State was not at that time prepared to proceed with other trials.
In September 13 of the persons arrested were tried and convicted
before the United States courts at Moscow for interfering with a
United States mail train. By the end of October every prisoner under
guard of the troops had been released from their custody, and the
stockade was torn down and has not since been used. Some 100 men
indicted for complicity in the crimes of April 29 are now out on bail,
Some 300 others are fugitives from justice and haye not yet been
apprehended.

artlett Sinelair explains why there have not been more trials of
these imprisoned men (p. 1767):

The explanation of that is this: That there are, after a very careful investigation
by the legal authorities of the State, perhaps 400, not more than 500, available jurors
to try any cases growing out of the Coeur d’Alene riots in that county, and of those
men fully nine-tenths, and perhaps ninety-nine one-hundredths of them, live south,
in the farming districts; that is called the neutral group, the neutral people. We
were in hopes we would recapture those men that had escaped and were indicted for
murder and dispose of their cases. If that is found to be impossible, then the smaller
crimes will be taken up and tried as speedilyas we can. Every opportunity has been
made to capture those men. They are supposed to be in hiding in the mountains,
where the snow is 10, 15, or 20 feet deep.

It does not appear from the testimony that any of these prisoners
under indictment, who are under bond, have asked for a trial; and so
far from it appearing that speedy and impartial trial has been denied,
the ogposite 18 plainly shown to be the case. The Corcoran case was
forced to trial against the will of his counsel, and the attorneys for
th?ﬂ men who escaped from prison were prepared to oppose their speedy
trial.

From the state of turbulence and riot which permeated that com-
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munity for seven years it was evident that drastic measures were
needed to deal with this murderous outbreak. Wholesale arrests were
necessary and justifiable. Had the usual processes of affidavit and
warrant of the civil law been resorted to, most of the guilty must have
escaped. As it was it is known that many of the ringleaders took
warning and fled. Though every effort has been made to apprehend
the men who escaped from the jail by bribery, no trace has been found
of them. The governor realized from the start that some innocent
persons might be seized with the guilty, and he at once took steps to
release those against whom there was no incriminating proof. These
measures proceeded with expedition and men were released from con-
finement almost daily (p. 1836).

Bartlett Sinclair testities (p. 1641) that when information was brought
to him that there was no evidence against prisoners incarcerated in the
}ll‘iz-,aoll they were released. He further says that he notified their

riends on the outside and urged them to get all the affidavits they

could, where they claimed to be innocent: but a great many of the
srisoners admitted to him that they came down with the stolen train,
'hose who were innocent, those about whom there was the remotest
reason for believing they could not be convicted, were released.

Frederick Oscar Martin testifies:

They used to release g0 many men every day from the bull pen until Corcoran was
gentenced.  After that they quit releasing men altogether.

This last statement of Martin’s is shown by the records to be untrue.

The governor is convinced that those he detained any length of time
were connected with the erimes of April 29,

So far from the imprisonment of these men being vile and inhuman,
the conditions of the prisoners confined in the new prison seem to
have been as comfortable and easy as it was possible to devise in any
hastily improvised place of imprisonment. So satisfuctory were the
conditions prevailing there that the miners and their friends did not
desire the E‘ldllﬂtl‘iﬂ. Commission to visit the prison in the latter part
of July. The men who escaped from prison August 25 were in this
place of confinement instead of the county jail, because of their own
expressed preferences, owing to the unsanitary condition of the jail
(p. 656). To be sure, the warchouse and cars fivst used as a place of
confinement did not furnish all the accommeodations of an established
prison. In the nature of things this could not be avoided. A large
number of men had been arrested by the governor within a brief space
of time. It does not appear that the governor did not do the very
best he could do to remedy the inconvenience and discomtort that first
existed. It is certain that no blame attaches to the United States Army
for this condition of affairs. It appears, even, that General Merriam
telegraphed to the governor urging greater expedition in preparing
the new prison for the detention of prisoners. The telegram follows:

Waroner, May 11, 1899,
Governor STEUNENBERG, Boise, Idaho:

I am still holding nearly 500 prisoners in a barn and box cars. All are very
uncomfortable and with unsanitary conditions which will soen become intolerable.
Something must be done to hurry preliminary examination and release of those not
prima facie guilty. It is impracticable to make this large number of prisoners reason-
ably comfortable here without considerable time and expense. Can you not person-
ally inspect the situation at once and bring help? i

Merrianm, Brigudier-General.
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In response to this telegram Governor Steunenberg came to Ward-
ner, as is shown by the follo wing extract from the report of the Secre-
tary of War (p. 84):

To this the governor replied that he would start for Wardner at once, and from
his arrival on the following day every possible and needful effort was made to meet
the requirements of the situation in all respects,

In view of the large number of men confined it was absolutely nec-
essary to use the most stringent sanitary measures to preserve the
health of the prisoners and prevent the outhbreak of disease and epi-
demie. It was necessary to thoroughly police the quarters and grounds,
to carry water, collect and remove garbage and débris, serve the meals,
and wash the dishes. The State furnished no extra help for this pur-
pose and the work was done by the prisoners. It was impossible for
the State to employ labor to complete the new prison as quickly as
General Merriam thought was necessary under the circumstances.
Some of the prisoners were detailed to assist in this labor. There was
no proof that they were called on to perform any labor or other serv-
ice which was not absolutely necessary for their own comfort and
convenience, - A

Some extricts from the testimony on this point are herewith sub-
mitted:

Fred'k Osear Martin testified:

We were forced every morning to get up at 6 o'clock. A colored sergeant or colo-
nel came in and called us, and said he wanted a crowd to go up on the hill to help
the carpenters up there, and he called a erowd of twelve or sixteen every morning
to help tor build the new bull pen.  If they did not get up, they would punish the
men to make them get up,

As this was the hour of reveille for the soldiers, it was no hardship
to compel the prisoners to get up at the same hour.

Some kind of work we were required to do in the bull pen was necessary for the
proper policing of the camp, Sweeping out, but not digging ditches. The ditches
were dug to lay water pipes to carry the water from the ibcfcn, the refuse, ete.

The ditches to curry away refuse and dirty water from the kitchen
were much more necessary for the health of the prisoners than was
sweeping.

1 did not feel well enough to do any manual labor, but I was perfectly willing to

do my regular share of the work, and I believe everybody else was, and so told Caplain
Edwards.

Andrew J. Devlin testified:

I understand that the ditch that was dug was for the purpose of bringing water
down to the bull pen for the use of the men, but I conld not see any real necessity of
having that ditch dug at that time,

It was dug to furnish the Erisoners with an abundant supply of good
fresh water, than which nothing was more necessary.

George Cornell testified:

I gaw a man, becanse he had refused to work, stood up all day, and I think all the

next day, and I think the third day. He would not give in and they finall w
tired and let him go back in. ! TES

This was the incident referred to by Frederick Oscar Martin.

Charlie Burroughs had to stand up for quite a number of days, with a soldier watch-
ing him all the time, for refusing to work. Mr. Burroughs is now in San Quentin
Penitentiary for interfering with United States mail,
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These matters were explaiued by Captain Edwards in his testimony
(pp- 1899, 1901).
Tartin testified further:

I remember several cases where the men in the bull pen had an argument with the
cook and the cook would call the corporal on guard and take the men outside and
put them in the guardhouse. Joe Summers was put in the guardhouse repeatedly
tor refusing to work; in fact, he never did work.

It was not proved that any of the measures taken to preserve prison
discipline were unnecessary or too severe. Martin was one of the mob
of April 29, 1899, and admitted that he wore that day the guilty white
badge signifying participation in its atrocities.

Hogan and Brower were stabbed with bayonets. Before Captain Edwards came,
whenever anybody wanted any work done, either the sergeant, corporal, or a private
came in the courtvard and ordered an ybociy to do it. The men would sometimes be
called to go ont and work three or four times a day, and these two men had been
doing some work that day, and they were again asked and they refused, and a col-
ored goldier puta bayonet at them and hit them—thatis, hit Hogan. Brower jum
out of the way. Hogan complained to Lieutenant Jackson, of the Twenty-fourth
Infantry, and showed where the soldier had stabbed him. Jackson says, 1t served
you right if you don’t want to work.” .

The preponderance of the testimony satisfies the committee that the
incidents herein referred to never took place.

Only three deaths took place in the prison during its maintenance,
This is proved to be an exceedingly low death rate for the number of
persons confined there, and this fact of itself speaks volumes for the
sEIre-ndid management of the prison, and is ample refutation of all the
charges preferred against General Merriam and his subordinates.

Captain Edwards, U. S. A., who succeeded Captain Leavell in actual
command of the camp, speaks as follows concerning the conditions he
found there and what he deemed necessary to be done for the comfort
and health of the prisoners (pp. 1890 and 1891):

It was evident to me that he had been doing all in his power to make those men in
the prison as comfortable as possible with the means at his disposal. T saw that
some things were necessary, and I spoke to Mr. Sinclair about them, and he gaid that
anything that I recommended would be carried out. The first was the matter of
bringing water in there. Originally they had taken the water from a gmall tank
which was supplied by a small spring, and it was evident at that time that there
would not be a supply great enough for the whole camp and prison, particularly
when the weather got warmer, and I had built a box flume from Slanghterhouse
Gul]eh, as it is called, which carried the water to a tank on the hill right back of the
prison, and from there it was brought into the prison and camp with a 2-inch
service pipe, the service pipe terminating at the water-closet, or sinks, as we call
them, where the sinks could be flushed. At first they had the ordinary cesspool
water-closets, which are used ordinarily for camp purposes; but I recommended that
that be changed, so as fo have a place where they could be flushed. From that we
had put in a 6-inch tile drain sewer to the river to carry off offal and slop water and
things of that kind.

I also had builta crematory, where all the refuse matter possible was burned. The
arrangements had been made with some farmer, I think, or some man, to carry away
the glops. I mention these things to show that the desire was to keeevche prigon in
as healthful a condition as it was possible under the circumstances, @ had a plen-
tiful supply of water. Bewerage was good, and the Plsce was kept as clean as it was
possible to keep such a place. The prisoners were all put on a roster and the work
was divided up among them, so that each man would do as far as possible the same
amount of work as his neighbor.

The detail was made every evening for the next da{l’s work. Some of the men
went on what we call, in military kitchen police—that is, they worked in
the kitchen to assist the hired cooks in dish washing and preparing vegetables and
things of that kind—and the other men were on outside work, as it is called. The
outside men were put under the charge of a noncommissioned officer, the idea of that
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heing so that he conld show them how to clean up and police the grounds. He
would take those men, and one would go to the crematory to prepare the fire, to kee
it burning, and the others would go through the bunk rooms and prison yards wit!
stable brooms to eweep up and clean up, and the refuse was taken out and burned.
That was done twice a day.

No doubt while eating the men would be careless and the food would be seattered;
yet, after dinner, as far as possible, that was all cleaned up. The hospital, as has
heen testified to, was in a wooden building and with a tentannexed. Both were used
at first, but very soon we had so few sick that the hospital could be moved to a room
inside the prison building, From thetime I took charge, including the month I was
not responsible, we had lost one man by death—Donaldson, who died of typhoid
fever. Even the sick rate was reduced considerably. There were two or three men
that were sick when I first went there, quite sick, but they gradually improved: One
man—I can not remember his name—appeared to be sick with consumption. He
got along very well, e received good treatment. The doctor employed by the
State paid attention to the sick. Sometimes when he was not available, if a man
needed a doctor, I would send my camp doctor if somebody had to be attended to
immediately. From constant observation, because I was in the prison almost twice
a day, and often there more than that, the attendants were very kind and devoted to
the sick men, particularly the cook—a Frenchman who was there—who would do
everything he could for the men in getting up little things for them. He had the
run of theé:itchen and the storehouse where he could get eggs and milk and things
of that kind.

He says, on page 1910:

The regular detail for work was made from the roster in the evening and pub-
lished on the bulletin board inside the prison door, showing the names of the men
who were for kitchen police, or for ountside work, or for extra fatigue punishment
work, The largest average number detailed for outside work was six, if I recollect,
and it was ﬁm:ﬁy reduced to three. If I recollect, the largest number for kitchen
work was about ten, possibly twelve.

Page 1925: A

The men were helping to complete the waterway, carrying lumber up to fill the
tank, and I think possibly some of the stumps were taken out near the warden’s
office.

Page 1940:

That has always been the case in every institution of that kind—that the improve-
ments are made, as a rule, by the men themselves, as far as the rough work can be
done, It was absolutely necessary to complete this water service as goon as possible,
and I utilized every person that I could. If I had considered it penal work I would
have simply detailed 25 men to have gone out there, men who had not become
insubordinate in any way; but as long as those men were under prison discipline and
had work to do, 1 deemed it best to place them at some work that would be of benefit
to them collectively.

Capt. B. W. Leavell, U. S. A., who was in command of the prison

rt of the time, is now very sick in the hospital at Fort Bayard,

.Mex. The following official report prepared by him directly denies
many of the charges contained in the resolution.

Uxitep States GENERAL HospiTal,
Fort Bayard, N. Mex., February 17, 1900,
Gen. H, C. Megriam, United States Army.

Sir: 1 have the honor to make the following report concernjng alleged occurrences
at Camp Wardner, Idaho, while T was in command of the troops and in charge of
the prisoners confined in the prison there:

In the first place, I was in command of this camp from about May 10 till about
June 21, 1899, :

During the whole of this period the prisoners, their families, and friends had free
access to me at all times. g

After the completion of the prison, when all prisoners had been transferred thereto,
two viaiﬁn%:rlays per week were designated, but no person coming from any other
place than Wardner or Kellogg was refused access to prisoners even on other days.
The only complaint I remember having been made to me by any member of a

H. Rep. 1999—7
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prisoner’s family was that of the mother and sister of a man who was in the hospital,
I found, in conversation with the prigon surgeon, that this son and brother was not
dangerously sick; that he did not want to see these women; that their presence
aggravated him; and that their presence in the hospital disturbed the other patients.
While I allowed them to visit the hospital when the surgeon recommcn!lad it, 1
refused them access to the hospital at other times.

At no time could I find ungacnxiitsble testimony of any prisoner having been
stabbed or even pricked with bayonets.

Only one such complaint was made to me, and, though many persons were sup
posed to have been present, it was not substantiated. -

A cot was taken into the prison without my knowledge, for Mr. Stewart, of the
Mullan Mirror. When I discovered it I said that I was tempted to have it removed,
becanse other ?rimnvre might claim that a distinction was made between them in
allowing an editor comforts which others did not have. There was no threat made,
NOT Was any necessary.

No report was made to me of any prisoners being knocked down with muskets,
nor of any being bayoneted out of their beds,

No prisoner was kept in the box cars from 6 p. m. till 2 p, m. the next day with-
out food, nor denied the Privil(-ge of attending calls of nature; at least, no such things
were reported to me.  No request was made to me for a priest for Devine nor for any
other prisoners,

The priest visited me and with me vigited the hospital. We had several long con-
versations about the prisoners and on other topics,

He told me that complaint had been made becanse members of the Roman Catholic
Church had been allowed to lie in camp without the presence of a priest,

It was arranged between us that when 1 knew that a member of his church in the
prigon was dangerously i1l I was to telephone him at the Sisters’ Hospital, at Wallace.

Never, to my knowledge, was a prisoner denied the privilege of attending to calls
of nature, and at a place prepared for that purpose; nor at any time were any
cruelties or outrages perpetrated upon any prisoners or their families.

The families of the prisoners so freely availed themselves of the privilege of visit-
in%‘me that I am satistied there was never any foundation for such accusations.

he prisoners themselves frequently told me they had no objection to the soldiers,
but they did not want to be sent out with the deputies,

Should affidavits be desired upon any or all of the points covered in this report, I
shall gladly furnish them.

I only regret that my phygical condition precludes the possibility of my giving
oral testimony before the Congressional committee,

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
B. W. Leaveny,
Captain, Twenty-fourth Infantry.

The charge of being compelled to sleep on bare boards, placed on a
diet of bread and water for ten days, compelled to stand_erect seven
hours each day, under penalty of death if they attempted to move or
sit down, and the facts upon which this charge is based are so fully
explained by Captain Edwards,-U. 8. A., in his testimony that the
committee cites from it at length (pp. 1895, 1896, 1897):

In the afternoon of SBeptember 20 it was discovered that the prisoners were attempt-
ing to complete a tunnel which lay from near the northeast corner of the prison iu a
northerly direction, and had reached about that point [indicating on the map] near
the camp exchange building. Some soldiers were sitting on the ground near one
corner of the eamp exchange, and they saw a little stick ngﬁling up through the
ground, probably as large as my little finger, and they were a little surprised, natu-
rally, at seeing anything like that coming out, and they imagined that the steward of
the exchange was playing a joke on them; but he assured them he was not, and then
one of the men started to cateh hold of it, but it was pulled away from his hand
down into the ground. Naturally they were still more suspicious, and they came u
and reported to me this peculiar eondition, and I sent for some men with picks an
ghovels, and about 4 feet down we opened into this little tunnel that had con-
structed. One of the soldiers volunteered to see where it led, and we discovered it
came out inside the prison room.

A few days before T had taken all of the bunks out of the north bunk room for the
P of giving the men a room to it in, and also a dining room; but as soon as
the sitting room was boarded up they took advantage of that to put their refuse from
the tunmﬁ in there. They e that gort of a dump, That nFtarnoon five names
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were inclnded in the detail for extra work the next day, the orders being for those
five men to dig out and fill in the tunnel. They were brought out, and Simpkins
asked what they were expected to do. 1 said they were expected to fill in that tun-
nel, He s=aid they wonld not doit. Four of the men absolutely refused. One of
them, a man named Anderson—I forget his first name—started to work and continued
working for a few minutes, until he got some signals from this man Simpkins, and
he put down his shovel and said, *“‘Captain, I can not work.” And that is the time
I told him to face about. I have no recollection of cursing him, because I would not
do that to a man. I have no recollection of it. But I did tell him to face about.
And then the warden would bring out men in parties of five, and they all refused to
work, some expressing a willingness to do anything I told them if the others would
work, and invariably I would tell them, *You stand on your own feet; I am only
asking you whether you want to work.” Some complained that they were sick.
Right at the corner of the prison, the northwest corner, I had the doctor. I sent for
him, and as soon as a man reported he was sick I sent him to the doctor to be
examined.

In a number of cases the doctor did excuse men; decided they were not able to
work. Others he said were shamming, and were able to work. The latter would
be sent back to where they were held on the space on the north side of the prison,
between that and the barbed-wire fence. In this way all of the men were brought
out. The only men who were not put to work were the hospital men; the attend-
ants in the hospital. Then T directed that the bunk rooms, the two bunk rooms
then occupied, should be searched for anything that might be concealed, and while
that was being done the men were kept outside of the prison where they were first

laced. Thekeeping of the men there wasnot intended as a punishment. They were

eld there, as they had to be held in some place while the bunk rooms were bein
searched, and to search the building= it was necessary to first take out the hay anc
then remove the boards, so as to get under the bunks. In that examination we found
all sorts of things—ecrowbars, hammers, saws, hatchets, knives, forks, spoons, a
variety of things that had been stowed away and had been stolen from the workroom
and the kitechen. As soon as the eastern bunk house had been inspected and the
boards put back the men belonging to the bunk house came in, possibly about 4
o’clock. They first went out about 9 somethmF, but during all that time the
employees were at work in inspecting the new bunk houses. As the men were
brought in they were rc«?luired to %i\'e up their knives that had been given back to
them by me—well, they had asked for them, but I found that they were not to be
trusted with them.

Previous to that, after the men were all ont, I went out again to them, becanse
ordinarily they had been got under discipline in anything 1 told them to do, and I
went ont again fo them in hopes that some of them would break away from the
advice that had been given them. I said again, ‘‘Men, I want to know if any of
you men will go to work.”” It was then as I turned to go away that someone made
some remark which appeared to me as though they were cursing me and using some
vulgar and profane language. T could not distinguish who the man was or what
exactl’y it was he said, but 1 turned quickly and said:  What was that? Repeat
that!’’ or something of that kind, and then I said, ““You can not speak or do any-
thing to a man’s face and you who say that are cowardly curs, and you do it behind
a man’s back ""—referring to that man.

I am quite conyvinced that some man did say eomething that was insulting, and to
him alone was my remark addressed, because in that quantity of prisoners there were
any quantity of men who had been subordinate and oa)ed ient to everything desired of
them, and I would not think of them all in that way. The hay was taken outand was
not returned to them for five or six days, while they were under discipline. They were
kept on bread and water, and I awarded a punishment for insubordination—a refusal
to obey the proper order—ei%:t days on bread and water and two days’ extra fatigue.
That is a military term. They well knew that they could get off of the bread and
witer the minute that they became subordinate. They continued, however, and
would not work, and they were there eight days on bread and water. The authority
for such punishment is contained in General Orders, No. 55, A. G. 0., 1885:

‘A prizoner who violates any of these rules, is insolent, insubordinate, disrespect-
ful, impertinent, disorderly, uses indecent or profane language, who escapes or
attempts to escape, will be punished at the discretion of the commanding officer as
the gravity of the case may demand by (a) being deprived of a meal; (4) being locked
in his cell when not at work; (¢) forfeiture of good-conduct time previously earned;
(d) performing extra hard or di ble labor; () performing extra hours of such
labor; ns_lf) golitary confinement on bread-and-water diet.

“Such solitary confinement on bread and water will not exceed fourteen consecutive
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days at any one period, and will not be repeated until an interval of fourteen days
nh_arlli have elapu;l." L S bl e

ese men underst without a dou they would have their regular di
restored at any time they agreed to work. -

Q. Was this so-called standing line maintained more than one day when you were
i ing the bunks?—A. It was never intended as a standing line. It was put
there while the inspeetion was going on.

Q. It was called that in the evidence.—A. Yes; and, as has been testified, I told
the sentinel in front of the line there that if any man attempted to leave that place to
shoot him. I gave that order; that if they at{émpted to leave he was to shoot, and
they go understood it. There were no extra sentinels put on there, but simply the
usu.a{.l number, three, were on their posts, and were relieved at the usnal time, every
two hours.

(Pp. 1938 and 1939):

Q. Now, Captain, suppose the soldiers who were in charge of those men interpreted
that order to mean that those men ghould not leave that line at all. Did you explain
vour order to them, so that they would know that the men did have the right to
mck in the shade against the house?—A. A soldier understands his orders, Mr,
Robertson. When yon give an order to a goldier, you do not have to give him a
dinm. He knows what it is. He understands those thi In fact, the men did
go into the shade, and the men were taken to the sink, and the men went to
get water, and all those sort of things. They were simply held there pendi
examination of the bunk rooms. They were kept standing while I was out
while this matter was under my direct supervision.
Q. The testimony is that those men were compelled to get ont of that shade.—A.
I know nothing of that.

(Pp. 1898 and 1899:)

A. The prigoners slept on boards during the five or six days of their disciplinary
punishment. I can not recall the exact number, but it was a day or two less than
the bread and water, They were on bread and water for eight days; that is, they
had their full breakfast this morning, and they commenced in the afternoon, and
that counted as a half day, and a half day of the eighth day. It is spoken of bi
some of the men as nine da; It was simply on nine numeral days, but the
number was eight days. That was the order, and then they went on full diet. Of
course there is no truth at all in the statement of standing for seven hours a day for
ten days in the hot sun. It was only one day.

& t is a fact, then, that the men could have gat down and did sit down?—A. Yes.

You said a moment ago that you did give an order for any man that attempted

to move?—A. To leave; that is, to escape.

Q. Iunderstand.—A. Understand, there were one hundred and fifty-odd men in the
place, with simply this barbed-wire fence, and, there is no doubt about it, they were
very much disappointed at the fact of the tunnel having been discovered, and possibl
their irritation was due to the fact of that discovery, and it was evident that tl
had been ill advised and were liable to do something that was indiscreet. I t
uﬁnwm Meawol their act at that time, from the fact
when the tunnel was discov that was filled up in two hours and turned
off as a joke. I do not know whether it has been testified to, but attempted a
second tunnel, and when that was discovered there was no trouble at all about filling
it up.

(Pp. 1899 and 1900:)

Q. Were any punishments of this character inflicted prior to that date?—A. Of
read and water? ]

Q. Of bread and water.—A. There were guite a number of disciplinary punish-
ments of the men in the course of the ordinary violation of prison rules, For inatanoea
the destruction of food, where men would come and take a plateful of fresh food an
go and throw it right into the swill barrel, where they would be caught in the act;
where men would destroy the walls by cutting holes in them; where they were
insulting to the prison officials; in one or two cases where they refused to work.

At the time of the vaccination the men were ordered out to be examined for vac-
cination, with the understanding that they were not obliged to be vaccinated.
only point was, | wanted every man to be examined given the

vaccinated. The word was passed through the prison and g a
came out, in bunches of ten, to go to the doctor. The warden an account,
it was developed that sowme fifteen or twenty of the men did come out at

-

of
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They were checked up on his book, and then I went in again personally and
announced in all the bunk rooms that the men that had not been examined must
come out at once so they conld all hear it. These men did not come. Having this
list, we found who they were, and they got a punishment—an extra fatigue, I think.
This Joe Hasset—I think that was his name—was arrested by the officer of the day
for not removing a lot of hay from the vicinity of a fire that was burning terrifically
in the prison. My greatest fear was that the building would be set afire from the
inside, and in the excitement a possible attempt to escape would be undertaken,

The sentinels around the prison were given particular orders in regard to the
alarm of fire. On this night the sparks were coming out of the iron smoke pipe—it
was simply an iron pipe—in great volumes, and the officer of the day went down
there and went into the prison, and this man was near the stove, and a lot of this
trash was around the stove, and the officer gave him an order to remove the trash
from the vicinity of the stove, and the man would not obey it; he disobeyed the offi-
cer’s orders, and the officer confined him. All punishments of that description were
brought to me and were awarded entirely by me., No man was put in the guard-
house except by my authority.

(P. 1900):

Q. Excepting these special cases or in those punishments that were administered,
there was no general punishment of that kind, as the resolutions would seem to
imply?—A. No; the only trouble I had with the men there was on the occasion of
the cEiscovary of this tunnel. Shortl;" after this trouble there, one of their lawyers,
Colonel Reddy, came up and he said he wanted to know about it; that a great many
rumors had come to them, and he said, ‘I don’t think you will have any more
trouble about it.”” He had been talking with Heney before that. I said, *Colonel
Reddy, they are gtill insubordinate; they are not on bread and water, because the
eight days have expired, but they are still insubordinate.” The colonel said, * Well,
if I can see Heney again I think there will be no trouble.”” T said, *Certainly, you
can see him,” and he was brought out, and he had an interview with Colonel Keddy,
and then the Colonel returned to my shack and said, ““I think it will be all right.”

That afternoon one of the men—I do not remember who it was—came out to me
and said, * Captain, we are ready to obey orders.” I said, “‘All right; go back to
vyour old positions; go back and get those boxes of tobacco that are waiting there and
take them in.”” That reminds me, it was refused them—the tobacco that had been
sent to them in guantities, and also fruit sent in quantities. 1 sent word to this
man—Carter, T think his name was—to go and take the fruit away; that it could not
go in while the prisoners were under discipline, nor could tobacco go in in quanti-
ties—that is, cases; but any man who wanted to buy tobacco for his individual use
could do so, and did buy it. I saw a number of cases where deputies would buy
tobaceo, as has been testified, and the soldiers would buy it. The idea was that I
would not allow donations to be made; but the minute they became subordinate I
told them they eould have the tobacco, and there never was a word said after that
between us.

Q. Did they fill in these tunnels?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. They went to work after Colonel Reddy told youn that?—A. They went to work
without any trouble. I cansed to be dug around the bull pen a ditch, which has
been spoken of here. The object of that ditch was to erossent with any other tunnel
that might ibly be under the course of construction at that time, and also to ren-
der it a little more difficult to construct any tunnels in the future, if they intended
to attempt it.

(P. 1901):

Q). There was something said in the testimony about Mr. Heney being refused
release from the prison. fwish you would state—

The Cnamman, That is after the civil authorities?—A. Mr. Heney wasreleased by
Mr. Binclair, as has been testified, and I said to him, “ Now, are you ready to carry
out the military orders for insubordination?”” and he was not )rel?[ared at first; but
within a few days he was. I do not know how long he worked. It was part of two
days. Assoon as he showed his inclination to obey the military punishment, that
was all T wanted.

Q. He was released as soon as he had done that?—A. Yes.

Q. There has been something said about the prisoners being required to work out-
side of the prison vard and fence on some private property. ill you state what the
facts are in regard to that?—A. No prisoners were outside the prison fence, txcept
under disciplinary punishment, and then only for the benefit of the prison. The
flume and the were built by civilian employees outside the prison, and the pris-
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oners carried some of the planks up the hill to the tank. They also dug some of
the ditch where the pipe was laid, but all that work that was outside, wﬁatever it
was, was on account of punishments. But three or four men that had whisky inside
were punished in that way. They were given some extra fatigue.

A man named Burrows—he absolutely refused to work at first. He wanted tho
men in the prison to do the work for him. He wanted to go in the gnardhouse,
and he said, ** Put me in solitary confinement.” 1 said, “ No; I won’t put you in
solitary confinement; you ean come here where I want you to work.” And T took
him to a sentinel and gave him a shovel and told him I wanted him to fill in that
sink hole there, He said he could not do it. T told him to stand there until he
thought he could do it. At the end of the first day he did not do it, and at the end
of the second day he had not done it, and he told me he had taken an oath not to
work. T told him it was a bad thing to take such an oath; that sometimes snch an
oath would have to be changed. Finally he fold me, at the end of the third day, he
was ready to work, and after that Burrows was one of the model prisoners; I never
had any more trouble with him at all.

Maj. Allen Smith, U. S. A., who was in command of the camp at that
time, testifies that (l::lptain Edwards telephoned him about the prison-
ers tunneling out, and what steps he had taken to make them fill in the
tunnel; and that he acquiesced in all that he did, and considered it proper
and legitimate prison discipline. He considered it proper manage-
ment, and that the punishment inflicted by Captain Edwards was neces-
sary for the care and conyenience of the prisoners. He says that he
would have done precisely what Captain Edwards did if he had been
in immediate command at the prison (p. 1956).

General Merriam testifies (p. 1817):

That punishment was inflicted upon prisoners for violation of orders and rules of

the prison and s.ttem}l)ts to escape; and that the punishment as above set forth was
entirely within the rules for the government of military prisons.

He declares further (p. 1812):

I know that in accordance with all rules of military prisons the prisoners were
required to do the policing and the cleaning of the grounds in and about the prison.
1 know, also, that some of the prisoners were used by the authorities of the State in
the erection of the new prison, in connection with carpenters.

As to that matter, however, neither he nor his soldiers had anythin
whatever to do. That the prisoners were willing to assist in this wor,
in order to get out of the old prison into more commodious quarters,
is testified to by Conner Malott (p. 1369):

Prizoners also worked at the building of the bull pen, but to my knowledge they
were not put to work at that, My understanding, gained from talks with the prison-
ers, was, that they rather wanted to get out of the old prison and get to work on the
new bull pen.

There was some testimony that when the tunnel was discovered the
men were called out from their bunks and asked to fill itin; that they
were lined up several hours in the hot sun, about 4 feet from the shade,
and were not permitted to get in the shade.

L. J. Simpkins testifies that everything they had was taken from
them; that t!ha straw was taken-out of the bunks and they had to sleep
on the bhoards,

The proof showed that these men were allowed to seek the shade,
and that they only stood in line one day, while their quarters were being
searched for the tools with which they had attempted to escape. The
straw had to be taken away because it had been used to conceal the
earth removed from the tunnel. Men sick enough for the hospital
were never denied admission thereto.

L. J. Simpkins testified:

I was taken from the bull pen up to the county jail about November 12 or 15. The
deputy came in the bull pen and said, *“I have got orders to take you to Wallace.”



CEUR D'ALENE LABOR TROUBLES. 103

I eays, *“ Who gave you those orders?””  He says, *‘ Captain Edwards.” When I got
up to the jail the jailer told me he had orders to put me in solitary confinement on
bread and water. I was fed on bread and water for nine days, and in solitary con-
finement for about sixty days. The jailer said he had orders for doing this from
Captain Edwards,

These statements of Simpkins are fully disproved.

By November 12 or 15 the prison had been abandoned and the mili-
tary force was no longer used 1n guarding prisoners, While Simpkins
was the m‘knowlcdgeﬁ leader of the attempt to tunnel out and as such
was amenable to severe prison punishment, the proof shows that after
October, 1899, the officers of the Army had nothing whatever to do
with them. The testimony of Captain Edwards is unhesitatingly
accepted as the true version of the occurrences connected with the
attempts to tunnel out of the prison.

Under martial law the military power is supreme, and the only lim-
itation to it is that it must be exercised in accordance with the prinei-
ples of justice, honor, and humanity, and the laws and usages of war.
A military commander may, therefore, use such means, subject to
these limitations, as may seem necessary to enforce the usual rules of
prison discipline. )

Captain ISdwards was fully justified under the circumstances in
adopting the measures he used to enforce prison discipline. They
were not severe,

It was shown that Captain Edwards, U. S. A., commanding the mili-
tary forces in the district under martial law, detained a civil prisoner
by the name of Tom Heney, for alleged infraction of prison discipline,
after his release had been ordered by the officer representing the execu-
tive authority of the State.

When the United States was called upon to suppress ‘‘domestic vio-
lence™ it was not acting under the orders of the State, but was there
to fulfill one of the constitutional guarantees. The troops were not under
command of the governor of the State, but under command of the mili-
tary officers and the President; and they were not required to take
orders from *‘the officer representing the executive authority of the
State,” although he was properly consulted. The fact that such officer
ordered the release of Heney was not, therefore, sufficient reason for
releasing him, if, in the exercise of sound discretion, it appeared to the
authorities representing the United States that such release would
retard the suppression of ““domestic violence.”

This purticu‘ar prisoner is charged with having been one of the ring-
leaders of the riot of 1892, and was indicted at that time; was the pred-
ecessor of Young in the office of sheriff of Shoshone County, and
algpenrs to have been very much the same kind of an official; was sher-
iff when the brutal murder of Whitney was committed; knew some of
the assassins, but made no arrests, and opposed offering a reward for
the apprehension of the murderers; was sheriff when the arms of the
National Guard company at Wardner were stolen, and in reply to a
letter from the governor ur%ing prompt action to recover the arms,
wrote him ** to mind his own business;” was engaged in attempting to
infimidate witnesses in the Corcoran case, anﬁ' attempted the same
thing in the corridors of the Capitol against one of the witnesses who
appeared before this committee.

Captain Edwards was fully justified in the action he took with this
prisoner,
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The ninth charge is follows:

Whereas it is chﬁed that by the use of the military power the writ of habeas
corpus was suspended for months in 8hoghone County, and the right of free
free press, and ti»:em:eable assembl were denied to the peaeeag
community, without any excuse or justification whatever.

This paragraph naturally subdivides itself into four heads, and
charges that by the use of the mﬂitari power the writ of habeas cor-
pus was suspended for months in Shoshone County; that the right of
free speech was denied to peaceable citizens of that community, without
any excuse or justification whatever; that the right of free press was
denied in the same manner; and that peaceable assemblages were also
denied. The testimony shows, beyond any question whatever, that
none of these rights of the citizens of the State of Idaho were denied
or in any manner interfered with by the military power.

The charge that the writ of habeas corpus was suspended has been
considered under the second charge, and will not be referred to again.

There is no evidence to prove that the right of free speech was denied
to peaceable citizens of that community, without any excuse or justifi-
cation whatever, by the use of the military power.

As to interference with the mail directed to the prisoners, the fol-
lowing charges were made:

Frederick Oscar Martin testified:

When I was in the bull pen several letters addressed to me were never received,

but I do not want to charge the loss to the soldiers. I have found out since I was
released that several letters were addressed to me that I never received,

L. J. Simpkins testified:

Between May and June I received three letters which were opened. I complained
to Mr. Cogkley about having the mail opened. He said that was his orders. T have
geen letters opened that came from England, Sweden, and Germany. 1 think any
man in the bull Iét'“ that received any mail received them opened. My mail was
tampered with. Several letters came in with the envelopes gone, and the nigger sol-
diers that brought them trying to read them. We were not allowed mail without it
being opened and read before it came to the bull pen. Some letters sent to me I
never gOt.

Warden Coakley testified that when mail came to the prison which
was postmarked in Shoshone County he would send it in by one of his
deputies, with the request that the letter be opened by the prisoner in
the presence of the deputy. When letters arrived which had been
mailed outside of Shoshone County, he instructed they should not be
ol)eued. To the best of his knowlege, his instructions were obeyed.
No complaints were ever made to him about the opening of letters.
The letters, he said, were opened by the men and returned to him.
He never read them; would give them a passing glance. (Pp. 1178,
1190, 1206, 1207.

Bartlett Sinclair testifies that this order was made by the governor
himself, but whether made by the governor or by the officer in com-
mand of the troops, it was a proper measure of prison discipline as
carried out by the warden. e soldiers had nothing to do with the
mail. It was handled entirely by State officials.

There is no proof that the right of free press was denied to the
peaceable citizens of that community without any excuse or justifica-
tion whatever by the use of the military power. The only evidence
bearing upon this point is the incident of the suppression of ‘the

le citizens of that
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Mullan Mirror, a newspaper conducted by Wilbur H. Stewart. Gov-
ernor Steunenberg declares that this paper was suppressed (p. 1049)—
for seditious and inflammatory and violent utterances in which the policy of the
State and its officials were bitterly assanlted; it was intended to have inflamed the

nblic mind and prevent a peaceable solution of the difficulties that were apparent
in that county, and intended to prevent the restoration of normal conditions.

Mr. Sinclair testifies (p. 1644) that this paper had contained a great
many seditious articles—articles caleulated to obstruct the establish-
ment of law and order in the prescribed district—and he requested him
to cease that character of editorials. This was a week or two before
he was arrested. He paid no attention to the request. Furthermore,
he carried his inflammatory discussions into the streets, urged men to
resist the State and resist the authorities, and stated that just as soon
as the troops were out the dynamiters would again be on top. Mr.
Sinclair himself made the arrest of Mr. Stewart, and did it on the
ground that his Eu.per was seditions, and that conditions could not be
improved while he and others continued to inflame the local public
mind. After Mr, Stewart was imprisoned the paper continued to
publish inflammatory and seditious articles, and the office was there-
upon seized by the State authorities and closed, and the type and other
materials removed. The property passed into the hands of the sheriff
of the county, and, a writ of replevin being sued out on behalf of the
owners to recover the same, the sheriff refused to comply with the writ,
under directions of the executive authority of the State, on the ground
that it was a military necessity to suppress the paper. The statement
made by Mr. Stewart that Mr, Sinclair promised him that if he would
resume publication of his pu]laler and come out in support of the State
authorities he would lose nothing by such a course, and that it would
be to his financial benefit, was absolutely denied by Mr. Sinclair, and
was not proven. Mr. Sinclair did advise him to republish his paper
Wit{.il the determination to support law and order, which he declined
to do.

It is charged that certain newspapers were refused admission to the
prison. George Cornell testified:

While in the bull pen we could not buy the San Francisco Examiner. We could
get the Spokane Review; that was for sale by guards. The Idaho State Tribune was

not brought in, nor was the New York World or Journal. The Review was the only
paper I ever saw on sale except the Wardner News.

L. J. Simpkins testified:

The report was that the Post-Office anthorities had issued an order to shut out the
Idaho State Tribune from the men in the bull pen. I heard that an order to that
effect by the postmaster had been printed, but I did not see it.

Warden Coakly told me he had rather we should have no other papers except the
Spokane Review and the Wardner paper. The San Francisco Examiner, the New

ork World, the New York Journal, and other papers which condemned the gov-
ernor and General Merriam were refused admission to the bull pen because of that
inlu We were prevented from having the Idaho State Tribune and the Mnullan

ITTOT.

The Post-Office authorities excluded no paper from the prison.
Warden Coakley denies the above statement attributed to him. It was
not proved that any New York or San Francisco papers were excluded.
If any were kept out it was done by the State authorities, and doubt-
less because of seditions and incendiar}' articles published by them.

Captain Edwards testified on this point (p. 1947) that he understood
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the State authorities had prohibited the introduction in the prison of
papers that contained incendiary articles. Tlie Spokane Review, of
Spokane, Wash., was the only daily paper sold there by newsboys,
and that circulated freely in the prison.

There is testimony to the effect that when martial law was declared
a censorship was established of all telegraph messages leaving Ward-
ner. This lasted about a week. The only testimony introduced show-
ing that any authority of this kind was ever exercised was submitted
by Mr. Malott, a newspaper reporter, and is to the effect that Licu-
tenant Bennett, U. S. A., once suggested the omission of some 20 or
30 words from a newspaper report prepared by said Malott which
reflected upon the personal character of one of the county officers of
Shoshone County.

The only proof submitted to the committee hearing ull)on the denial
of peaceable assemblages is that in regard to the proclamation with
reference to the celebration of July 11, 1899, which reads as follows:

Notice to all residents of the Cosur d’ Alenes:

Whereas the aunthorities have been reliably informed that a number of residents
of Shoshone Oountr propose to celebrate on July 11 certain acts committed in viola-
tion of law and order and to incite rioting and resistance to the laws of the State
and the United States.

Now, therefore, this is to notify all persons that no such celebration within Sho-
shone County will be permitted.

All persons giving encouragement by holding meetings or giving assistance by
contributions or otherwise, and all persons taking part or enconraging others to take
part in such celebration, or permitting others to take part in such celebration, over
whom, by reason of relationship, they exercise control, will be liable to arrest and
imprisonment.

The peace ofticers of the county are instructed to deny the use of the public high-
ways for all such disgraceful and unlawful exhibitions in eommemoration of said
criminal act.

Governor Steunenberg testifies (p. 1048) that the 11th of July cele-
bration commemorated the fight between union men and nonunion men
in Shoshone County in 1892, in which fight two nonunion men and
three union men were killed and a number wounded.

It is an annual memorial day, and in that county for quite a number of years back it
has superseded the celebration of the Fourth of July by quite a majority of the people.
Some of the citizens want to celebrate the Fourth of July as a national holiday, and
others want to celebrate the 11th of July as the commemoration of the fizht hetween

the union and nonunion men, and considerable antagonism and friction has been
brought about by that fact.

The governor was present at that time and ordered a notice issued
forbidding the celebration of July 11, because the county of Shoshone
was in a state of insurrection and rebellion, and such a tension existed
at that time that he thought it very ill advised to have any such cele-
bration. The governor further says (p. 1049):

I was on the streets of Wallace on the 11th of July, and several ladies came and
spoke to me and asked me whether the proclamation was intended to [}reveut _them
from decorating the graves and carrying flowers, and so on, and I told them it was
not intended to prevent anything of the kind; if was simply intended to prevent
:ﬁdih'm;e speeches and inflammatory speeches, such as had been indulged in there in

e past,

The charge that this notice was directed against the women and chil-
dren in that distriet is entirely unsupporte%‘.l No women or children
werearrested, no such orders wereissued, and Sinclair expressly ordered
that under no circumstances should the women or the children be inter-
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fered with. Even had the women paraded in violation of this order of
the 11th of July, he declared that they would not have been arrested

. 1726).

(pTha to)ﬂtimony shows that the right of free assemblage has existed
in that district ever since the declaration of martial law.

There is absolutely no testimony connecting the military foree with
the suspension of the writ of habeas corpus or the denial of the right
of free speech, free press, and peaceable assemblages to the citizens
of that community.

The tenth charge is as follows:

Whereas when the Industrial Commission gat in Wallace all union men who had
been long residents of the county werein the “bull pen’ and had no opportunity to
appear before the commission; others were arrested while on their way to Wallace
to appear before the commission and thrown into the “bull pen’ until after the
commission adjourned.

The only evidence of any character whatsoever tending to substan-
tiate this charge is contained in the testimony of William Powers, who
states (p. 310) that he had been summoned by Mr. Ratchford to testify
before the Industrial Commission and was waiting at Mullan to take
the stage to Wallace, where the commission was sitting, when he was
arrested by a deputy and put in prison, where he was detained about
ten or twelve days. The Industrial Commission sat at Wallace from
July 26 to July 29. Mr. Powers was arrested July 28 and discharged
August 9, 1899,

'ﬁw testimony of Governor Steunenberg on this point (p. 1049) is
that there must have been several hundred union men in Shoshone
County that could haye come before the Industrial Commission if they
had so desired, and that any man in confinement who had "been asked
for by the commission would have been produced. No complaint of
this kind ever came to his ears, and until this resolution was brought
to his attention he had never heard of it.

Bartlett Sinclair testifies (p. 1646) that no one was prevented from
going before the Industrial Bommission._ and Dr. France says (p. 1593)
that he had no knowledge of anybody being arrested while he was on
his way to appear before the Industrial %‘ommission, and that the
Industrial Commission never made any request on him to produce any
prisoners. The testimony of Hon. John C. Bell, a Representative from
the State of Colorado and a member of the Industrial Commission, is
conclusive upon the point that the charge contained in this paragraph
of the resolution is absolutely unfounded. Mr. Bell was chairman of
the subcommittee which went to Wallace to investigate the troubles
there. The purposes of the committee were announced by him as
follows:

We were going down for the purpose of investigating the conditions of capital anc
labor engﬂggdu ingmining, and asptll;(r:r}e#were somog?lilﬁ’éultim down there w#la \\'lll:::!t;

to be absolutely impartial as between the employers of labor and the laborers, and
we proposed to divide the time as nearly as possible between the witnesses for both
sides,

Mr. James R. Sovereign was named to select the witnesses for the
Federation of Labor. It was left with * Mr. Sovereign altogether to
select witnesses for the miners’ union.” He declared that no restraints
were exercised against any witness to prevent him from appearing
before the commission; that Mr. Sinclair said that if Mr. Sovereign
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had designated a party in the prison as witness that he would have
been brought before the commission without any difficulty. Mr. Bell
unders that Mr. Sovereign chose all the witnesses to be examined
for the so-called *‘miners’ unions,” and as Mr. Sovereign failed to state
in his testimony that Powers was one of these witnesses, and as it is
undisputed that any witnesses in confinement would have been produced
had the commission desired to examine them, and as it does not appear
that the commission made any call for or desired the testimony of Mr.
Powers, it must be concluded that the charge contained in tg’is para-
graph of the resolution is absolutely unproyen.

It appears that at the time the Industrial Commission met at Wallace
the miners did not care to have the commission go to the prison, because
it was in perfect order. It is evident, therefore, that there was abso-
lutely no ground for complaint against the conditions existing at that
time in the prison.

The eleventh charge is as follows:

Whereas it is charged that the following proclamation, in gross violation of the
Constitution of the United States and of the constitution and statutes of the State of
Idaho, was issued and enforeed by Brigadier-General Merriam, to wit:

PROCLAMATION,

Whereas the following notice has been served upon the mine owners of Shoshone
dGoulnmt.zdby the duly constituted State authorities, by whom martial law has been
ec , to wit:

“To the Mine Ouners of Shoshone County:

th"Cerltain tt:ﬁ;nizatit:mslm' combinations tfrist.in in 8hoshone County have shown
themselves criminal in purpose, inciting and, as organizations, procuring prop-
erty to be deetroyed and murders to be committed, by reason whereof it haspbeen
twice necessary to declare martial law in Bhoghone County.

“You are therefore notified that the employment of men belonging to said or other
criminal organizations during the continnance of martial law must cease. In case
this direction is not observed your mines will be closed.”

Therefore, in order to carry into effect the spirit of the foregoing notice and restore
the industries of the district as far as possible, it becomes necessary to establish a
system by which miners who have not participated in the recent acts of violence,
and who are law-abiding people, may obtain work, and, that order and peace may
be established, the following is promulgated for the guidance of all mine owners and
employees in the affected district:

1l parties applying for underground work in any of the following mines will be
required to obtain from Dr. Hugh Erance, the duly appointed and authorized agent
for the State of Idaho for this purpose, or his deputy, at Wardner or at Wallace, a
}ﬁermit authorizing eaid person to seek employment in any of the following mines:

unker Hill and Sullivan, Last Chance, Empire State-Idaho, Congolidated Tiger and
Poorman, Heela, Mammoth, Standard, Helena-Frisco, Gem, Morning, Hunter, and
such others as may be hereafter included in the above list. Parties applying for such
permits must be prepared: First, to deny all participation in the riots of April 29,
1899, in Shoshone County; and second, to deny or rencunce membership in any
aoc;ifpy‘which has incited, encouraged, or approved of said riots or other violation of

ublie law.
i Mine owners must refuse employment to all applicants for undg;ground work who
do not g‘mﬂent a duly signed permit authoﬁzg::lg the same. Such permit will be
deposited in mine-owner’s office subject to periodical inspection. r

All parties now under employment by any of the mines above named will be
required to procure, within ten days from this date, the permits above referred to as
a condition to their remaining in the service of their respective com

By order of the governor and commander in chief:

Barrnerr SiNcrAir, State Audilor.

Examined and approved.

H. C. MERRIA
Brigadier-General, Uniled ﬂa!aiﬂny
Dated May 8, 1899,
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The application for permits to seek employment which union men must sign is
as follows:

“ Application for leave to seek employment in the mines of Shoshone County.

“To Dr. Hvea Fraxce, State Representative.
“8ix: 1 hereby make application for issuance to me of a permit allowing me to
seek employment in the I:I‘:I)l’l;le!! of Shoshone County.

“lama occupation. - :

“] am & native of —— and am a citizen of the United States,

“] last worked at the mine in 3

“My shift boss was . -

“Heretofore I have been a member of miners’ union.

“] did not partici actively or otherwise in the riots which took place at Ward-
ner on the 20th of April, 1899. ~ Believing that the crimes committed at Wardner on
said date were actively incited, encouraged, and perpetrated through and by means
of the influence and tion of the miners’ unions of the Ceeur d’Alenes, 1 hereby
express my unqualified disapproval of said acts, and hereby renounce and forever
lbrura all allegiance to the said miners’ union, of which I was a former member, and
1 solemnl pleﬁrl myself to obey the law and not to again seek membership in any
society which enconrage or tolerate any violation of law.

“Dated this — day of , 1899."
The application which nonunion men must sign is as follows:

“ Application for leave to seck employment in the mines of Shoshone County,

“To Dr. Hvan Fraxce, State Representative.
“8m: I hereby make application for issuance to me of a permit allowing me to
seck employment in the mines of Shoshone County.

“Tama by occupation.
“I am a native and am a citizen of the United States.

“] last worked at the mine

“My shift boss was :

"} m\'ke notmn ft:ﬁJ = yaiau a meu_:ﬁ of anxdliﬂufg)em’mgion.

i no either actively or , in aidi isting, or encouragi
the perpetration of the crimes committed st Wardner on the 29th of April, 1890 =

“I 8o y pledge myself to obey the law.

“Dated this —— day of , 1899."

‘At this wri munimmmpu‘mjthdtowurkin 3 eetings
of the miners’ are prohibited.” S e

With regard to the so-called *‘ permit system,” it may be said in
brief that 1t is an instrument adopted by the governor of the State of
Idaho to exclude from employment in the mines in Shoshone County
all those persons who participated in the erimes of April 29, and to
¥revant arecurrence of the troubles of that day. The experience with
ormer outbreaks in that community has been that as soon as the troo
were called to the scene of disturbance the leaders of the trouble
quieted down and returned to work in the mines, to await an oppor-
tunity for a fresh outbreak. It was this situation which led Governor
Steunenberg to say in his testimony that this country for the last eight
years has been a ‘* hell on earth.”

General Merriam, from his knowledge of the situation gained b
Yg;?)jMI observation and contact with the rioters, declared (pp. 1814,

The situation did absolutely demand a declaration of insurrection. The insurrec-
tion, which is universally to have existed on the 29th of April, was no
more out of existence when the proclamation was issued on the 3d of May than it
was when the mill was blown up. There was a community containing, according to
Mr. Robertson's estimate, 3,000 people—the immediste region of the Burke, Gem,

o
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Mace, and the Mullan mining regions. It had produced a proximately 1,000 erimi-
nals in conspiracy and murder and arson. It had gone me to its hole in the ground,
just as a rattlesnake may retire after striking a deadly blow, and wait for an oppor-
tunity to strike another, and depending, I will say from my belief, upon the fact,
very generally illustrated since, that no member who could identify the participants
in those crimes would come forward with identifying testimony. The sheriff of the
county had ridden down on the train with those rioters. They are his constituents
in a community in which be has lived, as I understand, quite a number of years,
He has stated over and over again his inability to identify a single rioter. T believe
very many more would bave said the same thing. The reasons I can not give.

In order to prevent a repetition of past experiences the governor
deemed it necessary to undertake heroic measures to stamp out all
turbulence and disorder and to make Shoshone County the abode of

aceable and law ubidinﬁ citizens. So seriously had the mine owners’
interests here been crippled by the terrorism exercised by organiza-
tions of miners that some of the mine owners had given up the full
control of their mines, had submitted to the dictation of the miners,
and were operating their properties under written permission by the
miners’ unions of that district, as evidenced by the following agree-
. ment (pp. 1605, 1606):

This agreement made and entered into at Wallace, Tdaho, this 30th day of July,
A. D.1804, by and between the Milwaukee Mining Company, the Standard Mining
Company, and the Ceear d’' Alene Mining and Concentrating Company, parties of the
first part, and the Central Executive Miners' Union of the Coeur d'Alenes, by Edward
Boyce, its pregident, parties of the second part, witnesseth:

for the purpose of settling the differences existing between the parties of the first
[mrt and the parties of the second part the following agreement has been entered
to:

n

The present maximum wages of $3.60 per day shall be paid to all underground
men,

There shall be no diserimination in the employment of men; the men now in the
country shall have the waewnm. No men sghall be imported for the purpose of
working in the mines. The men who lately left the employment of the company,
who were objected fo, shall not again have employment in any of the above mines.

It is hereby agreed i)y both parties hereto that should any differences arise between
the parties hereto that the same shall be settled by arbitration,

It is the desire of both the above parties that the long-existing differences be, and
are hereby, buried for all time; that henceforth both parties be friends and work for
the mutual benefit of both parties.

In witness whereof we have hereunto subscribed our hands and seals the day and
year first above written,

Miowavkee Mmvina Co.,

A. B. Camrsery, Vice-President.

Sraxnparp Minmva Co.,

A. B. Campnery, President.

CEuvr p'Arexe Miving Axp Concextraming Co.,
A. B. Canrsery, Viee-President.

A. L. Gross.

Epwarp Boyce, President C. E. M. U, *

Witness:

E. H. Morrrrr.

H. R. ALLEN.
This agreement adopted by Central Executive Miners' Union July 30, 1894,
[sEaL] James CLANCEY, Secretary-Treasurer.

The only mine in that community which had not submitted to this
un-American dictation was that operated by the Bunker Hill and Sul-
livan Company. In this mine was freedom of employment. In the
other mines the so-called miners’ unions dictated as to who might be
am,Floyed. 3

he evidence tends to show that nobody except the miners in the
mining centers of the Ceeur d’Alene district participated in the crimes
of April 29, 1899.
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Dr. Hugh France testifies (pp. 1589 and 1601):

The sworn evidence before the coroner's jury was to the effect that the presidents
of the different miners’ unions of the Ceeur d’Alenes on the morning of April 29,
1899, called their regular miners’ union meetings, and the members armed and
masked themselves in the halls and proceeded on this mission of destruction of prop-
erty and life. That is why they (the permit system) were directed toward particular
miners’ unions and the miners,

It appears that when any nonunion men committed crime in that
vicinity they were vigorously prosecuted by the county administra-
tion, while the miners’ union men were not (p. 1603).

Dr. Hugh France testifies (p. 1605), in regard to miners employed
at Burke or Gem becoming members of the so-called miners’ unions
there:

As a rule, it meant if he did not become a member he was run out of the canyon
or assassinated.

It was a ** permit system” operated by bodies of men which the
governor and the coroner’s jury held to be criminal organizations.
Some similar measures seemed to be necessary to purge this community
of the men who had participated in erime in that county for six or
seven years, and who seemed to take great delight in murder and
arson. The *‘permit system® was devised. It was discussed at a
meeting of some of the mine operators, but was at first strenuously
opposed by them. The mine operators preferred to utilize the serv-
ices of these old hands, however much they had been engaged in crim-
inal acts, rather than break in new and untried labor. 'Eile governor,
however, insisted on his plan, and it was forthwith carried into execu-
tion. The proclamation was issued by Bartlett Sinclair, the governor’s
agent on the scene, and he submitted it to General Merriam. General
Merriam in his report says, on this point, as follows:

On the evening of May 8 I was informed by Bartlett Sinclair, representing the
sovemor of Idaho, that notice had been served upon all of the mine owners of the
istrict by which, during the continuance of martial law they were forbidden to
employ miners unless they were able to present permits from the'State anthorities.
his was the first intimation that came to me on the subject; in fact there was no
manifest pecasion for my having any information gn the subject, as it did not concern
me direetly, but Mr. Sinclair said he was preparing some rules for carrying out the
order and desired to make them such as I could approve.

After reading over the rules I stated that there was one point in which I thought
an improvment could be made—that I should rather see provision made by which an
innocent member of an innocent union might receive the State permit and retain his
employment. To this Mr. Sinclair at once assented, and at his request I wrote the
following, to be added to the central Paragraph—that enumerating the mines which
were to be governed by this gystem of permits, viz:

Parties applying for such permits must be prepared: First, to deny all participation
in the riots of April 29, 1899, in Shoshone County, and, second, to deny or renounce
membership in any society which has incited, encouraged, or approved of said riots
or other violation of publie law.

I authorized my name to be printed at the bottom of the poster under the words
**examined and approved,” on condition that the above amendment was inserted.
This was assented to at once, and the posters were printed and sent out.

It was not intended that the troops under my command should assume any part
whatever in carrying into effect these or any ot])J'er rules affecting laborers or la.ﬁor in
the State of Idaho, nor have they done so in the remotest degree.

It has seemed to me necessary to be very explicit in reporting upon this system of
labor permits because of the persistency of a portion of the public press, and espe-
cially of the various labor unions all over the country, in charging me with making
the order which is cgleo!ml in the preamble of the above proclamation.

This practice has been continued and emlﬁhsaized in gpite of the self-proclaimed
authorship shown in the ghrase “by the duly constituted State authorities.”” Fur-
thermore, on this point Governor Steunenberg, who is himself a labor-union man
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and a friend of law-abiding organized labor, gave out for publication the following
statement, dated May 20, 1809:

In dealing with the conditions at present existing in Shoshone County it is the
purpose of the State authorities to restore peace and safety to the law-abiding inhab-
itants of the county and to punish and totally eradicate from this community a class
of criminals who have for years been committing murders and other crimes in open
violation of the law.

To this end I shall use the powers vested in me to the fullest extent necessary, It
is the intention that the protection of the law shall extend alike to the men who
labor and the men who em})]ny. There will be, and is, no war upon organized labor
as such, but certain so-called labor organizations, as they exist and have existed
under various names and at various times in Shoshone County, are not to be con-
sidered with law-respecting labor organizations elsewhere. They have been and are
now controlled by desperate men, who use it to Hu]l;, rt them in their lawlessness,
and through it keep the sympathy and surrport of r organizations elsewhere not
conversant with conditions here. These desperadoes stop at no crime, either upon
law-abiding members of their own organization, or business men, or laborers, or

- mine owners, and thus terrorize the entire community. Law-abiding and law- t~
ing labor organizations here and elsewhere should hasten to Lhﬂglmm im any and all
gympathy with organized reign of terror that has prevailed in S8hoshone County for
some years past and, as in this case, when the same has been carried on in the name
of those who toil, the speedier should be the disclaimer; and in disclaiming they
should further lend every effort to assist in the ag)secunon and conviction of those
who, by their acts of lawlessness and crime, defame the cause and misrepresent the
true mission of organized labor.

Certain of the county officers, whose sworn duty it is to preserve order and protect
property, have for years been either in sympathy with criminals or intimidated b
them, and in applying the remedy nothing less drastic than the disease itself wlﬁ
cure. There can be no compromise with crime nor with criminals; and further, in
the performance of my duty, there will be no subserviency to any private interest.
All gof(ixl citizens are urged to cooperate with the authorities in carrying this purpose
into effect.

The wage rate in the Ceenr d’Alenes is the highest for similar labor paid in the
United States. Laborers are assured that they can come here and work and receive
that protection to which every American citizen isentitled. Every resourceat my com-
mau(s will be used to this end, and they are further assured that none of the present
safeguards will be withdrawn until those certain inalienable rights, among which are
enjoying and defending life and liberty, acquiring, possessing, and protecting prop-
erty, pursuing happiness, and securing safety, guaranteed by our Congtitution and
dear to every American heart, are firmly and Lalangly established.

FrANK BTEUNENBERG.

General Merriam said further on this point (p. 1813):

A common error has heen made by the public press in failing to note that an order
addressed to mine owners, and printed in quotation marks, and introduced into the
preamble of this proclamation, is no part of the {Jora-clamntion proper; and with that
order addressed to mine owners, and I presume to all mine owners, I had absolutely
no part and absolutely no knowledge until I saw it in the proclamation prepared
containing the rules by which it should be carried out. -

With reference to lending my approval to that paper, I wish to say that while this
permit system did not concern me directly, there was nothing in my instructions
which lirfited me in the exercise of my judgment upon any measure which I deemed
advisable or necessary in meeting the exigencies of the situation. It did concern me
indirectly in this, that if the carrying out of this proclamation should result in viola-
tions of any kind or disturbance of the peace, then it would be my duty under the
orders I had to act (p. 1514 ). L

Any disturbance or any breach of the peace, growing out of those or of any other
t{:tu.nm.I g\;ou]d ve been suppressed by my troops regardless of the origin of the row

P g

Bartlett Sinclair corroborates the testimony of General Merriam on
this point (p. 1670):

General Merriam read the permit application over and made some suggestions,
the exact p rt of which I can not now tell.

Representative Cox. They are in the record there.
The Wirness. I will accept that as true. I adopted those, and my congultation
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with General Merriam about that had nothing more to do with the thought of his
heing implicated in it than it has now with any member of this committee., Tt was
done as a matter of courtesy, to give the application dignity, and to receive assur-
ance, in case there was an attempt made to obstruct its enforcement, that I could
eall on the troops, as T had done in the past, for protection. That is all the meaning
that his approval of it has,

It thus appears that General Merriam’s connection with this procla-
mation was to write ‘*examined and approved” and to sign his name
to the proclamation. This was unnecessary and added nothing to the

tency of the measure, which was purely an instrument of martial
aw, intended to aid in restoring peace and order to that community.
It was a device of the State, and its character was not changed in the
least by bearing the signature of the commander of the military forces.
That this was clearly understood by the War Department and by Gen-
eral Merriam, is made plain by the following extracts from his report
and from various telegrams:

Warpxser, Inano, May 17, 1899.
Avsurant-GENERAL, Washington, D. C.:

Union miners now refusing work under conditions deemed by State authorities
necessary to insure good order. This seems partly due to sympathy and srup;l)ort.
given by kindred unions in other States. Result is large numbers of idle and sullen
men in the mining centers—Mullan, Burke, and Wallace.

Mounted troops asked for in yesterday’s telegram would have a restraining effect,
The governor’s course appears to me judicious and his lEmmpt support necessary to
arrest lawlessness and crime, which has obtained in this county for several years.
With troops placed order will be preserved, trials will go on, witnesses can testify
under feeling of security, well-disposed miners will return to work, and the turbulent

element gradually disappear.
Mzrrian, Brigadier-General.

Warnxer, Inano, May 25, 1899.
Apsorant-GeNERAL, Washington, D. C.:

Conditions here steadily improving. Some miners accepting permits to work and
others leaving the district. ajor Smith’s squadron First Cavalry arrived at Wallace
yesterday; will patrol the district and relieve infantry guards over all magazines con-
taining explosives.

I think acute stage of disorders is and nothing now required but time for
restoration of civil functions, trial of the rioters, and reorganization of local indus-
tries.

Number of prisoners to-day is 330. Nearly all admit being in the riot of April
29. Banitary condition is beyond complaint. No deaths; one serious case of pneu-
monia and L{u'ee cases of tonsilitis and bronchitis, not serious.

I will be at Vancouver to-morrow for consultation with department staff on ques-
tions of supply and expenditures; at San Francisco Monday, then go to Denver by
Thursday, leaving Major Smith in command here.

Merriay, Brigadier-General.

Dexver, Covo., May 29, 1899.

Gen. H. C. MERRIAM,

Phelan Building, San Francisco, Cal.:

Followi.n‘% repeated: Graves, Aid. Washington, D. C,, May 26, via Vancouver

ks, Wash., May 27, 1809. Gen. H. C. Merriam, Denver, Colo. To be for-
warded. It is charged in resolutions by the Western Labor Union, under date of
May 20, just received by the President, that owners of mines in Ceenr d’Alene
district are denied the right of employing any man unless he first makes affidavit
that he is a nonunion miner and that the army sent to aid the State authorities to
preserve peace and protect property is being used to enforce the alleged order. The
statement must be the result of some misunderstanding, which should be properly
corrected. The President wishes a statement of facts at once.

By order of the Secretary of War:
H. C. Coreiv, Adjutant-General.
H. Rep. 1999—8



114 CEUR D'ALENE LABOR TROUBLES.

[Sent from train May 30, in Nevada.)

ApiuTANT GENERAL UNITED STATES ARMY,
Washington, D. C.:

Resolutions referred to in your telegram are at fault, like most others on that sub-
ject. State authorities require miners to obtain permits, but no affidavits are required.

en must sign a paper denying participation in the crimes of April 29, also deny
m‘:eml:'t;rah];p in any society which did incite or approve those crimes, and promise to
obey the law.

Troops are taking no part in this unless keeping the peace does go. Every mine
owner I have seen strongly approves.

Merrian, Brigadier-General.

Wasmixarox, D. C., May 31.
Brigadier-General Menrram,
Commanding Departinent of Colorado, Denver, Colo.:
You will instruet Major Smith, commanding at Wallace, thathe is to use the United
States troops to aid the State authorities simply to suppress rioting and to maintain
and order. These were your original. instructiens. The Army must have
nothing whatever to do with enforcing rules for the government of miners or miners'
unions, That is a matter for the local anthorities to deal with.
R. A. Avcer, Secretary of War.

The plan of operation of the *‘permit system” is shown by the
testimony to be as follows (pp. 1636 and 1637). Sinclair testifies:

The method by which the applications are signed is this: An applicant appears at
the office of one of the deputies and a printed application is handed to him. No
questions are asked. He reads the statements, and if he can subscribe to them,
unless the deputy has positive knowledge that he is subscribing falsely, he receives
a permit.

t is those men of that particular union and no other union that are not law-abid-
ing. [t is not aimed at labor unions at all, but is aimed at that organization, which
we hold has taken itself out of the category of labor organizations by reason of its
criminal acts.

To-day the mines of the Ceeur d’Alene are worked by union men, but not by mem-
bers of that one union, We claimed that was just such an organization as the Mafia,
of New Orleans, or the Molly Maguires; and that is true; and we felt that the State
had a right to suppress it it had been responsible for all the crimes in the Ceeur
d'Alene up to that time, and including that,

The-proclamation at first applied only to underground work. Per-
haps a month after the original proclamation its application was
extended, by another written notice or proclamation, to workers above
ground connected with the mines (p. 1673).

This amendment was opposed by the management of the Bunker
Hill and Sullivan Company, for the reason that they were at that time
engaged in reconstructing their works and had alarge number of men
employed on their mill. They requested delay until the mill could be
completed, but this peimission was refused and the amendment went
into operation at once (p. 1756).

At the time when the hearing began before this committee some
7,000 permits had been issued, of which perhaps 130 went to men who
had belonged to the miners’ unions of the Ceeur d’Alenes. The regu-
lation does not apply against, prospectors or men who own their own
claims, and only some half dozen arrests have been made for its viola-
tion. These have been of men who obtained permits by giving false
names or for working without a permit. It was not directed against
labor organizations as such, nor was any member of a miners’ union
or other labor organization who did not participate actually or other-
wise in these riots denied a permit to work (p. 1587).
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Great stress has been laid upon the fact that a permit system was
established, under which it was requisite for all men desiring to be
employed in the mines of Shoshone County to procure from duly and
regularly constituted authorities a permit, which the aﬂ:pllcnnt was
requuedy to sign, and a coEy of which was inserted in the resolution
which has been made the basis of this investigation. These permits
were issued under and in accordance with a proclamation from the
governor of Idaho, through his representative, and in said proclama-
tion is distinctly stated the parties and organizations to which it refers.
Not a single word or line of that proclamation mentions the name of
labor or of a labor organization. Organizations which commit erim-
nal acts are justly called criminal. Individuals who commit crimes
are justly called criminals, but no true friends of labor, or of labor
organization, will for a moment defend crime, either by an individual
or by an organization, even though said erime be committed by an indi-
vidual or organization claiming to be acting under the name of organized
labor.

F. O. Martin, a witness who appeared before the committee, was
arrested for obtaining a permit under a false name. It was shown that
if he had applied for a permit under his own name it wounld have been
refused, because the State was in possession of sworn evidence (pp.
1490 and 1589) that he was a member of the mob of April 29, for
which offense, and for participating in the crimes committed that day,
be is now under indictment.

This *“permit system” can only be defended on the ground of the
extreme necessity of martial law, and whether it should be continued
after martial law ceases is a question which only the State of Idaho
can decide. It has proved a most effective means toward accomplish-
ing the end for which it was devised. It has been carried on without
any active aid or assistance of the Federal troops. Whether it can be
maintained if troops were withdrawn can not now be determined, and
is not within the scope of this investigation. It is clearly proved that
no man has been prevented by the Em_v of the Unitedy gtates since
April 29, 1899, from going to work in the Ceeur d’Alene mining
district. .

The last charge of this paragraph, that no union men are permitted
to work in that county, and that the meetings of miners’ unions are
prohibited, is absolutely disproved by the fact that various union men
are now at work in the Cceur d’Alenes, and that meetings of miners’
unions are being held there weekly (p. 1593).

Complaint is made, while all men working in mines in Shoshone
County are compelled to take out permits, an instance is alleged to
have occurred where men were forced against their will and at the
]l{oint of the bayonet to return to work in the Tiger-Poorman Mine,

he work was necessary to keep the pumps working so the mine
would not be flooded. It is charged that the officer in oinrge, Captain
Lyon, U. S. A., would have shot the men had they not obeyed his
orders. The testimony on this point is conflicting, but the greater
%robability points to the truth of the account given by Captain Lyon.

e is corroborated in several particulars, and the committee accepts
his version of the affair. His statement is as follows (p. 1978):

Rumors had come to me at various times that attempt would be made to destroy
these mines (at Burke). These rumors were more or less confirmed by two attempts,

or attacks made, first, upon the magazine of the Tiger-Poorman mine at Burke,
between 2 and 3 o’clock in the morning, when it was dark and rainy, and the other
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upon the magazine of the Helena-Frisco mine at Gem, about four or five days later,
between 2 and 3 o’clock in the morning, also a dark night. Upon both of these
oceasions shots were exchanged, but I was unable to determine whether the other
gide had any casnalties or what they were. They got away. My own men had no
casualties. This occurred latein May or very earlyin June. Shortly after that, two
or three days perhaps, in the latter part of May (the exact date Ido not rememi)ar),
in the afternoon, the master mechanic of the Tiger-Poorman mine came into the
office of the mine, where I was conversing with Mr. Culbertson, and told us that the
pump men had gone out. Mr. Culbertson asked him why and whether they had
assigned any reason for their doing so, and a general conversation, a triangular conver-
sation, between Mr. Culbertson, Mr. Gill, and myself resulted. My effort in this
conversation was to find out, if possible, whether or not these pump men had been
intimidated in any way or had Eee.n ordered out by the union or by anybody. As
a result of this conversation between the three of us, it was made very clear to me
that they had been intimidated and had been ordered out, probably by the Burke
miners' union. Mr, Culbertson was very apprehensive abount the eafety of the mines,
It developed during the conversation that tﬁ:e pumps were throwing, according to
Mr. Gill, between 1,300 and 1,400 gallons of water per minute, and Mr. Culberfson
told us to throw in the buckets and begin bailing. These buckets, I understood,
were large affairs, holding a barrel perhaps, and they might keep down the water
until something conld be done.

Mr. Culbertson, as I have said, was very apprehensive about the safety of the
mines, I understood that it would only be a matter of a few hours, anywhere from
six to twelve, before the pump on the 1,600-foot level, the last pump, would be cov-
ered and its use would be destroyed. He asked me to see what I could do about it
and I realized that somet.hit:f had to be done and done very quickly. I stepped out
on the street and happened to see two men whom I regarded to be leaders amon,
the men of the local union—Frank Gustayszon, I think, and a man b;' the name o
Kelly—I asked them to please tell the members of the Burke miners’ union that I
wonld like to see them as quickly as possible; at the same time I sent my orderly
down to the camp to tell my sergeant to send sentries up to the hall to maintain
order, but they were to remain on the outside and not to come in. Their orders
were to maintain order. At the same time I told the sergeant to get his men under
arms in case of any disturbance.

In ten or fifteen minutes the hall was pretty well crowded and :.gparently everybody
was there who intended to come; and I then told them that I had been informed that
the Eump men had quit work and that I believed they had stopped work by order
of the Burke miners’ union, or the union of Butte, Mont., or had been intimidated
in some way and forced to stop; that I regretted the occasion very much, indeed,
and that I believed they were making a mistake. I told them that 1 believed it 0;13
fair to them that they should know what my orders were; that I had been orde:
to prevent the destruction of the mines in Canyon Creek. I stated that I inter-
preted that order to mean the destruction from any cause—fire, dynamite, or water—
and that I proposed to carry out that order, no matter how disagreeable it might be,
and that I would give the Burke miners’ union, consequently, just five minutes to
rescind that order to the pump men.

Mr. Culbertson then made a few remarks, The fresiding man turned to me and
gaid: ““There is another side to this aifair; we would like to have you hearit.’' I
told him that it was not a time to argue, that the shaft was filling up and I could not
listen to the other side; that it would have no effect; that it could not have any
effect upon me or upon my actions. He then said that five minutes was not long
enough to take a vote and that he wanted half an hour. I then doubled the fime
and gave them ten minutes. In order that t.heﬁ might have greater freedom, as I
stated to them, 1 left the hall. At the end of the fen minutes a committee waited
upon me and I entered the hall. The committee reported to me that the_Burke
miners’ union had nothing to do with this order, and practically repudiated it.

I then called for the pump men and asked them if they were there. Five of them
were there. I believe there were seven all told. T asked them if they were willing
to go back to work in view of the report of the Burke miners’ union. The spokes-
man of these pump men turned to me and said: ‘“Before we go back to work we
would like to ask if the Burke miners’ union would offer any objections or throw an
obstacles in our way when we go back to work.” T turned to this committee an
told them, that as they represented the Burke miners' union theBy could Answer that
question. After some hesitation and delay they said that the Burke miners’ union
would not offer any objections to the pump men or throw any obstacles in their way
if they went back to work. I congratulated the union men upon the wisdom of their
course, and also the pump men, and fold them I wonld have nothing further to say to
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them or do with them, and that they conld start the pumps whenever they got ready.
They went out and started the pumps soon after that and Mr. Gill reported to me
later that the pumps were going as soon as they could get steam down to them.
They had been closed down about an hour; the pipes were not quite cold but tl::?r
started very soon after that. Mr. Gill also reported to us in the office that the shait
had filled up in the hour, or the time they were not working, the distance of 75 fect,
notwithstanding the fact that the buckets were working at the time. The lowest
level, if I remember correctly, was 1,600 feet. There was a pump on that level; the
shaft was down some hundred feet below that. ) 5

1 made no threats against the pump men at this meeting and we did not even
make a show to protect the pump men when they went to work. There were no
sentinels placed in the mines and never were; there were sentinels placed on the
surface about the buildings, but that, it was clearly understood between Mr. Culbert-
son and myself, was to protect from fire, and those were my special orders. They
had nothing to do with the pump men; there never were any sentinels over them.

Nothing was said to me that day to the effect that these pump men had made the
statement to Culbertson that they could not work with permit men and would not
work with them, and were going out.

There were from 100 to 120 men present at that meeting. As I told Gustavson and
Kelly that I wanted to see the members of the Burke Miners' Union my natural
inference was that most of the men in the hall were members of the Burke Miners'
Union. At that meeting I gave them five minutes to rescind an order, if there was
one. I supposed and believed then, and believe now, that there was an order issued
by that union to the pump men to go out of the mines. Igave them five minutes to
reseind that order and afterwards extended it to ten minutes. I understood that
after the pumps were shut down the tanks had been started. T did not know any-
thing about the capacity of the tanks to keep the mine free from water, except what
Mr. Gill told me at the time, that they were utterly insufficient; that they might
help, but that they conld not make any sort of headway against keeping the water
down, that the water would gain constantly on them. 1 understood that during the
hour the pumps were stopped the shaft had filled 75 feet.

I had been qlveu relgetcdly to understand by men up Canyon Creek that the
miners, particularly at Burke, were a fearless, devilish lot; that they loved nothing
better than a fight, and unless things were handled very carefully there would be a
fight; that they did not care anything about their lives. The coroner told me that
in a conversation, and I thought he was a man that knew better than I did, and I
think perhaps he was right. I did not know what was going to happen in the hall
and I thought it was best to be prepared. If there were goldiers outside there it
might put a stop to anything or catch it in its incipiency before it got beyond eontrol.
It was a precaution on my and for that reason I stationed four soldiers as guards
outside the door to the hall where the meeting was held. :

The twelfth charge is as follows:

. Whereas it is charged that during the months when a great portion of the male
citizens of Shoshone County were thus unlawfully held in imprisonment by the
United States troops the wives and families of the said citizens were subjected to
insult and outrages by the soldiers of the United States stationed in that county;

There was no proof produced showing that a single woman in the
Ceeur d’Alenes was subjected to insult or outrage by the soldiers of
the United States Army stationed in that county. Some loose talk
and irresponsible charges of this nature regarding some of the soldiers
were indulged in, but no specific instance appears.

The only complaint on this score, which mentions any details at all,
is testified to by Bartlett Sinclair (p. 1652).

Toward the latter part of the summer I had occasion to visit Burke, and a lady,
whose name 1 have now forgotten, approached me with a small note, which, she
eaid, was handed to her, or pushed in under her door, which Etl:?urted to be signed
by a negro soldier and contained an indecent proposal. I as the lady why she
had not at once reported the matter to the commander. She replied that she did
not think it was worth while. I then gaid to her, ““If you will permit me to take
that note I will see that it is thoroughly investigated.” She said, “No, I will not
let you have it.” She might have told me when she received it, but as she did not
care to have me investigate the matter for her or see that it was investigated, I, of
course, did not pay as much attention to it as I otherwise would.
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No complaint of this kind was ever presented to Governor Steunen-
berg or any of his agents, or to General Merriam or any of his subor-
dinates. General Merriam testifies that no complaint of this kind was
ever made to him from any source whatever, nor did any official
notice come to him through his subordinates that a complaint had
been made at any time. Not a single substantiated case of outrage or
insult against the wives or families of prisoners has been presented to
this committee.

l(;jlg.ptain Lyon pays the following splendid tribute to the colored
soldiers:

Q. Captain Lyon, it has been testified that the colored soldiers were insolent and
arrogant and domineering, and all that, in the service they performed. I will ask
you to state what the fact is about that.—A. My idea was exactly the contrary of
that, No complaint was ever made to me about their insolence or about their bein
overbearing, but several people nup there did make the remark to me that I seetneﬁ
to have a jolly crowd of g goldiers there; that they were always jolly and laugh-
ing and singing when they were noton duty, and that they did not seem to mind very
much being up all night and wet through. Several people remarked on theirﬁod
nature, No complaint was ever made to me. I never noticed any insolence on their

art.
5 Q. State to the committee what the character of these colored soldiers was.—
A. As goldiers, they were fine goldiers in the field. As to their character, I would
have given them all a good character, a great many of them very good, or excellent,
on their digcharge. My detachment was a picked detachment from a body or com-
pany of about 115, and I practically had the pick of those men. My noncommis-
sioned officers were very carefully selected.

Q. Captain, did you serve with this command in Cuba?—A. Yes, sir; this was my
OWn company.

Q. These colored soldiers, then, were in Cuba with you?—A. A number of them
were. Some of them were recruits of from four to eight months’ service, but all m
noncommissioned officers were old soldiers, whom I knew and knew very well, an
a great many of the privates were old soldiers,

Q. All the noncommissioned officers, then, were among these colored troops who
ch?irgeg with you up San Juan Hill’—A. Yes; they were all men who been
under fire.

The thirteenth charge is as follows:

Whereas it is ch that the outrageous misuse of the military power of the
United Btates, hereinbefore mentioned, was brought about at the instigation and in
the interest of the owners of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mines, who, it is also
charged, are the owners and manipulators of other gimilar trusts.

There is no proof of any outrageous misuse of the military power
of the United States. On the contrary, it has been shown conclusively
that the military power of the United States exerted in Shoshone
County was in strict accordance with their instructions and with the law.

This premise failing, the charge itself is entirely unsupported. The
owners of the Bunker Hill and gulli\'an mine did ask the governor of
Idaho for the protection to which the law entitled them. perty of
theirs valued at a quarter million of dollars had been destroyed by a
mob. Civil process was paralyzed; the county administration was
helpless and insufficient, or in actual collusion with the rioters, and
the experiences of the past seven years showed that no relief was
possible at the hands of court or jury in Shoshone County. ,

If the time ever comes when it is blameworthy, under such circum-
stances, to ask the protection of the strong arm of the mili power,
then, indeed, is law dethroned and anarchy supreme. It is absolutely
proven, however, that the owners of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan -
mine had nothing whatever to do with the administration of martial
law in that county, and that no mine owner or any other person out-
side of the governor of Idaho had any connection, direct or indirect,
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with the performance by General Merriam and his subordinates of
their duty under such trying circumstances. :

It is charged that the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company violated
the law of Idaho just as much as did the men who destroyed their
property. There are two distinct charges of this character.

ne charge is that of violating a statute of Idaho providing for
arbitration in cases of disagreements between employers and em-
ployees. This law is found in Session Laws of Idaho of 1897, pages
141-146, and is entitled an act—

To provide for a State board of arbitration for the settlement of the differences
between employees and their employers and to provide for local boards of arbitra-
tion subordinate thereto.

Under this statute the State board of arbitration may act on its own
motion or on the written application of either party to the contro-
versy.

Inythe case in point the State board of arbitration took no step and
neither employer nor employed asked for its intervention. There
were no differences between the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company
and its employees. Their request for an increase of wages had been
granted. The demand that this company *‘recognize” the union was
made by parties not in the employ of the company. The Bunker Hill
and Sullivan mine was a nonunion mine. It was outsiders who were
demanding that it be made a union mine. The company had nothing
to arbitrate with its employees. The charge that this company has
violated the arbitration statute of Idaho is unfounded.

The Bunker Hill and Sullivan Company is also charged with having
violated the following statute of Idaho:

It shall be unlawful for any person, firm, or corporation to make or enter into an
agreement, either oral or in writing, by the terms of which any employee of suc
serson, firm, or corporation, or any person about to enter the employ of such person,

rm, or corporation, as a condition for continuing or obtaining such employment
shall promise or agree not to becoine or continue a member of a labor organization.

There is no prohibition in this statute against réfusing employment
to a man because he is a member of a labor organization, ang there is
no testimony that the company violated the provisions of the statute.

Neither did this company have any connection with the selection of
sheriff, prosecuting attorney, judge, or jury. There is not a particle
of testimony supporting such a charge.

The other insinuations contained in this paragraph are purely
innuendoes, supported by not a particle of truth, and are unworthy of
further, attention.

The fourteenth charge is as follows:

Whereas said outrages above described, as Earpgtrated by the United States Army
and its officers, are an intolerable abuse of the rights of citizens and a dire menace
to the perpetuity of free institutions and the liberty of citizens.

The committee is not satisfied that any outrages were perpetrated
by the Army or its officers. The only intolera.b%e abuse of the rights
of citizens” shown to have existed in the Cceur d’Alenes was perpe-
trated against peaceful, law-abiding citizens by the criminal organiza-
tions who have disgraced Shoshone %ounty since 1892, and who are now
complaining bitterly because of the prospect that the guilty may be
brought to justice. The committee fails to see in this situation any
menace to the perpetuity of free institutions or the liberty of honest
citizens. :

In the charges contained in the resolution an attempt has been made
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to place what is generally known and termed organized labor in a posi-
tion of antagonism to the authorities of the State of Idaho and of the
United States. .

Your committee is not willing to believe that any organization of
workingmen will for a moment consider itself honored by an attempt
to make it responsible for a violation of law, or for violence in any
form, more especially where that violence results in the wholesale
destruction of property, arson, and murder.

The evidence in the case maintains the assertion that the insurrection,
riot, murder, and destruction of property in Shoshone County was not
done by organized labor, nor in the name of organized labor, nor by
the vote of any recognized body of or%nnized labor, but was done by a
body of men who were not recognized by, and would not affiliate with
any of the recognized national organizations of labor in this country.
What has been done outside of organized labor by individuals can not
be charged to organized labor. The fact that those guilty of the
deplorable conduct happened to be members of some kind of an organi-
zation does not justify charging the great body of honest, conservative,
organized labor with the crimes committed. If wolves in sheep’s cloth-
ing creep into an organization, and under its protection seek to distort
and pervert its peaceful, legitimate objects, the intelligent labor of
America can diseriminate between the true and the false. No greater
enemy to honest labor walks the streets to-day than the man who, in
the name of organized labor, picks up the cause of the disturber of
the peace.

The American workman, by birth or adoption, educated in our
publie schools, nourished by our free institutions, and imbibin% the
true spirit of liberty of action guaranteed by the laws of our land,
will have little sympathy with the anarchist, and will refuse to he
sponsor for dynamite and destruction as arbiters of disputes between
employers and employed, And, though lawless bands for a brief time
may rule with a high hand, the sober second thought of American
labor will not only applaud, but invoke the full use of all the power of
the State and nation to uphold law and order.

There are few if any States in the Union where laboring men are
better treated, get better wages, and have more opportunities to acquire
homes and secure a competence than in Idaho.

The relations between laboring men and their employers in this State
are unusually pleasant. With the single exception of Shoshone
County, there have been no strikes for years in the State and no labor
troubles of any kind.

It is clearly recognized that the reciprocal relations betwéen em-
loyer and employed are so closely intertwined that when one suffers
ot{ suffer, when one prospers both prosper, and an injury to one is

the concern of both. By working together, hand in hand, enterprise
(the employer) and labor (the employed) are the marvelous forces of
development and prosperity that%a.ve builded up our nation. How
suicidal, then, for either to attack or injure the other. Labor creates
the finished product and enterprise seeks the market. Labor receives
the reward 1n wages, enterprise in profit on investment. To lessen
wages restricts the market. To cripple enterprise discharges labor.
Mutual interest and common sense dEl)ctate mutual concession and for-
bearance. To destroy a mine, a mill, or a factory injures enterprise
at the first it is true. But it injures labor vastly more in the end.
Enterprise can restore the ruined property from its reserve of accum-
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alated wealth, but the day of toil lost to labor can not be restored. It
is lost forever.

The duty of labor to labor demands that law and order shall be upheld.
Anarchy and strife fall first and most heavily upon the man who toils.
When his labor ceases his means to consume ceases. His labor is his
capital; by the employment of his hands and his brain there is given
t,oli:lim the opportunity to obtain for himself and family the necessi-
ties, comforts, and luxuries of life. The great conservative power to
maintain the Government in enforcing law should be the labor of the
land, whether organized labor or unorganized labor. That man is not
a true friend to labor who would uphold violence as a means of settling
disputes between employer and employed.

he natural resources which are the gifts of the Divine Creator are
transformed into instruments for the public good by the brawn and
brain of labor, In this sense labor may justly lay eclaim to be the
creator of all wealth. No member of the community, therefore, can
have a higher stake in maintaining the result of his own creation than
the labor which created it. In no land has there been given such
opportunity for the humble to rise to positions of comfort and wealth.
']‘ie safeguards thrown around our institutions by law and order have
made this possible. Hardly a wealthy man of the present generation
but was the poor boy of a preceding generation, and his power and
opportunity to rise from poverty to wealth have been safeguarded by
the wise and prudent laws of the land. The great conservative ele-
ments which are the corner stone of our Government, of all our power,
and ofdpmsperity under our flag are the little red schoolhouse on the
hill and the humble home of American labor. Therefore there will
be no greater conservator of law and order than the honest, true,
industrious workingman of the United States.

President McKinley and the War Department exercised every pre-
caution that the military act solely within the Constitution and not
encroach in the distinet sphere of the civil authorities.

They carefully watched the changing phases of the situation, and
were deeply anxious that equal justice should be given to the miners
agd. dlgi::le owners and the rights of each should not be infringed or
abridged.

They were kept accurately informed as to the state of affairs in the
Ceeur d’Alenes, and were in constant communication with the military
in regard to their specific duty of aiding the State authorities in the
enforcement of the laws of Idaho.

Every rumor of cruelty or suffering of those in prison was quickly
and carefully examined into, and the President exhausted every effort
to ameliorate the unfortunate conditions of those in confinement.

He exhibited his deep interest and solicitude in the cause of labor by
his instruction *‘that the military must have nothing whatever to do
with enforcing rules for the government of miners or miners’ unions.”

The subjoined telegrams are eloquent in their testimony of the
President’s kindly feelings:

Tue Puesro Tranes AND LaBor AssemsLy,
Pueblo, Colo., May 11, 1869,
Witniayx McKinLey,
President of the United States, Washington, D. C.

Sm: At a regular meeting of the Pueblo Trades and Labor Assembly on May 10
I was instructed to forward to you the inclosed resolution, which will, we trust,
receive your consideration, bearing as it does on a subject of vital interest to millions
of union people in this our country. The order of the attorney-general of Idaho
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and General Merriam will, we believe, if allowed to stand, create a precedent which
will in time cause the shetid'mg of much blood, to say nothing of the suffering and
mi it will cause through the forcible disruption of organization among workmen
and the resulting lowering of wages, for we anticipate that if this order stands and
is executed it will establish a precedent which will be quickly seized upon by cor-
borations, and it may take the saber, bayonet, and bullet to sgain overthrow slavery.
he subject is broad and deep and merits your earnest consideration.
ery respectfully,
. F. H. Ricnarvson, Recording Seeretary.
A reply to the assembly stating your views in the premises will be appreciated.

.

Wasmnaron, D. C., May 16.
General MERRIAM:

Secretary: War desires report of present existing conditions.
Conpin, Adjutant-General.

ApivraNt-GENERAL'S OFFICE,
Washington, May 25, 1899.
Mr. F, H. RICHARDSON,
Recording Secvetary the Pueblo Trades and Labor Assembly,
Central Block, Pueblo, Colo,

Smr: Your letter of May 11 to the President, inclosing resolutions of the Pueblo
Trades and Labor Assembly regarding the action of Major-General Merriam in the
matter of the labor disturbances in Idaho has been referred to this office, and in
reply I have the honor to inform you that your assembly has been misinformed as
regards the action of General Merriam, and that it is not true that he has issued an
order that no union men ghall be employed in 8hoshone County. In this connection
the Secretary desires me to inclose copy of the only instructions that have been given
General Merriam by the War Department, as also two telegrams from Generalsgder-
riam, dated May 16 and 17, on the subject.

Very respectfully, H. C. Corpix, Adjutant-General.

Exrcurive MANSION,
Washington, D. C., May 26, 1899.
My Dear Mr. Secreranry: The President directs me to send you the inclosed com-
munication from Mr. W, €. Williams, of Wilburton, Ind. T., concerning the miners’
strike in the West. It is the President’s understanding that no orders whatever
have been issued by General Merriam as to who shall work or not work, and that
he has only been supporting the State authority in preserving the peace. The Presi-
dent desires to know whether his information on this point is correct.
Very respectfully, yours,
Gro. B. CorTELYOU,
Acting Secretary to the President.
Hon. R. A, AvGer, Secretary of War.

Execurive MaxsioN,
Washington, May 26, 1899.
Gen. H. C. Merrra,
Vancouver Barracks, State of Washington:

(To be forwarded. )

It is charged in resolutions bﬁ the Western Labor Union, under date of Muy 20,
just received by the President, that owners of mines in the Ceeur d' Alene district are
denied the right of employing any man unless he first makes affidayit that he isa
nonunion miner, and the army sent to aid the State authorities to preserve and
protect property is being used to enforce the alleged order. The statement must be
the result of some misunderstanding, which should be promptly corrected. The
President wishes a statement of facts at once.

By order of the Secretary of War:
4 e H. C. Cormix, Adjutant-General.
Sent from the Executive Mansion at 11.10 p. m.
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War Derartsest, Washington, May 29, 1899.
Mr. Presioent: I return herewith the letter from Mr. W. C. Williams, of Wilbur-
ton, Ind. T., concerning the miners’ strikes in the West, forwarded on the 26th
instant. No instructions were given to General Merriam other than that he should
support the State anthorities in preserving peace,
Very respectiully, your obedient seryant,
R. A. Avcer, Secretary of War.
The Presipest,
Tivecutive Mansion.

Dexver, Covo., May 29, 1899,
Gen. H. O, Menrianm,
Phelan Building, San Francisco, Cal.:

Following repeated: Graves, Aid, Washington, D. C., May 26, via Vancouver
Barracks, '\ﬁash., May 27,1899, Gen. H. C. Merriam, Denver, Colo. To be forwarded.
It is cha in resolutions by the Western Labor Union, under date of May 20, just
received by the President, that owners of mines in Ceweur d’Alene district are denied
the right of amglo ing any man unless he first makes affidavit that he is a nonunion
miner and that the army sent to aid the State authorities to preserve peace and
protect property is being used to enforce the alleged order. The statement must be
the result of some misunderstanding, which should be properly corrected. The
President wishes a statement of facts atonce.

By order of the Secretary of War:

H. C. Corsix, Adjutant-General,

Wasnixarox, D. C., May 81.
Brigadier-General Mrrriay,
Commanding Department of Colorado, Denver, Colo.:

Yon will instruct Major Smith, commanding at Wallace, that he is to use the
United States troops to aid the State authorities simply to suppress rioting and to
maintain peace and order. These were your original instructions. The Army must
have nothing whatever to do with enforcing rules for the government of miners or
miners' unions. That is a matter for the local authorities to deal with.

R. A. AvrGer, Secretary of War.

ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE,
Washington June 18, 1898,
Comma¥DING GENERAL, DEPARTMENT OF CoLORADO,
Denver, Colo.: .
Western Labor Union report that man{lcitimns and miners in the Ceenr d’ Alene
district “‘have been thrown into a corral like so many cattle for slaughter, and have
been denied the right of counsel and the actual necessaries of life.””
Acting Secretary of War desires statement of facts. Any lack of comfort for these
men ghould be remedied as soon as possible.
H. C. Corsin, Adjutant-General.

War Deearrsest, Washington, June 18, 1899.
The Goverxor or Tnawo, Boise, Idaho:
It has been reported to the President that the prisoners at Wardner have been
denied counsel. Please wire the Department if there is any truth in the statement,
G. D. MEIELEJOHN,
Acting Secretary of War.

Burre, Moxw., Seplember 27, 1899.
* Pregident McKixvey, Washington, D, C.:
Prigoners in the Wardner ‘‘bull pen’ held under military authority have been
placed on a bread-and-water diet, and their treatient has of late been o brutal that
gome are contemplating suicide rather than longer endure such misery. They are
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even refused permission to consult with their counsel. These men have now been
ilu}lmrisoned for nearly five months, without any charge against them, and demand
and sought speedy trial, but were refused by the State court on the ground that that
court did not have jurisdiction; and until they can have a trial we demand for
them, in the name of justice and humanity, humane treatment at least.

Epw. Boyce,
President of Western Federation of Miners.

War Deparrsent, Washington, September 28, 1899,

Sir: I beg to eall your attention to your application to the President, dated April
29, 1899, for military forces of the United States to suppress insurrection in Shoshone
County, in the State of Idaho, and to inquire whether the insurrection in that county
has not now been suppressed so that the troops may be withdrawn and employed in
other duties. In case you should deem that the time has not arrived for the entire
withdrawal of the troops of the United States from that comll[ﬁ'. I beg to make the
following suggestion in regard to their further service. I am informed that they are
now being used by the civil authorities of the State and county as a guard for certain
prisoners—upward of a hundred in number—who have been arrested by the civil
authorities upon warrants issued by the civil courts, and are held under such war-
rants or indictments found by the grand jury of the county; that these prisoners, or
most of them, have been held for a number of months, and that during the period of
their detention the district court of 8hoshone County, which is the court having juris-
diction to try indictments found by the grand jury, has twice convened and adjourned
without bringing these prisoners to trial; that the next regular term of court will
not be until January of next year, and that, in the meantime, unless something is
done to prevent it, these prisoners would remain in prison under guard of the troops
of the United States.

I do not wish in any way to make any s'uﬁgaﬁon relatit:ﬁ to the administration of
justice in your State or to imply that the failure to brin, ese prigoners to trial has
not been for perfectly good reasons in accordance with the law and practice of the
courts of Idaho, but I am much disinclined to have the troops of the United States
continued longer in the attitude of retaining in custody the citizens of a State who
have remained so long without being tried, and I feel bound to urge that if it is not
convenient to bring the prisoners to a y trial you will substitute civil guards as
their custodians and relieve the troops of the United States from further performance
of that duty.

I have the honor to be, very respectiully, yours,
Evtnu Roor, Secretary of War.

Hon. FRANK STEUNENBERG,

Governor of Idaho, Boise, Idalo.

Your committee, after careful examination and investigation of all
the charges contained in the resolution, finds the following, in addi-
tion to tEe findings set out in the be, iuuirg of their report:

First. The governor of Idaho, iniis efforts to establish order and
enforce the laws of the State, is to be commended for his courage and
fearlessness. The blind hatred excited by the mob, the consequent
disturbance of public business, and the reign of lawlessness is in a fair
way to be adjusted. The citizens of Idaho are to be congratulated on
the removal of a dangerous cancer that had long threatened the
and order of the State. Better ideas prevail as to the rights and
duties of men in relation to the preservation of society, and this im-
proved condition of affairs is in a great measure due to the conduct of
the governor of that State.

Second. The conduct of the military in the trying hours from May
2 to the present, amid the disturbing elements of the Ceeur d’Alenes,
when fierce passion flamed unchecked, when no hand was raised to
stay the dynamiter and the murderer, where the mob had been supreme,
is a matter of earnest congratulation to the country.
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-The days of riot and insurrection are not pleasant for the soldiers,
not a man but would have wished a different task, but he had sworn to
3!)3 ,and his duty was among the rugged mountains of the Ceeur

enes.

The colored troops who stood watch over the prison at Wardner
had stormed the hill at San Juan,and their manly bearing, courtesy,
and dignity tell of the true soldier. The white troops maintained the
traditional characteristics of the American soldier, and all are worthy
of the commendation of the country. They bore themselves with sol-
dierly bearin%under circumstances of the greatest aggravation.

Brig. Gen. H. C. Merriam and the officers and men under him are
to be commended for their wisdom, prudence, and soldierly behavior
during the turbulent days of riot and insurrection in Idaho, and the
result of this investigation is a complete exoneration and vindication
of their conduct.

The committee recommends the adoption of the following resolu-
tion:

** Resolved, That the charges set forth in House resolution No. 31
have not been sustained.”



VIEWS OF THE MINORITY.

On the 29th day of April, 1899, from 800 to 1.000 men went to the
Bunker Hill and Sullivan mine, situate near Wardner, in Shoshone
County, Idaho, and blew up the concentrator of that mine.

During the tElrogre'xs of the commission of this crime two men were
murdered by those engaged in perpetrating this outrage; the citizens
of Wardner were terrorized, and the officers of the law were power-
less to prevent the erimes and outrages which took place on that day.,
This erime can not be too severely condemned. Nothing can extenuate
it, and its authors deserve the severest punishment which the law can
mete out to them.

After the crime had been committed the perpetrators of it dispersed.
According to the evidence before the committee, three or four hundred
of those engaged in it fled from the county of Shoshone into the State
of Montana and into British Columbia. This evidence is reinforced
by'a telegram of General Merriam sent to the Adjutant-General of the
Army on May 4, 1899:

Avpsurant-GeNeraL Army, Washington, D. C.:

Inquest still in prog]zresa with closed doors. One hundred and twenty-eight arrests
made by State officials under military support. No signs of resistance, but indica-
tions are most leaders of mob have escaped, going east or west into Montana and
Washington; others hidden in the mountains. Sheriff at Thompsons Falls, Mont.,
reports many arriving on foot over mountain trails. Governors Idaho and Montana
corresponding for arrests in Montana. Troops in position to do all that is possible.

There is now no sign of o ized resistance.
g2 SN Megrriam, Brigadier-General.

These men escaped before May 4, 1899, and after the 29th of April,
1899, there was absolutely no resistance by anyone to the civil author-
ities of the State of Idaho. It appears from the evidence that the
civil authorities of Shoshone County at once began to arrest those who
were suspected of being engaged in the commission of the erime of
April 29, 1899, and were so engaged when their authority was sus-
pended by the action of the governor of Idaho, and by the sending of
troops of the United States into Shoshone County.

The governor of Idaho, acting upon telegrams and advices sent him
from tﬁe scene of the trouble, called upon the President of the United
States for troops to aid him in suppressing what he called an insurrec-
tion. The President responded to this call and General Merriam, of
the Army, was placed in command of the troops and directed to proceed
to Shoshone County. Your committee believes that the governor of
Idaho had the right to call upon the President for troops, and that the
President was authorized to respond to said call by virtue of article
4, section 4, of the Constitution of the United States; but your
committee is of opinion that the troops so sent to the State of Idaho
continued to be under the control of the President of the United
States, and that the military commander in command of said troops
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Waroner, Ipano, May 4, 1899.
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could only use them in aid of the civil authorities of the State to pre-
serve peace and order, and to prevent resistance being made by lawless
persons to the process of the courts and the proper civil authorities of
the State.

The telegram of the Secretary of War dated May 31 clearly defines
the duty of the commander of the troops, and shows beyond contro-
versy that the soldiers of the United States should not be used unless
it was necessary ‘‘to aid the State authorities to suppress rioting and
to maintain peace and order.”

Wasamvarox, D. C., May 31.
Brigadier-General MERRIMAXN,
Commanding Department of Colorado, Denver, Colo.:

You will instruct Major Smith, commandingat Wallace, that he is to use the United
States troops to aid the State anthorities s_:imF]y to suppress rioting and to maintain
peace and order. These were your original instructions. The Army must have
nothing whatever to do with enforcing rules for the government of miners or miners’
unions, That is a matter for the local authorities to deal with.

R. A. Arger, Secretary of War.

As a matter of fact there never was any rioting in Shoshone County
after the 29th of April, 1899; peace and order prevailed there when
the troops arrived. No resistance whatever was made to the serv-
ing of process or to any action taken or sought to be taken by the
State authorities. The courts were open, a coroner’s inquest was
being held, a grand LEury was very soon empaneled, no justice of the
peace was interfered with, no sheriff or constable was resisted by
anybody. The State authorities were exercising their functions, and
have so continued to exercise them from April 30, 1899, down to the

resent time. Such being the facts, it is most extraordinary that
nited States soldiers should have been kept for over a year in Sho-
shone County, Idaho, overawing the civil authorities, used with the
consent of the President of the United States in upholding a most
tyrannical course of conduct pursued by the governor of Idaho to
prevent men, charged with no crime, from earning their daily bread.

The evidence clearly shows that General Merriam totally misunder-
stood his duties, and was ignorant of the first principles of the laws of
the land. It may be, and probably is, true that he intended to do what
he thought was right, but his conduect displayed gross ignorance of law
and an utter indifference to the rights and liberties of the citizens.
General Merriam arrived at Wardner on May 3, after some of his
troops, which troops had already arrested a large number of men
without semblance of warrant, und at the suggestion of one Bartlett
Sinclair, the civil representative of the governor of Idaho. After
General Merriam’s arrival at Wardner, upon the suggestion of Mr,
Sinclair, he sent about 150 soldiers to the town of Bur%ie in Shoshone
County (May 3): these soldiers were accompanied by four so-called
deputies appointed by Sinclair verbally; these deputies and soldiers,
upon their arrival at Burke, found no disturbance there, no rioting,
no breach of the peace; the population of the town was pursuing its
usual avoeations; there was not a suspicion of resistance to the State
authorities, and yet these soldiers and deputies proceeded to arrest,
and did arrest and put under guard without warrant, the entire male
population of that town, consisting of about 300 persons; among them
were clergymen, school teachers, druggists, merchants, ete., they were
given no hearing; it is true that some of them were released in an hour
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or two, but that release did not and could not excuse the outrage thus
put upon innocent men and American citizens,

But the mass of these people were placed upon cars and taken to
Wardner, and there imprisoned. Not one of them, so far as the evi-
dence discloses, was ever tried for any offense, although many of them
were held in prison for months. Such conduct can not be too severely
condemned. Itwasan outrage upon the liberty of the citizen which has
no parallel in the annals of this country. Tt is no excuse to say that
General Merriam was requested to do this thing by the representative
of the governor. It was his duty, as the commander of the troops, to
know the law, and the law was and is that when a military commander
is sent into a State to aid the civil authorities thereof he can not act
unless those authorities are being resisted, and even if they are being
resisted the civil authorities must be armed with proper and legal
gm:rants before the military can aid them in the execution of their

uties.

The general commanding the troops exceeded his authority, and was
guilty of a gross violation of law when he sent a detachment of troops
into the State of Montana for the purpose of arresting supposed fugi-
tives from justice from Idaho. It can not be contended for a moment
that General Merriam had any authority for this action. Itis true
four so-called deputies accompanied the detachment of soldiers, but
the most ignorant citizen of the Republic knows that a deputy of one
State has no authority to arrest citizens in another State unlessclothed
with authority given him by the proper authorities of the State into
which he goes. The result of this invasion by General Merriam into
the State of Montana was the arrest of a citizen of Montana by Lieu-
tenant Liyon at St. Regis, Mont. This man, without warrant of law,
without even a hearing before a military court, was taken from his
own State into the State of Idaho and thrown into prison. It is true
that he was only held for a few days and then released, but that does
not excuse the outrageous treatment to which he was subjected. It
only serves to emphasize the inexcusable conduct of Lieutenant Lyon,
acting under the orders of General Merriam, in arresting and impris-
oning an entirely innocent man, taking him from his home and givin
him no opportunity to show his innocence. The conduct of Genera
Merriam in this matter is sought to be excused by him on the ground
that the governor of Montana authorized the arrest of suspects in
Montana without formal extradition papers; but this contention can
not be sustained. The governor of Montana had no such power, and
General Merriam should have known it.

Another instance of flagrant violation of law was the conduct of
Lieutenant L_yon, acting under orders from his superior, in forcing
men to work in the Tiger-Poorman mine by threats of violence. This
conduct was inexcusable. These men were freemen. Their labor was
their own, and no conditions justified Lieutenant Lyyon in forcing them
to work against their will, ’l‘he excuse that the mine would have been
destroyed is not tenable. If Lieutenant Liyon had seen fit he might
have used his soldiers for the purpose of pumping the water out of the
mine, but he exceeded his authority and violated the liberty of the
citizen when he forced citizens to work against their will. X

The suppression by Major Smith, of the Army, of the Mullan Mir-
ror, a newspaper published at Mullan, in Shoshone County, can not be
defended. It was a gross violation of law wholly unjustified by any
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evidence which was given before this committee. The editor of the
paper was put in jail without a warrant, kept there a long time with-
out a trial and with no charges ever preferred against him, and his
property destroyed and never returned to him. . :

e “permit system,” approved by General Merriam, and kept in
operation to this day by the presence of the military forces of the
United States, is an outrageous violation of the laws of Idaho and of
the laws of the United States. Under this system no man is permitted
to work in the mines of Shoshone County unless he obtains a permit
from Dr. France, a representative of the governor of Idaho. The
evidence before the committee is that this system could not be main-
tained without the aid and presence of the military forces of the United
States. Under this system the miners of the Ceeur d’Alene are abso-
lutely under the control of one man, and their daily bread can only be
earned at the will of an irresponsible officer, whose duties are defined
in no statute, and from whose acts and edicts there is no appeal. Such
a condition of affairs has never before existed in any community in the
United States, and that the Army of this country should be used for
such a purpose is a disgrace to our civilization and a grave reflection
upon those who permit such abuses to exist.

To sum up, the undersigned are satisfied from the evidence adduced
before the committee that General Merriam was wholly mistaken as
to his powers and duties; that he was ignorant of the laws of his coun-
try; that he failed to distinguish the difference between military law
and martial law, and that his conduct has resulted in the gravest
injuries to the liberty of the citizen and the rights of individuals,
Innocent men have been kept in prison for months without a trial,
and have been finally discharged without any charges being preferred
against them. i

The undersigned, to sustain the propositions of law above insisted
?on, cite the following authorities: Ex parte Milligan, 4 Wallace, 15

edera! Cases, case No. 8673; Cooley’s Constitutional Law passim;
Luther ». Borden, 1 Howard, Federal Cases, No. 9605.

We are aware that General Merriam defends his conduct in Sho-
shone County on the ground that he was carrying out the wishes and
requests of Mr. Bartlett Sinclair, the civil representative of the gov-
ernor of Idaho. It therefore becomes necessary to inquire into the
legality of the ap%ointment of Bartlett Sinclair, and to determine
whether he was such State authority as General Merriam should have
aided. It will not be denied that it was the duty of the commanding

neral to ascertain for himself and determine rightly who were the
State authorities of Idaho whom it was his duty to aid. The State
autlorities of Idaho, those meant by the Secretary of War, were
undoubtcdly the legal State authorities, those constituted by the laws
of the State. IFf, therefore, the governor of Idaho exceeded his pow-
ers in appointing what he called his representatives, it was the duty of
the commanding general to ignore the requests and wishes of any ille-
gal representative of the governor. It was equally his duty to refuse
to grant any requests of the governor himself unless they were valid
and legal requests. Thus any request to arrest any citizen of the
State without a warrant should have been ignored, because the mili-
tary could only properly aid the State authorities when they themselves
were acting in pursuance of law.

Now, as to the appointment of Bartlett Sinclair, it was plainly

H. Rep. 1999—9
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illegal, and not justified by any law or statute of Idaho. There are
statutes of Idaho (secs. 7405-7407) which authorize the governor to
appoint a civil officer to command State troops when called out to
sugpreas_ an insurrection; but in this case there were no State troops;
and it will not be contended for a moment that the governor of IdnS]ﬂo
could appoint a civil officer to command United States troops, or to
act in conjunction with them. There is no law of Idaho which author-
izes the governor to appoint any civil officer and to confer upon him
the powers of a dictator, with the right to arrest men indiscriminately
without a warrant, to a¥ int deputies, and to discharge all the fune-
tions of government. e governor has not this absolute power him-
self, and surely he can not confer it upon another. The contention
that this can done under martial law will not hold in this case,
because, while martial law was proclaimed, it, as a matter of fact, did
not exist. It could not exist, because the courts were open and every
State officer was discharging his functions without let or hindrance,
A coroner’s inquest, a grand jury, and all the machinery necessary to
bringing criminals to justice had full sway. There was no disturb-
ance of the peace, no destruction of property, no resistance to State
authority.

At one time or another there were over 1,100 men in the prison at
Wardner, known as the *“bull pen.” They were not tried; they were
not charged with any crime, and they were held and guarded by the
United gtatea troops. It was the duty of the military commander on
the ground and of the Commander in Chief of the Army to inquire
into the causes and reasons for the detention of these men. No such
inquiry was ever made, and this large number of American citizens
was imRrisoued without trial, and it is vain for the commanding gen-
eral and his superior officer, the President of the United States, to
justify this outrage on liberty by asserting that these citizens of the

nited States were held by the State authorities of Idaho.

It may be proper to state that the evidence discloses a conspiracy on
the part of the officers of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan mine, and of
those who sympathize with them, to drive from Shoshone County all
union miners by the device of the *‘ permit system,” which system, it
is admitted, can only be maintained by the use of United States
soldiers.

There is a specific statute in the State of Idaho against employers
of labor discriminating against employees by reason of their member-
ship in or affiliation with any labor union, and when the Bunker Hill
and Sullivan company gave notice in April that no union miner should
remain in their employ, they violated the law of the land just as much
as the men did who blew up the concentrator.

There is another statute in the State of Idaho providing specifically
for arbitration in case of difficulty between emplio yer and employee,
and when the managers of the Banker Hill and Sullivan refused to
arbitrate, they were just as much guilty of breaking the law of the
land as were the men who blew up the concentrator. In other words,
the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company stood alone as law-
breakers in two specific instances before their employees and other em-
ployees of that community were guilty of the destruction of ?roperty.

Again, it is but fair to suggest that had the mine owners been law-
abiding citizens themselves, and complied with the request of the gov-
ernor for arbitration, or complied with the statute which prohibited
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digerimination against men belonging to labor unions, there would
have been no violations on the part of the employees. A fair hearing
of both parties to the difficulties in the Cesur d’Alene district forces
the conclusion that those who provoked the crime of the 29th of April,
1899, were no less responsible for it, inasmuch as they were law-
breakers in two instances prior thereto, than were the men who actually
committed the malicious destruction of property. ! 3

There is another phase of this serious and important manifestation
of the social and military conditions of the country which must not be
overlooked. Under the constitution and statutes of the State of Idaho,
the governor is authorized in cases of emergency to call the legisla-
ture in session on twenty days’ notice. In this age of civilization, when
a man is supposed to be free from arrest without due process of law,
and free from imprisonment until he has been found guilty by a jury
of his peers, neither the governor of the State of Idaho nor the Presi-
dent of the United States was justified in brushing away the consti-
tution and statutes of the State of Idaho and the Constitution of the
United States and establishing the arbitrary, despotic, and tyrannical
imprisonment of men merely at the whim or caprice of an alleged rep-
resentative or agent stationed in the Cceur d’Alene district. mmon
sense and common decency would have s%ggested to the governor of
the State, as well as the President of the United States, that the legis-
lature of Idaho should have been called at once in session, and their
deliberations and decisions should have controlled the rights and the
liberties of these thousands of men, women, and children in the Cceur
d’Alene district.

It appears from the evidence taken that at no time from and after
the morning of the 30th of April, 1899, has there been even the slight-
est resistance offered to any civil officer, nor has there at any time been
wanting the services of county commissioners, a sheritf, a prosecuting
attorney, a jury, and a judge, all selected substantially at the sugges-
tion of the governor after conference and close communion with the
managers of the Bunker Hill and Sullivan Mining Company. Fair-
ness and impartiality on the Eart of the governor would have sug-
gested to him the calling of the legislature, that they might, in their
collective wisdom, decide what was necessary and for the best interests
of the State of Idaho; and prudence and a respectful concern on the
part of the President of the United States for the rights of the labor
unions of that district ought to have suggested to him that he demand
of the governor that ratEer than resort to his arbitrary and despotic
will he should call the legislature in session and let them determine
what course should be pursued; and the President should have notified
the governor that unless the ironclad and blacklisting system against
the members of labor unions was abolished the United States troops
would be immediately withdrawn. There appears in the evidence
nowhere any necessity or justification for tolerating the use of the
troops to enforce the permit system.

Section 4, article 4, of the Constitution of the United States, under
which we think the President was authorized to send the troops at the
call of the governor of Idaho, not only provides that the President
shall protect each State against domestic violence on the application of
the legislature, or the executive when the legislature can not be con-
vened, but it also provides that the United States shall guarantee to
eyvery State in this Union a republican form of government, and shall
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protect each of them against invasion, and we hold that the arbitrary
and tyrannical power exercised in establishing the blacklisting system
of union labor was not a republican form of government, nor éven a
civilized form of government, and we hold, as we believe all self-
respecting citizens of America will hold, that the President of the
United States is not and was not justified in sending the troops into
the State of Idaho and leaving them indefinitely, or forever, in that
jurisdiction without exercising any discretion or control over them.
We contend that the President of the United States can not relieve
himself of responsibility nor for a day divorce himself from the deepest
concern as to what the troops of which he is commander in chief are
doing and are being used for. Neither law nor order, nor justice, nor
equity, nor decency, nor humanity would tolerate the despotic system
which perpetrated upon thousands of men, women, and children the
brutality of the bull pen and the blacklisting system which has driven
some 1,500 members of the miners’ unions, together with their wives
and children, from Shoshone County and denied them the privilege of
earning a livelihood among their neighbors and their friends antf has
thrown them upon the world as outcasts and tramps without even
having so much as an aflidavit or an indictment against them, much
legs a conviction for any offense, even of the petty degree of a misde-
meanor, Let it be confessed with shame and humiliation that our
Chief Executive and our army officials have become so callous to the
rights and liberties of labor that these things could have been perpe-
trated in this year of our Lord 1899 and 1900,
The undersigned recommend the adoption of the following resolution:
 Resolved by the House of Representatives, That the conduct of the
President and of the military forces of the United States in Shoshone
County, Idaho, has been reprehensible, violative of the liberty of the
citizen, and totally unwarranted by the laws and Constitution of the
United States.”
W Surzer,
Jony J. Lentz.
N. N. Cox.
Javes Hay.
Tnos. M. JerT,
Jas. L. StAvpeN,
Ropr. F. Broussarp.
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